
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE C 
 
 

  

Date of Meeting: TUESDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2018 TIME 7.30 PM 
 

PLACE: COMMITTEE ROOMS 1 & 2 - CIVIC SUITE 

 

 
Members of the Committee are summoned to attend this meeting:  
 

Membership 
Councillors:  
 

 

Olurotimi Ogunbadewa (Chair) 
Stephen Penfold (Vice-Chair) 
Bill Brown 
Aisling Gallagher 
Leo Gibbons 
Louise Krupski 
Jim Mallory 
Hilary Moore 
Sakina Sheikh 
Alan Smith 
 

 
The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however, occasionally committees 
may have to consider some business in private.  Copies of reports can be made available in 
additional formats on request.  
 
 
 
Ian Thomas 

Chief Executive 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
Date: Thursday, 30 August 2018 

  
For further information please contact:  
Samuel James Committee Co-ordinator 
2nd Floor Civic Suite 
Catford Road SE6 4RU 
 
Telephone No: 0208 314 3722 
Email: planning@lewisham.gov.uk 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

RECORDING AND USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA 

You are welcome to record any part of any Council meeting that is open to the public.  

The Council cannot guarantee that anyone present at a meeting will not be filmed or 
recorded by anyone who may then use your image or sound recording. 

If you are intending to audio record or film this meeting, you must : 

 tell the clerk to the meeting before the meeting starts 

 only focus cameras / recordings on councillors, Council officers, and those 
members of the public who are participating in the conduct of the meeting and avoid 
other areas of the room, particularly where non-participating members of the public 
may be sitting.  

 ensure that you never leave your recording equipment unattended in the meeting 
room. 

If recording causes a disturbance or undermines the proper conduct of the meeting, then 
the Chair of the meeting may decide to stop the recording.  In such circumstances, the 
decision of the Chair shall be final. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



    

  
Order Of Business 

 

  

Item 
No 

Title of Report Ward 
Page 
No. 

1.   Declarations of Interests  1 - 4 

2.   Minutes  5 - 14 

3.   86-92 BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PZ Bellingham 15 - 320 

4.   PAVEMENT AT INTERSECTION OF 
SYDENHAM ROAD & QUEENSTHORPE 
ROAD, LONDON, SE26 4PJ 

Sydenham 321 - 334 

5.   PAVEMENT IN FRONT OF 317-319 EVELYN 
STREET, LONDON, SE8 5RA 

Evelyn 335 - 348 

6.   SYDENHAM GAS HOLDER STATION, BELL 
GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PX 

Bellingham 349 - 408 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 

Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE (C) 

Report Title DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 

Class PART 1 Date: 11 SEPTEMBER 2018   

 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on 
the agenda. 

 
(1) Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct :-  
 
(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests 

(b) Other registerable interests 

(c) Non-registerable interests 

(2) Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit 
or gain. 

 

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for 
inclusion in the register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying 
out duties as a member or towards your election expenses (including 
payment or financial benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which 
they are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in 
the securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for 
goods, services or works. 

 

(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 

(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 

(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, 
the Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant 
person* is a partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in 
the securities of which they have a beneficial interest.   

 

(g) Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 
 
(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or 

land in the borough; and  
 

(b) either 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
1/100 of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 
  

 

 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 
1/100 of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
(3) Other registerable interests 
 

The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 
 

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 
were appointed or nominated by the Council; 

 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party; 

 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25. 

 
(4) Non registerable interests 
 

Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be 
likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate 
more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but 
which is not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for 
example a matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child 
attends).  

 

(5) Declaration and Impact of interest on member’s participation 
 

(a) Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered.  The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered.  They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

(b) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 
consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies. 
 

Page 2



 
  

 

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest.  If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
(d) If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
(6) Sensitive information  
 

There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests.  These are interests 
the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence 
or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need 
not be registered.  Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

 
(7) Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so.  
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception); 

(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor 
unless the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of 
which you are a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt; 

(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members; 

(e) Ceremonial honours for members; 

(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception). 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE (C) 

Report Title MINUTES 

Ward  

Contributors  

Class PART 1 Date: 11 SEPTEMBER 2018    

 
MINUTES 
 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee (C) held on the 2nd August 
2018. 

 
LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM  

MINUTES of the meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE (C) held in ROOMS 1 & 2, CIVIC 
SUITE, LEWISHAM TOWN HALL, CATFORD, SE6 4RU on 2nd August 2018 at 19:30. 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Ogunbadwa (Chair), Penfold (Vice-Chair), Brown, Gallagher, 
Gibbons, Krupski, Moore, Sheikh 
 
OFFICERS: Richard McEllistrum – Planning Service, Kheng Chau – Legal Services and 
Georgia McBirney – Committee Co-ordinator 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillor Smith 
 

1. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  

There were no declaration of interests.  
2. MINUTES  

 

The minutes of the meeting Planning Committee (C) held on the 21st June were 

discussed. Councillors raised the following amendment to be made.  

 

Paragraph 3 on page 2 should be amended to read: Cllr Sheikh asked the applicant what 

they had done to investigate the claims by residents that their planned construction could 

have a negative effect on the foundations of the local residents neighbouring houses - Cllr 

Sheikh began by stating she understood this was not a planning consideration. Councillor 

Sheikh also asked for clarification on the concerns raised by the Environment Agency, 

the presenting officer outlined that the initial concern was in regards to floor levels and 

that this has been addressed and that a condition will also be added to a permission. 

 
3. 86-92 Bell Green, SE26 4PZ 

 

The presenting officer outlined that the application is for the demolition of the existing 

building and the construction of a part 6/ part 7/ part 8-storey mixed use development 

comprising 23 self-contained residential units, and 59sqm (GIA) commercial ground 

floor space (Use Class A1 (Retail), A2 (Financial and Professional Services) & B1 

(Business), 5 car parking spaces, 40 cycle parking spaces, refuse stores, and private 

residential balconies and communal amenity area at 86-92 Bell Green SE26. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

The presenting officer clarified the design of the building, outlined the proposed 

amenity space and outlined that all of the units are at least dual aspect.  

 

The presenting officer outlined that 3 comments, 5 objections and 32 letters of support 

were received. An objection was also received from the Sydenham Society. The 

objections were in regards to the height of the proposed building, issues in regards to 

parking and traffic congestion, the design of the proposed building and the lack of 

amenity space for families.  

 

The presenting officer outlined that the viability assessment shows that the scheme 

cannot provide affordable housing and that two review mechanisms to contribute to 

affordable housing would be attached to a permission. The presenting officer outlines 

the contributions that would be attached to a permission, these include an £92,500 

towards an off-site payment in lieu of contribution towards affordable housing.   

 

Councillor Mallory raised concerns in regards to viability and the review process, as 

the Council should be looking for genuinely affordable housing, and as such the 

scheme does not meet the housing need. Councillor Mallory asked why we wait for 

the review and how it is enforced. The presenting officer stated that expert 

consultants on viability sometimes conclude that it is not viable for more affordable 

housing to be provided initially, and in line with policy a review mechanism is attached 

to a permission. The presenting officer highlighted that review mechanisms are not an 

uncommon requirement.  

 

Councillor Mallory asked for clarification of the type of units proposed. The presenting 

officer highlighted that all of the units are market housing. Councillor Mallory asked 

why the scheme is being considered if no affordable housing is being proposed, the 

presenting officer clarified that the viability review demonstrated that affordable units 

could not be delivered.  

 

Councillor Penfold asked for clarification on the figures in the viability report. The 

presenting officer highlighted that the viability report is reviewed by an independent 

expert, and later provided clarification of the figures cited. 

 

Councillor Sheikh stated that she supports the concerns raised by Councillor Mallory.  

 

Councillor Gallagher stated she agreed with the clarification sought by Councillor 

Penfold in regards to the figures in the viability report. Councillor Gallagher also stated 

that it needs be clear that Members are understanding the viability reports correctly as 

they are held to account and need to ensure that they understand what they are 

voting on as the viability reports is a part of the decision making process. The 

presenting officer stated that Urban Delivery are contracted to assess the viability 

evidence and produce a summary report on behalf of the Council. The presenting 

officer highlighted that the review mechanism process is a common process and is an 

open book process.   

 

The Committee received verbal representations from Richard Evans –WYG who 

represents the applicant. Richard Evans responded to some of the raised viability 

issues, outlined the design process and explains that the shops on the site are 

currently vacant. Richard Evans highlights that the scheme would provide 23 

residential units which would comply with the Council’s policy on mix of unit sizes. 

Page 6



 

Richard Evans also highlighted that the commercial units would have subsidised rents 

(in the form of a 3 month initial rent free period), that the scheme would exceed cycle 

storage requirements, provide 5 car parking spaces, would meet the sustainability 

requirements and that the Lewisham Design Review Panel stated that the scale of the 

scheme is acceptable.  

 

Councillor Mallory asked why is the applicant is committed to providing housing, why 

is no genuine affordable rented housing proposed. Richard Evans highlighted that the 

guidelines of affordable housing accept that there needs to be an incentive to 

developers to bring development forward and that 15-20% profit is the profit level that 

is accepted. Richard Evans highlights that that a contribution of £92,500 towards off-

site affordable housing is proposed.  

 

Councillor Gallagher stated the developers need to account for policy when the site is 

purchased and raised two questions. The first question asked how long the 

commercial units would benefit from subsidised rent and whether this would be 

secured via a condition. The second question raised was in regards to the whether 

the communal space is appropriate for families given its location at the top of the 

building. Richard Evans clarified that the value of the site was reflected in the 

Benchmark Land Value. Richard Evans also clarified that the amenity space is served 

by lifts and the due to the constraints of the site its location is the only place it could 

go. Richard Evans also stated that the present offer for the subsidised rents is 3 

months from occupancy.  

 

Councillor Penfold asked for clarification on the build costs due to perceived 

discrepancies in the viability report. Richard Evans stated that the author of the report 

is not at the meeting so he is unable to comment on the perceived discrepancies but 

did highlight that the report has been reviewed by the council officers and Urban 

Delivery on their behalf. The presenting officer stated that he appreciated that 

members wanted to be correct with the figures and highlighted that findings of the 

independent review cannot be disregarded.  

 

Councillor Mallory asked for clarification in regards to the review if flats are already 

sold. Kheng Chau – Legal Services clarified that the early stage review is within 2 

years of the planning permission if the scheme hasn’t reached the agreed point and 

that the review would be on an open book basis, the assumptions would be checked 

and if it is found that more affordable housing can be provided it would be secured on 

site if it found during the early stage review. The late stage review is at the point of 

75% sale and if it is found that more affordable housing can be provided then it is an 

offsite contribution.  

 

Councillor Sheikh asked how review mechanisms on other developments have 

worked and how it is ensured that the review takes place. The presenting officer 

clarified that the early stage review is takes place if there is no substantial start within 

two years of the planning permission. The presenting officer also clarified that he 

doesn’t have the figures to hand in regards to review mechanisms on other schemes.  

 

Councillor Gallagher asked for clarification from legal services in regards to whether a 

contribution for affordable housing is solely for affordable housing or whether it 

contributes to other works. Kheng Chau – Leal Services stated that he does not know 

the answer but that common sense would suggest that there would be admin costs 

Page 7



 

involved. The presenting officer clarified that a S106 contribution for affordable 

housing can only be spent on the purpose for which that s106 defines it must be 

spent.  

 

The committee received verbal representations from Annabel McLaren of the 

Sydenham Society and a local resident Mareline Sterling. The Sydenham Society 

stated that they maintain the objection that is outlined in the officer’s report, and 

highlighted that the scheme provides no affordable housing, traffic concerns and that 

the design, height and massing of the proposal is out of context and over dominant.  

 

Mareline Sterling stated that the proposal would be another tall building which would 

block in Holmshaw Close, raised concerns in regards to parking, the building works 

and stated that the site is too small to accommodate the proposal. Councillor Sheikh 

asked Mareline Sterling if as a local resident she would like to add anything further. 

Mareline Sterling said she would and that 3 developments of tall buildings have been 

built so far and it is too much for residents. Mareline Sterling also raised concerns in 

regards to access for emergency vehicles and stated she appreciates that the existing 

building needs to be replaced. Councillor Sheikh asked Mareline Sterling if she would 

say there is a sense of community, Mareline Sterling states that she is trying to set up 

a Tenants Association.  

 

Councillor Penfold asked for clarification on who owns and manages the land, and 

whether it was in Lewisham Homes’ ownership.  Richard Evans confirmed that it was 

not.  The presenting officer highlighted that he does not know who owns the land, but 

does not understand it to be within Lewisham Homes’ ownership. Councillor 

Ogunbadwa (Chair) stated that the owner of the land is irrelevant to the planning 

application.  

 

Councillor Gallagher asked the Sydenham Society for clarification in regards to the 

objection in regards to design and protecting and enhancing Lewisham’s Character. 

Annabel McLaren of the Sydenham Society stated that area has a number of 

characterful buildings and the proposal is being crammed onto a site which is too 

small to accommodate it.   

 

Councillor Curran spoke under standing orders to object to the application. Councillor 

Curran stated that the artists impression are deceiving, clarified that the other 

developments referred to in the officers report are set back from the road whereas the 

proposal is built to the edge of the pavement. Councillor Curran also raised concerns 

in regards to the width of the pavement.  

 

Councillor Curran highlighted that paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that new 

development should be appropriate for the location and this is why the other 

developments in the area have been set back. Councillor Curran also raised concern 

in regards to traffic, air quality and design. The presenting officer highlighted that in 

regards to air quality, Environmental Health agree with the submitted report and the 

concern in regards to air quality would be the same irrespective of the height of the 

building. The presenting officer highlighted that the amended NPPF states that traffic 

impacts need to be severe to be refused on traffic impacts.  

 

Councillor Curran stated that the submitted evidence needs to be checked in terms of 

air quality, as more up to date data was available and had not been considered, that 

Page 8



 

the photos provided are misleading, there is concern over the height of the building. 

Councillor Curran also raised concern in regards to the commercial units in regards to 

whether they would eventually be turned into flats and raised concern in regards to 

the management of the community space. 

 

The presenting officer stated in terms of wrapping up, in regards to the new 

information and evidence in terms of air quality, Environmental Health have not been 

able to assess this alleged evidence and highlighted that the application should, if 

necessary be deferred rather than refused. The presenting officer also highlighted in 

terms of affordable housing, that affordable housing is a priority, but there is a wider 

housing target that needs to be contributed to. It was further highlighted by the 

presenting officer that any objection advanced by members must be based upon 

specific deficiencies and evidence, where necessary.  

 

Councillor Krupski highlighted that there is a concern, but raised the question of what 

are members expecting to happen on the site and highlighted that the design quality 

of the proposal is better than what currently exists on site.  

 

Councillor Mallory stated that he doesn’t have concern in regards to the height of the 

proposal and that his concern is in relation to the lack of affordable housing.  

 

Councillor Gallagher asked for clarification on the process of deferring the application. 

The presenting officer highlighted that deferring would allow for the new evidence to 

be reviewed. The presenting officer did highlight that there are always solutions to 

mitigate against air quality. Kheng Chau- Legal Services highlighted that members are 

open to defer the application to allow for an assessment in terms of air quality and the 

questions on viability.  

 

Councillor Brown moved a motion to defer the application. The motion was seconded 

by Councillor Mallory.   

 

Members voted as follows:  

 

FOR: Councillors Brown, Mallory, Ogunbadwa (Chair) Penfold (Vice-Chair), Gibbons, 

Krupski, Moore and Sheikh.   

 

AGAINST: Councillor Gallagher 

 

RESOLVED: That the application DC/17/102792 be deferred.  

 
 

4. 56 Honor Oak Park, SE23 

The presenting officer outlined the details of the case for the installation of a new 
shopfront and a single storey extension to the rear of 56 Honor Oak Park, SE23, 
together with the blocking up of a ground floor window and the installation of 
replacement HVAC equipment, including fresh air intake, extraction ducts and A/C 
compressors. 
The presenting officer clarified that the application is only in relation to the single 
storey rear extension, the shop front and the AC and plant material. The presenting 
officer also highlighted that the use class of the unit is already a hot food takeaway 

Page 9



 

(Use Class A5) and as such change of use is not required or sought by this 
application. The presenting officer also highlighted that the applicant would require a 
planning application if hours of operation were desired to be changed.  
The presenting officer outlined that 38 objections had been received and that this was 
considerably more than the number of properties which were consulted. The 
presenting officer outlines that full details of the objections can be found in Table 1 in 
the report and the objections include concern of whether a change of use is required, 
noise and disturbance concerns and traffic concerns.  
 
Councillor Sheikh asked for clarification in regards to the scale of the consultation, 
whether refusal of the application would stop the owner opening, and what options are 
available to residents to raise their concerns. The presenting officer highlighted that 
A5 is the lawful use of the unit so any take-away could occupy the unit ‘tomorrow’ 
without an application, the presenting officer highlighted that a planning permission is 
not restricted to any particular occupier or type of takeaway operator. The presenting 
officer highlighted that Lewisham is in the early stages of its Local Plan review which 
looks at new policy formation and that the public consultation will take place in the 
next few months.  
 
Councillor Penfold asked whether the new owners would be bound by the existing 
opening hours of the permission from 1994. The presenting officer confirmed that the 
owner are bound by the existing opening hours, unless they could demonstrate that 
any deviation from those hours is already immune from enforcement action, and thus 
that a planning application would be required to change them.  
 
Councillor Gibbons reminded the public that concerns relating to the application in 
question to be taken into account and that the saturation of pizza takeaways is not 
something that can be considered on the current application.  
 
The committee received verbal representations from Robin Dunne on behalf to the 
applicant. Robin Dunne clarified that the application is not for a change of use and 
that the A5 use was granted consent in 1994. Robin Dunne highlighted that he 
attended he local meeting and the concern over the illumination was noted and the 
proposal was amended and that the applicants are committed to Honor Oak Park. 
Robin Dunne also highlighted that an acoustic report was submitted with the 
application and that Environmental Health raised no objection.  
 
Councillor Krupski asked the applicant if the business could operate without the 
extension. Richard Dunne answered that the extension is required.  
 
Councillor Gallagher asked the applicant for clarification on what they meant by being 
committed to Honor Oak Park. Richard Dunne stated that this is in terms of increased 
employment and an improved frontage. Councillor Gallagher asked for confirmation of 
the figures on the amount of local people that would be employed, Richard Dunne 
stated that he does not have the figure and that the increased employment is mainly 
in the form of delivery drivers.  
 
Councillor Sheikh asked the applicant how much consultation has been done with 
local residents and businesses to view demand. Richard Dunne highlighted that 
consultation was undertaken and that the area is currently served by the Catford 
branch and delivery records show that there is demand in the area.  Councillor Sheikh 
asked the applicant if they have spoken to local businesses, Richard Dunne stated 
that he had not and there is no obligation for the applicant to do so. The presenting 

Page 10



 

officer highlighted that pubic consultation by the applicant is not required for an 
application of this type. 
 
Councillor Ogunbadwa (Chair) stated that due to the number of objectors that the 
objectors choose a few people to make the objections on behalf of all of the objectors.  
The committee received verbal representations of David of Parbury Road and 
Esteban of Honor Oak Park. David raised objections on the following grounds, the 
design of the shop front, the signage is out of keeping with the area, concern in 
regards to smell, no provision for delivery bikes in the design, issues with motorbikes. 
David also raised questions in regards to the front boundary of the property. Esteban 
stated that he appreciated he description of the application but feels local residents 
have not been consulted on change of use when legislation moved hot food 
takeaways from being within A3 use to its current classification, A5, raised concerns 
in regards to traffic issues and that Dominoes would not operate within the existing 
hours of operation.  
 
The presenting officer clarified that Environmental Health are satisfied with the 
information that has been submitted and that the standards that are applied are better 
than previous standards used. The presenting officer stated that in regards to the 
setting back for the parknig of bikes, the current application is not for a change of use 
and is only for a shopfront. The presenting officer clarified in regards to the point 
made about the A3 use, that a number of years ago Central Government changed the 
use class of takeaways, and no planning permission or associate consultation was 
required as a result of this. The presenting officer also clarified that Dominos being 
the applicant cannot be taken into account in the assessment of the application.  
Councillor Gibbons stated that he lives locally and understands the concerns that 

have been raised in regards to consultation and delivery vehicles, and the concerns 

from objectors as to why this application cannot be considered as a change of used.   

 

Councillor Sheikh suggested that the application be deferred, as it is important to 

address the community’s concerns in regard to the application.  

 

Councillor Mallory agreed with the points raised by Councillor Gibbons and stated that 

a deferral would not help this application as they concerns raised are not issues that 

can be considered under the current application.  

 

The presenting officer clarified to members that if any additional conditions are 

proposed, they need to be relevant to current application and conditions that already 

exist need not be reapplied without specific reason.  

 

Councillor Krupski stated that there are no grounds for a deferral and believes one of 

the main concerns for the objectors is transport and stated that she suggests strongly 

to the applicants that electric bikes are used.  

 

David, a member of the public audience asked if parking on the highway would be 

illegal. Kheng Chau – Legal Services stated that the highway authority can enforce on 

the obstruction of the highway.  

 

A number of questions and comments were shouted from the public, Councillor 

Ogunbadwa (Chair) stated that questions could not be taken from the floor.  

 

Page 11



 

Councillor Gallagher stated that members sympathise to the points raised and asked 

if the sign would be illuminated when the shop was closed. The presenting officer 

clarified that this would be covered by the separate advertisement consent 

application.  

 

Councillor Brown stated that the audience/ residents have attended due to their 

concern regarding the impact of the proposed operator, and that whilst members 

understand their concerns and sympathise with them, this application is only for the 

shopfront, extension, and A/C and plant units and that members are not able to make 

a decision on the basis of the the operator.  Further, if Domino’s wished to change the 

opening hours, an application would then be required.   

 

Councillor Sheikh’s motion to defer the application was not seconded.  

 

Councillor Brown moved a motion to accept the officer’s recommendation, this was 

seconded by Councillor Krupski.   

Members voted as follows:  
 

For: Councillors Brown, Krupski, Ogunbadwa (Chair), Penfold, Gallagher, Gibbons, 

Mallory and Moore. 

 

Abstained: Councillor Sheikh. 

 

RESOLVED: That application DC/17/104077 be approved.  

 

5. White Post Street, SE14 

 

The presenting officer outlined the details of the case the demolition of the existing 

structures at 1 White Post Street SE15 and redevelopment to provide a mixed use 

development comprising the construction of two buildings ranging from 3-7 storeys 

and refurbishment of the 6 railway arches (No's 62 - 67), providing 975 sqm of flexible 

commercial floorspace (A1/A2/B1/D1) and 25 residential units; together with the 

provision of associated plant, amenity space, 3 accessible car parking spaces and 56 

cycle spaces. 

 

The presenting officer clarified that 3 car parking spaces would be provided, that 6 

arches would be refurbished and that proposal is a more intensive and mixed use of 

the site. The presenting officer also highlighted that proposal is without on-site 

affordable housing provision and that a permission would be subject to a review 

mechanism.  

 

The presenting officer outlined that 5 objections had been received and that the 

objections were in regards to overdevelopment of the site, addition of traffic and 

noise, overlooking and invasion of privacy, loss of sunlight into gardens, the 

construction impact, site security issues, loss of existing buildings and displacement 

of tenants and devaluation in house prices.  

 

Councillor Krupski asked for clarification in regards to refuse collection as paragraph 

4.12 states that there is limited room for refuse collection. The presenting officer 

clarified that servicing management would conditioned.  

Page 12



 

 

Councillor Sheikh asked for clarification on the issues raised in regards to the 

displacement of existing tenants. The presenting officer clarified it cannot be taken 

into account in terms of existing and new tenants as it is looked at in terms of the 

quantum and the range of uses lost and gained. The presenting officer also 

highlighted that impact on house prices is not a material planning consideration. 

Councillor Sheikh asked whether the existing businesses will be removed from the 

arches. The presenting officer clarified that the employment policy does not allow for 

the protection of existing users and the planning decision does not take into account 

the terms of the lease.  

 

Councillor Penfold asked for clarification in terms of the further perceived gaps in the 

viability reports and whether the surplus has been looked into. The presenting officer 

highlighted that he is wary of commenting on individual paragraphs in the various 

report without taking them all in their proper context, and that a financial contribution 

may not equate to a whole affordable housing unit offsite contribution.  The 

highlighted inconsistencies were later addressed by identifying the other parts of the 

report which explained that the gaps identified were not in fact gaps. 

 

The difficulty in securing single units within development schemes was also 

highlighted, as registered provider will often seek instead to take on units accessed 

form access cores serving only that tenure.   

 

Councillor Gallagher asked if why the figures between the two reports are so different 

in terms of viability, why is the application recommended for approval. The presenting 

officer clarified that there is an off-site affordable housing contribution of £107,000 and 

that in most instances there are differences in viability between the applicant’s initial 

reports, and the conclusions of the Council’s advisors, and that this is not a reason for 

refusal.  

 

The committee received verbal representation from Jane Richardson and Jonathan 

Colefax on behalf of the applicants. Jane Richardson detailed the matters that have 

been addressed, these included obscure glazing being secured by condition, worked 

alongside designing out crime officers, and additional disabled parking has been 

provided and proposed street works. Jane Richardson also detailed that condition 

would be attached to a permission in regards to opening hours of commercial units to 

address noise concerns.   

 

Jane Richardson addressed points raised by members in terms of displacement and 

stated that 1 arch is vacant, 1 is used for storage and that the others are relocating. 

Jane Richardson also outlined that the applicant has agreed to early and late stage 

review in terms of viability.  

 

Councillor Krupski asked who would run/own the commercial units. Jane Richardson 

stated they would be open on the market and that the arches are jointly owned with 

Network Rail.  

 

Councillor Gallagher asked for clarification in regards to the affordable housing 

contribution, is the recommendation subject to a condition and what the target profit 

is. The presenting officer states that government guidance talks about a range in 

terms of profit. Councillor Gallagher asked if members have the power to adjust the 

Page 13



 

profit to 17.5% and model the viability output from this. The presenting officer outlines 

that there are different profit levels on different schemes depending on what is 

appropriate for that site, including its characteristics or the risks arising.   

 

Councillor Krupski asked in terms of the Local Plan, how much demand is there for B 

class uses as no retail is proposed and how risk vs demand is calculated. The 

presenting officer stated he could not comment on risk vs demand but did state that 

the Council’s Economic Development team were consulted and they stated that a B 

use is appropriate. Jane Richardson stated that the proposed use has been proposed 

due to location and footfall.  

 

No representations were received in objection of the application.  

 

Councillor Mallory outlines his view that this proposal is a more substantial proposal 

but there have been two applications at this committee that have proposed no on site 

affordable housing. Councillor Mallory raised concern in regards to viability and that it 

would be helpful if the authors of the viability reports are present at meetings, all 

members agreed with this point.  

 

Councillor Krupski moved a motion to accept the officer’s recommendation and this 

was seconded by Councillor Gibbons.  

 

Members voted as follows:  

 

FOR: Councillors Krupski, Gibbons, Ogunbadwa (Chair), Brown, Mallory and Moore.  

 

Abstained: Councillors Penfold (Vice-Chair), Gallagher and Sheikh. 

 

RESOLVED: That application DC/17/104772 be approved. 

 

The meeting ended at 23.20 

 

2nd August 2018 

 
 

 

Page 14



 

Committee PLANNING  COMMITTEE (C) 

Report Title 86-92 Bell Green SE26 

Ward Bellingham 

Contributors Geoff Whitington 

Class PART 1 11 September 2018 

 

Reg. Nos. DC/17/102792 
 
Application 
dated 

27 July 2017 

 
Applicant IMA Projects Two Limited 
 
Proposal                                                                                                       Demolition of the existing building and the construction of a part 6/ part 7/ part 8-

storey mixed use development comprising 23 self-contained residential units, and 
59sqm (GIA) commercial ground floor space (Use Class A1 (Retail), A2 (Financial 
and Professional Services) & B1 (Business), 5 car parking spaces, 40 cycle parking 
spaces, refuse stores, and private residential balconies and communal amenity area 
at 86-92 Bell Green SE26.  
 

 
Applicant’s 
Plan Nos. 

New / revised plans & information received: 
 
1535-50 V12; 1535-51 V12 Received 26 June 2018; 
 
1535-11 V13; 1535-17 V13; 1535-18 V13; 1535-22 V13; 1535-23 V13; Air Quality 
Assessment Received 29 August 2018. 
 

 
Background 
Papers 

(1) Case File  LE/214/46/TP 
(2) Local Development Framework Documents 
(3) The London Plan (2016 as amended) 
(4) The NPPF (2018) 

 
Designation Area of Archaeological Priority 

PTAL 3 
Flood Risk Zone 3 
Air Quality Management Area 

 

1.0 Background 

1.2 An application was submitted to the Council on 27 July 2017 proposing the demolition of 
the existing building at 86-92 Bell Green, and the construction of a part 6/ part 7/ part 8-
storey mixed use development providing 23 self-contained, and a ground floor 
commercial unit including either A1 (Retail), A2 (Financial and Professional services) 
and B1 (Business) use. 

1.3 The application was presented to Members on 2 August 2018 with a recommendation to 
grant permission, however the case was deferred to allow for the submission of further 
information relating to air quality, viability and design matters.  

  
2.0 Planning Considerations 

 
2.1 The main issues to be considered in respect of this deferral report are:  
  

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



 

 

a) Air quality 
b) Design; 
c) Financial Viability. 

 

Air Quality 

2.2 The NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by preventing both new and existing development from 
contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water, noise pollution or land instability. 

 
2.3 DM Policy 23 states that the Council will require all major developments that have the 

potential to impact upon air quality will be required to submit an Air Quality Management 
Assessment. The application site falls within a designated Air Quality Management Area, 
one of six in the Borough. 

 
2.4 The original submission included an air quality assessment, which concluded that the 

implementation of appropriate measures and good practice during the demolition and 
construction phases would mitigate potential harm from dust. 

2.5 The Council’s Environmental Health officers had previously reviewed the document, and 
confirmed they were satisfied with the conclusions reached, with appropriate measures 
to be ensured by a planning condition. 

2.6 However, an objection was raised by Cllr Curran during the Committee meeting, who 
has since provided information relating to a report and supporting evidence from a 
resident in Crystal Palace regarding air quality in Sydenham. The evidence includes; 

- Air quality monitoring Pods including operational details; 
- Summary of National Air Quality Standards and Objectives; 
- Localised Air Quality modelling around Haseltine Primary School; 
- Air pollution levels in the surrounding areas. 
 

2.7 The resident refers to Bell Green experiencing a ‘steady increase’ in vehicle traffic, 
which is serving to worsen the already high air pollution levels. It also states that the 
A212 at Bell Green has a 2017 manual count of 35,168 AADF (annual average daily 
flows), which is taken as an average over a full year of the number of vehicles passing 
through a point in the road network each day. The Bell Green average equates to the 
highest level in more than ‘17 years’. 

2.8 The resident states that ‘given the increasing level of 2017 traffic, the lack of automatic 
air monitoring at Bell Green, is in itself a concern’, and concludes that ‘the lack of 
automatic air pollution monitoring in this part of South London with known congestion 
and air pollution ‘hot spots’ is placing this community at greater health disadvantage.’ 

2.9 This information received did not include an assessment of the impact of the proposed 
development upon these levels.  As stated above, the site does lie within an identified 
Air Quality management Area, and as such the Council are aware that there are Air 
Quality issues to address. 

2.9 Though it is important to highlight that the data received does not form part of the official 
recorded / monitored data, validated and verified, and upon which officers, and thus 
planning decisions can reasonably be made rely, the Council’s Environmental Health 
officers have (in this instance only) reviewed the report, and advise they are not aware of 
the installation of any monitoring pod equipment within the Bell Green area.  
 

2.11 The only recognised equipment is a diffusion tube that forms part of a diffusion tube 
network, which in 2017 according to the London Borough of Lewisham Nitrogen Dioxide 

Page 16



 

 

Diffusion Tube Survey (2017), comprised of 37 NO2 diffusion tubes at 35 locations 
across the Borough.  The diffusion tubes were exposed for periods of between 4 and 5 
weeks in accordance with the UK NO2 Survey Timetable, and the results of the survey 
provides the Council monitoring data for use in the Local Air Quality Review and 
Assessment (LAQM) process. 
 

2.12 Data for diffusion tube measurements for 2017 has been published, which may be 
viewed at the following link: https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/air-
pollution/Pages/air-quality-monitoring.aspx  
 

2.13 Historic data for this location up to 2017 is shown in the below table, where it is can be 
seen that whilst the recent figure of 43.3µg/m3 exceeds the EU limit of 40µg/m3, the figure 
has declined since 2014. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.14 The diffusion is considered to be a reliable tool in capturing air pollution data, and is as 
useful as an ‘automatic’ form of air monitoring referred to by the resident in para.7.8. 
Subsequently, Environmental Health officers do not formally recognise the independent 
findings of the resident, neither is evidence upon which the Council can attached any 
significant weight.  As noted above, it further does not represent an analysis of the 
impact of the proposed development and is therefore not of any significant relevance to 
the consideration of this application. 

2.15 The applicant has nonetheless, in order to provide further comfort to the Council, 
submitted an amended air quality assessment, which includes reference to: 

 2017 Diffusion Tube Monitoring Results for London Borough of Lewisham 
(Published April 2018); 

 2017 Department for Transport traffic data; 

 Mayor of London’s Air Quality Audit Programme, Haseltine Primary School, 
London Borough of Lewisham (Published May 2018); and 

 The new NPPF (Published July 2018). 
 

2.16 The report identifies four proposed units to the east elevation on floors 1-4, which would 
require mitigation measures due to results marginally predicted to exceed the National 
Air Quality Objective (AQO) of 40μg/m³ on the first and second floors. This would be 
achieved by ‘ventilation sourced from the clean (below 38μg/m³) elevations and 
heights.’.  This will be secured by condition.   

    63 Bell Green  Local Bias   National 

  

  Adjusted 

    µg/m3 

Bias Adjusted 

      µg/m3 

            2013 41.7 53.4 

            2014 47 55 

            2015 48 45 

            2016 44 49 

            2017 43.3 42 

Page 17

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/air-pollution/Pages/air-quality-monitoring.aspx
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/air-pollution/Pages/air-quality-monitoring.aspx


 

 

  2.17 The report demonstrates that all other units are predicted to lie within acceptable levels 
and would not require any form of mitigation. The proposal is therefore found to be 
acceptable. 

Design 

 ‘Pinch point’ on Bell Green Footpath 

2.18 A concern that was raised at Committee regards the close proximity of the south-eastern 
corner of the building to the existing footpath, appearing as a pinch point.   

2.19 In response, the applicant has amended the plans to reposition the residential entrance 
back from the footpath by a further 1.3 metres to provide additional space to the 
frontage. The upper floors would remain as originally planned as a similar set-back 
would serve to reduce the private amenity areas.  

2.20 The applicant has stated that ‘the proposed scheme would be set back from the existing 
building footprint and increases the footway width insofar as is within the gift of the 
applicant. These amendments maintain upper level private amenity space and the 
design quality of the proposal whilst providing for increased area to the front of the 
residents entrance. 

2.21 ‘As previously advised, the width of the footway to the south-east corner of the site is 
determined by a low rise brown brick wall bounding the adjoining NHS land to the south, 
which forms the back edge of the footway. That wall extends up to the south-east corner 
of the application site but is not within the application site, therefore, is beyond the 
control of the applicant. The proposed development would not lead to any sufficient 
increase in pedestrian use of the footway to create any additional congestion at this 
point.’   

2.22 Officers are satisfied that the amendment addresses the concern raised, and consider 
that the proposed 3.9 metre set-back of the residential entrance from the carriageway 
would assist in improving the sense of spaciousness to that area. This represents a very 
significant proportionate increase in actual footway width forward at this point.  It is 
important to acknowledge however that the siting of the existing brick wall directly to the 
south of the site does contribute to the narrow 1.4 metre width of the footpath at that 
point, and as it lies beyond the curtilage of the application site, there would be no 
change to this aspect should permission be granted. 

 Building Line / set back / massing 

2.23 Discussion also occurred at Committee in regard to the overall appropriateness of the 
proposed building mass, with reference made to the more significant set back and 
provision of open space between the larger built forms to the north east.  Officers have 
previously set out that they consider the height, massing and position of the proposed 
built form to be appropriate.  The cited local example is not in itself considered to be a 
very useful example to establish a pattern for the site development here to follow, given 
that it is itself not characteristic of the greater part of the local townscape, and fails to 
provide a well defined and active street frontage. 

2.24 The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable in this regard, and 
represents an appropriate response to the specific context of the application site. 

Viability 

2.25 The National Planning Policy Framework states that local planning authorities should, 
through their evidence base, objectively assess the needs of the housing market to 
ensure that affordable housing is delivered. Core Strategy Objective 2 refers to the 
overall housing delivery targets published at the adoption of the Core Strategy.  Those 

Page 18



 

 

targets for the overall delivery of housing have subsequently been increased, and further 
upward revisions are anticipated.  Core Strategy Policy 1 has been adopted following the 
evidence base of the Lewisham and South-East London Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA). This policy has been adopted in line with London Plan policies 
3.8-3.13 and the NPPF. 

2.26 With respect to affordable housing, CS Policy 1 outlines that the Council will seek the 
maximum provision of affordable housing with a strategic target of 50% affordable 
housing from all sources. The Development Management Local Plan summarises this 
goal in the following way (para 2.43)  

“CSP1 requires housing development on qualifying sites (10 or more dwellings) to 
provide as much affordable housing as is financially viable” 

2.27 To ensure a mixed tenure and promote mixed and balanced communities, the affordable 
housing component is to be provided as 70% social rented and 30% intermediate 
housing. This is also recognised in DM Policy 7. 

2.28 The provision of affordable housing however is subject to a financial viability assessment 
to ensure meeting this policy does not make development unviable. The London Plan at 
paragraph 3.73 confirms that  

“The Mayor wishes to encourage, not restrain, overall residential development. 
Boroughs should take a reasonable and flexible approach to securing affordable housing 
on a site by site basis”. 

A proposal is not contrary to Policy where it is shown to be providing the maximum 
reasonable amount of affordable housing that can viably be delivered.  In this case, the 
applicant has proposed no affordable housing or off-site payment, which was supported 
in viability assessment studies completed by the applicant’s consultants, Sheridan 
Development Management Limited (SDML). 

2.29 The financial information was assessed by independent consultants UrbanDelivery to 
provide assistance and advice to the Council on the matter of viability. In their report, 
they challenged the applicant’s viability assumptions, including site value, profit return 
and professional fees, yet nonetheless concluded that the scheme would be unable to 
provide any on-site affordable units or an in-lieu payment. This is based in part upon a 
developer profit of 17.5% on Gross Development Value – in most cases developers 
would typically target a 20% profit, however a 17-20% developer profit on GDV for 
residential development is an  accepted level of return at the current time, which can be 
a minimum requirement of some lenders to ensure there is sufficient margin to cover 
potential cost over-runs or falls in sales values, while ensuring the lender has recourse 
to recover its debts.  

2.30 The Mayoral CIL and LB Lewisham CIL charges also form part of UrbanDelivery’s 
appraisal. At £35 and £70 per sqm respectively, this would equate to £184,809. This is in 
addition to demolition costs; and agreed highways works/ CPZ, and children’s playspace 
s106 financial contributions. 

2.31 Members were advised at the previous Committee meeting that officers had 
reviewed the viability and ensured that UrbanDelivery had robustly supported their 
conclusions during the process. The outcome was that their independent and robust 
examination of the applicants’ viability justification in regard to nil affordable housing 
delivery was accepted by officers. 

2.32 However, Members remained unclear with regard to the methodology and 
conclusion that the scheme could not deliver affordable housing or an in-lieu 
payment. At the time of writing this report, the UrbanDelivery consultant had agreed 

Page 19



 

 

to attend the Committee meeting to explain to Members how his conclusions were 
reached, and the extent of analysis undertaken. 

2.33 This viability assessment has been undertaken in accordance with Lewisham’s 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on Planning Obligations (2015) and 
accordingly the site value adopted is based on Existing Use Value Plus in respect to its 
current use as a mixed use retail and residential block. 

2.34 In response to Members debate at the Committee, the applicant has stated: 

‘Whilst there are differences in approach on individual elements between the applicant’s 
appraisal and that undertaken by UrbanDelivery on behalf of the Council, the conclusion 
is ultimately the same albeit that the deficit against benchmark is slightly higher in the 
SDML appraisal. The attached appraisal comparison highlights the differences in the 
appraisal inputs and outputs. It is noteworthy, for example, there are larger s106 and 
CIL; marketing & sales and purchasing costs; and SDLT/land agent & legal fees built 
into UrbanDelivery’s appraisal which offset the difference in professional opinion with 
regard to sales prices, construction costs, finance and rent values.’  

2.35 It is appropriate that an early and late stage viability review is undertaken to assess 
whether an off-site affordable housing contribution should be incurred by the developer 
in the future where it is determined that the financial position of the scheme has 
improved.  

2.36 This accords with the Greater London Authority’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG 
(2017), which seeks to maximise affordable housing delivery in the longer term and 
acknowledges the potential for significant changes in values in the housing market, 
therefore the use of review mechanisms are supported.  

2.37 An early review may be triggered if an agreed level of progress on implementing the 
permission has not been reached after two years of the permission being granted. 

2.38 Following this, a late review would be applied once 75 per cent of homes are sold. The 
SPG advises that the benefit of this approach is that the review can be based on values 
achieved and costs incurred. The review takes place prior to sale of the whole 
development to ensure that the review and any additional contribution arising from this 
are enforceable. The review mechanisms would be secured in the S106. 

3.0 Conclusion 

3.1 The application has been considered in the light of the relevant policies set out in the 
development plan and other material considerations including representations from third 
parties that have been discussed in the 2 August 2018 Committee report, which is 
attached as an appendix.  

3.2 Following a further assessment of the proposal and submission of additional information, 
officers maintain their position to support the scheme. 

3.3 The proposal would provide a part 6/ part 7/ part 8-storey mixed use commercial and 
residential development that officers consider to be acceptable in its siting, height and 
design, and would be an appropriate addition to the townscape. The proposed 
repositioning of the residential entrance fronting Bell Green is acceptable.  

3.4 The provision of no affordable units or in-lieu payment has been rigorously tested by an 
independent viability consultant on behalf of the local planning authority, who agrees 
with the conclusions of the applicant. The S106 would secure an ‘early review’ 
assessment of any changes in the housing market should no development commence 
on-site within 2 years of the decision date, with a further review undertaken once 75% of 
homes are sold.  

Page 20



 

 

 
3.5 In regard to air pollution, the further information that has been submitted by the Crystal 

Palace resident, notwithstanding that it does not constitute information which the Council 
is able to give any material weight to or rely upon, nor does it purport to assess the 
impact of the proposed development in any case, has in this instance only been 
reviewed by Environmental Health, who do not formally recognise his method of 
acquiring data by air quality monitoring Pods.  

 
3.6 Officers have reviewed the update validated data and reports provided by the applicant, 

and had reference to its own data, and can raise no objection toward the proposal on air 
quality grounds. 

 
3.7 For these reasons, it is recommended the redevelopment of the site is granted 

permission.  
 
 
4.0 RECOMMENDATION  

4.1 Upon the completion of a satisfactory Section 106, in relation to the matters set out in 
the original Committee report, authorise the Head of Planning to Grant Permission 
subject to the conditions as set out within the original committee report, updated only to 
make reference to the update Air Quality Assessment, the partial set back of the 
building as shown on updated plans, and the delivery of ventilation in the manner 
described in paragraph 2.16 above. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

86-92 Bell Green Site Location Plan 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix A 
 
 
86-92 BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PZ 
 
Committee Report of 2nd August 2018 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee PLANNING  COMMITTEE (C) 

Report Title 86-92 Bell Green SE26 

Ward Bellingham 

Contributors Geoff Whitington 

Class PART 1 2 August 2018 

 

Reg. Nos. DC/17/102792 
 
Application dated 27 July 2017 
 
Applicant IMA Projects Two Limited 
 
Proposal                                                                                                       Demolition of the existing building and the 

construction of a part 6/ part 7/ part 8-storey mixed 
use development comprising 23 self-contained 
residential units, and 59sqm (GIA) commercial 
ground floor space (Use Class A1 (Retail), A2 
(Financial and Professional Services) & B1 
(Business), 5 car parking spaces, 40 cycle parking 
spaces, refuse stores, and private residential 
balconies and communal amenity area at 86-92 Bell 
Green SE26.  
 

 
Applicant’s Plan Nos. 1535-01 V10; 1535-03 V10; 1535-04 V10; 1535-05 

V10; 1535-06 V10; 1535-07 V10; 1535-08 V10; 
1535-09 V10; 1535-16 V10; 1535-31 V10; 1535-33 
V10 Planning Statement; Architectural Drawings; 
Marketing Assessment; Daylight & Sunlight; Phase 1 
Habitat Survey Report; Transport Statement; Noise 
& Vibration Assessment; Geo-Environmental Desk 
Study; Sustainability and Energy Statement Rev A 
Received 30 August 2017; 
 
1535-10 V11; 1535-14 V11; 1535-15 V11; 1535-21 
V11; 1535-26 V11; 1535-27 V11; 1538-28 V11; 
1535-32 V11; 1535-33 V11; 1535-36 V11; 1535-37 
V11; Design and Access Statement; Air Quality 
Assessment; Transport Note: Response to 
Highways Comments Received 14 December 2017; 
 
1535-02 V12; 1535-10 V12; 1535-11 V12; 1535-12 
V12; 1535-13 V12; 1535-18 V12; 1535-19 V12; 
1535-20 V12; 1535-23 V12; 1535-24 V12; 1535-25 
V12; 1535-29 V12; 1535-30 V12; 1535-34 V12; 
1535-35 V12 Received 9 February 2018; 
 
1535-50 V12; 1535-51 V12 Received 26 June 2018. 
 

 
Background Papers (1) Case File  LE/214/46/TP 

(2) Local Development Framework Documents 
(3) The London Plan (2016 as amended) 
(4) The NPPF 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 27



 

 

 
Designation 

 
Area of Archaeological Priority 
PTAL 3 
Flood Risk Zone 3 

 

2.0    Property/Site Description   

2.1 The application site is a 3-storey mixed use building located on the western side of Bell 
Green, near the junction with Sydenham Road, Staunton Way and Southend Lane. At 
ground floor are four unoccupied commercial units, comprised of two former retail (A1), 
a Sui Generis and a Hot-food takeaway (A5) uses. On the upper floors are four 
residential units that are currently occupied. 

2.2 The site lies adjacent to a pedestrian footpath that links Bell Green to Holmshaw Close 
to the west, which is an area comprising mostly two-storey housing. A part single/ part 
2-storey health centre building is located directly to the rear of the site.  

2.3 The adjacent site to the immediate north is comprised of a part two/part three/part four 
storey building – Cippa House - that provides a commercial unit on the ground floor and 
23 flats (4, one bedroom, 5, two bedroom self-contained flats, 8, two bedroom, 4, three 
bedroom and 2, four bedroom self-contained maisonettes). 

2.4 To the east is the former Bell Green gas works site, which has been largely 
redeveloped since the early 1990s to accommodate mixed use residential and 
commercial units. On the western side fronting Bell Green is a residential development 
(Orchard Court) that rises from 3 to 8-storeys (being between 5 & 6 storeys where 
directly opposite the application site).  

2.5 The application site is not located within a conservation area or subject to an Article 4 
direction, but is situated within an Archaeological Priority Area and Flood Risk Zone 3. 

2.6 Bell Green (A212) is a busy highway with restricted on-street parking, and is served by 
six bus routes. The PTAL rating is 3, where on a scale of 1-6, 3 represents a moderate 
access to public transport. Lower Sydenham Train Station lies approximately 0.5 miles 
to the south of the application site. 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 

3.1 No relevant planning history on the application site. 

3.2 Planning permission was granted in 2010 to the adjacent site for the demolition of the 
existing buildings at 50-84 Bell Green for the development referred to at paragraph 1.3 
above. 

4.0 Current Planning Application 

4.1 The current application proposes the demolition of the existing building, and the 
construction of a part 6/ part 7/ part 8-storey building (overall height of 25.2 metres). 

4.2 The building would accommodate 59sq.m of commercial floorspace at ground floor, 
with flexible use proposed including A1 (Retail), A2 (Financial and Professional 
services) and B1 (Business). 

 

 

Page 28



 

 

4.3 23 no. self-contained residential units would be provided on the upper floors, 
comprised of: 

 10 one bedroom units; 

 8 two bedroom units; 

 5 three bedroom units.   

4.4 Each unit would be afforded individual amenity space by way of balconies, with the first 
floor rear facing 1 bedroom unit provided with a 9sqm ‘winter garden’. A 3 bedroom unit 
on the 7th floor would have access to a 38sqm private garden, whilst there would be a 
communal roof terrace adjacent. The top floor ‘penthouse’ would benefit from a 
107sqm private roof terrace. Each floor would be served by a lift. 

4.5 No affordable housing units would be provided within the development. This will be 
discussed in the Housing and viability section of this report. 

4.6 3 x two  bedroom wheelchair accessible units would be provided.  

4.7 The predominant facing material would be grey brick, with an element of patterned 
perforated brickwork at ground floor. 

4.8 Fenestration would be grey coloured composite aluminium and timber, with upper floor 
balconies enclosed by black steel balustrades. Coloured glass block windows would 
run vertically on the south elevation serving the communal stairs. 

4.9 5no. residential car parking spaces would be provided to the rear within the ground 
floor footprint of the building, including 3 disabled bays and 2 electric vehicle charging 
points. The parking bays and 40 cycle spaces (38 residential and 2 commercial) would 
be accessed from Holmshaw Close. 

4.10 The residential refuse store would be located adjacent to the car-park area, whilst the 
commercial refuse and cycle stores would be sited within the footprint of the unit, and 
accessed from the existing pedestrian access.  

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 This section outlines the consultation carried out by the Council following the 
submission of the application and summarises the responses received. The Council’s 
consultation exceeded the minimum statutory requirements and those required by the 
Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement.  

5.2 A site notice was displayed, letters were sent to residents in the surrounding area and 
the relevant ward Councillors. The application was also advertised in the local 
newspaper. 

Written Responses received from Local Residents  
  

5.3 Two neighbour letters have been received, objecting to the proposed development, on 
the following grounds: 

 The current building height should not be exceeded because it will block out the light; 

 the building so close to other tall buildings will provide additional hiding places for the 
gangs that the police are currently finding hard to control on the estate; 

 parking and traffic congestion; 

Page 29



 

 

 this will now be the 6th tall block of flats within a small radius built with no additional 
facilities - this is how ghettos are formed as planners take no consideration of this; 

 the road dirt noise and dust is impossible as access and egress with cranes, lorries 
building materials the well being of current dwellers is being jeopardised; 

 there is no reason why the current building cannot be refurbished and provide adequate 
living. 

4.4 The building is interesting, although too high in the current context with the low profile 
of the surgery. Bell Green can certainly cope with tall buildings, but we need to have a 
planning review of the area, so it can develop into an attractive area. 

 
4.5 The Sydenham Society have objected to the planning application. Extracts of their 

response are as following: 
 

5.6 The Sydenham Society objects to the above proposal on a number of grounds. In 
design terms, the building, if constructed, would appear as a monolith totally out of 
context with its surroundings. The applicant’s Design & Access statement provides 
images of the Bell Green gas holders, Orchard Court, Haseltine School and residential 
blocks in Bell Green Lane as reference points. In the Society’s view the existence of 
these buildings does not support the applicant’s case as they are on the other side of 
the road and were all designed with some regard for the local context – in a reference 
to the Bell Green gas holders, Orchard Court is circular. Haseltine School is a fine 
example of late Victorian architecture and the Bell Green residential blocks sit within 
pleasant landscaped grounds away from a busy road on the northern approach to 
Home Park. 

● At 8 storeys plus the proposed building is totally out of context in relation to 

neighbouring buildings located to the side and rear of the proposed development.  

● The proposed design is not of high quality nor is it complementary to the local area 

being a monolithic grey brick and glass slab of disproportionate height compared to its 

surroundings.  

● The proposed building will at its closest point be less than 2m from the kerb (less than 

1.8m taking into account street furniture, traffic lights and railings) of the busy road at 

Bell Green (A212) and at eight storeys it will visually dominate the streetscape from 

every angle viewed.  

● The proposed design is incongruous in relation to the surrounding residential 

neighbourhood on the left-hand side of Bell Green  which is mostly composed of two- 

storey houses with private gardens and sloping roofs plus the health centre.  

● There is no precedent on the left-hand side of Bell Green or Sydenham Road for an 

eight-storey building. The developer is disingenuous in referencing other similar height 

buildings as provenance for the proposal (eg Haseltine School and the two residential 

blocks to the front of the Bell Green site). All the buildings cited in the vicinity are 

located on the opposite side of Bell Green and Sydenham Road, and were designed 

with some architectural ambition to act as ‘landmark’ buildings. 

● Proposing a building of eight storeys comprising 23 units is a severe over-development 

of the small site and plot which will firmly give the impression of cramming. Given 

Lewisham is already ahead of its housing targets (original and revised ) and is 

projected to remain so (with development approvals in place) for several years to come 

such overdevelopment is unnecessary and contrary to Core Strategy Objective 10: 

Protect and enhance Lewisham’s character which states  Lewisham’s distinctive local 

character will be protected through sensitive and appropriate design. This means: a) 

ensuring that new development achieves high standards of urban design and 

Page 30



 

 

residential quality, and contributes to a sense of place and local distinctiveness 

informed by an understanding of the historic context; b) ensuring that new development 

and alterations to existing buildings are sensitive, appropriate to their context, and 

make a positive contribution to the urban environment.  

● Erecting an eight-storey building to within 1.8m of Bell Green highway is neither 

sensitive or appropriate and is totally at odds in terms of the largely residential context 

of the immediate surrounding low-rise urban neighbourhood with its modestly scaled 

housing. 

● The proposed development lacks adequate amenity space for families. A communal 

amenity space located on the sixth floor does not provide meaningful facilities for 

children and is considered dangerous given the open access provided by the stairs and 

lift. 

● The development is not accessible to local open space as Home Park, the closest 

green space, is on the opposite side of Bell Green/ Sydenham Road. This very busy A 

road presents a formidable obstacle to access for both children and adults. 

● The proposed development will overlook surrounding properties resulting in a severe 

loss of privacy.  

● Whilst understanding the need for increased use of public transport by design the 

construction of 23 flats with only 5 spaces for cars will inevitably lead to increased 

parking stress in the immediate vicinity as the number of vehicles and vehicle 

movements in Holmshaw Close substantially increases. There is also the distinct 

probability of competition for spaces within the site of the Health Centre. 

● Substantial additional service vehicle movements will cause additional noise and 

pollution leading to loss of amenity for existing residents in the neighbourhood as the 

local roads are narrow.  

 
4.7 32 letters of support for the proposal have been received. One support letter states; 

 This building presents a significant improve (sic) to the Bell Green roundabout; provides 
a significant and positive contribution towards increasing housing stock in the area; and 
would set a new benchmark for improving the build-quality and design of high-density 
housing in this area. 

 The visual impact of the development is positive. It is an improvement on the current 
building. 

 It is lower than the gas holders and nearby developments, and therefore cannot be 
considered in any sense to be "out of keeping" or overshadowing. 

 The building materials - in particular the patterned brickwork and recessed windows - are 
of high quality and improve the area. 

 

(Letters are available to Members) 

 

 

 

5.8 Transport for London: Raise no objections, subject to conditions. 

5.9 Environment Agency: No objections 

5.10 Metropolitan Police: Refers to anti-social issues experienced within the immediate area, 
and requires a planning condition to ensure the scheme achieves the security 
requirements of Secured by Design with the guidance of Secured by Design Homes 

Page 31



 

 

2016 and Commercial Developments 2015 as well as recommendations from the SE 
Designing Out Crime office. 

Design Review Panel 

5.11 A pre-application proposal for an 8-storey building with no commercial use at ground 

floor was presented to the Design Review Panel (DRP) in February 2017. The Panel 

welcomed the redevelopment of this site, and considered that the existing building 

makes little positive contribution to the character of the area, and its replacement with a 

building that would provide much needed residential accommodation of a higher quality 

was encouraged. 

 

5.12 The Panel observed that the context to the site lacks coherence and a clearly defined 

character, with the hostile environment of the highways of Bell Green dominating, 

whilst the street elevation is fragmented with this site marking a point in the townscape 

between a neglected open space associated with the Health Centre to the south and 

the modern residential scheme, Cippa House, to the north. 

 
5.13 The Panel stated, ‘it is acceptable that the proposal takes the view that it should 

address the space of Bell Green and that the site offers an opportunity for a taller 
building. The proposed development optimises the residential accommodation on the 
site. Given the highly unusual nature of the site, its location facing Bell Green, 
terminating the view from the east, and the very mixed character of the area we think 
that a building of up to 8 storeys could be acceptable here.’ 
 

5.14 However, this would be subject to a scheme of high quality design, with improved 

massing and articulation, whilst the Panel suggested a step-down in height to the west. 

5.15 The Panel encouraged the applicants to explore alternative materials and finishes to 
the white render proposed, with a quality brick façade being more robust and respectful 
of the immediate context.  

 
6.0 Policy Context 

Introduction 

6.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) sets out that 
in considering and determining applications for planning permission the local planning 
authority shall have regard to:-  

(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, 

(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 

(c) any other material considerations. 
 
A local finance consideration means: 

(a) a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided 
to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown, or 

(b) sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment 
of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

6.2  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) makes it clear that 
‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to 
be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.'  The development plan for 
Lewisham comprises the Core Strategy, the Development Management Local Plan, 

Page 32



 

 

the Site Allocations Local Plan and the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, and the 
London Plan. The NPPF does not change the legal status of the development plan. 

National Planning Policy Framework 

6.3    The NPPF was published on 27 March 2012 and is a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications. It contains at paragraph 14, a ‘presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’. Annex 1 of the NPPF provides guidance on 
implementation of the NPPF. In summary, this states in paragraph 211, that policies in 
the development plan should not be considered out of date just because they were 
adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF. At paragraphs 214 and 215 guidance is 
given on the weight to be given to policies in the development plan.  As the NPPF is 
now more than 12 months old paragraph 215 comes into effect. This states in part that 
‘…due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their 
degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)’. 

 
6.4 Officers have reviewed the Core Strategy for consistency with the NPPF and consider 

there is no issue of significant conflict.  As such, full weight can be given to these 
policies in the decision making process in accordance with paragraphs 211, and 215 of 
the NPPF. 

Other National Guidance 

6.5 On 6 March 2014, DCLG launched the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
resource. This replaced a number of planning practice guidance documents.   

6.6                The London Plan (2016 as amended) 

6.7 The London Plan was updated on 14 March 2016 to incorporate the Housing 
Standards and Parking Standards Minor Alterations to the London Plan (2015). The 
new, draft London Plan was published by the Mayor of London for public consultation 
on 29 November 2017 (until 2 March 2018).  However, given the very early stage in 
this process, this document has very limited weight as a material consideration when 
determining planning applications, does not warrant a departure from the existing 
policies of the development plan in this instance and is therefore not referred to further 
in this report. The policies in the current adopted London Plan (2016) relevant to this 
application therefore are:- 

6.8 The London Plan policies relevant to this application are:  
 
Policy 2.15  Town Centres 
Policy 3.4  Optimising Housing Potential 
Policy 3.5  Quality & Design of Housing Developments 
Policy 3.8  Housing Choice 
Policy 3.9 Mixed and balanced communities 
Policy 3.12  Negotiating Affordable Housing 
Policy 3.13  Affordable Housing Thresholds 
Policy 3.16 Protection and enhancement of social infrastructure 
Policy 5.13 Sustainable Drainage 
Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of development on transport capacity 
Policy 6.9 Cycling 
Policy 6.10 Walking 
Policy 6.12 Road network capacity 
Policy 6.13 Parking 
Policy 7.4 Local character 
Policy 7.5 Public realm 
Policy 7.6 Architecture 
Policy 7.14 Air Quality 

Page 33



 

 

 
  
 
 Nationally Described Space Standard  
 
5.8 Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (2015) 

 
 
  London Plan Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

5.9 The London Plan SPG’s relevant to this application are:-  

Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (2007) 

Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation (2012) 

Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (2014) 

Sustainable Design and Construction (2014) 

Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (May 2016) 

Affordable Housing and Viability (2017) 

 
Core Strategy 

6.10   The following lists the relevant strategic objectives, spatial policies and cross cutting 
policies from the Lewisham Core Strategy as they relate to this application:  

Spatial Policy 1 Lewisham Spatial Strategy 
Policy 1 Housing provision, mix and affordability 
Policy 6 Retail hierarchy and location of retail development 
Policy 7 Climate change and adapting to the effects 
Policy 8 Sustainable design and construction and energy efficiency 
Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham’s waste management requirements 
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport 
Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham 
Policy 18 Tall buildings 
 
Development Management Local Plan 

 
6.11    The following lists the relevant strategic objectives, spatial policies and cross cutting 

policies from the Development Management Local Plan as they relate to this 
application:-  

  DM Policy 7  Affordable rented housing 
DM Policy 16 Local shopping parades and corner shops 
DM Policy 19  Shopfronts, signs and hoardings 
DM Policy 22  Sustainable design and construction 
DM Policy 23  Air quality 
 DM Policy 25  Landscaping  
DM Policy 27  Lighting 
DM Policy 29  Car parking 
DM Policy 30  Urban design and local character 
DM Policy 32  Housing design, layout and space standards 
DM Policy 33  Development on infill sites, backland sites, back gardens and 

amenity areas 
 
 

Page 34



 

 

Residential Standards Supplementary Planning Document (August 2006, updated 
2012 

 
5.12 This document sets out guidance and standards relating to design, sustainable 

development, renewable energy, flood risk, sustainable drainage, dwelling mix, density, 
layout, neighbour amenity, the amenities of the future occupants of developments, 
safety and security, refuse, affordable housing, self-containment, noise and room 
positioning, room and dwelling sizes, storage, recycling facilities and bin storage, noise 
insulation, parking, cycle parking and storage, gardens and amenity space, 
landscaping, play space, Lifetime Homes and accessibility, and materials. 

 
6.0 Planning Considerations 

 
6.1 The main issues to be considered in respect of this application are:  
  

a) Principle of development; 

b) Design; 

c) Housing; including standard of proposed accommodation; 

d) Impact upon neighbouring properties;  

e) Highways and traffic issues; 

f) Employment; 

g) Sustainability and energy; 

h) Refuse;  

i) Children’s playspace; 

j) Air quality; 

k) Planning Obligations. 
 

Principle of Development 

6.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in chapter 6 states that local planning 
authorities should, through their evidence base, objectively assess the needs of the 
housing market to ensure that affordable housing is delivered. 

6.3 The London Plan (2016) outlines (in Policies 3.3, 3.5 and 3.8) that there is a pressing 
need for more homes in London, and that a genuine choice of new homes should be 
supported which are of the highest quality and of varying sizes and tenures in 
accordance with the Local Development Framework. 

6.4 Lewisham Core Strategy Spatial Policy 1 ‘Lewisham Spatial Strategy’ which links to 
Core Strategy Objective 2 ‘Housing Provision and Distribution’ supports the delivery of 
new housing to meet local need. The Core Strategy recognises the Borough’s need for 
housing and outlines the objectives to achieve 18,165 new dwellings between 
2009/2010 and 2025. 

 Demolition of existing building 

6.5 DM Policy 30 states that the retention and refurbishment of existing buildings that make 
a positive contribution to the environment will be encouraged and should influence the 
character of new development and the development of a sense of place. Their value 
and significance as a heritage asset will be assessed as part of any development 
proposal. 

6.6 In addition to this, Part 1(c) and (d) of DM Policy 20 relates to the historical importance 
of buildings and highlights that an assessment of the buildings importance within the 
streetscape must first be assessed before the loss is accepted. 

Page 35



 

 

6.7 The subject 3-storey 1960s building is not listed, and is not located within a 
conservation area. Having assessed the character and appearance of the building, 
officers consider it has no discernable architectural merit that would justify its retention, 
whilst its poor design detracts from the wider area.   

6.8 In Planning terms, a heritage asset is ‘a building, monument, site, place, area or 
landscape identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in 
planning decisions, because of its heritage interest.’   

6.9 In this case, the existing building is not considered to be a heritage asset, therefore the 
principle of the proposed demolition is considered acceptable. Notwithstanding the 
loss, the proposed building would be required to be the highest standard of design, in 
compliance with core planning principles of the NPPF, Core Strategy Policy 15 and DM 
Policy 30. 

Reduction in Existing Commercial Floorspace 
 

6.10 London Plan Policy 2.15 (a and c) states that development proposals should ‘sustain 
and enhance the vitality and viability of the centre’ and ‘support and enhance the 
competitiveness, quality and diversity of town centre retail, leisure, employment, arts 
and cultural, other consumer services and public services’. Locally, CS Policy 6 (c) 
seeks to ‘protect local shopping facilities from change of use where there is an 
economic demand for such services’ and Policy LTC16 (3 a-d) Retail Area specifies 
criteria against which proposals resulting in the loss of A1 shops will be acceptable. 
The criteria outlines that loss of A1 may be acceptable where the change of use is to 
another A use class and it does not result in an over-concentration of non A Use 
Classes.  The site does not lie within a defined town centre / retail area. 

 
6.11 The four existing commercial units included retail, sui generis, and takeaway uses, 

prior to their closure in July 2016. The units are small, ranging between 34.2sqm – 
43.2sqm, with an overall floorspace of 153sqm. In comparison, the proposed 
commercial unit floorspace would measure 58sqm, in addition to internal cycle and 
refuse stores. 

 
6.12 Whilst there would be a net loss of 95sqm of commercial floorspace, officers are 

mindful that this would be due mainly to the significantly greater provision of residential 
accommodation on the site, which is supported.  

 
6.13 The applicant has advised that the tenants had all accrued rental arrears, and 

subsequently had their leases forfeited. Subsequent to their closure, the units have not 
been formally marketed for further commercial use. Strettons Chartered Surveyors 
have assessed the commercial viability of the existing premises, and conclude that the 
units would be undesirable to potential occupiers for the following reasons: 

 

 Poor external appearance of the building; 

 Limited size of each unit, being prohibitive and commercially unfeasible; 

 Fails to provide modern commercial facilities. 
 

6.14 On balance, the proposed re-provision of a reduced commercial floorspace would be 
acceptable in this instance, considering the existing parade does not fall within a 
designated employment or shopping area. Given there is a high retail presence within 
the immediate area, including the ground floor of the adjacent Cippa House, and the 
Bell Green Retail Park opposite, officers raise no objection to the principle of the 
proposed development providing commercial A2 or B1 uses rather than A1, should 
there be no interest from a potential retail operator.  

 
Existing Residential Units 

Page 36



 

 

 
6.15 No objections are raised toward the loss of the four existing residential units on the 

upper floors of the building, which comprises two undersized units that fail to accord 
with the minimum flat size guidance stated in the London Plan Housing SPG (2016). 
The proposal would provide a higher density of residential provision, which would also 
provide an improved standard of accommodation. 

 
 Design 

6.16 Urban design is a key consideration in the planning process. The NPPF makes it clear 
that national government places great importance on the design of the built 
environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible 
from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people. The NPPF states that it is important to plan positively for the achievement of 
high quality and inclusive design for all development, including individual buildings, 
public and private spaces and wider area development schemes. 

6.17 Paragraph 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework states: “local planning 
authorities should not attempt to impose architectural styles or particular tastes and 
they should not stifle innovation, originality or initiative through unsubstantiated 
requirements to conform to certain development forms or styles. It is, however proper 
to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness.” 

6.18 The London Plan also places great importance on design and local character. Policy 
7.4 (Local Character), states that development should have regard to the form, 
function, and structure of an area, place or street and the scale, mass and orientation 
of surrounding buildings. Policy 7.6 ‘Architecture’, reinforces the emphasis on good 
design and provides that architecture should make a positive contribution to a coherent 
public realm, streetscape and wider cityscape. It should incorporate the highest quality 
materials and design appropriate to its context. 

6.19 In accordance with national and regional policy, the Core Strategy and the 
Development Management Local Plan also set out policies to ensure design is a 
fundamental consideration in all planning decisions. Core Strategy Policy 15 (High 
quality design for Lewisham) states that for all development, the Council will ensure the 
highest quality design and the protection or enhancement of the historic and natural 
environment, which is sustainable, accessible to all, optimises the potential of sites and 
is sensitive to the local context and responds to local character.  

6.20 Core Strategy Policy 15 also requires that all new residential development be attractive 
and neighbourly, and meet the functional requirements of future residents. 

6.21 Core Strategy Policy 18 (Tall buildings) advises that they may be appropriate in specific 
locations identified by the Lewisham Tall Buildings Study. These locations are 
Lewisham and Catford town centres, Convoys Wharf, Oxestalls Road, Plough Way and 
Surrey Canal Triangle. Within these locations the Study identifies further details of 
areas which may be appropriate, inappropriate or sensitive to tall buildings. All tall 
building proposals should be accompanied by detailed urban design analysis to assess 
its impact upon the immediate and wider context. Tall buildings will be considered 
inappropriate where they would cause harm to the identified qualities of the local 
character, heritage assets, landscape and open space features. 

6.22 CS Policy 18 and the Tall Buildings Study (2012) defines ‘tall buildings’ as buildings 
that are significantly taller than the predominant height of buildings in the surrounding 
area, and more than 25 metres high adjacent to River Thames, or more than 30 metres 
high elsewhere in the Borough. In this case, the proposed building would measure a 
maximum of 25.2 metres in height. 

a) Scale, Height, and Appearance 

Page 37



 

 

6.23   The proposal has gone through a pre-application process, whereby officers reviewed 

and challenged the rationale for the proposed scale, massing, and form of the project. 

The scheme was referred to the Lewisham Design Review Panel (LDRP), whose 

comments have been summarised in the consultation section of this report. It was and 

is considered that the existing building appears unattractive, and no objections are 

therefore raised toward the principle of its demolition and redevelopment. 

6.24 The site lies within an area of mixed architectural style, characterised by low rise 
dwellings to the west, the single-storey health building to the rear, a 4-storey building to 
the adjacent northern plot (Cippa House), and a 3 to 8-storey residential development 
on the opposite side of Bell Green. DM Policy 30 requires proposals to create a 
positive relationship to the existing townscape, preserve and/ or create an urban form 
that contributes to local distinctiveness such as plot widths, roofscape, views, 
panoramas and vistas.  

6.25 The site therefore lies in the midst of a significant variation in architectural style, mass 
and height.  The context of Bell Green itself, and the 4 and 5/7 storey forms of Cippa 
House and Orchard Court are clearly more relevant to the site than the low density, low 
rise development to the west.  London Plan Policy 3.4 requires schemes to optimise 
the housing potential of any given site, albeit within the density ranges referred to 
within Table 3.2 of that Plan.  It must be highlighted that the new draft London Plan, 
under consultation earlier this year, has not retained a restrictive density range for new 
schemes, but instead seeks design led density, to be used positively in the context of a 
significantly increased need for housing.  

6.26 Officers consider that the insertion of contrasting designs and heights within a 
streetscape, especially where that streetscape already exhibits that character, provided 
they are of high quality, can improve the appearance and character of an area and can 
often contribute to the streetscene more positively than the existing buildings.  

6.27 The development would have a significantly greater presence than the existing 
building, particularly when viewed from the northern approach of Bell Green, however 
officers consider that it would serve to complement the existing (up to) 8-storey 
Orchard Court development directly opposite. The Design Review Panel concluded 
that ‘given the highly unusual nature of the site, its location facing Bell Green, 
terminating the view from the east, and the very mixed character of the area, we 
consider that a building of up to 8-storeys could be acceptable here.’    

6.28 There are no existing significant historical assets that would be adversely harmed by 
the development, with the Grade 2 Listed Livesey Hall lying a sufficient distance away 
to the north of the site.  

6.29 In terms of design, the proposal does not seek to replicate the appearance of existing 
buildings, incorporating a predominantly brick finish, as opposed to the rendered and 
clad exteriors to more recent developments nearby. The use of brick facades including 
patterned brickwork, together with provision of terraces and balconies would contribute 
to a high quality modern development, whilst serving to reflect the brickwork character 
of façade to more established buildings in the local area. 

6.30 Details and samples will nonetheless be required to be submitted, and facing materials 
presented on-site, to officers, secured by condition. 

6.31 The overall appearance and detailed massing of the building has progressed 
significantly since the initial pre-application proposal, which was entirely 8-storeys, with 
a notable absence of sufficient articulation. Following advice from officers and the 
Design Review Panel, the number of units has been reduced, and the overall height of 
the building reduced to the rear, with increased visual interest to the elevational form. 
The 6-8 storey approach would enable an appropriate relationship with the existing 
townscape, and is therefore supported by officers. 

Page 38



 

 

Impact Upon Development Potential of Adjoining Sites 

6.32 The applicants have considered the development potential of the existing health centre 
site and the vacant plot to the immediate south fronting Bell Green, should permission 
be granted for the current proposal. The Design and Access Statement (pages 13/14) 
indicates that a 3-4 storey residential/ D1 use development with associated 
landscaping upon the health centre site would be feasible, with dual aspect north/ 
south facing units that would not be impaired by the siting or height of the proposed 
development. 

6.33 The plot fronting Bell Green could potentially accommodate a residential development 
of increased height than the existing built form, with sufficient space between the two to 
ensure adequate outlook, and prevent against direct overlooking.  

6.34 In summary, officers’ view is that the scheme would make the best use of the 
application site to contribute to housing delivery, and also achieve a positive 
relationship to the existing townscape, specifically in terms of its massing, height and 
urban grain. 

 b) Density 

6.35 Given the need for housing, Policy 3.4 of the London Plan states that, taking into 
account local context and character, the design principles in Chapter 7 and public 
transport capacity, development should optimise housing output for different types of 
location within the relevant density range shown in Table 3.2. This is also carried 
through in DM Policy 30. 

6.36 The site has a PTAL rating of 3, and is located upon a busy ‘A’ road. The site lies close 
to the out of centre Bell Green Retail Park, whilst Sydenham centre is a short distance 
away. It is acknowledged that there is a high density of residential flats to the north and 
east of the application site, in comparison to the relatively low density of dwelling-
houses to the immediate west. Taking this into account, officers consider the most 
appropriate setting for the application site to be ‘urban’. 

6.37 In applying the density matrix of Table 3.2, the stated density range is between 200-
450 hr/ha. The proposal would provide 23 units, therefore officers calculate the density 
to be 676 hr/ha, which exceeds the London Plan density range guidelines. 

6.38 The London Plan advises that density should not be applied mechanistically and the 
Housing SPG (2016) confirms that the density ranges should be considered as a 
starting point rather than an absolute rule when determining the optimum housing 
potential of a particular site. Officers are mindful that exceeding the density ranges 
could be symptomatic of an over intensive development of the site, however it is 
important to take into account the quality of proposed residential accommodation and 
dwelling mix, whilst acknowledging the proposed footprint and height of the building 
upon this constrained site. Reference has also been made above the emerging steer of 
the draft London Plan, which no longer provides an upper limit for density levels, 
instead promoting design led density. 

 

 

Housing 

a)  Affordable Housing 

6.39 In addition to having regard to contributing in simple number terms, new residential 
development must also meet the needs of potential residents. This is highlighted in 

Page 39



 

 

Objective 3 of the Core Strategy which states that this will include provision of 
affordable housing and mix of dwelling size and types, including family housing. 

6.40 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in chapter 6 states that local planning 
authorities should, through their evidence base, objectively assess the needs of the 
housing market to ensure that affordable housing is delivered. 

6.41 Core Strategy Policy 1 has been adopted following the evidence base of the Lewisham 
and South-East London Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). This policy 
has been adopted in line with London Plan policies 3.8-3.13 and the NPPF. 

6.42 With respect to affordable housing, CS Policy 1 outlines that the Council will seek the 
maximum provision of affordable housing with a strategic target of 50% affordable 
housing from all sources. To ensure a mixed tenure and promote mixed and balanced 
communities, the affordable housing component is to be provided as 70% social rented 
and 30% intermediate housing. This is also recognised in DM Policy 7. 

6.43 In addition to this, the Council have adopted the Planning Obligations SPD which 
outlines the evidence behind the affordable housing targets, definitions of affordable 
housing and where obligations will be sought. Contributions on affordable housing will 
be sought on sites that are capable of providing 10 residential units or more. The 
Council’s preference is for affordable housing to be provided on-site and off-site 
provision will only be accepted in exceptional circumstances. This is to ensure the 
chance to provide mixed and balanced communities and has been adopted in line with 
Paragraph 50 of the NPPF. 

6.44 However, the provision of affordable housing is subject to a financial viability 
assessment to ensure meeting this policy does not make development unviable. In this 
case, the applicant has proposed no affordable housing or off-site payment, which was 
supported in viability assessment studies completed by the applicant’s consultants, 
Sheridan Development Management Limited. 

6.45 The financial information was assessed by independent consultants UrbanDelivery to 
provide assistance and advice to the Council on the matter of viability. In their report, 
they challenged the applicant’s viability assumptions, including site value, profit return 
and professional fees, yet nonetheless concluded that the scheme would be unable to 
provide any on-site affordable units or an in-lieu payment. This is based upon a 
developer profit of 17.5% on Gross Development Value – in most cases developers 
would typically target a 20% profit, however a 17-20% developer profit on GDV for 
residential development is an  accepted level of return at the current time, which can be 
a minimum requirement of some lenders to ensure there is sufficient margin to cover 
potential cost over-runs or falls in sales values, while ensuring the lender has recourse 
to recover its debts.  

6.46 The Mayoral CIL and LB Lewisham CIL charges also form part of UrbanDelivery’s 
appraisal. At £35 and £70 per sqm respectively, this would equate to £184,809. This is 
in addition to demolition costs; and agreed highways works/ CPZ, and children’s 
playspace s106 financial contributions. 

6.47 The NPPF states that ‘where an applicant is able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
the local planning authority that the planning obligation would cause the development 
to be unviable, the LPA should be flexible in seeking planning obligations. This is 
particularly relevant for affordable housing contributions which are often the largest 
single item sought on housing developments. These contributions should not be sought 
without regard to individual scheme viability. The financial viability of the individual 
scheme should be carefully considered in line with the principles in this guidance.’ 

6.48 Officers have reviewed the viability and ensured that UrbanDelivery’s have robustly 
supported their conclusions during the process. The outcome is that their 

Page 40



 

 

independent and robust examination of the applicants’ viability justification in regard 
to nil affordable housing delivery has been accepted by officers. 

6.49 The GLA Affordable Housing and Viability SPG (2017) seeks to maximise affordable 
housing delivery in the longer term and acknowledges the potential for significant 
changes in values in the housing market, therefore the use of review mechanisms are 
supported. This would include an early review which is triggered where an agreed level 
of progress on implementing the permission has not been reached after two years of 
the permission being granted. Following this, a late review would be applied once 75 
per cent of homes are sold. The SPG advises that the benefit of this approach is that 
the review can be based on values achieved and costs incurred. The review takes 
place prior to sale of the whole development to ensure that the review and any 
additional contribution arising from this are enforceable. The outcome of this review will 
typically be a financial contribution towards off-site affordable housing provision. Such 
review mechanisms would be secured in the S106. 

6.50 The proposed development would give rise to additional demands on existing 
social infrastructure such as schools and health services. Funding of the provision, 
improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure to support 
the development of the Borough is now secured through Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) payments.  

 b) Unit Mix 

6.51 The SHMA studies have determined there is a lack of family dwellings in the Borough. 
Following from this evidence base, together with accommodating mixed and diverse 
communities as outlined in the London Plan, the Council requires a suitable mix of 
units, including three bedroom family units. Core Strategy Policy 1 states that this is 
subject to the following criteria:- 

1) the physical character of the site or building and its setting; 

2) the previous or existing use of the site or building; 

3) access to private gardens or communal garden areas for family dwellings; 

4) the likely effect on demand for car parking within the area; 

5) the surrounding housing mix and density of population; 

6) the location of schools, shops, open space and other infrastructure requirements. 

6.52 Table 1 below shows the residential size and mix of the proposed units that comprise 
the scheme. The ‘minimum’ internal flat size requirements for each unit type derive 
from the Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (2015). 

6.53 As shown in Table 1, 21% of the units proposed would be family units. Officers have 
considered the criteria outlined in Core Strategy Policy 1 and consider that the 
provision of 5 family units (3 bed) would be acceptable on the site. 

6.54 In addition to the number of family units, Core Strategy Policy 1 states that 10% of new 
build residential development should be wheelchair accessible housing. The scheme 
would achieve this by providing three wheelchair dwellings. 

6.55 Overall, officers consider the mix and type of units to be in line with the policy 
requirements and therefore is acceptable. 

 

Page 41



 

 

    Table [ 1 ]: Residential Units and Sizes 

      Tenure    1b2p 

Min 50sqm 

    2b3p 

Min 61sqm 

    3b4p 

 Min 74sqm 

    Total 

      1st Floor        2 

   50sqm 

        2 

  61-75sqm 

  

         - 

         

        4 

      2nd Floor        2 

   50sqm  

        2 

   61-75sqm 

 

         - 

         

        4 

     3rd Floor        2 

    50sqm 

         2 

   61-75sqm 

         -         4 

     4th Floor        2 

    50sqm 

         1 

     61sqm 

        1 

     75sqm 

        4 

     5th Floor        2 

    50sqm 

         1 

     61sqm 

        1 

     75sqm 

        4 

     6th Floor         -          -         2 

    74-79sqm 

        2 

     7th Floor         -          -         1 

     75sqm 

        1 

      TOTAL       10         8         5        23 

 

c) Standard of Accommodation 

6.56 The NPPF states that, as a core principle, planning should seek to provide a high 
quality of amenity for future residents. 

6.57 London Plan Policy 3.5 states that local frameworks and planning decisions should 
incorporate requirements for accessibility and adaptability, minimum space standards 
and water efficiency. The Mayor will, and boroughs should, seek to ensure that new 
development reflects these standards. The design of all new dwellings should also take 
account of factors relating to ‘arrival’ at the building and the ‘home as a place of 
retreat’. New homes should have adequately sized rooms and convenient and efficient 
room layouts which are functional and fit for purpose, meet the changing needs of 
Londoners over their lifetimes, address climate change adaptation and mitigation and 
social inclusion objectives and should be conceived and developed through an 
effective design process 

6.58 In line with this, the Council’s adopted DM Policy 32 states that the standards in the 
London Plan Housing SPG will be used to assess whether new housing development 

Page 42



 

 

provides an appropriate level of residential quality and amenity. This will involve an 
assessment of whether the proposals provide accommodation that meet the following 
criteria: 

a) meet the minimum space standards for new development which should conform 
with the standards in the London Plan; 

b) habitable rooms and kitchens and bathrooms are required to have a minimum floor 
height of 2.5 metres between finished floor level and finished ceiling level. Space 
that does not meet this standard will not count towards meeting the internal floor 
area standards; 

c) provide accommodation of a good size, a good outlook, with acceptable shape and 
layout of rooms, with main habitable rooms receiving direct sunlight and daylight, 
and adequate privacy. There will be a presumption that residential units provided 
should be dual aspect. Any single aspect dwellings provided will require a detailed 
justification as to why a dual aspect dwelling is not possible and a detailed 
demonstration that adequate lighting and ventilation can be achieved. North facing 
single aspect flats will not be supported; and, 

d) include sufficient space for storage and utility purposes in addition to the minimum 
space standards. 

6.59 Since the adoption of DM Policy 32, the national Technical Housing Standards 
prepared by DCLG have been adopted. The London Plan Housing SPG is now 
generally in compliance with the national standards and therefore these are also 
considered in the assessment of standard of accommodation. 

6.60 The housing standards state that new 1b2p units should be provided with 50 sqm of 
internal floor area and 1.5 sqm of utility space, while new 3b5p units should be 
provided with 86 sqm and 2.5 sqm of utility space. Double and twin bedrooms should 
be a minimum 11.5 sqm and single bedrooms should be 7.5 sqm. 

6.61 The proposed development would comply with the overall internal floor area of the 
technical housing standards, as advised in Table 1. In addition, having measured each 
habitable room, officers consider that the individual rooms would also meet the relevant 
standards, whilst floor to ceiling heights would be compliant. A sufficient provision of 
internal storage space would be afforded to occupiers. Therefore, in terms of internal 
amenity, the proposed units would be acceptable.  

6.62 All habitable rooms would be afforded sufficient outlook, and would therefore be 
acceptable. The rear facing first floor 1 bedroom unit would look directly toward the 
sloping roof of the health centre, however it would have a sufficient outlook separation 
distance of approximately 8 metres. 

6.63 In terms of natural light intake, the Council uses the BRE guide to good practice (2011) 
standards to assess the quality of daylight/sunlight into new development. The 
applicant has submitted an assessment to address the standards, which concludes the 
proposed units would achieve the BRE recommended values regarding Average 
Daylight Factor.  

6.64 DM Policy 32 (4c) states that residential development should provide accommodation 
of a good size, a good outlook, with acceptable shape and layout of rooms, with main 
habitable rooms receiving direct sunlight and daylight, and adequate privacy. There will 
be a presumption that residential units provided should be dual aspect. In this case, all 
proposed units would be dual aspect, with some upper floor units being triple aspect, 
therefore no concerns are raised in respect of daylight. 

Page 43



 

 

6.65 Overall, the standard of internal accommodation within each unit would be of high 
quality, in accordance with the Technical housing standards – nationally described 
space standard (2015). 

d)  External Amenity 

6.66 DM Policy 32 ‘Housing design, layout and space standards’ should be provided with a 
readily accessible, secure, private and usable external space and include space 
suitable for children's play. The Council will apply the standards of the London Plan 
Supplementary Planning Guidance, 'Providing for Children and Young People's Play 
and Informal Recreation', which specifies 10 square metres of play space for each 
child. 

6.67 The London Plan Housing SPG Standards 26 and 27 relates to external amenity and 
outlines that 5 sqm should be provided for one bedroom dwellings with an additional 1 
sqm per additional occupant. This space should have a minimal depth of 1.5m. 

6.68 The proposed development would provide private external amenity in the form of 
terraces to all floor units, with the ‘penthouse’ unit benefitting from a 107sqm roof 
terrace. In addition, all occupiers would have access to a 81sqm communal roof terrace 
at 7th floor level. 

6.69 The rear facing 1 bedroom first floor flat would lie closest to the neighbouring health 
centre, and a rear access to its yard area. The applicant has therefore proposed that 
full height toughened sliding glass panels be formed around the perimeter of the 
balcony so that it can be enclosed as a winter garden, whilst serving to protect future 
occupiers from any neighbouring noise/ disturbance. 

6.70 In summary, officers are satisfied with the provision of proposed private and communal 
amenity spaces, in line with the Housing SPG standards.  

Impact on Neighbouring Properties 

6.71 DM Policy 32 states that new residential development should be neighbourly and not 
result in adverse impacts on the amenities of nearby properties.  

6.72 The NPPF outlines as a core principle that planning should ensure quality amenity for 
existing residents. DM Policy 32 states that development should be neighbourly and 
provide a satisfactory level of privacy, outlook and natural lighting both for its future 
residents and its neighbours. 

6.73 The Council also uses BRE guidance ‘Site layout planning for daylight and sunlight: a 
guide to good practice’, where relevant, to assess the impact on existing properties in 
terms of daylight/ sunlight. 

6.74 In regard to privacy, Paragraph 2.3.36 of the London Plan Housing SPG states that a 
distance of 18-21 metres will generally be sought between existing and proposed 
habitable windows. However, it is considered that rigidly adhering to this distance can 
limit the variety of urban spaces and restrict density. Paragraph 2.250 of DM Policy 32 
also references a distance of 21 metres, however it also outlines that this must be 
interpreted flexibly, taking into account the height of buildings. 

6.75 The proposal would be considerably higher than the existing 3-storey building that 
currently occupies the site, however the nearest dwelling-houses within the Holmshaw 
Close estate are sited approximately 48 metres to the north, with dwellings to the west 
lying 60 metres away. Officers are therefore satisfied there would be no adverse 
overlooking between existing and proposed habitable rooms, or from the proposed 
terraces.  

Page 44



 

 

6.76 Upper floor units within the neighbouring Cippa House would lie a sufficient distance 
away to not be significantly impacted upon by the proposed buildings rear (westwards) 
projection beyond their rear elevation. A Daylight & Sunlight report has been 
undertaken by BVP, and it concludes that in terms of Average Daylight Factor (ADF), 
this would be retained well above the BRE recommended values in all locations, and 
there would be no adverse effect to the daylight benefitting this residential 
accommodation. 

6.77 The nearest building to the application site is the part single/ part 2-storey health centre 
to the adjacent plot, which accommodates offices and treatment rooms. The Daylight & 
Sunlight report concludes that only one existing opening in the east elevation (W7) 
would fall below the benchmark 27% Vertical Sky Component, due in part to the small 
size of the opening, and its close proximity to the boundary wall. The north facing 
openings of the health centre would not be affected by the proposed development.  

6.78 Overall, there is not considered to be any significant adverse impacts on the amenities 
of neighbouring occupiers to warrant the refusal of the scheme. 

Employment 

6.79 London Plan Policy 2.15 requires development proposals to ‘sustain and enhance the 
vitality and viability of the centre’. 

6.80 The proposed ground floor commercial unit would provide flexible A1, A2 or B1 
floorspace measuring 58sqm. It is acknowledged that the amount of floorspace is less 
than the existing 153sqm, however the proposal would provide a larger individual unit 
than the existing, (the largest unit is only 43sqm), whilst being modern and more 
attractive to commercial operators. 

6.81 It is considered appropriate that a marketing strategy for the commercial unit is formally 
submitted to the Council within 4 months of commencement of development, 
demonstrating that sufficient measures are being undertaken to ensure occupancy of 
the unit. This would be secured by a planning condition. 

6.82 It is acknowledged that the main difficulties for small businesses being able to occupy 
new premises includes the affordability of the units that come forward, the start-up 
costs associated with fitting out beyond shell and core and lack of flexibility with leases. 
In order to address this issue and to ensure that the reduced amount of commercial 
floorspace to be delivered as part of this mixed use development offers genuine 
employment opportunities, it is considered appropriate to secure measures that would 
make the commercial units more affordable for small businesses, whilst increasing 
potential for occupancy at an early stage. 

6.83 In accordance with DM Policy 11 Other employment locations, following discussions 
with officers, the developers have agreed to undertake an initial fit-out of the unit. This 
would include service connections for gas, electricity, water and foul drainage, and 
provision for telecommunication services and broadband services; wall and ceiling 
finishes; wheelchair accessible entrances and screed floors, which would be secured in 
a S106 Agreement. The ingoing tenant would then be responsible for the final fit-out. 

6.84 The applicant has advised that a 3 month rent free period would be granted to allow the 
tenant to complete the fit-out of the unit and begin trading before any rental payments 
are due.  

6.85 The above measures would enable a small business to take over the unit without 
significant start-up costs, which can be prohibitive and would facilitate a ‘bedding in’ 
period. 

Local Labour 

Page 45



 

 

6.86 The Lewisham Obligations: Supplementary Planning Document (2015) states that ‘the 
addition of further population from new development has the potential to exacerbate 
the rate of unemployment as competition for a limited number of local jobs rises.’ For 
this reason, ‘financial support for the Local Labour and Business Scheme is vital in 
mitigating the impact of new development. Most development will have an impact and 
therefore obligations in this respect will be required.’ 

6.87 The Lewisham Local Labour and Business Scheme is a local initiative that helps local 
businesses and residents to access the opportunities generated by regeneration and 
development activity in Lewisham. It is therefore appropriate that the developer in this 
case incurs a financial contribution toward Local Labour in the Borough. 

6.88 The Planning Obligations SPD states that the Council requires a contribution of £530 
for each new job / dwelling. In this case, the contribution would be £4,169, which will be 
secured in the S106.  

Highways and Traffic Issues 

a) Car Parking 

6.89 The Council, in line with the London Plan and NPPF policies, takes a restrictive 
approach to private car parking provision in order to promote use of sustainable modes 
of transport. Parking should comply with the standards of the London Plan, as shown in 
Table 6.2 of the Parking Addendum to Chapter 6. All developments that generate 
significant amounts of movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or 
Transport Assessment. 

6.90 The London Plan also favours sustainable transport modes where it is reasonable to 
decrease the need to travel by car. This is in order to reduce traffic congestion and the 
environmental impacts of car use. This is achieved through promoting cycling through 
the provision of storage space, improve pedestrian routes were necessary, supporting 
the use of public transport through travel plans and preventing excessive parking 
through the maximum standards provided. 

6.91 Core Strategy Policy 14 states that a managed and restrained approach to car parking 
provision will be adopted to contribute to the objectives of traffic reduction while 
protecting the operational needs of major public facilities, essential economic 
development and the needs of people with disabilities. The car parking standards 
contained within the London Plan will be used as a basis for assessment.  

6.92 The existing development incorporates a mixed use commercial and residential 
development which benefits from off-street parking provision. 

6.93 The proposed development would provide 23 units with a mix of sizes, including 5, 
three bedroom family units. 5no. parking spaces are proposed, including three disabled 
bays. Access would be from the existing Holmshaw Close, which is an estate road to 
the west of the application site. 

6.94 A Transport Statement has been submitted in support of the application and used in 
the assessment of the impact. 

6.95 The site has a PTAL of 3 within an urban setting and, with regard to the habitable 
rooms per unit, the parking provision should therefore be up to one space per unit. 

6.96 It also states under the notes of the residential parking standards that all developments 
in areas of good public transport accessibility should aim for significantly less than 1 
space per unit. The PTAL rating is moderate, however there is good access to a 
number of bus routes in Bell Green and Lower Sydenham Train Station is a short 
distance away. 

Page 46



 

 

6.97 The proposed on-site parking provision would equate to one space per 4.6 units. In 
support of the proposal, midweek parking surveys were conducted at 5am, 11am and 
1am in December 2016 within 200 metres of the application site. The survey found 
there was a 73-74% parking stress, with 39-43 observed free spaces.  

6.98 The statement then utilised the most recent car ownership data taken in the 2011 
census for Bellingham Ward to predict car ownership of future occupiers. It found that, 
given there are 0.69 cars per household generally, the 23 units has the potential to 
result in 16 vehicles, based upon full occupancy. Therefore, when deducting the 
proposed 5 on-site spaces, the overspill may be up to 11 spaces. This would not be 
significant considering the availability of parking to neighbouring streets identified in the 
parking surveys, which could adequately absorb any potential over-spill from the site. 

6.99 Highways officers have therefore raised no objections to the proposal, however they 
consider it appropriate that given the existing parking stress identified in the streets 
within the vicinity of the site (which will be exacerbated by visitors) a financial 
contribution is required towards consultation/ implementation of a controlled parking 
zone (CPZ). 

6.100 The sum sought would be £30,000, which is based upon:- 

 Meeting with Local groups to discuss the attractors in the area, the timings of the 
zone and the area to be consulted; 

 Consult residents in the agreed area on the agreed options and proposed design of 
the zone; 

 Provide drop-in events and allow Local Assemblies and TRAs time to raise issues 
at their meetings if necessary. Also highlight the approach to disabled bays; 

 Publish the results of the consultation on the web, identifying which options were 
favoured for the timings and area of the zone to be implemented; 

 Statutory consultation. 

6.101 The applicants have agreed to pay the sum, which will be secured in the S106. 

6.102 The applicant will also be required in the S106 to demonstrate to the Council that 
reasonable endeavours have been undertaken with Lewisham Homes (land owners) to  
introduce waiting restrictions on the vehicle turning head adjacent to the site on 
Holmshaw Close. The waiting restrictions would restrict informal parking in the vehicle 
turning head and facilitate delivery/servicing access to the site. 

6.103 The applicant has also confirmed that following discussions with Highways officers, 
they agree to provide a car club contribution. 

6.104 It is considered appropriate that residential and commercial travel plans be submitted 
that sets out objectives and targets to ensure occupiers have a greater awareness of 
how they generally travel, and to promote use of sustainable modes of travel. 
Conditions will require the submission of evidence to demonstrate compliance with the 
proposed monitoring and review mechanisms within 6 months of first occupation for 
both the commercial and residential uses. 

6.105 A planning condition will require details relating to the installation of electric charging 
facilities within the car park, in accordance with London Plan standards. 

6.106 In summary, the proposed development is not considered to adversely impact upon the 
level of parking in the area. In addition, through the appropriate management of 
parking, cycle parking provision and a Travel Plan, the scheme would meet the policies 

Page 47



 

 

of the NPPF, The London Plan (2016) and DM Policy 29: Car parking in reducing 
private vehicle travel. 

   b)  Access 

6.107 DM Policy 29 requires new development to have no negative impact upon the safety 
and suitability of access and servicing. 

6.108 The site would be accessed from Holmshaw Close, which is an unadopted estate road 
to the west of the site. The Transport Statement advises that servicing and delivery 
vehicles would be likely to access the site from Holmshaw Close and utilise the existing 
turning head adjacent to the application site. On-street parking to the front of the 
building on Bell Green is restricted by yellow lines and a bus stop with lay-by. 
Deliveries to the four existing commercial units were also undertaken to this area, 
therefore it is considered that as the proposed commercial provision would be less, as 
would the future delivery and servicing trip levels.  

6.109 Nevertheless, Highways officers advise the inclusion of a Servicing and Delivery 
condition relating to the commercial unit to ensure the formal submission of further 
details once an end user has been confirmed. The applicant has advised of dialogue 
with the owner of the private road, who has ‘not made the developer aware of any 
existing delivery and servicing issues’. 

6.110 Refuse collection is also currently undertaken from Holmshaw Close, and this would  
continue should permission be granted. 

6.111 Whilst there would be less commercially related vehicular movement, the site would 
provide 5 residential spaces, which would be accessed from Holmshaw Close. 
Considering the low provision and expected trips, this would be unlikely to materially 
change vehicular and pedestrian access conflicts.   

   c)  Cycle Parking 

6.112 Cycle parking standards are provided in Table 6.3 of the Parking Addendum to Chapter 
6 of the London Plan. It states that residential dwellings should provide 1 space per 
one bedroom dwelling and 2 spaces per all other dwellings. Therefore the proposed 
development should provide 38 cycle parking spaces (36 residential, and 2 
commercial.) 

6.113 The proposed ground floor plan (1535-10 V12) indicates that 38 residential, and 2 
commercial, dry and secure cycle spaces would be provided, thereby exceeding the 
London Plan standards.  

6.114 A planning condition will be included which requires further details regarding the type of 
cycle stands, whilst ensuring they are provided prior to first occupation.  

d)  Refuse 

6.115 Standard 22 and 23 of the London Plan Housing SPG highlights guidance on refuse for 
new residential development and references the British Standard BS5906:2005. The 
minimum refuse capacity required would be: 

- Recycling Provision = 3no. x 1280l eurobins   
-   Residual Waste Provision = 3no. x 1100l eurobins   

6.116 In this case, the proposal would be compliant, providing separate residential and 
commercial stores. The residential store would be sited within the car-park area, with 
doors opening onto Holmshaw Close to enable collection. The commercial unit would 
also have an internal store, with opening onto the adjacent side pedestrian footpath.  

Page 48



 

 

6.117 The applicant has advised that refuse collection would be undertaken from Holmshaw 
Close, and the bins would be collected from the proposed stores, which would be open/ 
unlocked on collection days. 

6.118 The capacity of the stores are acceptable, and their provision will be ensured by 
condition. 

e)  Construction Impact 

6.119 A planning condition will ensure the submission of a Construction Management Plan, 
that will be expected to detail the number and type of vehicles, mitigation measures for 
dust and noise, safety implications and length of construction period (among other 
matters). The statement would also be expected to address proposed demolition 
works. 

Sustainability and Energy 

6.120 London Plan Policy 5.2 states that development proposals should make the fullest 
contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with the following 
energy hierarchy: 

- Be lean: use less energy; 

- Be clean: supply energy efficiently; and, 

- Be green: use renewable energy. 

6.121 Major development should look to meet targets in reducing carbon dioxide emissions in 
new buildings. These targets are expressed as minimum improvements over the Target 
Emission Rate outlined in the national Building Regulations. For new residential 
buildings a 35% reduction target beyond Part L 2013 is sought. An energy assessment 
should be included to demonstrate how the targets for emissions reduction are to be 
met. 

6.122 Proposals should outline details of decentralised energy where feasible, such as 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP), and on-site renewable energy. As outlined within 
Policy 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan, these options should be explored within the 
energy assessment. 

6.123 Lewisham’s Core Strategy Objective 5 states ‘The Council will take action to ensure 
that climate change is adapted to and mitigated against, including measures necessary 
to reduce carbon emissions by maximising generation and use of renewable energy 
and locally distributed energy, particularly for major development sites.’ 

6.124 Core Strategy Policy 7 looks to apply the London Plan policies relevant to climate 
change including those related to: air quality, energy efficiency, sustainable design and 
construction, retrofitting, decentralised energy works, renewable energy, innovative 
energy technologies, overheating and cooling, urban greening, and living roofs and 
walls. 

6.125 The application includes an Energy Assessment and Sustainability Statement, which 
considers that due to the scale of the development and constraints of the site, certain 
renewable energy options and CHP are not feasible. Officers raise no objections to 
this. 

6.126 The assessment outlines that the development would achieve a policy compliant 35% 
reduction in CO2 emissions. Energy efficiency measures would include the installation 
of PV panels; high efficiency heating system; advanced heating controls; and 
installation of water meters. Officers consider the development to be acceptable, and in 

Page 49



 

 

compliance with zero carbon targets, a financial contribution of £31,896 to offset the 
emissions would be incurred by the applicant, and secured in the S106.  

 Landscaping 

6.127 DM Policy 25 Landscaping and Trees aims to ensure applicants consider landscaping 
and trees as an integral part of the application and development process.  

6.128 The development would occupy the entire site, therefore no landscaping measures 
around the building are proposed. An 81 sqm communal garden area would however 
be provided on the sixth floor, with seating and planting measures shown. Further 
details of this area will be required by planning condition, which must be completed 
prior to first occupation of the residential units. 

Children’s Play 

6.129 London Plan Policy 3.6 and Core Strategy Policy 12 require that residential and mixed 
use developments make provision for children’s play and informal recreation space. 
The London Plan states that the amount of provision should be proportionally based on 
the number of children expected to occupy the development and an assessment of 
future needs. Summarily, the Mayor of London concludes that new development that 
creates a child yield is expected to provide 10m2 of play and recreation space for every 
child. 

6.130 Based on the Mayor’s playspace SPG, three children between the age of 0-16 are 
predicted to live in the development. This gives rise to a total child playspace 
requirement of 30 sqm. Based on this, there is an opportunity to enhance some play 
facilities within the nearby public spaces, the nearest being Home Park. 

6.131 The Lewisham Planning Obligations: Supplementary Planning Document (2015) 
advises that the undelivered playspace then be multiplied by £300 per m2, which 
represents the estimated cost for the Council to deliver off-site children’s playspace on 
behalf of the developer. In this case, the sum would be £9,000. 

6.132 Children’s playspace contributions are considered separate and additional to the 
Borough CIL. Whilst children’s playspace is often located in open spaces, it will not be 
considered to be covered by any CIL payment, and therefore would be secured 
separately within a S106. 

Air Quality 

6.133 The NPPF (para.128) states that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being 
adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water, noise pollution or land 
instability. 
 

6.134 DM Policy 23 states that the Council will require all major developments that have the 
potential to impact on air quality will be required to submit an Air Quality Management 
Assessment. The application site falls within a designated Air Quality Management 
Area, one of six in the Borough. 

6.135 In response, an assessment has been undertaken on behalf of the applicants, and it 
concludes that the implementation of appropriate measures and good practice during 
the demolition and construction phases would mitigate potential harm from dust. 

6.136 The Council’s Environmental Health officers have reviewed the document, and have 
confirmed they are satisfied with the conclusions reached, with appropriate measures 
to be ensured by a planning condition. 

Page 50



 

 

Planning Obligations 

6.137 The National Planning Policy Framework (NFFP) (para. 203) states that in dealing with 
planning applications, local planning authorities  should consider whether otherwise 
unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or 
planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible 
to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. It further states that 
where obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities should take 
account of changes in market conditions over time and, wherever appropriate, be 
sufficiently flexible to prevent planned development being stalled. The NPPF (para. 
204) also sets out that planning obligations should only be secured when they meet the 
following three tests: 

(a) Necessary to make the development acceptable 

(b) Directly related to the development; and 

(c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

6.138 Paragraph 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (April 2010) puts the 
above three tests on a statutory basis, making it illegal to secure a planning obligation 
unless it meets the three tests. 

6.139 The obligations sought are as follows: 

 Financial contributions of:  

£30,000 toward Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ);  

£31,896 Carbon off-set contribution;  

£9,000 Children’s playspace; 

£4,169 Local Labour 

 Developer to undertake initial fit-out of the commercial unit prior to any 
occupation of the residential units to include: 

- Service connections for gas, electricity, water and foul drainage; 

- Provision for telecommunication services and broadband services; 

- Wall and ceiling finishes; 

- Wheelchair accessible entrances; 

- Screed floors; 

- Glazing solution. 

 A 3 month rent free period granted to the commercial occupier to allow the 
tenant to fit-out the unit and begin trading before any rental payments are 
due; 

 Time delay and late stage Viability Review Mechanism; 

 Demonstrate Reasonable Endeavours have been undertaken for the 
implementation of waiting restrictions on Holmshaw Close; 

 Car-club membership; 

Page 51



 

 

 Monitoring, legal and professional costs. 

6.140 As set out elsewhere in this report, the obligations outlined above are directly related to 
the development. They are considered to be fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development and to be necessary and appropriate in order to secure policy 
objectives, to mitigate the proposed development’s impact and make the development 
acceptable in planning terms. Officers are therefore satisfied the proposed obligations 
meet the three legal tests as set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010. 

 Prevention of crime and disorder 

6.141 S.17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides that it shall be the duty of the 
Council to exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent 
crime and disorder etc in its area. Officers do not consider that this application raises 
any crime and disorder issues. 

 Human Rights Act 

6.142 Officers consider that this application does not raise any Human Rights Act issues that 
need to be considered. 

7.0 Local Finance Considerations 

7.1 Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local 
finance consideration means: 

(a) a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to 
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or 

(b) sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment 
of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

7.2 The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the 
decision maker. 

7.3 The Mayor of London’s CIL is therefore a material consideration. CIL is payable on this 
application and the applicant has completed the relevant form. 

8.0 Community Infrastructure Levy 

8.1 The above development is liable for Lewisham CIL. 

9.0 Equalities Considerations 

9.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 
equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

9.2 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the 
need to:  

 (a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not; 

Page 52



 

 

(c)  Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

9.3      The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a 
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations. 

9.4  The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance 
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”.  The Council 
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is 
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical 
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes 
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does 
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so 
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the 
technical guidance can be found at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-
public-sector-equality-duty-england 

9.5     The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides 
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty: 

            1.         The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 

            2.         Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making  

            3.         Engagement and the equality duty 

            4.         Equality objectives and the equality duty 

            5.         Equality information and the equality duty 

9.6   The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It 
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents 
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. 
Further information and resources are available at:  

9.7  https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-
sector-equality-duty-guidance 

9.8 The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate 
specifically to any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it 
has been concluded that there is no impact on equality. 

10.0 Conclusion 

10.1  The proposal includes the demolition of an existing non-designated building, which 
serves to detract from the character of the streetscene, and is of insufficient 
architectural merit to warrant retention. 

10.2 The proposal would provide a part 6/ part 7/ part 8-storey mixed use commercial and 
residential development that officers consider to be acceptable in its siting, height and 
design, and would be an appropriate addition to the townscape.  

Page 53

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance


 

 

10.3 Officers are satisfied that due to the proposed siting of the building, the level of visual 
harm upon neighbouring residential occupiers would not be significant. 

10.4 The standard of proposed residential accommodation would be acceptable, in 
accordance with policies, with each unit afforded sufficient private amenity space.  

 
10.5 The provision of no affordable units or in-lieu payment has been rigorously tested by 

an independent viability consultant on behalf of the local planning authority, who 
agrees with the conclusions of the applicant. The S106 would secure an ‘early review’ 
assessment of any changes in the housing market should no development commence 
on-site within 2 years of the decision date, with a further review undertaken once 75% 
of homes are sold.  

 
10.6 Officers are satisfied with the Highways impact of the proposal, subject to provision of 

a CPZ financial contribution and car club membership. 
 

10.7 For these reasons, it is recommended the redevelopment of the site is granted 
permission.  

 
 

11.0 RECOMMENDATION (A) 

11.1 To agree the proposals and authorise the Head of Law to complete a legal agreement 
under Section 106 of the 1990 Act (and other appropriate powers) to cover the 
following principal matters:-  

 Financial contributions of:  

£30,000 toward Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ);  

£31,896 Carbon off-set contribution;  

£9,000 Children’s playspace; 

£4,169 Local Labour 

 Developer to undertake initial fit-out of the commercial unit prior to any 
occupation of the residential unit to include: 

- Service connections for gas, electricity, water and foul drainage; 

- Provision for telecommunication services and broadband services; 

- Wall and ceiling finishes; 

- Wheelchair accessible entrances; 

- Screed floors; 

- Glazing solution. 

 A 3 month rent free period granted to the commercial occupier to allow the 
tenant to fit-out the unit and begin trading before any rental payments are 
due; 

 Time delay and late stage Viability Review Mechanism; 

 Demonstrate Reasonable Endeavours have been undertaken for 
the implementation of waiting restrictions on Holmshaw Close; 

Page 54



 

 

 Car-club membership; 

 Monitoring, legal and professional costs. 

 

RECOMMENDATION (B) 

11.2 Upon the completion of a satisfactory Section 106, in relation to the matters set out 
above, authorise the Head of Planning to Grant Permission subject to conditions 
securing the following:- 

 
(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 

the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is 
granted.  

 
Reason:  As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
 

(2) The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application 
plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below: 

 
1535-01 V10; 1535-03 V10; 1535-04 V10; 1535-05 V10; 1535-06 V10; 1535-
07 V10; 1535-08 V10; 1535-09 V10; 1535-16 V10; 1535-31 V10; 1535-33 V10 
Planning Statement; Architectural Drawings; Marketing Assessment; Daylight 
& Sunlight; Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report; Transport Statement; Noise & 
Vibration Assessment; Geo-Environmental Desk Study; Sustainability and 
Energy Statement Rev A Received 30 August 2017; 
 
1535-10 V11; 1535-14 V11; 1535-15 V11; 1535-21 V11; 1535-26 V11; 1535-
27 V11; 1538-28 V11; 1535-32 V11; 1535-33 V11; 1535-36 V11; 1535-37 
V11; Design and Access Statement; Air Quality Assessment; Transport Note: 
Response to Highways Comments Received 14 December 2017; 
 
1535-02 V12; 1535-10 V12; 1535-11 V12; 1535-12 V12; 1535-13 V12; 1535-
18 V12; 1535-19 V12; 1535-20 V12; 1535-23 V12; 1535-24 V12; 1535-25 
V12; 1535-29 V12; 1535-30 V12; 1535-34 V12; 1535-35 V12 Received 9 
February 2018 
 

   1535-50 V12; 1535-51 V12 Received 26 June 2018. 
 

 
Reason:  To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is 
acceptable to the local planning authority. 

 
 
(3) No development shall commence on site until the developer has secured the 

implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  

 
Reason:  To ensure adequate access for archaeological investigations in 
compliance with Policies 15 High quality design for Lewisham and 16 
Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic environment of the Core 
Strategy (June 2011) and Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016) 

 

Page 55



 

 

 
Reason:  To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to improve water quality 
in accordance with Policies 5.12 Flood risk management and 5.13 Sustainable 
drainage in the London Plan (2016) and  Objective 6: Flood risk reduction and 
water management and Core Strategy Policy 10:Managing and reducing the risk 
of flooding (2011). 

 
 

(4) No development shall commence on site until such time as a Construction 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  The plan shall cover:- 

 
(a) Demolition works, including dust mitigation measures. 
 
(b) The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities 
  
(c) Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate noise and 

vibration arising out of the construction process  
 
(d) Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative impacts 

which shall demonstrate the following:- 
(i) Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site. 
(ii) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle trips 

to the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of 
construction relates activity. 

(iii) Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement. 
 
(e) Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised personnel). 
 
(f) Details of the training of site operatives to follow the Construction 

Management Plan requirements. 
 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the 
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will 
minimise possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties 
and to comply with Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction, Policy 6.3 
Assessing effects of development on transport capacity and Policy 7.14 
Improving air quality of the London Plan (2016). 

 
 
 

(5) (a) The building shall be designed so as to provide sound insulation against 
external noise and vibration, to achieve levels not exceeding 30dB LAeq 
(night) and 45dB LAmax (measured with F time weighting) for bedrooms, 
35dB LAeq (day) for other habitable rooms, with window shut and other 
means of ventilation provided.  

 
(b) Development shall not commence above ground level until details of a 

sound insulation scheme complying with paragraph (a) of this condition 
have been submitted to an approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

 
(c) The development shall not be occupied until the sound insulation scheme 

approved pursuant to paragraph (b) has been implemented in its entirety. 
Thereafter, the sound insulation scheme shall be maintained in perpetuity 
in accordance with the approved details.   

 

Page 56



 

 

Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the proposed dwellings 
and to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration, DM Policy 32 Housing 
design, layout and space standards, and DM Policy 33 Development on infill 
sites, backland sites, back gardens and amenity areas of the Development 
Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 

(6)    (a) Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development beyond 
piling shall commence until detailed plans at a scale of 1:5 showing: 
windows/ doors/ balconies/ terraces and entrances have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
(b) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

details. 
 

Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the 
detailed treatment of the proposal and to comply with Policy 15 High quality 
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development 
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local 
character. 

 
 

(7)     No development above ground level shall commence on site until a detailed 
schedule and specification/ samples of all external materials and finishes 
(including mortar details) to be used on the building have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Large samples must be 
presented to officers on site as part of the submission. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.   

 
Reason:  To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the 
external appearance of the building and to comply with Policy 15 High quality 
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development 
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local 
character. 

 
 
 
 
 

(8)     (a)   A minimum of 38 secure and dry cycle parking spaces for future residential 
occupiers shall be provided within the development as indicated on the 
plans hereby approved. 

 
  (b) No development shall commence above ground floor level until the full 

details of the cycle parking facilities have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
(c) All cycle parking spaces shall be provided and made available for use prior 

to occupation of the development and maintained thereafter. 
 

Reason:  In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply 
with Policy 14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011). 

 
 
 

(9)  (a)     A minimum of 2 secure and dry cycle parking spaces for the commercial 
unit hereby approved shall be provided within the development as indicated 
on the plans hereby approved. 

Page 57



 

 

 
(b) No development shall commence above ground floor level until the full 

details of the cycle parking facilities have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
(c) All cycle parking spaces shall be provided and made available for use prior 

to occupation of the development and maintained thereafter. 
 

Reason:  In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply 
with Policy 14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011). 

 
 

(10)  (a)   Prior to occupation of the development a scheme for any external lighting 
that is to be installed at the site, including measures to prevent light spillage 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.   

 
(b) Any such external lighting as approved under part (a) shall be installed prior 

to occupation in accordance with the approved drawings and such 
directional hoods shall be retained permanently.   

 
(c) The applicant should demonstrate that the proposed lighting is the 

minimum needed for security and working purposes and that the proposals 
minimise pollution from glare and spillage. 

 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the 
lighting is installed and maintained in a manner which will minimise possible light 
pollution to the night sky and neighbouring properties and to comply with DM 
Policy 27 Lighting of the Development Management Local Plan (November 
2014).  

 
 

(11)    Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that 
Order), no plumbing or pipes, other than rainwater pipes, shall be fixed on the 
elevations of the building. 

 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the 
details of the proposal and to accord with  Policy 15 High quality design for 
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design and 
local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 

(12)   The proposed private and communal amenity spaces (including roof terraces) 
shall be provided prior to first occupation of the residential units, and retained 
thereafter permanently for the benefit of the occupiers of the residential units 
hereby permitted. 
 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the 
amenity space provision in the scheme and to comply with Policy 15 High quality 
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 32 
Housing Design, layout and space standards of the Development Management 
Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 

(13)  (a) A user’s Travel Plan for the residential units shall be submitted to and agreed 
in writing by the local planning authority, in accordance with Transport for 
London’s document ‘Travel Planning for New Development in London’.  The 

Page 58



 

 

development shall operate in full accordance with all measures identified 
within the Travel Plan from first occupation.   

 
(b) The Travel Plan shall specify initiatives to be implemented by the 

development to encourage access to and from the site by a variety of non-
car means, shall set targets and shall specify a monitoring and review 
mechanism to ensure compliance with the Travel Plan objectives.  

 
(c) Within the timeframe specified by (a) and (b), evidence shall be submitted to 

demonstrate compliance with the monitoring and review mechanisms agreed 
under parts (a) and (b). 

 
Reason:  In order that both the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the 
practicality, viability and sustainability of the Travel Plan for the site and to 
comply with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy 
(June 2011). 

 
 

(14)  (a) A user’s Travel Plan for the commercial unit shall be submitted to and agreed 
in writing by the local planning authority, in accordance with Transport for 
London’s document ‘Travel Planning for New Development in London’. The 
commercial unit shall operate in full accordance with all measures identified 
within the Travel Plan from first occupation.   

 
(b) The Travel Plan shall specify initiatives to be implemented by the 

development to encourage access to and from the site by a variety of non-
car means, shall set targets and shall specify a monitoring and review 
mechanism to ensure compliance with the Travel Plan objectives.  

 
(c) Within the timeframe specified by (a) and (b), evidence shall be submitted to 

demonstrate compliance with the monitoring and review mechanisms agreed 
under parts (a) and (b). 

 
Reason:  In order that both the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the 
practicality, viability and sustainability of the Travel Plan for the site and to 
comply with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy 
(June 2011). 

 
 

(15) (a) Details of the location of electric vehicle charging points to be provided and a 
programme for their installation and maintenance shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to construction of the 
above ground works.  

 
(b) The electric vehicle charging points as approved shall be installed prior to 

occupation of the Development and shall thereafter be retained and  
maintained in accordance with the details approved under (a). 

 
Reason:  To reduce pollution emissions in an Area Quality Management Area in 
accordance with Policy 7.14 Improving air quality in the London Plan (2016), and 
DM Policy 29 Car parking of the Development Management Local Plan 
(November 2014). 

 
 

(16) (a) The residential units shall not be occupied until a Delivery and Servicing Plan 
relating to the residential use has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority.  

 

Page 59



 

 

(b) The plan shall demonstrate the expected number and time of delivery and 
servicing trips to the site, with the aim of reducing the impact of servicing 
activity.   

 
(c) The approved Delivery and Servicing Plan shall be implemented in full 

accordance with the approved details from the first occupation of the 
residential units and shall be adhered to in perpetuity. 

 
Reason:  In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply with 
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011). 

 
 

(17) (a) The commercial unit shall not be occupied until a Delivery and Servicing Plan 
relating to the commercial use has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority.  

 
(b) The plan shall demonstrate the expected number and time of delivery and 

servicing trips to the site, with the aim of reducing the impact of servicing 
activity.   

 
(c) The approved Delivery and Servicing Plan shall be implemented in full 

accordance with the approved details from the first occupation of the 
commercial unit and shall be adhered to in perpetuity. 

 
Reason:  In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply with 
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011). 

 
 

(18) (a) Details of the proposed solar panels shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the LPA prior to the completion of the building hereby granted. 

 
(b) The solar panels approved in accordance with (a) shall be installed in full 

prior to first occupation of the residential units hereby approved, and retained 
in perpetuity. 

 
Reason:  To comply with Policies 5.1 Climate change and mitigation, 5.2 
Minimising carbon dioxide emissions, 5.3 Sustainable design and construction, 
5.7 Renewable energy, 5.15 Water use and supplies in the London Plan (2016) 
and Core strategy Policy 7 Climate change and adapting to the effects and Core 
Strategy Policy 8 Sustainable design and construction and energy efficiency 
(2011). 

 
 

 (19) (a)   The detailed design for each dwelling hereby approved shall meet the 
required standard of the Approved Document M of the Building Regulations 
(2015) as specified below: 

 
(i) 3 units shall meet standard M4(3) 
(ii) All other units shall meet standard M4(2) 

 
(b)   No development above ground level shall commence until written 

confirmation from the appointed building control body has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority to demonstrate 
compliance with paragraph (a) of this condition. 

  
(c)   The development shall be carried out in accordance with the requirements of 

paragraphs (a) and (b) of this condition. 
 

Page 60



 

 

Reason: In order to ensure an adequate supply of accessible housing in the 
Borough in accordance with Policy 1 Housing provision, mix and affordability and 
Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and 
DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and space standards of the Development 
Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 

(20)   (a) No development  (including demolition of existing buildings and structures) 
shall commence until each of the following have been complied with:- 

 
(i) A site investigation report to characterise and risk assess the site which 

shall include the gas, hydrological and contamination status, specifying 
rationale; and recommendations for treatment for contamination 
encountered (whether by remedial works or not) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council.  

(ii) The required remediation scheme implemented in full.  
 

(b) If during any works on the site, contamination is encountered which has not 
previously been identified (“the new contamination”) the Council shall be 
notified immediately and the terms of paragraph (a), shall apply to the new 
contamination. No further works shall take place on that part of the site or 
adjacent areas affected, until the requirements of paragraph (a) have been 
complied with in relation to the new contamination.  

 
(c) The development shall not be occupied until a closure report has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 
 
 This shall include verification of all measures, or treatments as required in 

(Section (a) i & ii) and relevant correspondence (including other regulating 
authorities and stakeholders involved with the remediation works) to verify 
compliance requirements, necessary for the remediation of the site have been 
implemented in full.  

 
 The closure report shall include verification details of both the remediation and 

post-remediation sampling/works, carried out (including waste materials removed 
from the site); and before placement of any soil/materials is undertaken on site, 
all imported or reused soil material must conform to current soil quality 
requirements as agreed by the authority. Inherent to the above, is the provision of 
any required documentation, certification and monitoring, to facilitate condition 
requirements. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied that 
potential site contamination is identified and remedied in view of the historical 
use(s) of the site, which may have included industrial processes and to comply 
with DM Policy 28 Contaminated Land of the Development Management Local 
Plan (November 2014). 

 
 

(21) (a)  Prior to the first occupation of the development, a Parking Management                                                       
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local authority. The 
Management Plan shall include details of allocation and management of car, 
motorcycle and cycle parking spaces within the development  

 
(b)   The car and cycle parking spaces shall only be operated in accordance with 

the approved Parking Management Plan.  

 
Reason: To manage car and cycle parking in accordance with London Plan 
(2016) Policy 6.13 and DM Policy 29 Car parking of the Development 

Page 61



 

 

Management Local Plan (November 2014) and to reduce pollution emissions in 
an Area Quality Management Area in accordance with Policy 7.14 Improving air 
quality in the London Plan (2016). 

 
 

(22) No part of the development hereby approved shall be first occupied until 
certification that the development has achieved Secure by Design 
accreditation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the 
proposal reduces opportunities for criminal behaviour and makes a positive 
contribution to a sense of security and to comply with Policy 15 High quality 
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) DM Policy 30 Urban 
design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan 
(November 2014) and Policy 7.3 Designing out crime of the London Plan 
(2016). 

 
(23)   (a) The commercial floorspace hereby approved shall achieve a minimum 

BREEAM Rating of ‘Excellent’. 
 

(b)   No works beyond piling shall commence until a Design Stage Certificate for 
the commercial floorspace (prepared by a Building Research Establishment 
qualified Assessor) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority to demonstrate compliance with part (a). 

 
(c) Within 3 months of occupation of the commercial unit, evidence shall be 

submitted in the form of a Post Construction Certificate (prepared by a 
Building Research Establishment qualified Assessor) to demonstrate full 
compliance with part (a). 

 
Reason: To comply with Policies 5.1 Climate change and mitigation, 5.2 
Minimising carbon dioxide emissions, 5.3 Sustainable design and construction, 
5.7 Renewable energy, 5.15 Water use and supplies in the London Plan (2016) 
and Core Strategy Policy 7 Climate change and adapting to the effects, and Core 
Strategy Policy 8 Sustainable design and construction and energy efficiency 
(2011). 

 
 

(24) The proposed residential refuse and recycling facilities shall be provided in full 
prior to first occupation of the residential units hereby granted. 

 
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the 
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse deposal and storage, in the interest of 
safeguarding the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in 
compliance with Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham waste 
management requirements (2011).  

 
 

(25) The proposed commercial refuse and recycling facilities shall be provided in full 
prior to first occupation of the commercial unit hereby granted. 
 
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the 
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse deposal and storage, in the interest of 
safeguarding the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in 
compliance with Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham waste 
management requirements (2011).  

Page 62



 

 

 
 

(26) The proposed ground floor commercial unit shall only be used for A1 (Retail), A2 
(Financial and Professional Services) or B1 (Business) uses and no other 
purpose unless agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
Reason: To provide employment floorspace in line with Core Strategy Policy 5 
Other employment locations.   

 
 

(27) No deliveries shall be taken at or despatched from the commercial premises 
other than between the hours of 0700 and 2000 on Mondays to Fridays, 0800 
and 1300 on Saturdays, and at no time on Sundays or public holidays. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents and to 
comply with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and DM 
Policy 26 Noise and Vibration, and DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and 
space standards of the Development Management Local Plan (2014). 

 
 

(28) The commercial premises shall only be open for customer business between the 
hours of 0800 and 2200 on any day of the week. 
 
Reason:  In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupants at 
unsociable periods and to comply with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework  and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration, DM Policy 32 Housing 
design, layout and space standards and DM Policy 16 Local shopping parades 
and corner shops, of the Development Management Local Plan (November 
2014). 

 
 

 (29) The whole of the car parking accommodation, including the disabled bays, 
hereby approved shall be provided prior to the occupation of any dwelling and 
retained permanently thereafter  
 
Reason:  To ensure the permanent retention of the spaces for parking purposes, 
to ensure that the use of the building does not increase on-street parking in the 
vicinity and to comply with Policies 1 Housing provision, mix and affordability and 
14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011), DM 
Policy 29 Car Parking of the Development Management Local Plan, (November 
2014), and Table 6.2 of the London Plan (2016). 

 
 

(30) Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that 
Order), no satellite dishes shall be installed on any elevation of the building.  
 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the 
details of the proposal and to accord with  Policy 15 High quality design for 
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design and 
local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 

(31)   (a)     No development beyond piling shall commence until full written details, 
including relevant drawings and specifications of the proposed works of 
sounds insulation against airborne noise to meet D’nT,w + Ctr dB of not 
less than 55 for walls and/or ceilings where residential parties non domestic 

Page 63



 

 

use shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  

 
(b) The development shall only be occupied once the soundproofing works as 

agreed under part (a) have been implemented in accordance with the 
approved details.  

 
(c) The soundproofing shall be retained permanently in accordance with the 

approved details. 
 

Reason:  In the interests of residential amenity and to comply with DM Policy 26 
Noise and vibration, DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and space standards, 
and DM Policy 33 Development on infill sites, backland sites, back gardens and 
amenity areas of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 

(32)   (a) The rating level of the noise emitted from any fixed plant on the site shall be 
5dB below the existing background level at any time. The noise levels shall 
be determined at the façade of any noise sensitive property. The 
measurements and assessments shall be made according to 
BS4142:2014. 

 
(b) Details of a scheme complying with paragraph (a) of this condition shall be 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority prior to first installation. 

 
(c) The development shall not be occupied until the scheme approved 

pursuant to paragraph (b) of this condition has been implemented in its 
entirety. Thereafter the scheme shall be maintained in perpetuity.  

 
Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area 
generally and to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration of the 
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 

(33) Within 4 months of commencement of development, a Marketing Strategy for the 
commercial unit  hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the LPA. 
 
Reason: To ensure the occupancy of the employment floorspace. 

 

(34) (a) Prior to occupation, drawings showing landscaping measures of the 
communal garden within the development hereby granted shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

 
(b)     All landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme under part 

(a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the residential units. 
 

Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the 
details of the proposal and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design for 
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management 
Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character. 

 

 

INFORMATIVES 

Page 64



 

 

(A) The Council engages with all applicants in a positive and proactive way through specific 
pre-application enquiries and the detailed advice available on the Council’s website.  On 
this particular application, positive discussions took place, which resulted in further 
information being submitted. 

(B) As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the development. 
An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before development 
commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form' to the council. You 
should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must be submitted and 
determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure to follow the CIL 
payment process may result in penalties. More information on CIL is available at: - 
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/apply-for-planning-
permission/application-process/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx 

 
(C)     You are advised that all construction work should be undertaken in accordance with the 

"London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for Control of Pollution and Noise from 
Demolition and Construction Sites" available on the Lewisham web page. 

(D)     Pre-Commencement Conditions: The applicant is advised that Conditions relating to 
Site Contamination, Construction Management Plan and Archaeology require details to 
be submitted prior to the commencement of works due to the importance of: allowing for 
archaeological investigations; ensuring the site has been cleared of any potential 
contaminants; and minimising disruption on local residents during construction works. 

 
(E) The applicant is advised to contact Thames Water Developer Services on 0800 009 

3921 to discuss the details of the piling method statement. 
 
(F) The applicant be advised that the implementation of the proposal will require approval by 

the Council of a Street naming & Numbering application. Application forms are available 
on the Council's web site. 

 
(G) Assessment of all sound insulation scheme should be carried out by a suitably qualified 

acoustic consultant. 
 
(H)  The weighted standardised level difference (D’nT,W + Ctr) is quoted according to the 

relevant part of the BS EN ISO 717 series. To guarantee achieving this level of sound 
insulation, the applicant is advised to employ a reputable noise consultant details of 
which can be found on the Association of Noise Consultants website. 

 
(I)        Where a developer proposes to discharge groundwater into a public sewer, a 

groundwater discharge permit will be required. Groundwater discharges typically result 
from construction site dewatering, deep excavations, basement infiltration, borehole 
installation, testing and site remediation. Groundwater permit enquiries should be 
directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 020 8507 4890 or 
by emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application forms should be 
completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality. Any discharge made 
without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of 
the Water Industry Act 1991. 

 
(J) Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head 

(approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames 
Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the 
design of the proposed development. 

 
(K)   It is the responsibility of the owner to establish whether asbestos is present within their 

premises and they have a ‘duty of care’ to manage such asbestos. The applicant is 
advised to refer to the Health and Safety website for relevant information 

Page 65

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/apply-for-planning-permission/application-process/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/apply-for-planning-permission/application-process/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx
http://www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix B 
 
 
86-92 BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PZ 
Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) Report 
 
July 2017 
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

86 – 92 Bell Green, Sydenham, 

Lewisham, London SE26 4PZ 

 

Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) Report 

For IMA Real Estate 

 

July 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
2 

 

 

86 – 92 Bell Green, Sydenham 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction 

 
2. Methodology 

 
3. Scheme Overview 

 

4. Benchmark Land Value 

 
5. Residual Development Appraisal 

 

5.1 Development Value 

5.2 Development Costs 

5.3 Gross Residual Land Value 

5.4 Sensitivity Analysis 

5.5 Policy Compliant Appraisal 

 
6. Conclusions 

 
7. Appendices 

 

7.1 Appendix 1 -  Schedule of Accommodation and Floor Areas 

7.2 Appendix 2 -  GVA Market Valuation (Existing Use) 

7.3 Appendix 3 -  Residual Development Appraisal 

7.4 Appendix 4 -  Residential Values Comparable Evidence 

7.5 Appendix 5 -  Pellings’ Cost Plan and Report 

Page 70



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
3 

 

 

82 – 92 Bell Green, Sydenham 

 

1.  Introduction 

 

Sheridan Development Management Ltd (SDML) has been appointed by IMA Real Estate to 

undertake a financial viability assessment (FVA) to accompany its planning application for 

the redevelopment of the site at Bell Green, Sydenham, London Borough of Lewisham. 

SDML is a private consultancy, owned and managed by Chartered Surveyor, Daniel Kaye. 

He has over 25 years of experience in housing development, urban regeneration, asset 

management, property and land. 

His practice provides development, regeneration, planning and housing strategy advice and 

services to local authorities, housing associations and specialist developers and investors, 

including financial viability assessments, development appraisals and affordable housing. 

Prior to setting up SDML in 2015, Daniel Kaye was Development & Special Projects Director 

for one of the country’s largest housing associations, the Guinness Partnership, where he 

was responsible for delivering a major housing led development and regeneration 

programme of over 2500 homes in London and the South-East. 

Prior to Guinness he held senior development, regeneration and property roles at Peabody 

Trust, English Partnerships and the Commission for the New Towns, starting his career in 

Investment and Valuation at property consultants, Healey & Baker. 

Daniel Kaye regularly gives talks and provides training in regard to financial viability and 

affordable housing. 

IMA Real Estate is a highly experienced specialist residential and commercial developer and 

investor working in a joint venture partnership with investment fund, Ingenious. 

The site was acquired by IMA Project Two Limited in June 2016.  

This report is confidential to the applicant and officers (and any appointed agent) of the 

London Borough of Lewisham. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
4 

 

2.  Methodology 

 

In accordance with emerging ‘good’ and acknowledged practice in London this FVA report 

compares residual land value (RLV) of the proposed development with benchmark land 

value (BLV). 

BLV has been assessed on the market value of the site in its existing use plus a landowner’s 

premium of 20%. 

For the purposes of this FVA we have not adopted BLV of the site if it were to be openly 

marketed for redevelopment, nor have we applied the actual acquisition price (and holding 

costs). 

It should be noted that both would be in excess of the EUV plus 20%. 

RLV has been assessed by undertaking a bespoke residual development appraisal model but 

with a similar format, inputs and outputs to proprietary models such as Argus. 

The BLV has been compared to the RLV. 

If the latter is equal to the former then (assuming an acceptable development profit margin) 

the project is deemed to be viable at the proposed level of affordable housing. 

If the RLV is below the BLV then the project could be deemed as not viable, albeit the 

applicant may still be prepared to proceed with the project. 

If the RLV is above the BLV, depending on the amounts, it could be deemed that there may 

be capacity for an additional contribution to affordable housing. 

This report has been undertaken in accordance with general RICS valuation guidance but, 

for the avoidance of doubt it is not, nor should be regarded as, a Red Book Valuation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
5 

 

 

3.  Scheme Overview 

 

This FVA accompanies a Full Planning Application being submitted under separate cover by 

WYG Planning Consultants via the planning portal. The description of the development is as 

follows: 

“Demolition of existing buildings and construction of a mixed use development comprising part 8-

storey, part 6-storey building, 23 no. residential units, 63sqm (GIA) commercial floorspace (A1, A2 & 

B1), 5 car parking spaces; 38 cycle parking spaces; refuse storage; communal amenity area; and 

associated highway works.” 

Council officers (and any appointed agents or independent assessors) will be familiar with 

the application details and/or will be able to review detailed plans and accompanying 

technical reports submitted to the London Borough of Lewisham. 

For information, however, the architect’s schedule of accommodation and floor areas is 

provided at Appendix 1. 

The site in question has existing uses currently on it including four small retail units and four 

flats. 

It occupies a reasonably prominent position on Bell Green. 

The local area has experienced some regeneration and residential led new build 

development in recent years.   

Notwithstanding this it should be regarded as a relatively secondary location. 

Whilst the site benefits from reasonable bus it has a moderate PTAL rating of 3. 

Other locations having been able to sustain comparatively higher levels of house price 

growth. 

The development plot itself is quite small and tight and, as can be seen from the scheme 

plans and drawings, plot coverage is at almost 100%. 

Accordingly, car parking, plant, bin storage and cycle storage facilities have been 

incorporated into the structure of the building at ground floor level. 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
6 

 

4.  Benchmark Land Value (BLV) 

 

At Appendix 2 is a detailed and comprehensive report prepared by property consultants and 

chartered surveyors GVA undertaken on behalf of the clients, IMA Real Estate and 

Ingenious. 

This report provides a market valuation based on existing use. 

As can be seen this amounts to £980,000.   

In accordance with the methodology as set out in section 2, when applying a 20% premium 

(landowner’s incentive to release the land for redevelopment) the total value is £1,176,000. 

Accordingly, the BLV for the site, excluding SDLT and sales costs can therefore be assumed 

at £1,176,000. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
7 

 

 

5.  Residual Development Appraisal 

 

Appendix 3 sets out the detailed residual development appraisal undertaken for this 

scheme.  

A bespoke excel system has been used albeit that it follows a similar approach to that 

provided by standard software such as Argus. 

Essentially development costs are subtracted from development values in order to establish 

a gross residual land value. 

 

5.1 Development Value 

Development value has been derived by adding the net sales revenue of individual 

apartments to the net investment value of the ground rents and ground floor commercial 

spaces. 

Key assumptions, in accordance with the location and scheme details, are as set out in the 

development appraisal at Appendix 3. 

Appendix 4 provides a schedule of comparable market evidence for residential property 

values drawn from properties recently being advertised for sale in the local area. 

Actual sales prices, drawn from official Land Registry data, have also been reviewed. 

Accordingly, a rate of £600 per sq ft, reflecting a moderate new build premium, has been 

applied as a blended average to the residential accommodation provided in the scheme. 

It should be noted that no affordable housing has been assumed in the baseline appraisal as 

shown in the appendix. 

It should also be noted that most property commentators and specialists have stated a 

belief that the London property market is slowing and, indeed, in some locations prices have 

been beginning to fall rather than grow against the trend experienced in recent years. 

This is understood to be as a result of nervousness around the Brexit negotiations and an 

apparently imminent prospect of increases in interest rates, as well as a sense that the 

London residential property market has reached an ‘affordability peak’. 

 

 

Page 75



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
8 

 

5.2 Development Costs 

 

Development costs are as set out logically in the appraisal Appendix 3. 

A market norm of 10% (of costs) for development fees has been applied as well as 

development financing costs of 6.75% taken for a period of one year out of an overall 

development programme from land acquisition through to completion of construction of 3 

years. 

Construction costs have been applied in accordance with the cost plan and report 

undertaken by Chartered Quantity Surveyors, Pellings. 

Their report is provided at Appendix 5. 

As can be seen a gross internal build cost of £2,151 per m2 is consistent with new build 

schemes of this size and nature. 

It should be noted that IMA Real Estate do not have an in-house construction team and 

therefore would deliver this project by way of a third-party contractor tender process and 

using a design and build contract. 

Development profit has been applied at 17.5% of gross development value. 

It should be noted that it is becoming apparent that some banks and funders are seeking 

higher levels of development profit given the current market softening and nervousness. 

This is understood to be closer to the level of 20% profit on gross development value. 

 

5.3 Gross Residual Land Value 

As can be seen from the development appraisal the resultant gross residual land value is 

£664,896, say £665,000. 

Normally, land finance, acquisition costs and SDLT would need to be deducted from this to 

produce a net residual land value. 

The gross figure produces a relatively low plot value of c£29,000 per unit. 

This is a function of development economics in the current market. 

 

5.4 Sensitivity Analysis 

It is our view that a blended average value of £600 per sq ft for the residential 

accommodation is appropriate. 

Page 76



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
9 

 

However, we have undertaken a sensitivity to show the impact of increasing this to £625 per 

sq ft. 

This results in an increased gross RLV (still assuming 100% market housing) of £969,000. 

 

5.5 Policy Compliant Appraisal 

 

We have run the residual development appraisal to show the impact on residual land value 

of a policy compliant scheme. 

In this instance, we have assumed the first two floors (8 units) are affordable rent, the third 

floor is intermediate rent or shared ownership (4 units) and the remaining upper floors are 

market sale (11 units). 

Affordable rent has been assumed at 45% of OMV (£266 per sq ft), intermediate at 60% of 

OMV (£355 per sq ft) and market sale at £600 per sq ft. 

This results in a negative gross residual land value of £1,070,995.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
10 

 

6. Conclusion 

 

As can be seen from the analysis in this report and the appendices the gross RLV of 

£665,000 falls significantly below the BLV of £1,176,000. 

Therefore, in accordance with national, regional and local planning no affordable housing 

can reasonably be provided in this project. 

It should also be noted that any reduction in units as a result of design discussions would 

serve to exacerbate the viability position as fixed land costs would be spread over fewer 

homes thus increasing marginal costs per unit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
11 

 

Appendix 1 – Schedule of Accommodation and Floor Areas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Suite Rms Bed People SqM SqFt

Storey 

GIA

Storey 

GEA

Amenity 

Space  

GIA + 

Balcony 

Space 

SqM

GIA + 

Balcony 

Space 

SqFt

Built-in 

Storage 

Space  

as NDSS

Communal terrace 81

Seventh floor 23 4 3 4 75 807 102 117 107 182 8,690 3.06

Sixth floor 22 4 3 4 79 850 41 120 1,292 3.16

21 4 3 4 74 797 191 210 6 80 861 2.51

Fifth floor 20 4 3 4 75 807 12 87 936 2.76

19 3 2 3 61 657 10 71 764 2.32

18 2 1 2 50 538 9 59 635 1.78

17 2 1 2 50 538 280 301 6 56 603 2.48

Fourth floor 16 4 3 4 75 807 12 87 936 2.76

15 3 2 3 61 657 10 71 764 2.32

14 2 1 2 50 538 9 59 635 1.78

13 2 1 2 50 538 280 301 6 56 603 2.48

Third floor Wheelchair12 3 2 3 75 807 12 87 936 4.18

11 3 2 3 62 667 10 72 775 2.32

10 2 1 2 50 538 9 59 635 1.78

9 2 1 2 50 538 280 301 6 56 603 2.48

Second floor Wheelchair8 3 2 3 75 807 12 87 936 4.18

7 3 2 3 62 667 10 72 775 2.32

6 2 1 2 50 538 9 59 635 1.78

5 2 1 2 50 538 280 301 6 56 603 2.48

First floor Wheelchair4 3 2 3 75 807 12 87 936 4.18

3 3 2 3 62 667 10 72 775 2.32

2 2 1 2 50 538 9 59 635 1.78

1 2 1 2 50 538 280 301 6 56 603 2.48

Ground floor Commercial unit 63 678

Entrance lobby 35 377

Car Parking 179 1,927

Refuse store 14 151 317 336

Totals for upper floors 23 64 41 64 1,411 15,188 1,693 1,831 420 1,750 25,567 60

Total for all floors 23 64 41 64 1,702 18,320 2,010 2,167 420 1,750 25,567 60

Page 79



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17

12 

Appendix 2 – GVA Market Valuation (Existing Use) 

Page 80



 

        

gva.co.uk 

1. Report 

 

Valuation Report 
 

 
 
86-92 Bell Green, 
Sydenham, London, 
SE26 4PZ 
 
 
 
October 2016 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Prepared for  
 

 

  
Bilfinger GVA  

65 Gresham Street 
London 

EC2V 7NQ 
 

Tel no: 08449 02 03 04 

 
 

  

Page 81



86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  2 

Executive Summary 

 
Front elevation Side and rear elevations 

 
 
Location: 
 
Mixed use tertiary location in Lower Sydenham, south London, with retail and residential-led 
regeneration immediately opposite the property to the north east. 
 
Description:  
 
A detached terrace of 4 retail shops with 4no 2-bedroom residential flats above built c. 1960. 
 
Floor Area: 
 
4,303 sq ft (400 sq m) 
 
Tenure: 
 
Freehold 
 
Tenancies  
 
3 of the flats are let on Periodic Tenancies (expired Assured Shorthold Tenancy agreements) 
 
Income: 
 
£39,000 pa 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  3 

Loan Security: 
 
We consider that the property provides satisfactory security for loan purposes, based on the 
following SWOT analysis:- 
 

Strengths Weaknesses 

 Good train link into central London. 

 Close to regeneration area to north east 
of junction. 

 “In between” location – not on a retail 
high street pitch but also on a busy 
junction with little space on the site to 
set a redevelopment back from the 
noise and traffic, which is not ideal for 
residential. 

 Poor external condition requiring 
methodical capital expenditure plan. 

Opportunities Threats 

 Improving location as a result of 
regeneration and redevelopment in and 
around the former gas works to the north 
east. 

 Planning gain from a potential consent 
to redevelop. 

 Depending on retail lettings achieved it 
may be possible to recover some of the 
capital expenditure required through 
the service charge. 

 Economy weakens. 

 

 
Summary of Value: 
 
Our valuations as at 31 October 2016 are summarised as follows:- 
 

Market Value £980,000 

Market Rent per annum £75,000 

 
Market Conditions  
 
Following the Referendum held on 23 June 2016 concerning the UK’s membership of the EU, a 
decision was taken to exit.  It is likely that the exit process will take some 24 plus months 
although the timing is presently uncertain.  This combination of macro- economic, legal and 
political circumstances is unprecedented within the UK property market.  Since that date we 
have monitored market transactions and market sentiment in arriving at our opinion of 
Market Value/Fair Value.  After an initial period of uncertainty and an absence of activity, 

Page 83



86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  4 

transactional volumes and available evidence have risen in most sectors of the market and 
liquidity is returning to more normal levels.  This has led to a generally more stable outlook for 
the market.   However, there remains a paucity of comparable transactions in certain sectors, 
such as our valuation scenario on the Special Aassumption that consent has been granted 
for the 24-flat scheme proposed by the Borrower, and in this case, we have had to exercise a 
greater degree of judgement in arriving at our opinion of value. 
 
We have relied on information provided to us by you that we understand was in turn 
provided to you by the Borrower and have not verified all such information. 
 
For example we have relied on: 
 
 Tenancy information provided to us for the current occupiers and recent occupiers; 

 Current floor areas provided to us except where we have measured or obtained floor 
areas from the Valuation Office Agency 

 Accommodation and floor areas for the proposed scheme. 

Page 84



 

Bilfinger GVA is the trading name of GVA Grimley Limited registered in England and Wales number 6382509. Registered office, 3 Brindleyplace, Birmingham 
B1 2JB. Certificated to ISO9001, 14001, 18001 and 27001. Regulated by RICS. GVA Grimley Limited is a Bilfinger Real Estate company. 

London . Birmingham . Bristol . Dublin . Cardiff . Edinburgh . Glasgow . Leeds . Liverpool . Manchester . Newcastle 

GVA Grimley Limited is a principal shareholder of GVA Worldwide Limited, an independent partnership of property advisors operating globally.           

 

Our reference: NXXP/AP09/02B621257 
 
Your Ref: 
 
21 November 2016 
 
Ingenious Real Estate Finance LLP 
15 Golden Square 
London 
W1F 9JG 
 
Ingenious Real Estate Finance LLP as lender under the facility letter issued circa 21 November 2016 by 
Ingenious Real Estate Finance LLP and accepted by IMA Project Two Ltd as borrower circa 21 
November 2016 (as amended, restated or novated from time to time) (the Facility Letter) and each 
of its: (i) Affiliates (as defined in the Facility Letter) who becomes a party at any time; and (ii) 
transferees, successors and assignees and/or their Affiliates which becomes a party to the Facility 
Letter as a lender in accordance with the terms thereof within 12 months of the date of this report 
(together the Addressees and each an Addressee). 
 
For the attention of: Howard Sefton 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
Property: 86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
Borrower: IMA Project Two Limited 
 
In accordance with your instructions dated 5 October 2016 we have inspected the above property in 
order to advise you of our opinion of its value for loan security purposes. 
 
The property (edged red on the enclosed Ordnance Survey extract) has been valued with the 
benefit of the occupational leases detailed within our report, which produces a net rental income of 
£39,000 pa. 
 
Our formal valuation advice has been prepared in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Professional 
Standards UK January 2014 (revised April 2015). 
 

Valuation 
 

WE ASSESS the Market Value (MV) of the freehold in the property identified within our report as at 31 
October 2016 to be:- 

 
£980,000 

(Nine Hundred and Eighty Thousand Pounds) 

 

 

65 Gresham Street
London

EC2V 7NQ

T: +44 (0)8449 02 03  04

gva.co.uk

Direct Dial: 020 7911 2806
Email: John.Wills@gva.co.uk

Page 85



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  6 

Market Conditions  
 
Following the Referendum held on 23 June 2016 concerning the UK’s membership of the EU, a 
decision was taken to exit.  It is likely that the exit process will take some 24 plus months 
although the timing is presently uncertain.  This combination of macro- economic, legal and 
political circumstances is unprecedented within the UK property market.  Since that date we 
have monitored market transactions and market sentiment in arriving at our opinion of 
Market Value/Fair Value.  After an initial period of uncertainty and an absence of activity, 
transactional volumes and available evidence have risen in most sectors of the market and 
liquidity is returning to more normal levels.  This has led to a generally more stable outlook for 
the market.   However, there remains a paucity of comparable transactions in certain sectors, 
where we have had to exercise a greater degree of judgement in arriving at our opinion of 
value. 
 
Within the main body of the report we have also provided additional valuations on the various 
bases required. 
 
We have relied on information provided to us by you that we understand was in turn 
provided to you by the Borrower and have not verified all such information. 
 
For example we have relied on: 
 
 Tenancy information provided to us for the current occupiers and recent occupiers; 

 Current floor areas provided to us except where we have measured or obtained floor 
areas from the Valuation Office Agency 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  7 

All valuations are reported exclusive of VAT. 
 
We draw your attention to our accompanying report, the Definitions and Reservations for 
Valuations to which our advice is subject and to the Terms of Engagement agreed between us. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 

 

Nathan Pask MRICS 
RICS Registered Valuer  
Director  
Valuation Consultancy  
For and on behalf of GVA Grimley Limited 

Alexis Politakis MRICS 
RICS Registered Valuer 
Associate 
Valuation Consultancy 
For and on behalf of GVA Grimley Limited 

 

Page 87



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  8 

Contents 
1. INSTRUCTIONS ......................................................................................................................... 9 

2. LOCATION ............................................................................................................................. 11 

3. SITUATION .............................................................................................................................. 12 

4. DESCRIPTION ......................................................................................................................... 13 

5. SITE AREA ............................................................................................................................... 18 

6. FLOOR AREAS ........................................................................................................................ 19 

7. SERVICES ................................................................................................................................ 21 

8. CONDITION OF BUILDING ..................................................................................................... 21 

9. REMAINING ECONOMIC LIFE ............................................................................................... 23 

10. DELETERIOUS MATERIAL ......................................................................................................... 23 

11. STATUTORY ENQUIRIES .......................................................................................................... 23 

12. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES ....................................................................................................... 26 

13. ENERGY PERFORMANCE CERTIFICATES (EPC) ..................................................................... 28 

14. TENURE ................................................................................................................................... 30 

15. TENANCY INFORMATION ...................................................................................................... 30 

16. ECONOMIC OVERVIEW ........................................................................................................ 31 

17. MARKET COMMENTARY ........................................................................................................ 41 

18. LOCAL MARKET COMMENTARY ........................................................................................... 51 

19. INVESTMENT MARKET COMMENTARY ................................................................................... 54 

20. VALUATION CONSIDERATIONS ............................................................................................ 58 

21. BASIS OF VALUATION ............................................................................................................ 59 

22. REINSTATEMENT COST ASSESSMENT ..................................................................................... 60 

23. CAPITAL ALLOWANCES ......................................................................................................... 61 

24. SUITABILITY FOR LOAN SECURITY .......................................................................................... 61 

25. GENERAL COMMENTS ........................................................................................................... 62 

 
Appendices 

Appendix 1 Instruction Letter 
Appendix 2 Valuation & Tenancy Schedule 
Appendix 3 EPC’s & Recommendations 
Appendix 4 GVA Property & Economic Bulletin 

Definitions and Reservations for Valuations 

Page 88



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  9 

1. Instructions 
Instructions were received on 5 October 2016 to undertake a valuation of the property for 
secured lending purposes. 
 
A copy of your letter of instruction is enclosed at Appendix 1. 
 
We are instructed to provide the following valuations:- 
 
 Market Value.  The only tenanted parts of the property comprise 3 flats.  The Assured 

Shorthold Tenancies are all holding over / Periodic Tenancies which can be terminated at 
1-2 months’ notice. In addition 2 of the 3 are to a company which we believe to be in 
liquidation.  As such we believe that  a purchaser would view the property as effectively 
vacant and our assessment of Market Value is therefore the basis of vacant possession (as 
below); 

 Market Value on the Special Assumption of vacant possession; 

Our valuation has been undertaken in accordance with your instruction letter and our terms 
of engagement, which have been prepared in accordance with the RICS Valuation – 
Professional Standards UK January 2014 (revised April 2015) (the Red Book). 
 
Conflict of Interest 
 
As far as we are aware, we have no conflict of interest in relation to the provision of valuation 
advice in respect of the property. We have no on-going or previous fee earning relationship 
with the borrower nor the property and are therefore providing our advice as External Valuers 
in accordance with the provisions of the Red Book.   
 
Professional Indemnity 
 
See our "General Terms of Appointment - Clause 4: Limitation of Liability". 
 
Nature and source of the information relied upon 
 
In preparing our valuation, we have been provided with information by the client, the 
borrower and other sources.  The extent to which this has been relied upon, and verified, by 
us in arriving at our opinion of value, is referred to in our report.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  10 

Date and Extent of Inspection 
 
The property was inspected on 13 October 2016 by Alexis Politakis MRICS, an RICS Registered 
Valuer within the Valuation Consultancy Department of our Gresham Street office in London.  
Access was available to retail units 86, 88 and 90 Bell Green, and flats 32 and 36 Holmshaw 
Close. 
   

Page 90



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  11 

2. Location 
The property is located on Bell Green (A212), which is the continuation of Sydenham Road 
(A212) to the southwest and turns into Perry Hill (A212) to the north, at Bell Green’s junction 
with Southend Lane, in Lower Sydenham.  Sydenham Rail Station is 0.75 miles to the west, 
Forest Hill Rail Station is 0.9 miles to the northwest, Lower Sydenham Rail Station is 0.4 miles to 
the south and Bellingham Rail Station is 0.8 miles to the east.   
 
In a regional context the property is 6.6 miles southeast of central London, approximately 1 
mile south of the South Circular Road, 1.3 miles southwest of Catford and 2.8 miles northwest 
of Bromley. 
 
The nearest motorway junctions are J3 and J4 of the M25, approximately 10.4 and 10.1 miles 
to the east southeast and southeast respectively. 
 
We have provided a plan below showing the location of Lower Sydenham within the context 
of the surrounding region. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  12 

Demographics 
 

Variable Measure Lewisham  London  England  
2011 Population: All Usual Residents (Persons, Mar11)1  Count 275,885 8,173,941 53,012,456 
2011 Population: Males (Persons, Mar11)1  Count 134,957 4,033,289 26,069,148 
2011 Population: Females (Persons, Mar11)1  Count 140,928 4,140,652 26,943,308 
2011 Density (number of persons per hectare) (Persons, 
Mar11)1  Rate 78.5 52.0 4.1 

All Households (Households, Mar11)1  Count 116,091 3,266,173 22,063,368 
All households who owned their accommodation outright 
(Households, Mar11)1 2  % 14.9 21.1 30.6 

All households who owned their accommodation with a 
mortgage or loan (Households, Mar11)1 2  % 27.5 27.1 32.8 

Very Good Health (Persons, Mar11)1  % 49.1 50.5 47.2 
Good Health (Persons, Mar11)1  % 34.0 33.3 34.2 
Day-to-Day Activities Limited a Lot (Persons, Mar11)1  % 7.1 6.7 8.3 
Economically Active; Employee; Full-Time (Persons, Mar11)1  % 40.1 39.8 38.6 
Economically Active; Employee; Part-Time (Persons, Mar11)1  % 11.7 10.9 13.7 
Economically Active; Self-Employed (Persons, Mar11)1  % 10.7 11.7 9.8 
Economically Active; Unemployed (Persons, Mar11)1  % 6.2 5.2 4.4 
People aged 16 and over with 5 or more GCSEs grade A-C, or 
equivalent (Persons, Mar11)1  % 12.5 11.8 15.2 

People aged 16 and over with no formal qualifications (Persons, 
Mar11)1  % 17.7 17.6 22.5 

 

Source: Office for National Statistics 

3.  Situation 
The property is situated in a mixed use area.  Residential uses predominate in the surrounding 
streets and on upper floors.  However, around the junction where the subject property is 
situated there are a mix of uses including retail and residential, and accommodation is of 
various ages and formats. 
 
Immediate to the north of the property is Cippa Hous, a recently constructed mixed use 
building with a minimarket on the ground floor and 3 storeys of flats above.  Across Bell Green 
to the northeast is Orchard Court, another recent residential scheme over ground and up to 6 
upper floors.  Immediately to the north of Orchard Court is a recently built 4-storey building 
with a retail unit on the ground floor and 3 floors of flats above.  Sydenham Group Health 
Centre is immediately to the west and southwest of the subject property, while the north side 
of Bell Green immediately beyond the health centre to the southwest predominantly features 
retail uses on ground floors with residential uses over two floors above.  Opposite the property 
on the southeast corner of the junction is The Bell public house.  A little further to the southeast 
on Stanton Way is Haseltine Primary School. 
 
The property sits in a tertiary position and does not form part of a continuous retail frontage. 
The accommodation it offers is more akin to the retail with residential above to the southwest 
of it along Bell Green than the more modern retail and residential accommodation provided 
by Cippa House, immediately to the north.    

Page 92



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  13 

 
We have provided a plan below showing the approximate situation of the property, which is 
denoted by a red circle. 

 

4. Description 
The subject property comprises a terrace of 4 retail units with 4 residential flats over the 1st and 
2nd floors above. The flats are accessed via an external staircase in the North West corner of 
the building and external west facing balconies. To the rear (west) of the building is a walled 
and gated yard. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  14 

  
South and East (front) elevations East (front) and North elevations 

The property is of brick and concrete construction, with brick elevations, UPVC double glazed 
windows, under a flat roof. 

 

  
North and West (rear) elevations and access 

to rear yard from Holmshaw Way 
West elevation 

 
Internally the property provides 4 ground floor retail units and 4 residential flats over the 1st 
and 2nd floors above. 
 
Flat 36 comprises a 2-bedroom flat on the 2nd floor of the building.  The flat features uPVC 
double glazed windows and a uPVC front door, is carpeted in the entrance hallway, living 
room, corridor and the 2 bedrooms, with lino flooring to the kitchen and bathroom.  The flat 
benefits from independent gas central heating.  Internally the flat generally appeared to be 
in fair decorative order, although there are signs of minor dis-repair including some hairline 
cracking in the side wall of the living room and the living room ceiling, the kitchen sink units 
not being fixed to the low-level cabinets below, some damp coming through the bathroom 
wall presumably from a localised leak from the bath/shower plumbing, and some high-level 
hairline cracks in the plaster and potential damp around the top of the rear second 

Page 94



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  15 

bedroom. Externally there appear to be two holes in the outer course of bricks.  One hole is in 
the side of the rear bedroom and another at high level on the outside of the entrance 
hallway to the flat. The flat may have suffered from damp chronically as there appears to be 
an extractor fan fitted to the rear of the second bedroom at high level with the vents to the 
exterior, although the intake inside the second bedroom appeared to have been taped 
over. 
 
Flat 32 comprises a 2-bedroom flat on the 1st floor of the building and mirrors flat 36 in layout.  
The walls and ceilings are wallpapered.  The entrance hallway and living room feature 
laminate flooring, while the kitchen and bathroom feature wood-effect lino flooring. The two 
bedrooms and the hallway between them are carpeted. The flat features independent gas 
central heating via a Worcester combi boiler situated in the entrance hallway and wall-
mounted radiators in each of the rooms. The flat features UPVC windows throughout and a 
timber front door. Most rooms in the flat feature central pendant light fittings currently fitted 
with CFL bulbs while the kitchen features a fluorescent strip lighting unit. There are smoke 
detectors fitted in the entrance hall way and corridor between the bedrooms. The one in the 
corridor between the bedrooms was beeping indicating that it needs its battery changed. 
The flat appears to suffer from damp in several places particularly in the corners of the 
bedrooms where there appears to be mould growing on the wall paper and some of the 
wallpaper is peeling away from the walls. The bathroom is in a particularly poor state with 
mould to the ceiling mould to the grouting of the tiles and walls and in need of a new 
bathroom suite and general redecoration. 
 
Flats 30 and 34 were not inspected but are understood to comprise tenanted 2-bedroom flats 
on the 1st and 2nd floors of the building respectively. 
 
86 Bell Green comprises a vacant retail unit in fair condition, which appears to have formerly 
been trading as a hair / beauty salon.  The shop features an aluminium-framed floor-to-ceiling 
glazed shop front, tiled floor and suspended ceiling with recessed down lights.  To the rear 
there is a WC and access timber door with security bars on the inside to the rear yard.  The 
shop appears to feature independent electricity and water supplies but no gas supply or 
central heating. 
 
88 Bell Green comprises a vacant retail unit in average condition, which appears to have 
formerly been trading as a take-away sandwich shop.  The unit features an aluminium–
framed glazed shop front and twin external manually operated metal security roller shutters.  
Internally the retail unit features tiled floors and walls, a wall mounted air conditioning unit, 
ceiling mounted fluorescent strip lighting, kitchen extractor hood and ducting, WC and 
access to the rear yard. 
 
90 Bell Green comprises a vacant shop in average condition, which appears to have 
formerly been trading as an “accessories” shop likely selling mobile phone accessories.  The 
shop features a timber-framed glazed shop front, tiled floor and suspended ceiling with 
recessed down lights.  There are fitted display cabinets to the left and tight hand walls as well 

Page 95



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  16 

as cladding to the walls for shelving.  To the rear of the shop there is a WC and ancillary 
storage/ office space. 
 
All 3 shops inspected were basic in their fit out and did not appear to benefit from gas 
supplies or central heating.  Creeping plants have found their way under the rear doors of 
numbers 86 and 88 into those retail units from the rear yard. 
 
We were not able to access 92 Bell Green in the course of our inspection. 

  
Flat 36 Flat 32 

  
86 Bell Green 88 Bell Green 

Page 96



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  17 

 

 

90 Bell Green  

 
Externally there is pedestrian access to the retail units via Bell Green.  There is an unsurfaced, 
gated, walled yard to the rear of the shops with a gate to the pavement from Holmshaw 
Close.  There is a significant quantity of chattel items around the perimeter of the yard.  Your 
legal advisors should confirm that there is a right of way from Holmshaw Close over the 
pavement to the gate and yard. 
 
We were not able to access the yard as the gate was padlocked and the rear doors to the 
yard from 86 and 88 Bell Green were either locked or jammed shut.  The yard has vegetation 
growing in various locations and there appears to be a tree growing immediately inside the 
south boundary close to the southwest corner which is damaging the boundary wall. 
 
The residential parts of the property are accessed from an external stairwell to the North 
elevation.  The stairwell features brick elevations on either side and concrete landings and 
stairs with bars across the void to the west of the stairwell. The ground floor entrance to the 
stairwell and each floor features gates but these do not appear to be locked or secure. 
 
The stairwell is lit and there are buzzers on each floor for each of the two flats on that floor. 
The brick elevations on the inside of the stairwell appear to suffer from some water ingress 
from the flat roof above. 
 
The fascia boards at high level around the entire property are in poor condition exhibiting wet 
rot resulting from chronic water damage and lack of maintenance.  
 
There is a ground floor utility cupboard in the communal entrance which has had its door 
broken off and appears to be being squatted in or providing shelter for a homeless person 
with empty food packets and bedding on the floor.  
 

Page 97



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  18 

  
Rear Yard Ground Floor Utility Cupboard in Residential 

Stairwell Potentially being Squatted in 

  
Entrance to External Stairwell to Residential 

Accommodation 
Water damage to stairwell 

 
 

5. Site Area 
The subject property has an approximate site area of 0.034 hectares (0.084 acres).  
 
The site is irregular in shape and is roughly flat.  There is pedestrian access from Bell Green and 
via Holmshaw Close and Bell Green to the external stairwell accessing the residential 
accommodation.  There appears to be vehicular access via Holmshaw Close over the 
pavement and through a double gate into the yard at the rear, although we cannot confirm 
whether there is a right of way or easement in place.  You have asked us to assume that such 
a right of way or easement is in place for the purposes of this valuation.  We strongly 
recommend that your legal advisors confirm that all necessary easements and/or rights of 
way are in place before lending against the property. 

Page 98



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  19 

 
Boundaries subject to confirmation with deeds 

 
This area has been computed using the Ordnance Survey Promap system. Our understanding 
of the site boundary is shown outlined in red on the plan above.  We have assumed that this 
represents the correct boundary to the site and that there are no on-going boundary 
disputes. We would recommend that our understanding is confirmed by your legal advisers. 

6. Floor Areas 
We have been provided with the following floor areas for the residential units by the Borrower 
and supplemented these with the floor areas from the Valuation Office Agency (VOA).  We 
assume that both the Borrower and VOA floor areas have been correctly prepared under the 
RICS Professional Statement – RICS Property Measurement 1st edition, May 2015 and in 
accordance with the RICS Code of Measuring Practice, 6th edition published by the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors on a Gross or Net Internal Area basis as applicable. The 
Borrower has also provided what appear to be Gross Internal Areas for the retail 
accommodation which appear to broadly correspond with VOA Net Internal Areas.  We 
have also compared the floor area of Flat 34 against a measured area prepared by 
Floorplanz in 2008 and provided by the Borrower which is the same.  We have not verified the 
floor areas or carried out check measurements. As agreed we are relying on the floor areas 
provided by the Borrower and obtained from the VOA on the assumption that the 
information is correct. 

Page 99



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  20 

The residential floor areas are on a Gross Internal basis, while the retail floor areas are on a 
Net Internal basis. 
 
We have measured the floor areas of Flat 36 and retail unit 86 Bell Green for comparison 
against the floor areas provided to us and include our measurements in brackets and with an 
asterisk in the table below.  The differences between our measurements and the floor areas 
provided are within typical tolerances.  For the purposes of this valuation we have relied on 
our own measurements for Flat 36 and retail unit 86 Bell Green and on Borrower, EPC and 
VOA floor areas where not measured. 
 

Unit Floor Use Basis 
Source of 

Information 

Areas 

Sq m 

(ITZA) 

Sq ft 

(ITZA) 

92 Bell Green G Retail NIA VOA 
32.4 

(25.5) 

349 

(275) 

90 Bell Green G Retail NIA VOA 
37.2 

(32.1) 

400 

(345) 

88 Bell Green G Retail NIA VOA 
43.2 

(32.4) 

465 

(348) 

86 Bell Green G Retail NIA VOA 

37.2 

37.5* 

(30.9) 

400 

403* 

(333) 

Flat 30 1 Residential GIA Borrower 61 657 

Flat 32 1 Residential GIA Borrower 64 689 

Flat 34 2 Residential GIA Borrower 61 657 

Flat 36 2 Residential GIA Borrower 
64 

63.5* 

689 

684* 

 Totals    400 4,303 

 
We have used a conversion factor of 10.764 in converting metric floor areas to imperial.  We 
have rounded metric areas to one decimal places and imperial areas to the nearest whole 
unit. 

Page 100



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  21 

 
The net retail frontage of the property is as follows:- 
 

Frontage Metres Feet 

86 Bell Green 3.78 12.4 

88 Bell Green 4.00 13.1 

90 Bell Green 4.04 13.3 

92 Bell Green 3.90 12.8 

7. Services 
We understand that all mains services are connected / available to the residential flats in the 
and that all mains services but gas are connected to the retail units in the subject property.  
We have assumed that as there flats appear to have gas supplies that it would not be too 
onerous or costly to provide connections to the retail units if required.  We assume that most 
comparable retail units will not necessarily benefit from connections to mains gas.  We have 
not undertaken any tests to ascertain the condition or capacity of these services and have 
assumed for the purpose of this valuation that all service connections are in good order.   
 
We understand that each of the residential flats has independent gas, water and electricity 
supplies and that each retail unit has independent water and electricity supplies. 

8. Condition of Building  
We have not carried out a building survey of the property but would comment that at the 
time of our inspection it appeared to have been under maintained and was in a poor state 
of repair, particularly externally, having regard to its age, character and use. The following 
matters in particular were noted during our inspection:- 
 

Page 101



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  22 

 The gates to the external stairwell to the residential flats 
are not secure at ground floor level or upper floors. 

 

 The ground floor utility cupboard in the communal 
residential stairwell entrance has had its door broken off 
and appears to be being squatted in. 

 

 There are bricks missing from the outer layer of the cavity 
walls. 

 

 The damp particularly at high level in the rear bedroom 
of Flat 36 and in the stairwell walls, and spalling 
brickwork suggests that part of the roof and timber 
fascia boards around the roofs perimeter may need 
overhauling.  In addition selective replacement of bricks 
and repointing may be required.  Thereafter, the 
affected parts of the property can be re-decorated. 

 

Page 102



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  23 

 Damage to south boundary wall by tree growing in 
close proximity. 

 
 
In view of the condition of the building we have made an allowance for some up-front 
capital expenditure: £50,000 for external / structural repair and maintenance and £10,000 per 
flat to redecorate and selectively re-fit.  We are not qualified to estimate these costs and 
have not taken advice from building surveyors or quantity surveyors in adopting these figures.  
We would recommend that a building survey and budgeted capital expenditure and 
maintenance plan is commissioned from an independent suitably qualified professional.  It 
may also be useful for consideration to be given to the ability to recover some or all of this 
expenditure over time through a service charge from potential future retail occupiers.  If the 
building survey and budget report significantly different figures to those we have assumed 
please provide these to us so that we may reconsider our valuation. 

9. Remaining Economic Life 
We are of the opinion, that given reasonable maintenance and periodic repair, the subject 
property will have a remaining economic life in excess of 20 years.  With an on-going 
maintenance and repair programme, the life could be extended further. 

10. Deleterious Material 
We have not arranged for any investigation to be carried out to determine whether or not 
any deleterious or hazardous materials have been used in the construction of the property or 
have since been incorporated. Although our inspection did not reveal any obvious 
deleterious materials, we are unable to report that the property is free from risk in this respect. 
We have assumed for the purposes of this valuation and report that no deleterious materials 
were used in the construction of the property. Bearing in mind the age and nature of 
construction you may wish instruct further specialist investigations into the presence of 
deleterious materials such as high alumina cement. 

11. Statutory Enquiries 
Planning Policy 
 
Local Planning Authorities are currently developing a new Local Plan which will form part of 
the Development Plan for the area, alongside the National Planning Policy Framework, 
forming the basis of planning decisions until circa. 2030. It will contain planning strategy, 

Page 103



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  24 

policies and site allocations. Prior to adoption of the documents in the new Local Plan, 
the Saved Policies from the Lewisham Local Development Framework and the London Plan 
will continue to be used, where they are in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 
The development is covered by the Lewisham Core Strategy, which was adopted on 29 June 
2011.  Under this Plan, the property is not zoned for any specific uses although it does fall 
within an Area of Archaeological Priority. Following the adoption of the Core Strategy the 
Local Development Framework has been developed via the adoption of the Site Allocations 
Local Plan in June 2013, the Development Management Local Plan on 26 November 2014 
and the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan on 26 February 2014.  The Planning department 
have verbally confirmed that the property is not listed and is not situated within a designated 
Conservation Area.  
 
Planning History 
 
We have not been provided with a copy of the relevant Planning Consent, Building 
Regulations Approval or Licences and we would therefore recommend that confirmation is 
sought from your solicitors that these are in place. Our valuation assumes that planning is in 
place for the current / most recent apparent uses of A1 (shops) in the case of 86 and 90 Bell 
Green, A5 (hot food take-away) in the case of 88 and 92 Bell Green and C3 (dwelling houses) 
in the case of Flats 30-36 Holmshaw Close. 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
The Equality Act places duties on employers and service providers to consider barriers (both 
physical and intangible) that disabled people might face when trying to access a service or 
employment.  Using a particular product or designing a building in a certain way might help 
someone (person or organisation) meet their duties, but having an ‘accessible’ building in 
itself does not guarantee compliance with the Act. 
 
Although the building is multi storey, the ground floor shops are at ground / pavement level.  
There is no lift access to the residential flats over the 1st and 2nd floors above which are 
reached via an external stairwell.  However, we feel that the absence of lift access to the 
flats is commensurate with the age and quality of the residential accommodation and will be 
the case with other similar properties.  As such we do not consider that a purchaser in the 
market would adjust their bid for the property by deducting the cost of the works necessary 
to remedy this.  
 
Highways 
 
We have made enquiries of Lewisham Council who have confirmed that Bell Green is 
adopted and maintainable at public expense.  However, Holmshaw Close is street 
maintained by a Housing Association.  We have assumed that the users of the subject 

Page 104



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  25 

property have the right to pedestrian access from Bell Green pavement and vehicular 
access along Holmshaw Close and over the pavement to the yard of the subject property 
and to the garage of the proposed redevelopment without liability to pay for the road’s 
maintenance.    We have assumed that there are no highway proposals which may have an 
adverse impact on the subject property. We recommend that your legal advisors confirm our 
understanding.  
 
Rating 
 
Business rates are levied as a tax on an occupier.  However where premises are vacant and 
under the landlord’s control, the landlord will assume responsibility for the payment of empty 
rates.  Following the Finance Act 2008, empty property rates are assessed at 100% of the 
basic occupied business rate, after an initial void period of 3 months has elapsed. In the case 
of industrial property, the void period is extended by a further three months. Within our 
valuation, we have allowed for costs attributable to empty rates liability of the vacant 
elements. Further specific commentary on this aspect is contained in the ‘Valuation 
Considerations’ section of our report. 
 
The property is assessed in the 2010 Rating List as follows:- 
 

Address Description Rateable value 

86 Bell Green, London, SE26 4PZ Shop and premises £5,800 

88 Bell Green, London, SE26 4PZ Shop and premises £6,100 

90 Bell Green, London, SE26 4PZ Shop and premises £6,000 

92 Bell Green, London, SE26 4PZ Shop and premises £4,850 

 
The Uniform Business Rate for the year commencing 1 April 2016 is 49.7p in the pound or 48.4p 
for small businesses (i.e. with below RV £25,500 in Greater London)  
 
General  
 
The majority of the above information has been provided to us from the web or verbally by 
local authorities or relevant public bodies. However, we would recommend that your legal 
advisers obtain formal confirmation that the information provided to us is correct. Should 
subsequent formal investigations contradict the information outlined above, then we would 
recommend that the matter is referred back to us in order to consider what impact, if any, 
this may have on our opinion of the value of the property. 
 

Page 105



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  26 

12. Environmental Issues 
In accordance with the RICS Practice Standards Guidance Note, ‘Contamination, the 
Environment and Sustainability’, 3rd Edition - dated April 2010, we acknowledge that some 
properties may be affected by environmental issues that are an inherent feature of either the 
property itself, or the surrounding area, and could have an impact on the value of the 
property interest.  
 
Therefore, the following sections describe the underlying assumptions we have made 
regarding environmental issues, the extent of our enquiries and reliance on information 
provided by others in preparing this valuation. 
 
Valuation Assumptions & Extent of Enquiries 
 
We have not been instructed to make any investigations in relation to the presence or 
potential presence of contamination or other environmental features in land or buildings 
affecting the property. 
 
We have not carried out any investigation into past uses, either of the properties or any 
adjacent land, to establish whether there is any potential for contamination from such uses or 
sites, and have therefore assumed that none exists. 
 
In practice, purchasers in the property market do require knowledge about contamination 
and other environmental factors. A prudent purchaser of this property would be likely to 
require appropriate investigations to be made to assess any risk before completing a 
transaction. Should it be established that contamination does exist, or the property is affected 
by other environmental factors, this might reduce the value now reported. 
 
No indications of past or present contaminative land uses or other environmental features 
were noted during the inspection. Our inspection was only of a limited visual nature and we 
cannot give any assurances that previous uses on the site or in the surrounding areas have 
not contaminated subsoils or groundwater.  
 
In the event of contamination being discovered or if it transpires there are other 
environmental features specifically affecting the property, further advice should be obtained 
of a suitably qualified and insured specialist.  
 
For the purposes of this valuation we have assumed that the property and site are not 
affected by contamination. 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  27 

Coal Mining  
 
We are not qualified to give assurances on the ground condition of the site and we would 
confirm that we have not undertaken any formal enquiries to ascertain whether the property 
is affected by mining or other works. Furthermore, we have not undertaken any site stability 
enquiries, investigation works or research.  Accordingly, we have specifically assumed for the 
purpose of this valuation and report that the property is not adversely affected in this regard, 
nor is it affected by subsidence, and our valuation advice has made no allowance for the 
cost of any necessary remedial works in this regard. 
 
Invasive Plant Species 
 
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) is the principal legislation which 
regulates the release of non-native species. Section 14(2) prohibits the release of certain 
invasive non-native plants into the wild in Great Britain; it is an offence under Section 14(2) to 
“plant or otherwise cause to grow in the wild” any plants listed on Part II of Schedule 9.  
 
The most common plant species found on brownfield and urban sites include Japanese 
Knotweed, Giant Hogweed and Himalayan Balsam although other non-native species do 
exist. Japanese Knotweed poses a particular problem to property, as not only does it out-
compete native species, it also has the potential to cause costly damage to buildings, 
pavements, roads, etc. 
 
During our site inspection, we did not note the presence of Japanese Knotweed, Giant 
Hogweed or Himalayan Balsam. However, given the vegetation particularly along the south 
site boundary and in the rear yard, the presence of invasive plant species cannot be fully 
discounted without the provision of an ecological survey. 
 
Flood Risk for Properties in England 
 
Fluvial Flood Risk  
 
From a review of the Flood Hazard Mapping on the Environment Agency (EA) website, the 
site is not located within an area considered to be at risk of flooding from rivers and/or the 
sea. Currently available mapping indicates that the risk of flooding at this locality is regarded 
as Very Low, with the chance of flooding in any year is less than 1 in 1000 (0.1%). 
 
The above risk ratings take into account the effect of any flood defences that may be in this 
area. It is important to acknowledge that flood defences reduce, but do not completely stop 
the chance of flooding and they can be overtopped or fail. 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  28 

Surface Water Flood Risk  
 
From a review of the Flood Hazard Mapping on the Environment Agency (EA) website, the 
site is not located within an area considered to be at risk of flooding from surface water 
sources. Currently available mapping indicates that the risk of flooding at this locality is 
regarded as Low, with a chance of flooding in any year between 1 in 1,000 (0.1%) and 1 in 
100 (1%). 
 
It is also important to note that flooding can occur through other mechanisms such as 
insufficient drainage capacity and breach of water storage infrastructure such as reservoirs, 
and these forms of flooding have not been specifically assessed in the above risk categories. 
 
Given that the property is located in an area designated as Very Low Risk associated with 
fluvial and/or coastal flood risk and Low Risk from surface water flooding we do not consider 
that the valuation presented will be adversely impacted. 
 

13. Energy Performance Certificates (EPC) 
In line with the EU Energy Performance of Buildings Directive (EPBD) the Government is 
seeking to improve the environmental efficiency of all buildings. All residential, public and 
commercial buildings sold or let are required to have an EPC, with few exemptions. 
 
On 26 March 2015, the Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) 
regulations were passed into law.  These regulations are better known as the Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standards (MEES).  MEES regulations make it unlawful to let, sub-let or renew a lease 
in a property or unit which has an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating below E i.e. F 
or G, until qualifying improvements have been made or an exemption certificate has been 
obtained.  From 1 April 2018, the regulations will apply to all new lettings, sub lettings or 
renewals (where an EPC is in place). From 1 April 2023 all leased properties with an EPC will 
need to meet the minimum requirements.  
 

Unit EPC Rating EPC Date 

86 Bell Green, London, SE26 4PZ G (155) 4/2/2016 

88 Bell Green, London, SE26 4PZ E (105) 4/2/2016 

90 Bell Green, London, SE26 4PZ D (90) 16/4/2013 

92 Bell Green, London, SE26 4PZ C (64) 4/2/2016 

30 Holmshaw Close, London, SE26 4TH D (63) 2/2/2016 

Page 108



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  29 

Unit EPC Rating EPC Date 

32 Holmshaw Close, London, SE26 4TH C (77) 31/8/2010 

34 Holmshaw Close, London, SE26 4TH E (54) 2/2/2016 

36 Holmshaw Close, London, SE26 4TH D (62) 1/6/2009 

 
The EPC and any recommendations are included in the appendices attached to this 
report.   The EPCs lasts for 10 years from the date of issue.  
 
The certificate for 36 Holmshaw Close was issued prior to 2010.  We would comment that the 
EPC assessment requirements and quality have continued to evolve and a prudent 
purchaser may well wish to undertake a new assessment and potentially reflect any costs to 
upgrade the building within any offer made (assuming it is being sold or let).  A satisfactory 
historic assessment is therefore no guarantee that an acceptable EPC rating will not affect 
the future value of a property and may have consequences if the next assessment takes 
place after April 2018. 
 
86 Bell Green is rated G (155), which is below the minimum level required from April 2018 to 
allow the property to be let.   The EPC improvement recommendations are shown in the 
appendices, although further appraisal of these options should be undertaken before 
implementing any works. 
 
Within our valuation we have applied what we consider are appropriate rents and capital 
values based on the age and nature of the building, having regard to current market 
conditions.  At the moment the market evidence suggests that the costs of upgrading 
buildings are rarely taken into account; though as awareness increases, we anticipate that 
this will become more prevalent.  However, we suspect that non-compliant buildings will 
experience downward movement in values in the short to medium term as we approach the 
critical 2018 date.   
 
In addition, it is considered that purchasers and occupiers will become increasingly 
influenced by EPC ratings, regardless of compliance, in the acquisition and occupation of 
buildings, which is likely to be reflected in prices and rents offered.  There is no guarantee that 
buildings compliant with MEES regulations are protected against the behaviour of the market 
in stipulating what is an acceptable EPC rating for a particular building. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  30 

14. Tenure 
We have not been provided with a Report on Title, however we understand that the interest 
to be valued is the unencumbered freehold interest, subject to the occupational leases in 
favour of Midos and Brailey.  
 
We have assumed for the purposes of this valuation that there are no unduly onerous or 
restrictive covenants affecting Title which would have an adverse effect on value. This 
assumption should be verified by your solicitors. 
 

15. Tenancy Information 
We have been provided by the Borrower with a Schedule of Accommodation summarising 
the occupational leases in respect of Flats 30, 34 and 36, Periodic Tenancy Notices in respect 
of Flats 30 and 34 and Assured Shorthold Tenancy in respect of Flat 36 and understand that 
the 3 of the flats are let to 2 tenants as summarised in the tenancy schedule below:- 
 

Unit Tenant Term Lease start 
Lease 
expiry 

Rent review 
Current 
rental 

pa 
Comments  

86 Bell 
Green 

      VACANT 

88 Bell 
Green 

      VACANT 

90 Bell 
Green 

      VACANT 

92 Bell 
Green 

      VACANT 

Flat 30, 
Holmshaw 

Close 

Midos 
Residential 

Investments Ltd 
(In Liquidation) 

 29/12/2006   £13,800 

Periodic Tenancy. 
1 month tenant 
break. 2 months 
landlord break. 

Flat 32, 
Holmshaw 

Close 
      VACANT 

Page 110



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  31 

Unit Tenant Term Lease start 
Lease 
expiry 

Rent review 
Current 
rental 

pa 
Comments  

Flat 34, 
Holmshaw 

Close 

Midos 
Residential 

Investments Ltd 
(In Liquidation) 

 29/12/2006   £13,800 

Periodic Tenancy. 
1 month tenant 
break. 2 months 
landlord break. 

Flat 36, 
Holmshaw 

Close 

Miss Leigh 
Frances Brailey 

12 
months 

24/01/2015 23/01/2016 

Annual. 
Upward 

only. RPI + 
2% capped 

at 6% pa 

£11,400 

Periodic Tenancy.  
Rent Review not 

triggered. 1 
month’s notice to 

terminate 

 
The tenants and a summary of their lease terms is provided in the tenancy schedule in the 
appendices.  There are currently 2 tenants providing a total gross rent of £39,000 pa. 
 
We have relied on the tenancy information provided in the Schedule of Accommodation, 
Periodic Tenancy Notices in respect of Flats 30 and 34 and Assured Shorthold Tenancy in 
respect of Flat 36 provided to us by the Borrower and has not been verified by a solicitor.  We 
recommend that your legal advisors verify our understanding of the tenancy information. 
 
Tenant Covenant 
 
Midos Residential Investments Limited is a privately owned property management company 
founded in 2003. Although the company appears to be in Creditors Voluntary Liquidation 
since 7 June 2012, the tenancy agreements for Flats 30 and 34 have lapsed into Periodic 
Tenancies and may be terminated at 1-2 months’ notice.  As such Midos Residential 
Investments Limited’s covenant strength is relatively unimportant.  However, your legal 
advisors should confirm that the tenant’s insolvency status does not compromise the 
Borrower’s ability to secure vacant possession. 
 
Our valuation assumes that Midos Residential Investments Limited will be considered 
equivalent to a local covenant such as the private person who is the tenant of Flat 36.  

16. Economic Overview 
The UK’s economy is largely being driven by politics. The start of October has seen a little 

more clarity around the Brexit process, and we now know that the triggering of Article 50, 

which will start the formal process of leaving the EU, is scheduled for Q1 2017. This means that 

the UK is likely to exit the EU exit by March 2019. However, given the length of time that will be 

necessary to negotiate new trade deals, an interim arrangement is likely to follow formal exit. 

Page 111



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  32 

The referendum was advisory, and a number of legal challenges are under way that could 

derail this timetable.  

 

A key problem is that the referendum result was a vote against EU membership, not for any 

specific outcome. There is still no consensus over what the UK is actually trying to achieve 

through Brexit, which will need to be clarified before formal negotiations being. As a result the 

outcome for trade and migration is still very uncertain. This is key for the economic outlook. 

What is certain is that there will be an uneven impact across different sectors of the 

economy, and that the process of exiting the EU will be long and complicated.  

 

Businesses need certainty and the Government is under immense pressure to clarify its 

approach to Brexit. However, it also needs to take the time to get its strategy right across a 

vast range of complex issues. This dilemma will be a significant challenge. 

 

Whatever approach the Government takes, the UK will remain a member of the EU for two 

years after Article 50 is triggered, and we will still be able to trade with the EU on the existing 

basis during this time (although discretionary EU funding will become much harder to obtain). 

 

Confidence 

 

Consumer confidence has started to rebound from the immediate referendum shock. The 

latest GfK survey plummeted from -1 in June to    -12 in July, but rose to -7 in August and back 

to -1 in September. Consumer demand has been resilient so far, and retail sales have 

remained relatively buoyant. Indeed, growth rates for retail sales volumes over the three 

months, and the year to July-September of 1.8% and 5.1% respectively, were the fastest since 

January 2015.  

 

Business confidence saw a significant increase in August, with a rebound in the respected 

Markit/CIPS Purchasing Managers’ Index back into positive territory at 52.7, following the post-

referendum drop to 47.7 (a reading below 50 indicates that contraction is expected). 

September saw a further modest increase to 52.9. This is illustrated in the chart below (which 

shows the average across the manufacturing, services and construction sectors). 

 

Page 112



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  33 

 
 

 

Inflation and interest rates 

 

CPI inflation was 1.0% in September, up from 0.6% in August. The rate has risen from broadly 

zero a year ago and will rise faster over the next year due to Sterling’s devaluation. The 

consensus view is for 2.4% in 2017 (although it is likely to peak higher than this), but any further 

volatility in the foreign exchange markets could alter this outlook. The Bank of England 

deployed further stimulus in August to boost domestic demand. This included a reduction in 

the Base Rate to 0.25% and an injection of £70 billion into the economy through the purchase 

of government and corporate bonds (quantitative easing). 

 

The Bank may well use further stimulus measures in the coming months, although there is only 

so much that monetary policy can achieve, particularly as interest rates are now so close to 

zero. Certainly, the Bank is not concerned at the prospect of inflation rising above its target 

range at this stage. 

 

 

 

 

Page 113



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  34 

Government intervention 

 

With interest rates close to zero, the bulk of any further stimulus measures will need to come 

from fiscal rather than monetary policy. With the previous target of eliminating the budget 

deficit (annual borrowing) by 2020 now jettisoned, there should be room for such stimulus. 

The Autumn Statement on 23 November will be keenly watched, as it will set out the 

Government’s fiscal agenda. It is already clear that the new administration will signal some 

significant changes across a range of policy areas.  

 

Infrastructure investment may well feature heavily. There is a strong argument in favour of this, 

given the low cost at which the government can borrow and the need to make significant 

improvements across a wide variety of infrastructure types. Without this, the more uncertain 

environment, lower economic growth and increased cost of imported materials are likely to 

mean a fall in investment. 

 

Another key test will be the willingness of the new Government to take key decisions in this 

area, most notably on additional runway capacity in the South East. The Government’s 

commitment to the important devolution agenda will also come under close scrutiny. 

 

Employment trends 

 

In total more than a million jobs were added to the UK labour force during 2014 and 2015. This 

growth was unsustainable and was already slowing prior to the EU referendum. However, the 

latest data suggests that the labour market has remained robust. During May-July (so partly 

covering the post-referendum period) employment rose by 174,000 compared with the 

previous three months. The unemployment rate has fallen to 4.9%, the lowest since Q3 2005. 

 

The picture is likely to weaken as some businesses put hiring decisions on hold, and we expect 

a modest fall in employment next year, before growth resumes in 2018 (see the chart below). 

Page 114



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  35 

 
 

Earnings are currently rising at a little over 2% pa. As the employment outlook weakens and 

inflation rises, earnings could be falling in real terms by the end of next year (see the chart 

below). 

 

Page 115



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  36 

 

This erosion of consumer spending power is likely to negatively impact retail spending. 

 

Outlook for growth 

 

The UK economy was growing at a healthy rate in the run-up to the EU referendum, rising by 

0.7% in Q2 (in line with the long-term trend), up from 0.4% in Q1. We expect a marked 

slowdown in growth during the second half of this year although given post-referendum 

survey evidence, a recession seems unlikely. 

 

There is little change to the overall outlook for growth in 2016, but growth of just 1.0% is now 

forecast for 2017 (although this is an upward revision from 0.7% immediately post-

referendum). However, this is a sharp drop in expected growth compared with the 2.1% 

forecast before the vote, and is well below the long-term average of circa 2.6% pa. Looking 

further ahead growth is expected to accelerate, but should remain well below trend. The 

revised forecasts suggest that the economy will be circa 4% smaller by 2020 than would have 

been the case using pre-referendum forecasts. 

 

The chart below illustrates the forecast revisions. The EU remains our most important trading 

partner, and will also feel the impact of Brexit. Although only Ireland is heavily exposed to the 

UK in terms of exports, there is likely to be a negative impact on consumer and investor 

sentiment. Eurozone growth is already weak and is now likely to be even more subdued. The 

European Central Bank will probably come under pressure to provide more monetary 

stimulus. 

 

Page 116



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  37 

 
 

The longer-term impact of Brexit remains highly uncertain, and much will depend on the type 

of trade deal that can be negotiated. A number of economic studies on the long-term 

impact have been undertaken. Most suggest a marked negative effect, but the wide range 

of possible impacts underlines the uncertainty. 

 

With EU trade negotiations not starting until next year, markets are now likely to focus their 

attention on November’s US Presidential election. We may also see further market volatility as 

more substantive policy announcements are made on the Government’ approach to Brexit 

and more meaningful post-referendum economic data becomes available. 

 

Ultimately, it is the reaction of the UK’s consumers and corporates that will determine the 

health of the economy during and after the Brexit process. 

 

 
Latest consensus forecasts, October 2016 
Source: HM Treasury (compilation of forecasts), Bilfinger GVA 
 
 2016 2017 25-year trend 
Economic growth (GDP) 
Private consumption 
Employment growth 
Bank Base Rate (Q4) 

1.9% 
2.7% 
1.2% 
0.2% 

1.0% 
1.3% 
0.1% 
0.2% 

2.6% pa 
 

0.7% pa 

Page 117



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  38 

CPI – Inflation (Q4) 
RPI – Inflation (Q4) 

1.2% 
2.1% 

2.4% 
2.9% 

 
Bilfinger GVA Property and Economic Bulletin is enclosed at the appendices.   
 
 

Residential Market 
 
The Mortgage Market   

 

Gross mortgage lending held steady in July at £21.4 billion, and is 1% lower than last year July. 

The trade lender stated that the subdued nature of property transactions and mortgage 

lending in July are consistent with a less positive backdrop for house purchase activity post-

referendum (CML).  

 

The number of mortgages approved by UK banks was down by a fifth year-on-year in August, 

dropping 21% since last year August. According to The British Banker’s Association mortgage 

approvals decreased to a seasonally adjusted 36,997 in August, up from 39,967 in April, the 

lowest figure since January 2015. Remortgaging approvals slipped, with 23,940 loans 

approved for those switching lenders (BBA).  

 

Rental market  
 
Richard Sharp, an external member of the Financial Policy Committee (FPC) which is in 

charge of maintaining financial stability, warned that buy-to-let lending was also likely to cool 

significantly in the wake of the Brexit vote as banks assessed the impact on house prices 

(FPC).   

 

House Building  
 
The UK's biggest house builder, Barratt, could slow its pace of construction in the light of Brexit. 

The builder said it would also review its commitments of land on which to build, after the UK 

voted to leave the EU. Despite increasing new property completions by 5% last year, it said 

there was greater uncertainty facing the UK economy. 

 
A total of 104,200 properties were sold in July, the first full month since the UK’s vote to leave 

the EU. There is a belief amongst property professionals that there will be a rebound when 

considering the outlook in 12 months’ time. House builder Persimmon reported a 29% jump in 

first-half profits, stating that customer interest since the Brexit vote has been “robust”. First time 

Page 118



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  39 

buyers who were hoping for a slow-down in the market will face disappointment as mortgage 

lenders requiring a 5% deposit have withdrawn from the market according to Moneyfacts.  

 
The Short-Term Outlook for House Prices  

 
Growth in UK house prices picked up in June, but slowed in September as demand for homes 
softened. Robert Gardner, Chief Economist at Nationwide states that “the relative stability in 
the rate of house price growth suggests that the softening in housing demand evident in 
recent months has been broadly matched on the supply side of the market” 
 
The average price of a property increased by 1.1% in Q3 2016; however the annual growth 
slowed to 6.6%, from 7.6%. The data gives a snapshot of the housing market immediately post 
referendum (Nationwide). 
 
House price forecasts 
 
House Price Forecasts for 2016 (HM Treasury) 
 
  2016 

HM Treasury 4.8% 

Consensus – Median 5.5% 

Consensus – Lowest 2.5% 

Consensus – Highest 10.3% 
 
Key Statistics – GDP and Labour Market Growth 
 
GDP, Inflation & Unemployment % Change (HM Treasury) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Housing Statistics 
 
 

UK House Price Change % (Nationwide House Price Index) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Regions over the last 12 months (Nationwide House Price Index) 

  2017 (f) 
GDP  0.9% 
RPI Inflation 3.1% 
CPI Inflation  2.5% 
Unemployment Rate (% of workforce) 5.5% 
Claimant count unemployment rate (% of workforce) 0.81% 

% Change: Jan-
16 

Feb-
16 

Mar-
16 

Apr-
16 

May-
16 

Jun-
16 

Jul-
16 

Aug-
16 

Sept-
16 

Annual   4.4% 4.8% 5.7% 4.9% 4.9% 5.1% 5.2 5.6 5.3 

Monthly 0.3% 0.3% 0.8% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.5 0.6 0.3 

Page 119



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  40 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Quarterly Housing Starts and Completions (seasonally adjusted) – England (DCLG) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Region Annual % change 
(Q2 2016) 

Annual % change  
(Q3 2016) 

London 9.9% 7.1% 
Outer Metropolitan  12.4% 9.6% 
Outer SE  8.8% 8.0% 
Northern Ireland  1.6% 2.4% 
South West  5.6% 4.6% 
East Midlands  4.0% 5.4% 
East Anglia  5.5% 7.3% 
North  -1.0% -0.2% 
West Midlands  5.1% 4.6% 
Wales  0.9% -0.5% 
North West  1.8% 4.2% 
Yorks & H 0.8% 4.2% 
Scotland  0.5% -0.2% 
UK  5.1% 5.4% 

 No. of Dwellings 
  Starts Completed 
2013 Q4 33,280 28,600 

2014 Q1  35,770 27,700 
2014 Q2 35,460 29,160 

2014 Q3  33,490 30,490 

2014 Q4 30,090 30,600 

2015 Q1 38,850 34,020 
2015 Q2 33,360 35,850 
2015 Q3  34,850 35,290 
2015 Q4  31,000 39,310 
2016 Q1 35,530 32,950 
2016 Q2 36,400 34,920 

Page 120



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  41 

 

17. Market Commentary 

Commercial occupier market 
 
Occupier demand 

 

Occupiers now face considerable uncertainty across a range of fundamental issues including 

their ability to trade with the EU and to employ labour from the EU, as well as a more 

uncertain economic outlook. 

 

There have been few concrete announcements by corporates on their strategies to deal with 

Brexit. This is unsurprising. Not only do strategies take months or years to evolve and 

implement, but corporates also lack hard information on the implications of Brexit upon which 

they can base any decisions. 

 

A ‘soft’ Brexit which retained many of the current benefits of EU membership, including the 

UK’s important ‘passporting’ rights, could mean a relatively limited impact. A ‘hard’ 

Brexit would have wider-reaching implications. Survey evidence suggests that more than half 

of corporates did not undertake any contingency planning for a ‘Leave’ vote. They will now 

be undertaking this process in earnest, and the longer the uncertainty continues the more 

these contingency plans will have to be put into action. 

 

Supply 

 

The recent development cycle has been relatively subdued, meaning that few prime 

commercial occupier markets are in an oversupply situation and many are experiencing a 

shortage of stock. The chart below illustrates the low level of commercial construction in the 

current cycle (using new construction orders as a proxy). Although activity has recovered 

sharply, it has remained well below levels seen before the financial crisis.  

Page 121



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  42 

 
 

The subdued development cycle has meant less new stock coming on stream. But other 

factors are also working to reduce the level of existing stock. These include the changes to 

permitted development rights legislation, which have accelerated the conversion of offices 

to other uses; and the minimum energy efficiency standards (MEES), which will prevent the 

granting of a new lease (or lease renewal) on a building with an EPC rating below ‘E’ from 1 

April 2018. 

 

Coupled with this, strong long-term underlying demand will underpin many key property 

sectors, including logistics, healthcare, student accommodation, and the private rented 

sector. The huge potential of PRS could be further increased if Brexit uncertainty means fewer 

first-time-buyers are willing to enter the housing market. 

 

Clearly, there is only limited data on construction post-referendum. The latest ONS figures 

report that total UK construction output was flat in July, with new construction work rising by 

0.5%. This suggests that the sector was resilient during the initial post-referendum period, but 

these figures can be quite volatile from month to month, so should be treated with caution. 

 

There is now less certainly over future occupier demand, so it is likely that development 

activity will fall as schemes are put on hold. This will vary across sectors, reflecting the outlook 

for demand. The distribution sector, for example, may well be more insulated. 

 

Page 122



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  43 

Sector impacts 

 

In the lead up to the EU referendum, occupier activity across the Central London office 

market was muted with many businesses waiting to see the outcome before committing to 

office space. This resulted in just 4 million sq ft of take-up for the first half of the year, the 

lowest since 2012 and 18% down on the corresponding period in 2015. However, for many 

occupiers Brexit changes very little. Whilst there has been a tail off in new demand, continued 

low levels of availability are underpinning rental levels for the time being. 

 

Demand across the ‘Big Nine’ regional office centres held up well in Q2, just 3% below the 

five-year average, in spite of the referendum uncertainty. Over the summer there has been a 

reasonable level of viewing activity and enquiry levels, although there has been a slowdown 

in the quantity of transactions.  

 

Brexit uncertainty is certainly causing some occupiers to review their strategies. However 

the affects across most markets will be somewhat insulated by the shortage of quality stock 

and constrained development pipeline, with the prominence of more cautious pre-let 

development activity witnessed over the past two years. 

 

A number of factors will help to cushion any impact on demand. For example, a significant 

number of civil service jobs will move from central London over the next five years, with the 

creation of 16 new super-hubs in outer London and many of the UK’s regional cities. The UK’s 

growing ‘knowledge’ sectors will also continue to fuel demand, and the Government’s 

commitment to safeguard funding for research and innovation projects is reassuring. 

 

Against a background of limited supply in many key locations, the industrial and logistics 

sector looks to be in a relatively strong position. The recent strong rate of average rental 

growth continues, with rental values rising by 4% over the 12 months to August. 

 

We remain positive about the prospects for the industrial and logistics sectors. Manufacturers 

won’t escape the economic impacts, but the positive effect of weaker Sterling will help to 

offset this. The huge shifts in the retail market will continue despite Brexit, and retailers will still 

need to respond to changing logistics requirements. Along with third-party logistics providers, 

retailers continued to provide the majority of demand during the first half of the year. 

 

The early signs of a bounce-back in consumer confidence are certainly welcome news for 

the retail sector. Clearly, Brexit does not change the fundamental challenges faced by 

Page 123



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  44 

physical stores of the relentless move online. However, it could serve to accelerate the 

demise of retailers who were already in long-term difficulties. 

 

The latest figures from the Local Data Company suggest that the overall vacancy rate for 

shops increased marginally from 12.3% in June to 12.4% in July, reversing the trend of 

gradually falling rates seen since mid-2012. However, shopping centres saw a further fall in 

vacancy, and there has been very little new development over the latest cycle. This will help 

to maintain rental levels in the prime centres.  

 

The leisure sector has been growing strongly, and should benefit from the depreciation of 

Sterling across a range of subsectors including restaurants, hotels and leisure parks. A rise in 

‘staycations’ and more overseas tourists in the UK will help significantly. However, the leisure 

sector is particularly vulnerable to a change in immigration policy as it employs a significant 

number of EU nationals. This will come on top of the additional cost burden associated with 

the new National Living Wage.  

 

Outlook for rental growth 

 

There are plenty of reasons to think that the property market will continue to be resilient in the 

face of the challenges ahead. For occupiers, the current market represents a good time to 

renegotiate their lease terms. Indeed, with increased levels of uncertainty, we expect to see 

more occupiers re-gear existing leases rather than move. 

 

Average rental levels remain below their previous 2008 peak across most UK commercial 

property sectors, with the main exception of the central London markets (see the chart 

below). Coupled with this, the lack of quality supply will help to underpin rental values, and so 

the likelihood of significant falls looks remote. 

 

Page 124



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  45 

 
 

Even in central London, recent development activity has mainly replaced existing stock 

rather than provide additional space. Given the inherent advantages for many occupiers  of 

locating in the capital (which include skills, English language, cultural benefits, access to 

world-class educational and technological institutions, plus our strategic time zone) we think 

occupier demand will prove resilient.  

 

The loss of ‘passporting’ rights has the potential to have a significant impact on London’s 

office market, but this is by no means certain, and will be a key part of trade negotiations.  

The Government has already sought to allay concerns over the ability of key overseas staff to 

work in the UK. On the retail and leisure side, central London will benefit disproportionately 

from the devaluation of Sterling.  

 

There is a direct link between economic and rental performance. Lower forecasts for 

economic output and employment growth following the EU referendum inevitably mean we 

have lowered our expectations for rental growth over the next five years. 

 

All property rental growth has been decelerating over the course of this year. Average rental 

values increased by 1.3% during the first six months, but growth was virtually flat during July 

Page 125



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  46 

and August. However, growth picked up again a little in September, with all property rental 

values rising by 0.2% during the month (IPD Monthly Index, see the chart below).  

 
 

 

We expect rental values to be broadly flat in 2017. Thereafter, rental values should begin to 

rise again, although this is likely to be a gradual acceleration. Given the shortage of stock in 

many markets, prime rents should outperform. However, the nature of Brexit and its impact on 

occupier demand is clearly hard to predict at this stage, and so there is a higher than usual 

level of uncertainty over this outlook. 

 

Our revised forecasts for all property rental value growth are shown in the chart and table 

below. 

Page 126



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  47 

 
 
All property rental value growth forecasts 
Source: IPF, REFL, Bilfinger GVA 

  2016 2017 2018 

IPF Quarterly Consensus (August 2016)    

   Maximum 3.2% 2.0% 2.1% 

   Minimum -1.5% -5.0% -1.3% 

   Average 1.3% -0.7% 0% 

Bilfinger GVA (September 2016) 1.4% -0.3% 0% 
 
 
  

Page 127



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  48 

Commercial investment market 
 
Initial concerns about a severe adverse reaction to the ‘Leave’ vote have proved unfounded 

although there has inevitably been a fall in investment transaction volumes, as many investors 

have opted for a ‘wait-and-see’ approach. Fears that the UK’s institutional “retail” funds 

would be overwhelmed by the level of redemptions have not materialised, with only a small 

number of forced sales. 

 

A slowdown in activity was already happening in the run-up to the EU referendum, with 

£12.3 billion transacted in Q2, the lowest since Q1 2014, and a sharp contrast from the £20 

billion transacted in Q2 2015 (Property Data). The summer is always a quiet period, so the 

overall impact is hard to gauge, but a total of only £3.1 billion was transacted during July and 

August - a monthly average of just £1.5 billion. More than £8 billion was transacted over the 

same period last year. 

 

Sterling’s depreciation is already making the UK a more attractive place for overseas buyers, 

and this will benefit the investment markets in London and the key regional cities. Almost half 

of the value of purchases so far in Q3 has been from overseas buyers, up from 42% during the 

first half of the year. 

 

However, UK property companies are also seeing purchasing opportunities in the current 

market. There have been relatively few forced transactions from the ‘retail’ funds, which are 

gradually returning to business as usual.  

 

The overall level of debt in the real estate market is not concerning, in sharp contrast to the 

situation after the financial crisis, with outstanding lending to real estate 40% lower than at its 

peak, according to Bank of England figures. The modest fall in capital values is unlikely to 

trigger a rise in real estate enforcement and while some lenders may reduce their level of 

new lending or become more selective, most are still firmly in the market. 

 

A fall in commercial property values was inevitable following the referendum result, but it has 

certainly not been the sharp correction that could have occurred; the IPD Monthly Index 

recorded a drop of 2.8% in July, plus further modest falls of just 0.7% in August and 0.2% in 

September (see the chart below). In total, all property values have fallen by only 3.9% since 

peaking in May this year. 

 

Page 128



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  49 

 
 

Gilt yields, already historically low before the referendum, tumbled further following the vote 

to circa 0.7% for 10-year gilts, although they have recovered some ground in the first half of 

October, to a little over 1.1%. The gap with commercial property yields remains historically 

wide, as the chart below illustrates, making property a relatively attractive asset. 

 

Page 129



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  50 

 
There is now greater certainty over property values than in the initial post-referendum period 

and this should help to boost confidence and activity going forward. However, for very large 

central London office developments, land and buildings, retail parks and shopping centres, 

valuers are still exercising a greater degree of judgement in view of the lack of transactional 

evidence.  

 

The economic outlook has undeniably deteriorated, although it is increasingly difficult to view 

Brexit in isolation; the vote to leave has arguably been a catalyst for an immediate correction 

to the economy and property markets which would have taken place in any event over a 

longer time period.  

 

For many parts of the investment market, such as healthcare, student accommodation and 

PRS, a compelling long-term demand story coupled with long-dated secure income means 

that Brexit will hardly be an issue at all, although clearly the opportunities are not uniform 

across all UK locations. We are also upbeat about the distribution/logistics sector, where 

immense opportunities exist. The demand created by major shifts to retail distribution networks 

will not abate and, if anything, Brexit will serve to accelerate the rate of change as the 

pressure on retailers to achieve efficiencies becomes more acute.  

 

Clearly total returns performance will be impacted by the ‘Leave’ vote, and slowing rental 

growth plus a modest upward shift in all property yields will mean much lower returns for this 

Page 130



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  51 

year and next than we have seen recently. As with rental growth, there is a higher than usual 

level of uncertainty over the outlook and an unfavourable outcome to the forthcoming Brexit 

negotiations (from the UK’s point of view) could negatively impact occupational strategies. 

 

Restricted supply will boost rental growth performance for quality stock and the significant 

weight of global capital looking to invest will maintain values. Brexit has not altered the 

fundamental benefits of investing in UK commercial property, which include high market 

transparency, liquidity, market size and quality, and its ‘safe haven’ status. Ultimately, 

commercial property is a long-term investment and we believe investors will continue to take 

a long-term view. 

 

18. Local Market Commentary 
Lower Sydenham is on the southern outskirts of the Lewisham retail market.  Retail provision in 
the immediate vicinity is predominantly comprised of local amenity retail along the west side 
of Bell Green and north side of Bell Green to the south west.  Newer big box retail 
predominates to the east of Bell Green.  Occupiers include Sainsbury’s, Sports Direct and in 
the 120,000 sq ft Bell Green Retail Park: B&Q, Halfords, Toys R Us and Currys PC World. To the 
east of Bell Green Retail Park there is also some new trade counter provision including 
occupiers HSS Hire, Tool Station and Plumb Centre present.  
 
Surrounding retail town centres include Lewisham to the north northeast, Bromley to the south 
east and Croydon to the south west. 
 
In mid-2016 prime rents in Lewisham stood at c. £110 psf Zone A, reflecting a marginal 
increase since late 2015.  However, rents remain 18.5% below the pre-recession peak of £135 
psf Zone A.  Closer to the property rents along the main retail pitch of Sydenham Road to the 
south west, near Sydenham Station range from c. £30-£40 psf Zone A, although the section of 
Bell Green where the subject property is situated is considered inferior and likely to attract 
only local covenants. 
 
Occupier Demand 
 
Occupier demand along Sydenham Road is fair and lettings are agreed as long as the rent 
being asked is realistic.  Letting voids of 9-18 months are the norm. 
 
 
Market Rental 
 
We are aware of the following rental evidence which we consider to be relevant to the 
subject property:-  

Page 131



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  52 

 
105 Sydenham Road, Sydenham, SE26 5UA - The property 
comprises a 766 sq ft (488 sq ft ITZA) high street shop a few 
minutes’ walk from Sydenham Rail Station, on the north 
side of Sydenham Road.  In April 2016 the lease on the 
shop to Cheque Centres Ltd was surrendered (there was 
a 2017 tenant break option which Cheque Centres were 
planning to exercise) and a new lease entered into back-
to-back with a private person at the same time as a 
change from A2 to D1 (education) planning use. 
However, the agent advising the outgoing tenant suggests that the incoming tenant paid a 
retail rent, in view of the property’s high street location.  The new lease was at a rent of 
£20,000 pa (£40.98 psf Zone A) on a 10-year term with a break in year 5 and a 3-month rent 
free incentive period. The deal was confirmed by Colette Brough of Whitelaw Baikie Figes 
(0141 221 6161). 
 
105 Sydenham Road constitutes a more established retail location than the shops in the 
subject property. 
 
Unit 4, Station Approach, Sydenham Road, Sydenham, 
SE26 5EU – An A1 ground floor shop of 358 sq ft (all Zone A) 
let in March 2016 on a 15-year term, no breaks, with 6 
weeks rent free incentive period and 5-yearly rent reviews 
to Six Grapes Ltd a wine merchant at a rent of £10,500 pa 
(£29.32 psf).  The shop had been on the market for 8 
months prior to the letting.  Details of the deal confirmed 
by Charlotte Hamilton of Baxter Philips (020 8313 9000).  
 
This comparable is slightly superior to the subject in that it is located on a higher footfall more 
established retail pitch just off Sydenham Road and is let to a specialist retailer.  
 
 
  
86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 4PZ – Based on 
information provided to us by the Borrower we 
understand that all 4 shops in the subject property were 
let at £7,500 pa each.  In the case of 86 Bell Green this 
rent was set on a new letting in February 2014 and reflects 
£22.52 psf Zone A pa.  In the case of 88 Bell Green, based 
on the lease provided to us, we believe it was set at 
review since the end of June 2013 and reflects £21.55 psf 
Zone A pa.  In the case of 90 Bell Green it was set on a 
new letting in May 2013 and reflects £21.74 psf Zone A pa.  Finally, in the case of 92 Bell Green 
the rent of £7,500 pa, based on the lease provided to us, was set at rent review in September 

 

 

Page 132



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  53 

2013 and reflects £27.27 psf Zone A pa. 
 
Conclusions 
 
We found no recent retail rental comparables in the immediate vicinity of the subject 
property. However, adjusting from the Sydenham Road comparables, considering the rents 
set on letting and rent review in the subject property in 2013-14 and local agents’ comments 
that rents have not changed significantly in the past 2-3 years we believe that the shops in 
the subject property could be re-let at £22 psf pa Zone A on average. 
 
Based on the passing rent on Flats 30, 34 and 36, and conversations with local estate agents, 
subject to redecoration and securing of the communal external stairwell to the residential 
accommodation we believe that the flats in the subject property could be re-let on Assured 
Shorthold Tenancies at an average £1,000 pcm (£12,000 pa). 
 
Consequently we are of the opinion that the current Market Rent for the property is: 
 

£75,000 per annum 
(Seventy Five Thousand Pounds) 

 

Unit/Floor Sq ft £ per sq ft £ per annum 

86 Bell Green 333 sq ft ITZA £22 £7,326 

88 Bell Green 348 sq ft ITZA £22 £7,656 

90 Bell Green 345 sq ft ITZA £22 £7,590 

92 Bell Green 275 sq ft ITZA £22 £6,050 

Flat 30 Holmshaw 
Close 

  £12,000 

Flat 32 Holmshaw 
Close 

  £12,000 

Flat 34 Holmshaw 
Close 

  £12,000 

Flat 36 Holmshaw 
Close 

  £12,000 

Total   £76,622 

Page 133



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  54 

 
We would expect that subject to re-decoration of the flats and securing of the communal 
external stairwell that any Flat that became vacant could be re-let within 4-6 weeks. 
 
As regards the retail accommodation as all the shops are currently vacant it may be harder 
to re-let the first one or two.  We would allow 18 months to re-let and would assume a 3 
month rent free incentive period to secure local covenants on 3-5 year term certain leases. 

19. Investment Market Commentary 
In mid-2016 prime retail yields in Lewisham stood at c. 6.00%, remaining stable relative to 6 
months earlier, but still standing 75 basis points above the pre-recession peak in 2006. 
 
Transactions that we have considered in assessing our valuation include:   
 
86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 4PZ – Based on the title 
register, the subject property was acquired by the 
Borrower on 3 June 2016 for £1,125,000.  Based on 
information provided to us by the Borrower we 
understand that the property was fully let at the time 
when they acquired it, albeit the Assured Shorthold 
Tenancies in respect of the residential accommodation 
had lapsed.  The weighted average unexpired term 
certain on the retail accommodation was in excess of 7 
years albeit to local covenants.  The total passing rent was £71,716 pa.  As such the purchase 
price reflects a Net Initial Yield of 6.02%. 
 
Clearly the recent sale of the subject property is the closest comparable, although as an 
investment it is currently inferior in that most of the property is vacant.  We understand vacant 
possession of all the retail units was secured by the Borrower in late July 2016.  In addition 
seeing as we understand that the Borrower’s intention is to re-develop the property, their offer 
and purchase price may reflect an element of hope value specific to them.  
  
93 Sydenham Road, Sydenham, London, SE26 5UA – 
Freehold mid terrace building comprising a 1,095 sq ft 
ground floor retail unit let on FRI terms to William Hill 
Organization Ltd, at a passing rent of £18,350 pa, with c. 
9.5 years unexpired at the point of sale.  The 1st and 2nd 
floors comprise to residential flats each on 125-year long 
leases from January 2004 producing £150 pa in ground 
rent each.  The investment sold at the Barnett Ross 
auction on 16 December 2015 f or £331,000 reflecting a 
Net Initial Yield of 5.38%. 
 

 

 

Page 134



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  55 

This comparable is superior to the subject in that it was let to a significantly stronger covenant 
for a significant unexpired term certain.  In addition, the property was of a smaller lot size and 
only a few hundred yards from Sydenham Rail Station. 
  
102-108 Kirkdale, Sydenham, SE26 4BG – Freehold building 
comprising a ground floor and basement retail unit let to 
an individual t/a Costcutter, at a passing rent of £40,000 
pa, with an unexpired term certain of c. 13.75 years at the 
time it exchanged at auction.  The 2 floors above 
comprise 14 residential flats sold long leaseshold and 
generating a peppercorn rent.  The investment 
exchanged at the 13 October 2016 Acuitus auction for 
£625,000 reflecting a Net Initial Yield of 6.09%. 
 
This comparable is superior to the subject in its apparent external condition and in that the 
retail accommodation is let for a significant unexpired term certain.  The location is slightly 
superior to the subject there being more retail uses in close proximity.  This comparable is a 
similar distance to Sydenham Rail Station as the subject property is from Lower Sydenham Rail 
Station. 
  
6b Champion Crescent, Sydenham, SE26 4HE – This 
property comprises a 1st and 2nd floor split level period 
conversion 2-bedroom flat of 833 sq ft.  The long leasehold 
interest in the flat was sold in August 2016 for £430,000 
(£516 psf). 
 
The same flat is currently on the market to let asking 
£1,199 pcm.  A letting at this level would reflect a yield of 
3.35%. 
 
This comparable is significantly superior to the flats in the subject property in terms of its 
quieter residential location and much superior condition and character. 
 
  
7b Champion Crescent, Sydenham, SE26 4HE – This 
property is in the adjacent building to 6b Champion 
Crescent above and comprises a 1st floor period 
conversion 1-bedroom flat of 571 sq ft.  The long leasehold 
interest in the flat was sold in November 2015 for £300,000 
(£521 psf). 
 
This comparable is significantly superior to the flats in the 
subject property in terms of its quieter residential location, 
condition and character.  

 

 

 

Page 135



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  56 

 
Flat 39, Lucas Court, Winchfield Road, Sydenham, SE26 5TL 
– This property comprises a 3-bedroom flat of 697 sq ft in a 
1930s/40s building.  The long leasehold interest in the flat 
was sold in August 2016 for £300,000 (£430 psf). 
 
The flat is comparable to the subject in terms of the 
quality of the accommodation compared with Flat 36 
Holmshaw Close in the subject, but superior to the subject 
in that it is in a residential building in a quieter location.   
 
  
27 Paxton Road, Perry Vale, SE23 2QG – This property 
comprises a purpose built top (2nd) floor 3-bedroom flat of 
774 sq ft.  The property is situated in a purpose built 
development in a residential area and benefits from off-
street parking and a communal swimming pool.  The long 
leasehold interest in the flat was sold in August 2016 for 
£415,000 (£536 psf). 
 
This comparable is significantly superior to the flats in the 
subject property in terms of its age, condition, communal facilities and residential setting. 
 
54A and 54B Sydenham Road, Sydenham, SE26 5QF – Two 
2-bedroom Victorian conversion flats on the 1st and 2nd 
floors above Acorn’s estate agents in a high street setting. 
The flats were in good condition and benefited from 
acess from Sydenham Road as well as a fire escape to 
the rear.  Each flat provided 592 sq ft of accommodation.  
Both flats sold in March 2015 for £250,000 each (£422 psf). 
The sales were confirmed by Yusef at Acorn estate agents 
(020 8776 7070). 
 
Although quite dated these 2 sales are slightly superior to the flats in the subject property in 
terms of their proximity to a mainline rail station.  On the other hand the flats in the subject 
property offer more accommodation at c. 660 sq ft each. 
 

 

 

 

Page 136



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  57 

52B Sydenham Road, Sydenham, SE26 5QF –A 753 sq ft 2-
bedroom Victorian conversion flats on the 2nd floor above 
a news agent in a high street setting. The flat benefited 
from access from Sydenham Road as well as a fire 
escape to the rear.  The flat was brought to the market by 
Acorn estate agents (Yusef, 020 8776 7070) in April 2016 at 
for an asking price of £325,000 (£431 psf).  The agents 
received interest from over 30 parties but the vendor 
decided to withdraw the flat from the market. 
 
Although not a completed sale the agent was confident given the interest that the property 
would have sold for in the region of the asking price.  The location of this comparable is 
slightly superior to the subject being closer to a wider selection of local amenity retail and to 
a mainline rail station. 
 
40 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 4PZ –A 531 sq ft 2 double 
bedroom refurbished purpose built flat, a couple hundred 
yards north of the subject property on the west side of Bell 
Green. The flat sold in October 2015 for the guide price of 
£250,000 reflecting £470 psf. 
 
The comparable is situated in a 30-40 year old residential 
development set back from Bell Green.  As such it is 
superior to the flats in the subject property. 
 
Charles Dickens Terrace, 184 Maple Road, Penge, SE20 
8JB – A conversion of the upper floors of an 1980s building 
to provide 8 1, 2 and 3 bedroom flats for sale on 99-year 
leases.  No firm offers have been received yet but the 
following asking prices are being quoted: 
 
 1-bed flat, 604 sq ft, £340,000 (£562 psf) 
 2-bed flat, 640 sq ft, £395,000 (£617 psf) 
 3-bed flat, 924 sq ft, £450,000 (£487 psf) 
 
Lauren at Pedder estate agents (020 3641 5251) confirmed informed that the flats have just 
come to the market over the last week and are receiving good interest and are expected to 
sell at or close to the asking prices. 
 
The comparable is in Penge rather than Lower Sydenham so not directly comparable in terms 
of location.  It is in a superior micro location being situated one street in from the High Street 
and is effectively constitutes a new build comparable. 
 

 

 

 

Page 137



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  58 

47 Newlands Park, Penge, SE26 5PN – A conversion of a 
detached 3 storey Victorian property into 5 flats of which 
4 have been sold. 
 
 Flat 1, ground floor, 2-bedroom, 2 bathroom, 788 sq ft. 

Sold for £455,000 (577 psf) in July 2016. 
 Flat 4, 1st floor, 2-bedroom, 2 bathroom, 696 sq ft. Sold 

for £430,000 (617 psf) in May 2016. 
 Flat 5, split level, loft conversion, 2-bedroom, 2 

bathroom, 961 sq ft. Sold for £540,000 (561 psf). 
 

Sales confirmed by Jenny at Foxtons’ New Homes team in Croydon (020 8022 1811). 
 
Although technically in Penge, the comparable is close to Sydenham Rail Station and 
provides a tone for comprehensively converted / new build flats. 
 
Conclusions 
 
Based on the comparables and the re-letting risks relating to the shops in the subject property 
which are currently vacant we believe an appropriate yield to apply to the retail rent on re-
letting is 7.00%. 
 
We believe that mortgage funding may be more restricted for the flats in view of their access 
and situation above A3/A5 retail. As such we have assumed that they would be most 
saleable together with the shops as a single investment.  We have applied a yield of 6.00% to 
the residential Assured Shorthold Tenancy rent. 

20. Valuation Considerations 
In arriving at our opinion of Market Value, we have had regard to the following factors:- 
 
 The current building is of poor quality – in particular the external side/rear access to the 

residential flats may put tenants and/or purchasers off; 

 The property is majority vacant and due to situation of the subject shops not in an 
established high street location we have allowed 18 months for them to re-let; 

 After 3 months’ relief we have allowed for empty business rates in relation to the 4 shops. 

 We have allowed 10% of the annual rent on re-letting for letting agents’ fees. 

 We have assumed that a purchaser would allow for £50,000 of up-front capital 
expenditure to improve the external condition of the property and £10,000 per flat of up-
front capital expenditure to redecorate and selectively refurbish.  We recommend that a 
building survey and budgeted capital expenditure / asset maintenance plan is instructed 

 

Page 138



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  59 

to confirm these costs.  If this reports significantly different costs please provide this to us so 
so that we may reconsider our valuation in light of this. 

 Rents on re-letting are likely to be at £22 psf Zone A, lower than for retail units along 
Sydenham Road, and £1,000 pcm for the flats, lower than for flats with access from the 
front and/or on quieter residential streets; 

 The 3 occupied flats are on expired Assured Shorthold Tenancies and may be vacated at 
1-2 months’ notice.  As such we have treated them as vacant and have assumed that 
they will re-let in 1-2 months following selective redecoration and refurbishment.  

 To reflect the retail re-letting risk we have capitalised the retail rent on re-letting at 7.00%. 

 We believe that mortgage funding may be more restricted for the flats in view of their 
access and situation above A5 retail. As such we have assumed that they would be most 
saleable together with the shops as a single investment.  We have applied a yield of 
6.00% to the residential Assured Shorthold Tenancy rent.  

 Based on conversations with local agents it is likely that poorer quality tenant covenants 
may be attracted to the subject property by the lower rents. 

21. Basis of Valuation 
We set out below our valuations on the various bases requested in your instruction letter.  Our 
valuations are exclusive of VAT.  
 
Market Value 
 
We have carried out the valuation on a traditional income capitalisation basis having regard 
to appropriate yields. 
 
Having regard to the above factors, we are of the opinion that the Market Value of the 
freehold interest in 86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ as at 31 October 2016 is:-  
 

£980,000 
(Nine Hundred and Eighty Thousand Pounds) 

 
Our valuation provides the following yield profile:- 
 
Net Initial Yield    0.00% 
Nominal Equivalent Yield   6.35% 
True Equivalent Yield      6.60% 
Reversionary Yield   7.40%  
 

Page 139



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  60 

 Following the March 2016 Budget, purchaser’s costs have been allowed for at an 
effective rate of 5.43% 

 Our Market Value reflects a capital value of £228 psf  

We believe a marketing period of circa 6 months would be required to achieve a sale at our 
opinion of Market Value.  
 
A copy of our investment appraisal is attached in the appendices. 
 

22. Reinstatement Cost Assessment 
As a general note the construction sector has experienced considerable price fluctuation 
during the recessionary period through to recent recovery and the Building Cost Information 
Service of the RICS is forecasting tender price inflation to continue to increase over the 
coming years, well beyond general levels of inflation.  
 
We recommend that if a full Insurance Reinstatement Cost Assessment has not been 
undertaken for the past 2/3 years that a formal assessment be undertaken to mitigate the risk 
of under insurance. 
 
We have been requested to provide an informal estimate of the reinstatement cost for 
insurance purposes.   
 
Our estimate of the current reinstatement cost of the property on a day one basis is in the 
order of:-  
 

£1,090,000 
(One Million and Ninety Thousand Pounds) 

 
This figure includes demolition costs and statutory/professional fees, but excludes the 
following:- 
 
 Tenants fixtures and fittings 

 Inflation 

 Legal Fees 

 Loss of Rent 

 Consequential Loss 

 Agency Fees 

Page 140



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  61 

 VAT  

This assessment has been prepared by a valuation surveyor based on current guidelines.  In 
order to produce a more formal assessment (which could be relied upon as the basis for 
insuring the property) our quantity surveyors would need to carry out a detailed inspection of 
the premises.  We strongly suggest that our informal estimate is compared with the current 
sum insured.  In the event of a material discrepancy between the two figures, we 
recommend that a formal assessment is undertaken.    

23. Capital Allowances 
Capital allowances might be available in relation to this property and could provide 
significant future tax savings.  The benefit of such allowances is dependent on matters such 
as the tax position of the vendor and purchaser, contract agreements and the history of 
previous claims.  A claim would require expert assessment.  It is therefore not feasible to make 
a reliable estimate of the value of allowances as a part of this valuation report.  Therefore we 
have not taken account of the value of capital allowances except to the extent that this 
value is reflected in market comparable evidence. 
 
If a purchaser could claim capital allowances, this might present additional value to that 
purchaser and could result in an increased bid for the property. 
 
Our Capital Allowances Team would be pleased to advise you further on this if required. 

24. Suitability for Loan Security 
We are of the opinion that the property provides adequate security for a commercial loan 
based on all of the factors referred to in this report.    
 
Our assessment of the suitability of the property for loan purposes is based on the following 
SWOT analysis:  
 

Strengths Weaknesses 

 Good train link into central London. 

 Close to regeneration area to north east 
of junction. 

 “In between” location – not on a retail 
high street pitch but also on a busy 
junction with little space on the site to 
set a redevelopment back from the 
noise and traffic, which is not ideal for 
residential. 

 Poor external condition requiring 
methodical capital expenditure plan. 

Page 141



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  62 

Opportunities Threats 

 Improving location as a result of 
regeneration and redevelopment in and 
around the former gas works to the north 
east. 

 Planning gain from a potential consent 
to redevelop. 

 Depending on retail lettings achieved it 
may be possible to recover some of the 
capital expenditure required through 
the service charge. 

 Economy weakens. 

 

 
Lender Action Points 
 
 Building survey and budgeted capital expenditure / maintenance plan 

 
Following the Referendum held on 23 June 2016 concerning the UK’s membership of the EU, a 
decision was taken to exit.  It is likely that the exit process will take some 24 plus months 
although the timing is presently uncertain.  This combination of macro- economic, legal and 
political circumstances is unprecedented within the UK property market.  Since that date we 
have monitored market transactions and market sentiment in arriving at our opinion of 
Market Value/Fair Value.  After an initial period of uncertainty and an absence of activity, 
transactional volumes and available evidence have risen in most sectors of the market and 
liquidity is returning to more normal levels.  This has led to a generally more stable outlook for 
the market.   However, there remains a paucity of comparable transactions in certain sectors, 
such as our valuation scenario on the Special Aassumption that consent has been granted 
for the 24-flat scheme proposed by the Borrower, and in this case, we have had to exercise a 
greater degree of judgement in arriving at our opinion of value. 
 
We note in particular that the subject property was acquired by the Borrower on 3 June 2016 
for £1,125,000 and that at the time it was fully let and rent-producing.  This transaction has 
been accepted as evidence and considered in our assessment of Market Value.  

25. General Comments 
We confirm that we meet the requirements as to competence and the definitions of an 
External Valuer within the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards UK January 2014 (revised April 
2015). 
 
The Valuation Report has been prepared by Alexis Politakis MRICS, an RICS Registered Valuer 
within the Valuation Consultancy Department. 

Page 142



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 
 

 

 

October 2016   gva.co.uk  63 

 
The valuation has been discussed with and approved by Nathan Pask MRICS, an RICS 
Registered Valuer and Director in the same department. 
 

Page 143



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 
Instruction Letter 

Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



  

 
 

 
 

Appendix 2 
 
Valuation &  
Tenancy Schedule 

Page 148



REPORT Valuation Summary GVA

Report Date 04 November 2016
Valuation Date 26 October 2016

Property

Address 86-92,Bell Green,Sydenham,London,SE26 4PZ
File/Ref No 02B621257

Gross Valuation £1,157,527
Capital Costs -£119,216
Net Value Before Fees £1,038,311

Less Stamp Duty @3.93% of Net Value -£38,500
 Agents Fee @1.00% of Net Value -£11,760
 Legal Fee @0.50% of Net Value -£5,880

Fees include non recoverable VAT @ 20.00 %
Net Valuation £982,171

Say £980,000

Equivalent Yield 6.3477% True Equivalent Yield 6.5967%
Initial Yield (Deemed) 0.0000% Initial Yield (Contracted) 0.0000%
Reversion Yield 7.3957%

Total Contracted Rent £0 Total Current Rent £0
Total Rental Value £76,630 No. Tenants   8
Capital value per ft² £714.81

Running Yields

Date Gross Rent Net Rent Annual Quarterly
26-Oct-2016 £0 £0 0.0000 % 0.0000 %
26-Nov-2016 £24,000 £24,000 2.3163 % 2.3502 %
26-Dec-2016 £48,000 £48,000 4.6326 % 4.7699 %
26-Jul-2018 £76,630 £76,630 7.3957 % 7.7506 %

Yields based on £1,036,140

Portfolio: Alexis Politakis
CIRCLE VISUAL INVESTOR 2.50.048
Portfolio: Alexis Politakis
CIRCLE VISUAL INVESTOR 2.50.048

P
age 149



REPORT Valuation Summary GVA

Report Date 04 November 2016
Valuation Date 26 October 2016

REPORT Valuation Summary GVA

Report Date 04 November 2016
Valuation Date 26 October 2016

Tenants

Tenant name File / Ref No Next Review Expiry Date Current Rent ERV Method ERV Cap.Group Val.Meth. Yield 1 Yield 2 Gross Value
Freehold
Standard UK Tenant NA 25-Apr-2023 £0 Rounded £7,330 Retail Term & Reversion 7.000 7.000 £93,022
Standard UK Tenant NA 25-Apr-2023 £0 Rounded £7,660 Retail Term & Reversion 7.000 7.000 £97,210
Standard UK Tenant NA 25-Apr-2023 £0 Rounded £7,590 Retail Term & Reversion 7.000 7.000 £96,321
Standard UK Tenant NA 25-Apr-2023 £0 Rounded £6,050 Retail Term & Reversion 7.000 7.000 £76,778
EFFECTIVELY VACANT (Midos) NA 25-Nov-2017 £0 Manual £12,000 Residential AST Term & Reversion 6.000 6.000 £199,031
VACANT NA 25-Dec-2017 £0 Manual £12,000 Residential AST Term & Reversion 6.000 6.000 £198,067
EFFECTIVELY VACANT (Midos) NA 25-Nov-2017 £0 Manual £12,000 Residential AST Term & Reversion 6.000 6.000 £199,031
EFFECTIVELY VACANT (Brailey) NA 25-Dec-2017 £0 Manual £12,000 Residential AST Term & Reversion 6.000 6.000 £198,067
Total £0 £76,630 £1,157,527

Portfolio: Alexis Politakis
CIRCLE VISUAL INVESTOR 2.50.048 Page 2

P
age 150



 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Appendix 3 
 
EPC’s & 
Recommendations 

Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



 

 
 

 
 
 

Appendix 4 
 
Bilfinger GVA 
Property & 
Economic Bulletin 

Page 214



Research

EPMR UK
Post-referendum 
outlook

September 2016

gva.co.uk/researchPage 215



2 | Bilfinger GVA  gva.co.uk/research

Recent weeks have seen 
relative stability across the 
financial and property markets, 
helped by the quieter summer 
period. The rapid formation of 
a new government has helped 
to boost confidence, and an 
early general election appears 
to have been ruled out 
(although a second Scottish 
independence referendum 
is still theoretically possible). 
A key point is that victory for the ‘Leave’ 
campaign was a vote against membership 
of the EU, rather than for any specific course 
of action. The question of the UK’s future 
relationship with the EU remains as open as 
it was on 24 June and Government policy 
remains little more than “Brexit means Brexit”. 

One certainty is that the process of exiting 
the EU will be long and complicated. 
Indeed, it does not officially begin until 
the UK Government triggers the now-
infamous Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty. 
It has indicated that this will not happen 
until 2017, and it may well be delayed until 
next autumn, after the general elections in 
France and Germany have taken place.

Businesses need certainty and the 
Government is under immense pressure  
to clarify its approach to Brexit. However, it 
also needs to take the time to get its strategy 
right across a vast range of complex issues.  
This dilemma will be a significant challenge. 

Whatever approach the Government 
takes, the UK will remain a member of 
the EU for two years after Article 50 is 
triggered, and we will still be able to trade 
with the EU on the existing basis during this 
time (although discretionary EU funding 
will become much harder to obtain). 

The financial markets have settled down, 
with Sterling trading at circa 10% below its 
pre-referendum level against the US Dollar 
and the Euro. UK equities have increased 
in value since the referendum (the FTSE 100 
by circa 8% and the FTSE 250 by circa 4%). 
That said, the share price of housebuilders 
and property REITs remains below pre-Brexit 
levels, but property shares were always 
going to be vulnerable to a ‘Leave’ vote 
compared with more defensive sectors. 
Fears that the UK’s institutional “retail” funds 
would be overwhelmed by the level of 
redemptions have not materialised, with 
only a small number of forced sales. 

Confidence
Most hard economic data still largely relates 
to the pre-referendum period, but there has 
been some reassuring post-result survey 
data. Consumer confidence has started to 
rebound from the immediate referendum 
shock. The latest GfK survey plummeted 
from -1 in June to -12 in July, but rose to -7 in 
August. Consumer demand has been resilient 
so far, and retail sales volumes over the 
period June-August were 1.6% higher than 
over the previous three months, and 5.5% 
higher than over the same period last year. 

Business confidence saw a significant 
increase in August, with a rebound in 
the respected Markit/CIPS Purchasing 
Managers’ Index back into positive territory. 

This is illustrated in chart 1 (which shows 
the average across the manufacturing, 
services and construction sectors). 

Inflation and interest rates
CPI inflation was 0.6% in August, unchanged 
from July. The rate has risen from broadly 
zero a year ago and will rise faster over 
the next year due to Sterling’s devaluation. 
The consensus view is for 2.5% in 2017 
(although it is likely to peak higher than 
this), but any further volatility in the foreign 
exchange markets could alter this outlook. 

The Bank of England deployed further 
stimulus in August to boost domestic 
demand. This included a reduction in 
the Base Rate to 0.25% and an injection 
of £70 billion into the economy through 
the purchase of government and 
corporate bonds (quantitative easing). 

The Bank may well use further stimulus 
measures in the coming months, although 
there is only so much that monetary policy 
can achieve, particularly as interest rates are 
now so close to zero. Certainly, the Bank is 
not concerned at the prospect of inflation 
rising above its target range at this stage. 

Government intervention
With interest rates close to zero, the bulk 
of any further stimulus measures will need 
to come from fiscal rather than monetary 
policy. With the previous target of eliminating 
the budget deficit (annual borrowing) by 
2020 now jettisoned, there should be room 
for such stimulus. 

This year’s Conservative Party Conference 
in October and the Autumn Statement on 
23 November will be keenly watched, as 

Economic outlook

Weighted Total Business Activity 

35 

40 

45 

50 

55 

60 

65 

Aug-12 

Fe
b-13 

Aug-13 

Fe
b-14 

Aug-14 

Fe
b-15 

Aug-15 

Fe
b-16 

Aug-16 

Su
rv

e
y 

b
a

la
nc

e
 

Weighted Total Business Activity No expansion or contraction 

Expansion

Contraction

-600 

-400 

-200 

0 

200 

400 

600 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

An
nu

a
l c

ha
ng

e
 in

 e
m

p
lo

ye
e

s 
in

 e
m

p
lo

ym
e

nt
 ('

00
0)

 

Chart 1

Purchasing Managers’ Index  
Source: Markit/CIPS 

Chart 2

Annual change in total employees 
Source: Experian, Bilfinger GVA

Page 216



 gva.co.uk/research  Bilfinger GVA | 3

they will set out the Government’s fiscal 
agenda. It is already clear that the new 
administration will signal some significant 
changes across a range of policy areas. 

Infrastructure investment may well feature 
heavily. There is a strong argument in 
favour of this, given the low cost at which 
the government can borrow and the 
need to make significant improvements 
across a wide variety of infrastructure 
types. Without this, the more uncertain 
environment, lower economic growth 
and increased cost of imported materials 
are likely to mean a fall in investment. 

Another key test will be the willingness of the 
new Government to take key decisions in 
this area, most notably on additional runway 
capacity in the South East. The Government’s 
commitment to the important devolution 
agenda will also come under close scrutiny. 

Employment trends
In total more than a million jobs were added 
to the UK labour force during 2014 and 
2015.  This growth was unsustainable and was 
already slowing prior to the EU referendum. 
However, the latest data suggests that 
the labour market has remained robust. 
During May-July (so partly covering the 
post-referendum period) employment rose 
by 174,000 compared with the previous 
three months. The unemployment rate has 
fallen to 4.9%, the lowest since Q3 2005. 

The picture is likely to weaken as some 
businesses put hiring decisions on 
hold, and we expect a modest fall in 
employment next year, before growth 
resumes in 2018 (see chart 2). 

Earnings are currently rising at a little over 2% 
pa. As the employment outlook weakens and 
inflation rises, earnings could be falling in real 
terms by the end of next year (see chart 3). 
This erosion of consumer spending power is 
likely to negatively impact retail spending. 

Outlook for growth
The UK economy was growing at a healthy 
rate in the run-up to the EU referendum, rising 
by 0.6% in Q2 (in line with the long-term trend), 
up from 0.4% in Q1. We expect a marked 
slowdown in growth during the second half 
of this year although given post-referendum 
survey evidence, a major recession seems 
unlikely. However a technical recession (two 
quarters of declining output) remains possible, 
which would adversely affect confidence. 

Growth of just 0.9% is now forecast 
for 2017, compared with the 2.1% 
previously expected (well below the 
long-term average of circa 2.6% pa). 

Looking further ahead growth is expected 
to accelerate, but should remain well below 
trend. The revised forecasts suggest that  
the economy will be 4% smaller by 2020  
than would have been the case using  
pre-referendum forecasts. 

Chart 4 illustrates the forecast revisions. 
The EU remains our most important trading 
partner, and will also feel the impact of Brexit. 
Although only Ireland is heavily exposed to 
the UK in terms of exports, there is likely to be 
a negative impact on consumer and investor 
sentiment. Eurozone growth is already weak 
and is now likely to be even more subdued. 
The European Central Bank will probably 
come under pressure to provide more 
monetary stimulus. 

The longer-term impact of Brexit remains 
highly uncertain, and much will depend 
on the type of trade deal that can be 
negotiated. A number of economic 
studies on the long-term impact have 
been undertaken. Most suggest a marked 
negative effect, but the wide range of 
possible impacts underlines the uncertainty.

With EU trade negotiations not starting 
until next year, markets are now likely to 
focus their attention on November’s US 
Presidential election. We may also see 
further market volatility as more substantive 
policy announcements are made on 
the Government’ approach to Brexit 
and more meaningful post-referendum 
economic data becomes available. 

Ultimately, it is the reaction of the UK’s 
consumers and corporates that will 
determine the health of the economy 
during and after the Brexit process. 

0,0 

0,5 

1,0 

1,5 

2,0 

2,5 

3,0 

3,5 

4,0 

4,5 

5,0 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

%
 c

ha
ng

e
 p

a
 

CPI inflation Wage growth 

0.0 

0.5 

1.0 

1.5 

2.0 

2.5 

3.0 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

%
 g

ro
w

th
 p

a
 

Jun-16 Sept-16 Trend 

2019 2020 

Latest consensus forecasts, September 2016
Source: HM Treasury (compilation of forecasts),  
Bilfinger GVA

2016 2017 25 year trend

Economic growth (GDP) 1.8% 0.9% 2.6% pa

Private consumption 2.7% 1.2% –

Employment growth 1.1% 0.1% 0.7% pa

Bank base rate (Q4) 0.2% 0.2% –

CPI – Inflation (Q4) 1.3% 2.5% –

RPI – Inflation (Q4) 2.2% 3.1% –

Chart 3

Inflation and wage growth
Source: Experian, HM Treasury Consensus

Chart 4

GDP growth forecasts 
Source: HM Treasury Consensus, Experian, Bilfinger GVA 

Table 1

Page 217



4 | Bilfinger GVA  gva.co.uk/research

Occupier demand
Occupiers now face considerable uncertainty 
across a range of fundamental issues 
including their ability to trade with the EU 
and to employ labour from the EU, as well 
as a more uncertain economic outlook. 

There have been few concrete 
announcements by corporates on their 
strategies to deal with Brexit. This is unsurprising. 
Not only do strategies take months or years to 
evolve and implement, but corporates also 
lack hard information on the implications of 
Brexit upon which they can base any decisions. 

A ‘soft’ Brexit which retained many of the 
current benefits of EU membership, including 
the UK’s important ‘passporting’ rights, could 
mean a relatively limited impact. A ‘hard’ 
Brexit would have wider-reaching implications. 

Survey evidence suggests that more than 
half of corporates did not undertake any 
contingency planning for a ‘Leave’ vote. 
They will now be undertaking this process 
in earnest, and the longer the uncertainty 
continues the more these contingency 
plans will have to be put into action. 

Supply
The recent development cycle has been 
relatively subdued, meaning that few 
prime commercial occupier markets are 
in an oversupply situation and many are 
experiencing a shortage of stock.  
Chart 5 illustrates the low level of 
commercial construction in the current 
cycle (using new construction orders as 
a proxy). Although activity has recovered 
sharply, it has remained well below 
levels seen before the financial crisis. 

The subdued development cycle has 
meant less new stock coming on stream. 
But other factors are also working to reduce 
the level of existing stock. These include 
the changes to permitted development 
rights legislation, which have accelerated 
the conversion of offices to other uses; and 
the minimum energy efficiency standards 
(MEES), which will prevent the granting of a 
new lease (or lease renewal) on a building 
with an EPC rating below ‘E’ from 1 April 2018. 

Coupled with this, strong long-term 
underlying demand will underpin many 
key property sectors, including logistics, 
healthcare, student accommodation, and 
the private rented sector. The huge potential 
of PRS could be further increased if Brexit 
uncertainty means fewer first-time-buyers 
are willing to enter the housing market. 

Clearly, there is only limited data on 
construction post-referendum. The latest  
ONS figures report that total UK construction 
output was flat in July, with new construction 
work rising by 0.5%. This suggests that the 
sector was resilient during the initial post-
referendum period, but these figures can be 
quite volatile from month to month, so should 
be treated with caution. 

There is now less certainly over future occupier 
demand, so it is likely that development 
activity will fall as schemes are put on hold. 
This will vary across sectors, reflecting the 
outlook for demand. The distribution sector, 
for example, may well be more insulated. 

Sector impacts
In the lead up to the EU referendum, 
occupier activity across the Central London 
office market was muted with many 
businesses waiting to see the outcome 

before committing to office space. This 
resulted in just 4 million sq ft of take-up for 
the first half of the year, the lowest since 
2012 and 18% down on the corresponding 
period in 2015. However, for many occupiers 
Brexit changes very little. Whilst there has 
been a tail off in new demand, continued 
low levels of availability are underpinning 
rental levels for the time being. 

Demand across the ‘Big Nine’ regional office 
centres held up well in Q2, just 3% below the 
five-year average, in spite of the referendum 
uncertainty. Over the summer there has been 
a reasonable level of viewing activity and 
enquiry levels, although there has been a 
slowdown in the quantity of transactions. 

Brexit uncertainty is certainly causing some 
occupiers to review their strategies. However 
the affects across most markets will be 
somewhat insulated by the shortage of 
quality stock and constrained development 
pipeline, with the prominence of more 
cautious pre-let development activity 
witnessed over the past two years. 

A number of factors will help to cushion any 
impact on demand. For example, a significant 
number of civil service jobs will move from 
central London over the next five years, with the 
creation of 16 new super-hubs in outer London 
and many of the UK’s regional cities. The UK’s 
growing ‘knowledge’ sectors will also continue 
to fuel demand, and the Government’s 
commitment to safeguard funding for 
research and innovation projects is reassuring. 

Against a background of limited supply 
in many key locations, the industrial and 
logistics sector looks to be in a relatively strong 
position. The recent strong rate of average 
rental growth continues, with rental values 
rising by 4% over the 12 months to August.

Commercial occupier market

4,000 

6,000 

8,000 

10,000 

12,000 

14,000 

16,000 

18,000 

20,000 

22,000 

24,000 

26,000 

Ju
n-

98
 

Dec-9
9 

Ju
n-

01
 

Dec-0
2 

Ju
n-

04
 

Dec-0
5 

Ju
n-

07
 

Dec-0
8 

Ju
n-

10
 

12
 m

o
nt

h 
 to

ta
l, 

£ 
m

illi
o

n 
(2

00
5 

p
ric

e
s)

 

20-year average

Dec-1
1 

Ju
n-

13
 

Ju
n-

16
 

Dec-1
4 

50.0 

60.0 

70.0 

80.0 

90.0 

100.0 

110.0 

120.0 

Au
g 20

07
 

Fe
b 20

08
 

Au
g 20

08
 

Fe
b 20

09
 

Au
g 20

09
 

Fe
b 20

10
 

Au
g 20

10
 

Au
g 20

11
 

Fe
b 20

12
 

Au
g 20

12
 

Fe
b 20

13
 

Au
g 20

13
 

Fe
b 20

14
 

Au
g 20

14
 

Fe
b 20

15
 

Au
g 20

15
 

Fe
b 20

16
 

Au
g 20

16
 

In
d

e
x,

 M
a

rc
h 

20
08

 =
 1

00
 

Fe
b 20

11
 

Central London offices Regional offices Regional high street retail Industrial 

Chart 5

New Construction Orders (Development 
activity) Retail, office and industrial
Source: ONS, Bilfinger GVA

Chart 6

Average rental levels
Source: IPD Monthly Index, Bilfinger GVA

Page 218



 gva.co.uk/research  Bilfinger GVA | 5

We remain positive about the prospects 
for the industrial and logistics sectors. 
Manufacturers won’t escape the economic 
impacts, but the positive effect of weaker 
Sterling will help to offset this. The huge shifts 
in the retail market will continue despite 
Brexit, and retailers will still need to respond 
to changing logistics requirements. Along 
with third-party logistics providers, retailers 
continued to provide the majority of 
demand during the first half of the year.

The early signs of a bounce-back in 
consumer confidence are certainly 
welcome news for the retail sector. Clearly, 
Brexit does not change the fundamental 
challenges faced by physical stores of the 
relentless move online. However, it could 
serve to accelerate the demise of retailers 
who were already in long-term difficulties. 

The latest figures from the Local Data 
Company suggest that the overall vacancy 
rate for shops increased marginally from 12.3% 
in June to 12.4% in July, reversing the trend of 
gradually falling rates seen since mid-2012. 
However, shopping centres saw a further fall in 
vacancy, and there has been very little new 
development over the latest cycle. This will help 
to maintain rental levels in the prime centres. 

The leisure sector has been growing strongly, 
and should benefit from the depreciation of 
Sterling across a range of subsectors including 
restaurants, hotels and leisure parks. A rise in 
‘staycations’ and more overseas tourists in the 
UK will help significantly. However, the leisure 
sector is particularly vulnerable to a change in 
immigration policy as it employs a significant 
number of EU nationals. This will come on 
top of the additional cost burden associated 
with the new National Living Wage. 

Outlook for rental growth
There are plenty of reasons to think that the 
property market will continue to be resilient 
in the face of the challenges ahead. For 
occupiers, the current market represents a 
good time to renegotiate their lease terms. 
Indeed, with increased levels of uncertainty, 
we expect to see more occupiers re-gear 
existing leases rather than move. 

Average rental levels remain below their 
previous 2008 peak across most UK 
commercial property sectors, with the main 
exception of the central London markets (see 
chart 6). Coupled with this, the lack of quality 
supply will help to underpin rental values,  
and so the likelihood of significant falls  
looks remote. 

Even in central London, recent development 
activity has mainly replaced existing stock 
rather than provide additional space. Given 
the inherent advantages for many occupiers 
of locating in the capital (which include skills, 
English language, cultural benefits, access to 
world-class educational and technological 
institutions, plus our strategic time zone) we 
think occupier demand will prove resilient. 

The loss of ‘passporting’ rights has the potential 
to have a significant impact on London’s 
office market, but this is by no means certain, 
and will be a key part of trade negotiations. 
The Government has already sought to allay 
concerns over the ability of key overseas staff 
to work in the UK. On the retail and leisure side, 
central London will benefit disproportionately 
from the devaluation of Sterling. 

There is a direct link between economic 
and rental performance. Lower forecasts 
for economic output and employment 

growth following the EU referendum inevitably 
mean we have lowered our expectations 
for rental growth over the next five years. 

All property rental growth has been 
decelerating over the course of this year. 
Average rental values increased by 1.3% 
during the first six months, and have been 
virtually flat during July and August (IPD 
Monthly Index, see chart 7). 

We expect rental values to be broadly flat 
in 2017. Thereafter, rental values should 
begin to rise again, although this is likely 
to be a gradual acceleration. Given the 
shortage of stock in many markets, prime 
rents should outperform. However, the 
nature of Brexit and its impact on occupier 
demand is clearly hard to predict at this 
stage, and so there is a higher than usual 
level of uncertainty over this outlook. 

Our revised forecasts for all property rental 
value growth are shown in chart 8 and table 2

-0.5 

0 

0.5 

1 

1.5 

-0.2 

-0.1 

0.0 

0.1 

0.2 

0.3 

0.4 

0.5 

0.6 

Aug 2015 Sep 2015 Oct 2015 Nov 2015 Dec 2015 Jan 2016 Feb 2016 Mar 2016 Apr 2016 Jun 2016 Jul 2016 Aug 2016 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 c
ha

ng
e

 (%
) 

M
o

nt
hl

y 
re

nt
a

l g
ro

w
th

, %
 

Monthly change (lhs) Quarterly change (rhs) 

May 2016 

-10.0 

-8.0 

-6.0 

-4.0 

-2.0 

0.0 

2.0 

4.0 

6.0 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Re
nt

a
l g

ro
w

th
 (%

) 

 

Chart 7

All property average rental growth
Source: IPD Monthly Index

Chart 8

All property average rental growth forecasts
Source: MSCI, REFL, BIlfinger GVA

Table 2

All property rental growth forecasts
Source: IPF, REFL, Bilfinger GVA

IPF Quarterly Consensus 
(August 2016)

2016 2017 2018

Maximum 3.2% 2.0% 2.1%

Minimum -1.5% -5.0% -1.3%

Average 1.3% -0.7% 0%

Bilfinger GVA  
(September 2016)

1.4% -0.3% 0%

Page 219



6 | Bilfinger GVA  gva.co.uk/research

Initial concerns about a severe 
adverse reaction to the ‘Leave’ 
vote have proved unfounded 
although there has inevitably 
been a fall in investment 
transaction volumes, as many 
investors have opted for a 
‘wait-and-see’ approach. 
A slowdown in activity was already happening 
in the run-up to the EU referendum, with 
£12.3 billion transacted in Q2, the lowest 
since Q1 2014, and a sharp contrast from the 
£20 billion transacted in Q2 2015 (Property 
Data). The summer is always a quiet period, 
so the overall impact is hard to gauge, but 
a total of only £3.1 billion was transacted 
during July and August - a monthly average 
of just £1.5 billion. More than £8 billion was 
transacted over the same period last year. 

Sterling’s depreciation is already making 
the UK a more attractive place for overseas 
buyers, and this will benefit the investment 
markets in London and the key regional cities. 
Almost half of the value of purchases so far 
in Q3 has been from overseas buyers, up 
from 42% during the first half of the year. 

However, UK property companies are also 
seeing purchasing opportunities in the current 
market. There have been relatively few forced 
transactions from the ‘retail’ funds, which 
are gradually returning to business as usual.

The overall level of debt in the real estate 
market is not concerning, in sharp contrast 
to the situation after the financial crisis, 
with outstanding lending to real estate 
40% lower than at its peak, according 

to Bank of England figures. The modest 
fall in capital values is unlikely to trigger a 
rise in real estate enforcement and while 
some lenders may reduce their level of 
new lending or become more selective, 
most are still firmly in the market.

A fall in commercial property values was 
inevitable following the referendum result, 
but it has certainly not been the sharp 
correction that could have occurred; the IPD 
Monthly Index recorded a drop of 2.8% in 
July plus a further fall of just 0.7% in August 
(see chart 9). Added to the modest drop 
seen prior to the vote in June, all property 
values have fallen by 3.7% over the last 
three months on the IPD measure. 

Gilt yields, already historically low before the 
referendum, have tumbled further, standing 
at circa 0.8% for 10-year gilts. This has 
further widened the gap with commercial 
property yields, as chart 10 illustrates, 
making property relatively more attractive. 

There is now greater certainty over property 
values than in the initial post-referendum 
period and this should help to boost 
confidence and activity going forward. 
However, for very large central London office 
developments, land and buildings, retail 
parks and shopping centres, valuers are still 
exercising a greater degree of judgement in 
view of the lack of transactional evidence. 

The economic outlook has undeniably 
deteriorated, although it is increasingly 
difficult to view Brexit in isolation; the vote to 
leave has arguably been a catalyst for an 
immediate correction to the economy and 
property markets which would have taken 
place in any event over a longer time period. 

For many parts of the investment market,  
such as healthcare, student accommodation 
and PRS, a compelling long-term demand 
story coupled with long-dated secure income 
means that Brexit will hardly be an issue 
at all, although clearly the opportunities 
are not uniform across all UK locations. 

We are also upbeat about the distribution/
logistics sector, where immense opportunities 
exist. The demand created by major shifts to 
retail distribution networks will not abate and, 
if anything, Brexit will serve to accelerate the 
rate of change as the pressure on retailers to 
achieve efficiencies becomes more acute. 

Clearly total returns performance will be 
impacted by the ‘Leave’ vote, and slowing 
rental growth plus a modest upward shift 
in all property yields will mean much lower 
returns for this year and next than we have 
seen recently. As with rental growth, there is 
a higher than usual level of uncertainty over 
the outlook and an unfavourable outcome 
to the forthcoming Brexit negotiations (from 
the UK’s point of view) could negatively 
impact occupational strategies. 

Restricted supply will boost rental growth 
performance for quality stock and the 
significant weight of global capital 
looking to invest will maintain values. 

Brexit has not altered the fundamental 
benefits of investing in UK commercial 
property, which include high market 
transparency, liquidity, market size and 
quality, and its ‘safe haven’ status. Ultimately, 
commercial property is a long-term 
investment and we believe investors will 
continue to take a long-term view.

Commercial investment market

-3 

-2.5 

-2 

-1.5 

-1 

-0.5 

0 

0.5 

1 

1.5 

Aug 2015 Sep 2015 Oct 2015 Nov 2015 Dec 2015 Jan 2016 Feb 2016 Mar 2016 Apr 2016 May 2016 Jun 2016 Jul 2016 Aug 2016 

M
o

nt
hl

y 
c

a
p

ita
l v

a
lu

e
 g

ro
w

th
 (%

) 

0.0 

1.0 

2.0 

3.0 

4.0 

5.0 

6.0 

7.0 

8.0 

9.0 

10.0 

Au
g 06

 

Au
g 07

 

Au
g 08

 

Au
g 09

 

Au
g 10

 

Au
g 11

 

Au
g 12

 

Au
g 13

 

Au
g 14

 

Au
g 15

 

Au
g 16

 

Yi
e

ld
 (%

) 

All property equivalent yield 10-year gilt yield 

Chart 9

Monthly change in capital values
Source: IPD Monthly Index

Chart 10

Property and gilt yields
Source: IPD, FT, Bilfinger GVA

Page 220



 gva.co.uk/research  Bilfinger GVA | 7
Page 221



8 | Bilfinger GVA  gva.co.uk/research

gva.co.uk/research 08449 02 03 04

11115

This report has been prepared by Bilfinger GVA for general information purposes only. Whilst Bilfinger GVA endeavours to ensure that the information in this report is correct it does not warrant completeness or accuracy. You 
should not rely on it without seeking professional advice. Bilfinger GVA assumes no responsibility for errors or omissions in this publication or other documents which are referenced by or linked to this report. To the maximum extent 
permitted by law and without limitation Bilfinger GVA excludes all representations, warranties and conditions relating to this report and the use of this report. All intellectual property rights are reserved and prior written permission is 
required from Bilfinger GVA to reproduce material contained in this report. Bilfinger GVA is the trading name of GVA Grimley Limited © Bilfinger GVA 2016.

London

Birmingham

Bristol

Cardiff

Dublin

Edinburgh

Glasgow

Leeds

Liverpool

Manchester

Newcastle

Published by Bilfinger GVA.  
65 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7NQ. 
©2016 Copyright Bilfinger GVA

Bilfinger GVA is the trading name of 
GVA Grimley Limited and is a principal 
shareholder of GVA Worldwide Limited,  
an independent partnership of property 
advisers operating globally. Bilfinger GVA  
is a Bilfinger Real Estate company.

For further information please contact:

Daniel Francis
Head of Research

daniel.francis@gva.co.uk 
020 7911 2363 

Page 222



 

 

 

Definitions & 
Reservations for 
Valuations  

Page 223



 

 

October 2016  gva.co.uk  

Information 
 
All information supplied by the Client, the Client's staff and 
professional advisers, local authorities, other statutory 
bodies, investigation agencies and other stated sources is 
accepted as being correct unless otherwise specified. 
 
Tenure 
 
Title Deeds and Leases are not inspected (unless 
specifically stated) and, unless we are informed to the 
contrary, it is assumed that a property is free of any 
onerous covenants, easements, other restrictions or 
liabilities including mortgages, grants and capital 
allowances which may affect the value. 
 
No responsibility or liability will be accepted for the true 
interpretation of the legal position of the client or other 
parties. 
 
Tenants 
 
Tenants' status is investigated only where we are so 
instructed and so specified in the valuation. 
 
Plans 
 
Any plans supplied are for identification purposes only 
unless otherwise stated.  The valuation assumes site 
boundaries are as indicated to us.  The reproduction of 
Ordnance Survey sheets has been sanctioned by the 
Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, Crown 
Copyright reserved. 
 
Site areas 
 
Site areas are normally computed from plans or the 
Ordnance Survey and not from a physical site survey.  They 
are approximate unless otherwise indicated. 
 
Floor areas and dimensions  
 
Floor areas and dimensions are taken from inspection 
unless otherwise specified but are nevertheless 
approximate.  Areas quoted are calculated in 
accordance with the RICS Professional Statement – RICS 
Property Measurement 1 edition, May 2015 on the basis 
agreed with the Client, i.e. adopting either (1) The Code of 
Measuring Practice, 6th edition published by the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors, or (2) The International 
Property Measurement Standards (IPMS): Office Buildings. 
 
The following bases are those most frequently used under 
the Code of Measuring Practice, 6th edition: 

 
Net Internal Area - Measured to the internal faces of 
external walls, excluding toilets, permanent corridors, 
internal walls and partitions, stairwells, plant rooms etc. 
 
Gross Internal Area - Measured to the internal faces of 
external walls, including toilets, permanent corridors, 
internal walls and partitions, stairwells, plant rooms etc. 
 
Gross External Area - Measured to the external faces of 
external walls, including toilets, permanent corridors, 
internal walls and partitions, stairwells, plant rooms etc. 
 
The following bases are those used under The 
International Property Measurement Standards (IPMS): 
Office Buildings: 
 
IPMS1 - The sum of the areas of each floor level of a 
building measured to the outer perimeter of external 
construction features and reported on a floor by floor 
basis. 
 
IPMS 2 - Office - The sum of the areas of each floor level 
of an office building measured to the internal dominant 
face and reported on a component by component 
basis for each floor of a building. 
 
IPMS 3 - Office - The floor area available on an exclusive 
basis to an occupier, but excluding standard facilities 
and calculated on an occupier-by-occupier or floor by 
floor basis for each building. 
 
Ground conditions 
 
Soil stability, mining and geological reports are not 
undertaken by us or normally inspected.  Unless we are 
instructed to the contrary, we assume that the ground 
and any adjoining or nearby areas are not 
contaminated, that there are no dangerous materials in 
the vicinity and that it is capable of development 
without the need for abnormal costs on foundations and 
services. 
 
Condition of buildings, plant etc 
 
Our inspection of a property does not constitute a 
structural survey. When preparing our valuation we have 
regard to apparent defects and wants of repair and 
take into account the age of the property. We do not 
however carry out the detailed search for defects which 
is undertaken as part of the structural survey neither do 
we necessarily set out the various defects when making 
the report. 
  

Definitions and 
reservations for 
valuations 

Page 224



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 

 

 

October 2016  gva.co.uk  

We do not inspect woodwork or other parts of the 
structure which are covered, unexposed or inaccessible.  
We do not arrange for any investigation to be carried out 
to determine whether or not high alumina cement 
concrete or calcium chloride additive or any other 
deleterious materials or permanent woodwool shuttering 
or composite panelling has been used in the construction. 
 
Unless so instructed we do not arrange for any 
investigations to be carried out to determine whether or 
not any deleterious or hazardous material or techniques 
have been used in the construction of the property or has 
since been incorporated and the services are not tested.   
 
We are therefore unable to report that the property is free 
from defect in these respects. 
 
For valuation purposes we assume unless otherwise stated 
that the property (including associated plant and 
machinery, fixtures and fittings) is in serviceable order and 
will remain so for the foreseeable future.  It will be assumed 
that the building/s is/are in good repair, except for defects 
specifically noted. 
 
Asbestos regulations 
 
The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 came into force 
on 6 April 2012, updating previous asbestos regulations to 
take account of the European Commission's view that the 
UK had not fully implemented the EU Directive on exposure 
to asbestos (Directive 2009/148/EC). Your legal advisers 
should enquire as to compliance with these regulations 
and property owners will need to be able to provide 
confirmation as to the existence and condition of 
asbestos. 
 
Fire safety 
 
The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (The Order) 
replaces previous fire safety legislation including both the 
Fire Precautions Act 1971 and the Fire Precautions 
(workplace) Regulation 1997.  Consequently any fire 
certificate issued under the Fire Precautions Act 1971 will 
cease to have any effect. The Order came into force 
completely on the 1st April 2006. 
 
The Order applies to the majority of premises and 
workplaces in England and Wales although does not 
include people’s private homes. It covers general fire 
precautions and other fire safety duties, which are needed 
to protect ‘relevant persons’ in case of fire in and around 
most ‘premises’.  
 
Under the order, anyone who has control in a premises or 
anyone who has a degree of control over certain areas 
may be classified as a ‘responsible person’. It is thus the 
duty of such individual to comply with the requirements of 
the Order and make certain that all measures are taken to 
ensure the safety of all the people he or she is directly or 
indirectly responsible for.  
 
The responsible person must then carry out a Fire Risk 
Assessment. In short this is a five-point process whereby fire 
hazards must be identified, relevant persons at risk 
recognised, potential risks reduced, staff training 
implemented and the whole assessment regularly 

reviewed. The assessment must pay particular attention 
to those at special risk such as disabled people, those 
who have special needs and young persons. 
Furthermore the responsible person must provide and 
maintain clear Means of Escape, Signs, Notices, 
Emergency Lighting, Fire Detection & Alarm and 
Extinguishers. 
 
This approach is different from previous legislation, as it is 
now necessary to consider everyone who might be on 
your premises, whether they are employees, visitors or 
members of the public. 
 
The Risk Assessment must be regularly reviewed and if 
necessary amended. Finally if the responsible person 
employs five or more people, the premises are licensed 
or the Inspector requires it then the Risk Assessment must 
be formally recorded.  
 
The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations 2015 effective 1 October 2015 require that 
landlords of residential property must provide (1) a 
smoke alarm on each storey of the premises on which 
there is a room used wholly or partly as living 
accommodation and (2) a carbon monoxide alarm in 
any room of the premises which is used wholly or partly 
as living accommodation and contains a solid fuel 
burning combustion appliance.  The landlord has a 
responsibility to ensure that the detectors are checked 
and in proper working order. 
 
It is assumed that the property is compliant in regard to 
the above regulations. 
 
Accessibility 
 
From 1 October 2010, the Equality Act 2010 replaced 
previous anti-discrimination laws, including the Disability 
Discrimination Act, with a single Act to make the law 
simpler and to remove inconsistencies. The Equality Act 
protects the important rights of disabled people to 
access everyday facilities and services and to ensure 
that disabled workers are not disadvantaged. 
  
Our report will contain observations of a general nature 
on the extent to which we consider that the building 
would be regarded by the market as complying with the 
accessibility requirements of the Equality Act. We have 
not, however, carried out an in-depth study which would 
be required to reach a formal view. 
 
Energy performance certificates 
 
From 2008 Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) are 
required for the sale, rental or construction of commercial 
buildings.  The requirement was phased in over 6 months 
between 6 April and 1 October 2008. Commercial 
properties with a useful floor area of more than 10,000 sq. 
m. were affected from 6 April 2008, those exceeding 2,500 
sq. m. had to comply from 1 July 2008 and the remaining 
properties had to comply from 1 October 2008. An EPC 
must be provided on the sale, rental or construction (or in 
some cases modification) subject to transitional 
arrangements. Non-compliance may lead to sanction 
under civil legislation, involving a financial penalty. 
Our valuation assumes that the property has an Energy 
Performance Certificate (if required under the Energy 

Page 225



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 

 

 

October 2016  gva.co.uk  

Performance of Buildings (Certificates and Inspections) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2007) and that the 
Certificate will be maintained as required. 
 
Services  
 
It is assumed that the services and any associated controls 
or software, are in working order and free from defect. 
 
Composite panels and insurance 
 
We will not test any panels within the property to see 
whether there are any polystyrene insulated composite 
panels.  The presence of such panels may result in the 
property being uninsurable, which would have an adverse 
impact on value.   
 
Defective Premises Act 1972  
 
Obligations or liabilities or any rights thereunder, whether 
prospective or accrued, are not reflected in valuations 
unless actually specified. 
 
Environmental issues 
 
Our valuation report does not, constitute an environmental 
audit or survey and nothing contained in it should be 
treated as a statement that there are no contamination or 
pollution problems relating to the property or confirmation 
that the property, or any process carried on therein, 
complies with existing or proposed legislation on 
environmental matters. If we have been provided with 
third party reports we have accepted their contents as 
being correct. 
 
Enquiries 
 
Enquiries of local authorities and statutory undertakers are 
made verbally in respect of contingent liabilities such as 
road widening, road charges, redevelopment proposals 
and the possible effect of any town planning restrictions, 
and on occasion in respect of rating assessments.  Local 
searches are not undertaken.  No responsibility is 
accepted for any inaccurate information provided. 
 
Generally it is assumed that buildings are constructed and 
used in accordance with valid Town Planning Consents, 
Permits, Licences and Building Regulation Approval, with 
direct access from a publicly maintained highway, that 
Town Planning Consents do not contain restrictions which 
may adversely affect the use of a property and that there 
are no outstanding statutory or other notices in connection 
with a property or its present or intended use. 
 
It is further assumed unless otherwise stated that all 
necessary licences, permits etc either run with the property 
or are transferable to a new occupier as appropriate. 
 
Flooding risk 
 
The valuer will make enquiries concerning flooding risk 
where it is perceived to be of relevance as published by 
the Environmental Agency. However we are not qualified 
to definitively assess the risk of flooding and our valuation 
will assume no difficulties in this regard. Further, Bilfinger 

GVA shall not undertake any additional enquiries to 
confirm this information. 
 
Plant, machinery, fixtures and fitting 
 
Unless otherwise specified, all items normally associated 
with the valuation of land and buildings are included in 
our valuations and reinstatement cost assessments, 
including:- 
 
Fixed space heating, domestic hot water systems, 
lighting and mains services supplying these, sprinkler 
systems and associated equipment, water, electricity, 
gas and steam circuits not serving industrial or 
commercial processes, sub-station buildings, lifts and 
permanent structures including crane rails where forming 
an integral part of the building structure, fixed 
demountable partitions, suspended ceilings, carpets, 
drains, sewers and sewerage plants not primarily 
concerned with treating trade effluent, air conditioning 
except where part of a computer installation or primarily 
serving plant and machinery. 
 
Unless otherwise specified, the following items are 
excluded:- 
 
All items of process plant and machinery, tooling and 
other equipment not primarily serving the building, 
cranes, hoists, conveyors, elevators, structures which are 
ancillary to, or form part of an item of process plant and 
machinery, sewerage plants primarily concerned with 
treating trade effluent, air conditioning where part of a 
computer installation or primarily serving plant and 
machinery, and water, electricity, gas, steam and 
compressed air supplies and circuits serving industrial 
and commercial processes. 
 
Unless otherwise specified, no allowance is made for the 
cost of repairing any damage caused by the removal 
from the premises of items of plant, machinery, fixtures 
and fittings. 
 
In the case of filling stations, hotels and other properties 
normally sold and valued as operational entities, all items 
of equipment normally associated with such a property 
are assumed to be owned and are included within the 
valuation unless otherwise specified. 
 
Taxation and grants 
 
Value Added Tax, taxation, grants and allowances are 
not included in capital and rental values as, unless 
otherwise specified in the report, these are always stated 
on a basis exclusive of any VAT liability even though VAT 
will in certain cases be payable.  
 
It is assumed for the purposes of valuation that any 
potential purchaser is able to reclaim VAT, unless 
otherwise stated.  In particular it should be noted that 
where a valuation has been made on a Depreciated 
Replacement Cost basis the Replacement Cost adopted 
is net of VAT unless otherwise stated. 
Unless otherwise specified Bilfinger GVA will not take into 
account of any existing or potential liabilities arising for 
capital gains or other taxation or tax reliefs as a result of 

Page 226



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 

 

 

October 2016  gva.co.uk  

grants or capital allowances, available to a purchaser of 
the property. 
 
Market value (MV) 
 
The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should 
exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer 
and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after 
proper marketing and where the parties had each acted 
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. 
 
Market Value provides the same basis as the OMV basis of 
value supported by the first four editions of the Red Book, 
but no longer used as a defined term. 
 
Fair value 
 
1. The estimated price for the transfer of an asset or 

liability between identified knowledgeable and willing 
parties that reflects the respective interests of those 
parties (IVS 2013). 

 
2. The price that would be received to sell an asset, or 

paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement 
date (IFRS 13). 

 
Depreciated replacement cost 
 
The current cost of replacing an asset with its modern 
equivalent asset less deductions for physical deterioration 
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation. 
 
Operational entities 
 
The RICS advises that the most appropriate basis of 
valuation of properties normally sold as operational entities 
is Market Value as defined above.  Such properties include 
public houses, hotels and other leisure uses, together with 
nursing homes, residential care homes, private hospital 
and petrol filling stations. 
 
Our valuations reflect the following:- 
 
a. The market's perception of trading potential with an 

assumed ability on the part of the purchaser to renew 
existing licenses, consents, registrations and permits; 

 
b. That the property is offered with vacant possession 

throughout, although in the case of nursing and 
residential care homes, subject to the contractual 
rights of the patients/residents occupying the home 
from time to time; 

 
c. That trade fixtures, fittings, furniture, furnishings and 

equipment are included. 
 
Our valuations also specifically assume, unless otherwise 
specified that the business will continue to operate at a 
level not significantly worse than that indicated to us. 
 
Existing use value 
 
The estimated amount for which a property should 
exchange on the valuation date between a willing  buyer 

and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after 
proper marketing wherein the parties had acted 
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion, 
assuming that the buyer is granted vacant possession of 
all parts of the property required by the business and 
disregarding potential alternative uses and any other 
characteristics of the property that would cause its 
Market Value to differ from that needed to replace the 
remaining service potential at least cost. 
 
Market rent 
 
The estimated amount for which an interest in real 
property should be leased on the valuation date 
between a willing lessor and a willing lessee on 
appropriate lease terms in an arm’s-length transaction 
after proper marketing and where the parties had each 
acted knowledgeably, prudently and without 
compulsion. 
 
Insurance 
 
Insurance is usually arranged by clients (or their brokers) 
based on reinstatement cost assessments or occasionally 
on an indemnity basis and other methods of valuation 
are not appropriate. 
 
Reinstatement cost assessment 
 
A Reinstatement cost assessment is our opinion of the 
likely cost of reinstating all the buildings, normally for 
insurance purposes, on the basis that:- 
 
a. the accommodation provided will be similar in 

construction, design and area to the existing 
buildings; 

 
b. the works will be in compliance with conditions 

imposed by local Authorities in connection with the 
construction of the building; 

 
c. unless reported separately, allowances are made to 

cover the cost of necessary demolition and site 
clearance prior to rebuilding, external works such as 
hardstandings, private roadways and fences and 
professional fees which would normally be incurred. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, the reinstatement cost does not 
include any allowance for:- 
 
a. any loss of rent incurred during rebuilding; 
 
b. planning restrictions which a planning authority 

might impose; 
 
c. special foundations required for plant and 

machinery or due to adverse ground conditions; 
 
d. any plant, machinery, equipment, tanks, loose tools, 

office furniture and equipment (refer to the heading 
"Plant, Machinery, Fixtures and Fittings" for details of 
items normally included); 

e. any effect of inflation on building costs occurring 
after the valuation date; 

 
f. VAT (except on professional fees) which will normally 

be payable in addition. 

Page 227



 
 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, London, SE26 4PZ 
 

 

 

October 2016  gva.co.uk  

 
Note - A reinstatement cost assessment is not a valuation.  
The valuer’s assessment of the reinstatement cost 
assessment should be regarded as an informal estimate 
and should not be used to arrange insurance cover with.  
 
Apportionment of values 
 
Apportionments provided between buildings, land and 
plant and machinery are normally for depreciation 
purposes only.  In normal circumstances apportionments 
are not valuations and they should not be used for any 
other purpose unless specified in our report. 
 
Future useful economic life  
 
Future useful economic life of buildings is normally assessed 
in bands of years, most frequently subject to a maximum 
of fifty years. This applies to freehold properties and to 
leasehold properties where the future life is less than the 
unexpired term of the lease.  An average figure is usually 
provided for groups of buildings forming a single asset.  The 
figures are appropriate for depreciation purposes only. 
 
Compliance with valuation standards 
 
Where applicable our valuations are in accordance with 
the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards UK January 
2014 (revised April 2015), published by the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS’’), the Insurance Companies 
(Valuation of Assets) Regulations 1981, the Financial 
Conduct Authority (FCA) “Listing Rules" (“Source Book”) 
and "City Code on Takeovers and Mergers" (“Blue Book”) 
as amended and revised from time to time.  A copy is 
available for inspection. 
 
RICS investigations 
 
The valuation may be investigated by the RICS for the 
purposes of the administration of the Institutions conduct 
and disciplinary regulations.  Guidance on the operation 
of the RICS monitoring scheme including matters relating 
to confidentiality is available from www.rics.org. 
 
Total valuation 
 
Where provided this is the aggregate of the value of each 
individual property.  It is envisaged that properties would 
be marketed singly or in groups over an appropriate 
period of time.  If all properties were to be sold as a single 
lot, the realisation would not necessarily be the same as 
the total of the valuations.  This assumption is not 
applicable to valuations made for taxation purposes. 
 
Legal issues 
 
Any interpretation of leases and other legal documents 
and legal assumptions is given in our capacity as Property 
Consultants (including Chartered Surveyors and Chartered 
Town Planners) and must be verified by a suitability 
qualified lawyer if it is to be relied upon.  No responsibility 
or liability is accepted for the true interpretation of the 
legal position of the client or other parties. 
 
Jurisdiction  

 
In the event of a dispute arising in connection with a 
valuation, unless expressly agreed otherwise in writing, 
Bilfinger GVA, the client and any third party using this 
valuation will submit to the jurisdiction of the British Courts 
only.  This will apply wherever the property or the client is 
located, or the advice is provided. 
 
Date, market conditions and validity of valuation 
 
Valuations may be relied upon for the stated purpose as 
at the date specified.  In normal market conditions the 
value may not change materially in the short term.  
However the property market is constantly changing and 
is susceptible to many external facets which can affect 
business confidence.  If any reliance is to be placed on 
the valuation following any changes which could affect 
business confidence, then further consultation is strongly 
recommended.  In any event, the valuation should not 
be considered valid after a period of three months. 
 
Valuations and reports 
 
Valuations and Reports are only for the use of the party 
to whom they are addressed.  They may be disclosed 
only to other professional advisors assisting in respect of 
that purpose.  No responsibility is accepted to any third 
party for the whole or any part of the contents. 
 
Reports should be considered in their entirety and should 
only be used within the context of the instructions under 
which they are prepared. 
 
Neither the whole nor any part of a valuation, report or 
other document or any reference thereto may be 
included in any published article, document, circular or 
statement or published in any way without prior written 
approval of Bilfinger GVA of the form and context in 
which it may appear. 
 
Warranties 
 
The client warrants and represents that, to the best of its 
knowledge, information and belief, the information 
supplied by and on its behalf to Bilfinger GVA is true and 
accurate and that it will advise and instruct its third party 
advisers to advise Bilfinger GVA in the event that it 
and/they receive notice that any such information is 
either misleading or inaccurate. 

 
Updated December 2015 

Page 228



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
13 

 

Appendix 3 – Residual Development Appraisal 

 

 

Project
Bell Green, 

Sydenham

Client
IMA Real 

Estate

Date Jul-17

Type

Financial 

Viability 

Assessment

Gross 

Development 

Value

Tenure Floor area

Gross 

average 

rate per sq 

ft

Gross value Tenure %
Revised gross 

value

Sales 

costs %

Actual sales 

cost
Net value

Net capital 

value per 

sq ft

Market sale 15209  £           600  £       9,125,400 100%  £       9,125,400 3%  £      273,762  £       8,851,638  £         582 

Affordable rent 0  £           600  £                     -   50%  £                     -   1.50%  £                 -    £                     -   #DIV/0!

Intermediate 0  £           600  £                     -   60%  £                     -   1.50%  £                 -    £                     -   #DIV/0!

Total 15209  £           600  £       9,125,400 100  £       9,125,400 3  £      273,762  £      8,851,638  £         582 

Commercial floor 

area
Value per sq ft

Annual 

gross rent
Yield

Year's 

purchase
Capital value

Sales 

costs

Actual sales 

costs

Net capital 

value

Net capital 

value per 

sq ft

678  £                  18  £      11,863 7.75% 13.3  £          158,172 2.50%  £           3,954  £          154,218  £         228 

Ground rent - no' 

of units

Average 

ground rent 

per annum

Annual 

gross 

ground rent

Yield
Year's 

purchase
Capital value

Sales 

costs

Actual sales 

costs

Net capital 

value

Net capital 

value per 

unit

23  £                275  £        6,325 5.50% 18.2  £          115,000 2.50%  £           2,875  £          112,125  £      4,875 

Page 229



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GDV Summary Amounts

Residential sales  £     8,851,638 

Commercial 

investment
 £        154,218 

Ground rent 

investment
 £        112,125 

Total GDV  £    9,117,981 

Development 

Costs

Build cost (inc' 5% 

contingency)
 £     5,650,000 

Fees at 10%  £        565,000 

Section 106  £          50,000 

CIL  £        158,830 

Sub-total  £    6,423,830 

Finance at 6.75% 

(2 year 

programme)

 £        433,609 

Sub-total  £    6,857,439 

Profit at 17.5% of 

Total GDV
 £     1,595,647 

Total scheme 

costs
 £    8,453,085 

Total GDV 9,117,981£     

Total scheme 

costs 8,453,085£     

Gross residual 

land value 664,896£        

Gross plot value 

per unit 28,909£          

Page 230



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17                                                                           

 
15 

 

Appendix 4 – Residential Comparable Evidence 

 

 

 

 

Properties in Bell Lane - Sydenham, available for sale July 2017 

Agent Address Sale Price No of beds Type - eg/ Flat 
Gross Internal 

Floor Area Sq Ft
Value per sq ft Energy Rating

Foxtons

Bell Green, 

Sydenham SE26 £235,000 1 Flat 515 £456.31 C

Stanford 

Estates

Paxton Road, 

London SE23
£300,000 1 Flat 498 £602.41 D

Purplebricks
179 Sydenham 

Road, Sydenham 

SE26

£285,000 1 Flat 532 £535.71 C

Housesimple
Berrymans Lane, 

London SE26
£335,000 1 End Terrace 562.2 £595.87 C

Foxtons
Bell Green Lane, 

Sydenham SE26
£340,000 2 Flat 712 £477.53 C

Robinson 

Jackson

Champion Road, 

Sydenham, London 

SE26

£325,000 2 Flat 669 £485.80 D

Stanford 

Estates

Moremead 

Road, London 

SE6

£325,000 2 Maisonette 538 £604.09 C

Property 

World

Sunnydene 

Street, London 

SE26

£435,000 2 House 863 £504.06 D

Property 

World

Addington Grove, 

London SE26 £425,000 2
Terraced 

House
887 £479.14 C

Alan De Maid

Moremead 

Road, London 

SE6

£325,000 2 Maisonette 584 £556.51 C

Robinson 

Jackson

Larkbere Road, 

Sydenham, London 

SE26
£450,000 2 Terraced 821 £548.11 C

Benjamin 

Matthews

Queenswood 

Road, London 

SE23

£475,000 2 Flat 821 £578.56 D

Crest 

Nicholson

Plots from 

Bloosleigh 

Business Park
£299,997 2 Flat 744 £403.22 Not available

Barnard 

Marcus

Dillwyn Close, 

London SE26 £375,000 3 End Terraced 890 £421.35 D

Robinson 

Jackson

Sunnydene 

Street, London 

SE26

£450,000 3
Terraced 

House
865 £520.23 D

Robinson 

Jackson

Fairlawn Park, 

London SE26
£550,000 3

Terraced 

House
1185 £464.14 D

Stanford 

Estates

Perry Hill, London 

SE6
£495,000 3

Terraced 

House
1301 £380.48 D

Alexander 

Charles & 

Browne

Priestfield Road, 

London SE23
£600,000 3 End Terraced 951 £630.91 F

Property 

World

Fairlawn Park, 

London SE26 £600,000 4 Terraced 1456 £412.09 D

Barnard 

Marcus

Perry Hill, London 

SE6
£750,000 4 End Terraced 1990 £376.88 C

Page 231



Private and Confidential, Sheridan Development Management Ltd, Bell Green FVA (IMA Real Estate) - 26/7/17

16 

Appendix 5 – Pellings’ Cost Plan and Report 

Page 232



COST ESTIMATE

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 
1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. 

RESIDENTIAL UNITS

at

86 - 92 Bell Green, London          
SE26 4PZ

for

IMA Real Estate

Issue 04

July 2017

Page 233



COST ESTIMATE
IMA REAL ESTATE
86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

CLARIFICATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS

1 Basis of Estimate

This Preliminary Cost Estimate is based on the following information:

1

1535-01 Version 10 - Site Location Map

1535-02 Version 10 - Site Context Plan - Existing

1535-03 Version 10 - Ground floor plan - Existing

1535-04 Version 10 - First Floor Plan - Existing

1535-05 Version 10 - Second Floor Plan - Existing

1535-10 Version 08 - Site Context Plan - Proposed

1535-11 Version 08 - Ground Floor Plan - Proposed

1535-12 Version 08 - 1-3 Floor Plan - Proposed

1535-13 Version 08 - 4-5 Floor Plan - Proposed

1535-13 Version 08 - 6th Floor Plan - Proposed*

1535-14 Version 08 - Penthouse floor Plan - Proposed

1535-15 Version 08 - Roof Plan proposed

1535-20 Version 08 - East Elevation - Proposed

1535-21 Version 08 - South Elevation - Proposed

1535-22 Version 08 - West Elevation - Proposed

1535-23 Version 08 - North Elevation - Proposed
* - duplicated drawing number with unique title

2

2 Qualifications

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14 Cost include for Contractor's OH&P @ 7%

15

We have not included any sustainability enhancements to achieve any specific level of Code for sustainable Homes

No allowances have been made for increasing or reinforcing the electrical supply network in the area.

It is advisable that a non-negligent liability insurance cover is put place for the works; due to the proximity of the Bell Green Road.

GIFA is approximate due to early stage of design, with individual GIA figures rounded to the nearest whole number.

For clarity, we assume the proposed building is to be constructed with traditional construction methods (external block/brick masonry 

walls). 

Costs are based on 2Q2017 prices with no allowance for inflation.

Costs are based on a Single Stage Competitive D&B procurement route.

Costs are based on a Contractor 'best programme' contract period

The basis of the indicative £/m² rate derived can be better appreciated by interrogating the detailed estimates appended to this report.

Some nominal allowances have been made for incoming services and drainage connections.  No allowance has been made for works to 

the immediate external or wider public realm spaces.

Contractors design fees are based upon appointment with planning consent under JCT D&B contract.

Chassay Studio drawings:

We have not had an opportunity to conduct a detailed survey of the site but we have utilised existing publicly available electronic 

photographic resources

We assume that the level of finish for the Residential scheme is to reflect private sale or rental specifications.

Given the design is in its infancy, all cost allowances are indicative based on the information provided, our interpretation of the client's 

aspirations and costs obtained for schemes of a similar nature.  Consequently costs are likely to evolve as the design progresses and 

more information is made available.    

We assume that the Retail unit will be finished to a Category "A" level of fit-out; i.e. Shell, basic finishes and essential services.

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Clarifications 2 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 234



COST ESTIMATE
IMA REAL ESTATE
86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

CLARIFICATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS

3 Exclusions

1 Asbestos removal, unless specifically stated.

2 Repairs or strengthening works underpinning, etc. to the adjacent / adjoining substructure.

3 Specialist lighting and controls

4 Clients professional fees (including statutory fees)

5 VAT

6 Provision of loose fittings and furnishings 

7 Removal or diversion of buried services within the boundary of the site

8 Service upgrade.

9 Any off-site works.

10 Costs of compliance with any conditions imposed by Statutory bodies

11 Costs of Section 106, 278 and other Agreement(s) or Community Infrastructure Levy charges

12 Assumed no Party Wall or Rights of Lights issues

13 Parking suspension costs

14 Site security watch

15 Soft landscaping - shrubs to planters

16 Allowances for abnormal ground conditions

17 Land acquisition fees, and marketing / disposal fees

18 Tenant Improvement to B1 / A1 retail unit

4 Commercial Commentary

1

2

3

4

5

6

Pellings LLP

24 Widmore Road Bromley Kent BR1 1RY t 020 8460 9114 e bromley@pellings.co.uk

We are also mindful that the cost at 5% to 5.5% average year on year increase has been viewed by some commentators as 

conservative.  However, at this juncture it is proving difficult to predict the impact of market forces and whether the level of growth 

currently being experienced will be sustained.

We would suggest that the Client retains a reasonable, undeclared Contingency to offset the potential risk that market forces will 

increase tender prices.

Architecture & Planning n Interior Design n Building Surveying n Project Management n Cost Consultancy 

n Health & Safety

Given that likely timescales are unknown, no allowance has been made for inflation

However, PLLP is mindful that the construction industry is currently volatile, with some projects experiencing extra ordinarily high tender 

price inflation.

In our experience the most competitive prices are being achieved in the market via Contractors with an established and dependable 

supply chain.  However, we anticipate that the current pressures prevalent within the construction industry means it is unlikely that they 

will remain completely insulated from the wider market forces.

Conversely, cost increases are greatest when significant risks remain unresolved, particularly where the Contractor is entirely responsible 

for the inherent commercial risk associated with such unknowns.

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Clarifications 3 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 235



COST ESTIMATE
IMA REAL ESTATE
86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

INTRODUCTORY SUMMARY

1. Client

2. Project Title

3. Project description

4. Location

5. Assumed solutions
Substructure

Frame

Upper floors

6. Dates
 - Costs are current in 2nd quarter 2017, based on a South East location and Design and build procurement.

 - Construction commencement is yet to be confirmed so no allowance has been included for inflation

7. Executive cost commentary

8. Design Efficiency Ratios
Item Current Scheme

Gross Internal Floor Area 2,151 m2

Wall  to Floor ratio 0.806

Net to Gross Internal Floor areas (Overall) 69%

Net to Gross Internal Floor areas (Ground floor) 20%

Net to Gross Internal Floor areas (First to Fifth floors) 79%

Net to Gross Internal Floor areas (Sixth floor) 72%

Net to Gross Internal Floor areas (Seventh floor) 64%

 - It should be noted that the development site is quite tight, achieving close to a 100% site coverage. Accordingly, construction costs would 

tend to be marginally higher to take account of parking, waste, cycle and other common parts being part of the superstructure of the building. 

In addition, usable terraces at the upper floors plus integral balconies for all apartments serve to add to marginal costs. The relatively shallow 

plot (in width and depth) and corresponding relatively low gross to net ratios result in a comparatively high wall to floor ratio thus also adding 

to marginal costs.

Redevelopment of 86 - 92 Bell Green as a Residential Development

IMA Real Estate

The purpose of the proposal is to redevelop the site at 86 - 92 Bell Green as a residential development. The immediate  neighbourhood has 

been the subject of regeneration within the past decade. The proximity of a substantial vacant site immediately to the east off Stanton Way 

strongly suggests that further regeneration will continue in the next few years.
The development proposed is regarded as a next stage in the ongoing regeneration of the area. The site is currently occupied by a 3-storey 

building containing 4 unoccupied retail units at ground floor with 4 flats above. The existing building has a poor visual quality about it when 

approaching from the south, this is due to the bare brick gable and prominent metal extraction flue. The proposal is to replace the existing 

building with a new building that responds to housing need, maximises the development potential of the site and enhances the appearance of 

the surroundings.

The site is located on the west side of Bell Green at the junction with Southend Lane. Bell Green is a busy road characterised by a number of 

junctions, including the junction with Perry Hill and Perry Rise to the north of the site and the junction with Stanton Way and Sydenham Road 

to the south. The west side of Bell Green marks a transition in scale from the smaller-scale two and three-storey houses on Holmshaw Close 

and other residential streets to the west, to much larger scale buildings on the east side of Bell Green, including the 8-storey form of Orchard 

Court, the 4-storey block of Pear Tree Court and the 10-storey gasholders behind the buildings on Perry Hill. In townscape terms, the 

development site relates to Bell Green and the aforementioned buildings on this busy A-road.

 - Due to the space constraints on site and the proximity of the Bell Green Road, we have assumed that the substructure will be bored pile 

foundation with strip / raft pile cap system

 - We have assumed that ready-mixed concrete trucks can access the site via Holmshaw close and that no road closure would be required 

during the concreting period.

 - The first floor slab is taken as a 250mm thick reinforced concrete slab with reinforcement allowed at 200kg/m³.

 - From the second floor slab to the seventh floor, allowance has been made for composite reinforced concrete slabs with metal troughed 

permanent formwork  with fabric reinforcement and rebar.

 - The Ground floor is assumed to be constructed in reinforced concrete frame.

 - All other floors  are assumed to be structural steel frame.

 - The scheme achieves an overall cost of £2,627/m2. This reduces to £2,341/m2 when demolition, external works and contingencies are 

omitted. When benchmarked with BCIS cost data for similar schemes we find that the cost is within a close margin of BCIS upper quartile 

costs. In our further analysis, we found a comparable benchmark analysis on BCIS (#32338) for a scheme of 21 flats and a commercial unit 

in London SE1 area which achieved a cost of £2,374/m2.

 - Notwithstanding the above the base build cost (excluding demolition, preliminaries and other general cost items) is £1,890/m2. This 

compares favourably with average cost of similar schemes. Demolition and preliminaries allowances include site specific considerations 

which are provisional at this stage 

 - The project will be finished to a good specification for either market sale or rent and therefore, for the purposes of benchmarking, the BCIS 

upper quartile category is a reasonable and appropriate comparator.

  - No allowances have currently been incorporated in the cost plan for Construction insurances or tender price inflation to start on site.

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Introductory summary 4 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 236



COST ESTIMATE
IMA REAL ESTATE
86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

MAIN SUMMARY

ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE

Description Number Area (m²) GIFA 
NEWBUILD RESIDENTIAL

1B2P 10 50 m2 500 m2

2B3P 5 62 m2 310 m2

2B3P 3 75 m2 225 m2

3B4P 4 75 m2 300 m2

3B4P 1 78 m2 78 m2

Balconies aggregate 189 m2 189 m2

Circulation areas (Upper floors) aggregate 232 m2 232 m2

Circulation areas (Ground floor entrance) aggregate 50 m2 50 m2

Total Residential units (inc 4 nr. Intermediate units) 23 No. 1,884 m2

RETAIL UNITS

Shop (A1 / B1) 1 63 m2 63 m2

Total Retail units 63 m2

COMMUNAL SPACES

Covered car parking, bike and bin store areas aggregate 204 m2 204 m2

Total 204 m2

GROSS INTERNAL FLOOR AREA 2,151 m2

Item sub-totals Totals % £/m2

GROSS INTERNAL FLOOR AREA 2,151 m2

0.0 Facilitating works  estimate £130,500 £130,500 2% 61

1.0 Substructure £268,360 £268,360 5% 125

2.0 Superstructure

.1 Frame £283,483

.2 Upper Floors £320,552

.3 Roof £41,420

.4 Stairs and ramps £63,000

.5 External Walls £442,000

.6 Windows and External doors £393,500

.7 Internal walls and partitions £279,700

.8 Internal doors £132,000 £1,955,655 36% 909

3.0 Internal Finishes

.1 Wall finishes £213,740

.2 Floor finishes £196,195

.3 Ceiling finishes £102,645 £512,580 10% 238

sub-total carried forward £2,867,095 £1,333

This feasibility cost estimate is prepared for IMA Real Estate Limited for the construction of a Mixed-use block 

containing 23 nr. residential units and 1nr. Retail unit as set out on proposed drawings.  

This exercise realises the following indicative figures, subject to specific assumptions and qualifications (refer to the 

'Clarifications and Assumptions' section of this report)

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Main Summary 5 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 237



COST ESTIMATE
IMA REAL ESTATE
86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

MAIN SUMMARY

Item sub-totals Totals % £/m2
brought forward £2,867,095 1,333

4.0 Fittings, furnishings and equipment £229,000 £229,000 4% 106

5.0 Services

.1 Sanitary Installations £66,000

.2 Services equipment £32,030

.3 Disposal Installations £52,811

.4 Water Installations £85,933

.5 Heat Source £58,410

.6 Space Heating and air conditioning £179,124

.7 Ventilation Systems £16,150

.8 Electrical installations £232,845

.9 Fuel Installations / Systems Not used

.10 Lift and Conveyor installation / systems £95,000

.11 Fire and lightning protection £66,463

12 Communications, security and control systems £98,062

.13 Specialist Installations £30,000

.14 Builders' work in Connection £30,400 £1,043,228 19% 485

6.0 External works

.1 Site preparation works Included

.2 Roads, paths, pavings and surfacings £32,040

.3 Soft landscaping, planting and irrigation systems Excluded

.4 Fencing, railings and walls £11,000

.5 External fixtures £40,900

.6 External drainage £39,000

.7 External services £800

.8 Minor building works and ancillary buildings £4,250 £127,990 2% 60

sub-total £4,267,313 1,984

7.0 Contractor's General Cost Items: preliminaries etc

.1 Management, site offices & general cost items £645,950

.2 Overheads & Profit 7.0% £298,712

.3 Design fees 4.0% £170,693

.4 Other fees and costs Excluded £1,115,355 21% 519

sub-total £5,382,668 2,502

8.0 Client's General cost items

.1 Consultants' fees - precontract services To be advised

.2 Insurances / warranties & Statutory costs To be advised £0 0

sub-total £5,382,668 2,502

9.0 Contingencies / Provisional Allowances

.1 Allowance for design development, etc.
£5,382,668 5% £269,133

sub-total £5,651,801 2,628

10.0 Inflation (Based on BCIS All-in Tender Price Indices) excluded

£5,651,801 2,628

ESTIMATED CONSTRUCTION COST say £5,650,000

Equivalent to (on average) £2,627/m² £244/ft²

[Refer to Clarifications and Assumptions section]

[programme 

yet to be advised] 

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Main Summary 6 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 238



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

Summary m² ft²

Residential Units GIFA 1,884 20,279

Retail Unit GIFA 63 678

Covered car parking, bike and bin store areas 204 2,196

TOTAL GIFA 2,151 23,153

BUDGET COST ALLOWANCES

0.0 Facilitating works  estimate

Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

0.01 Provisional allowance for asbestos survey and 

removal

1 item £40,000 £40,000

0.02 Allowance for full site investigation / trial holes / 

boreholes

1 item £15,000 £15,000

0.03 Allowance for CCTV survey of existing drainage 

and / or CAT scan of buried services

1 item £5,000 £5,000

0.04 Make safe, disconnect and strip out existing 

services - water, gas and electrics

1 item £15,500 £15,500

0.05 Strip out fixtures, fittings and equipment, 

dispose off site

1 item Excluded

0.06 Demolish existing building to ground level 

including breaking out ground slab and 

grubbing up foundations assumed not 

exceeding 1 m deep

1,860 m³ £25 £46,500

0.07 Site clearance (within site boundary) 340 m² £25 £8,500

Sub-total £130,500

Facilitating works (Element Total) £130,500

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 7 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 239



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

1.0 Substructure

Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Assumptions: 
 - Due to the space constraints on site and the 

proximity of the Bell Green Road, we have 

assumed that the substructure will be bored pile 

foundation with strip / raft pile cap system

 - We have assumed that ready-mixed concrete 

trucks can access the site via Holmshaw close 

and that no road closure would be required 

during the concreting period.

1.1 Reduced level excavation commencing at 

Ground level, depth n.e. 700mm; including 

offsite disposal

236 m³ £70 £16,520

1.2 Keeping excavations clear of water (provisional) 1 Item £2,000 £2,000

1.3 Surface treatment; level and compact 336 m² £5 £1,680

Pile foundation
1.4 General attendances and pile mat, thickness 

average  450mm; including clearing away on 

completion

336 m² £60 £20,160

Bored piles

1.5 Mobilisation 1 Item £6,000 £6,000

1.6 Installation of piles 450mm diameter; nominal 

length 20m; including cutting off top of piles

60 nr £1,500 £90,000

1.7 Provisional allowance for breaking out 

obstructions

1 Item £2,500 £2,500

1.8 Pile testing 1 Item £3,500 £3,500

1.9 Filling to make up level; including Levelling and 

compacting

336 m² £10 £3,360

1.10 Blinding beds 336 m² £10 £3,360

1.11 Pile cap raft slab, incorporating downstand 

beams to structural engineer's design; including 

reinforcement and formwork to sides of slab

168 m³ £350 £58,800

1.12 Allowance for reinforcement - 200kg/m³ 33.60 T £1,300 £43,680

1.13 DPC laid horizontally with a min 150mm lap on 

vertical walls

336 m² £20 £6,720

1.14 Insulation 336 m² £30 £10,080

Sub-total £268,360

Substructure (Element Total) £268,360

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 8 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 240



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

2.0 Superstructure

2.1 Frame
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

(Assumed construction)

2.1.1 Reinforced concrete frame to Ground floor 336 m² £180 £60,480

2.1.2 Structural steel frame, erected and bolted on 

site, primed; First to third  floor 

55 T £2,000 £109,263

2.1.3 Structural steel frame, erected and bolted on 

site, primed; Fourth to seventh floor

57 T £2,000 £113,740

Sub-total £283,483

2.2 Upper Floors
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Assumptions: 
 - The first floor slab is taken as a 250mm thick 

reinforced concrete slab with reinforcement 

allowed at 200kg/m³

 - From the second floor slab to the seventh 

floor, allowance has been made for composite 

reinforced concrete slabs with metal troughed 

permanent formwork  with fabric reinforcement 

and rebar.

First Floor
2.2.1 250 thick reinforced insitu concrete floor slab 75 m³ £180 £13,545

2.2.2 Formwork to slab; sides and soffit 301 m² £50 £15,050

2.2.3 Reinforcement to slab @ 200 kg/m³ 15 t £1,300 £19,565

2.2.4 Allowance for inserts, holes and voids 1 Item £1,000 £1,000

2.2.5 Cantilevered balconies construction, included 

above (finishes elsewhere)

189 m² - Included

Second Floor to Seventh Floor
2.2.6 Slab taken as composite 150mm thick 

reinforced insitu slab

230 m³ £165 £37,942

2.2.7 Permanent troughed metal formwork to steel 

floor frames/. "Holorib" or equal approved 

1,636 m² £105 £171,780

2.2.8 Mesh reinforcement ; single layer 1,533 m² £10 £15,330

2.2.9 Reinforcement to slab @ 150 kg/m³ 34 t £1,300 £44,840

2.2.10 Allowance for inserts, holes and voids 1 Item £1,500 £1,500

2.2.11 Cantilevered balconies construction, included 

above (finishes elsewhere)

m² - Included

Sub-total £320,552

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 9 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 241



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

2.0 Superstructure (cont.)

2.3 Roof
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

2.3.1 Structural steel frame to Pent house roof; 

galvanized  roof decking

117 m² £80 £9,360

2.3.2 Allowance for EPM single ply roof membrane 117 m² £150 £17,550

2.3.3 Roof insulation; Celotex or equal approved 117 m² £30 £3,510

2.3.4 Allowance for flashings to service penetrations 1 item £2,000 £2,000

2.3.5 Mansafe system to pent house roof area 1 item £4,000 £4,000

2.3.6 Allowance for internal rainwater pipe system 1 item £5,000 £5,000

Sub-total £41,420

2.4 Stairs and ramps
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

2.4.1 Allowance for staircases between floors, 

including balustrades, handrails and finishes

7 nr £9,000 £63,000

Sub-total £63,000

2.5 External Walls
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

2.5.1 Cavity wall construction, external skin of facing 

brick £600 /1000 and internal skin of 140 thick 

7N/mm² concrete blockwork, 90 wide cavity, 70 

thick insulation; parge coat to achieve air seal 

(measured over openings) 

1,740 m² £230 £400,200

2.5.2 Fire rated Hollow glass block walling to 

stairwell; including reinforcement with 6mm dia. 

stainless steel rods, pointed both sides

40 m² £620 £24,800

2.5.3 Two skins facing bricks, 50 wide cavity, to 

parapets at 6th floor communal Roof terrace

35 m² £150 £5,250

2.5.4 Coping / flashing to parapet wall above 35 m £50 £1,750

2.5.5 Two skins facing bricks, 50 wide cavity, to 

parapets at 7th floor private roof terrace

50 m² £150 £7,500

2.5.6 Coping / flashing to parapet wall above 50 m £50 £2,500

Sub-total £442,000

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 10 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 242



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

2.0 Superstructure (cont.)

2.6 Windows and External doors
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Retail Unit
2.6.1 Composite Timber/ Aluminium windows and 

fixed lights, double glazed units, cills, frames, 

fixed into prepared openings.

30 m² £550 £16,500

2.6.2 Glazed entrance door and screen composite 

construction to match window, nominal 2400 

high overall, ironmongery, single door

1 nr £3,000 £3,000

Residential Units
2.6.3 Composite Timber/ Aluminium windows, double 

glazed units, cills, frames, fixed into prepared 

openings.

500 m² £550 £275,000

2.6.4 Ground floor Entrance door (Front and rear); 

composite construction to match window, 

nominal 2400 high overall, ironmongery, single 

door

2 nr £3,000 £6,000

2.6.5 Complete external single doors, including frame 

and ironmongery

5 nr £2,500 £12,500

2.6.6 Complete external double doors, including 

frame and ironmongery

23 nr £3,500 £80,500

Sub-total £393,500

2.7 Internal walls and partitions
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

2.7.1 Reinforced insitu concrete walls; to lift core, 

including rebar, formwork etc (Provisional)

1 Item £30,800 £30,800

2.7.2 Internal block work - 200mm thick 1,530 m² £100 £153,000

2.7.3 Internal partitions - assumed stud wall, including 

plaster board each side and skim coat

1,370 m² £70 £95,900

Sub-total £279,700

2.8 Internal doors
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Residential Units
2.8.1 Solid hardwood entrance doors and stairwell 

doors; 900 x 2100 high, c/w ironmongery. 

Assumed 1 hour fire doors to communal areas

36 nr £1,500 £54,000

2.8.2 New single timber doors, paint finish; including 

architrave, lining and ironmongery

87 nr £800 £69,600

Residential Units (Intermediary)
2.8.3 New single timber doors, paint finish; including 

architrave, lining and ironmongery

12 nr £700 £8,400

Sub-total £132,000

Superstructure (Element Total) £1,955,655
609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 11 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 243



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

3.0 Internal Finishes

3.1 Wall finishes
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Retail Unit

3.1.1 Plaster to walls 108 m² £20 £2,160

3.1.2 One mist and two full coats to plastered 

surfaces

108 m² £10 £1,080

3.1.3 Full height tiling to WC (assumed; none shown 

on drawing)

21 m² £50 £1,050

Residential Units

3.1.4 Plaster to internal blockwork 4,800 m² £20 £96,000

3.1.5 One mist and two full coats to plastered 

surfaces

4,800 m² £12 £57,600

3.1.6 One mist and two full coats to plasterboard 

surfaces

2,740 m² £10 £27,400

3.1.7 Full height tiling to bathroom; including backing 569 m² £50 £28,450

Sub-total £213,740

3.2 Floor finishes
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Retail Unit
3.2.1 Basic floor finishes, including screed 63 m² £60 £3,780

3.2.2 Skirting generally; including paint finish 36 m £20 £720

Residential Units
3.2.3 Floor finishes, including screed 1,495 m² £80 £119,600

3.2.4 Skirting generally; including paint finish 2,225 m £25 £55,625

Residential Units (Intermediary)
3.2.5 Floor finishes, including screed 200 m² £60 £12,000

3.2.6 Skirting generally; including paint finish 298 m £15 £4,470

Sub-total £196,195

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 12 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 244



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

3.0 Internal Finishes (cont.)

3.3 Ceiling finishes
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Retail Unit
3.3.1 Cornice generally; paint finish m excluded

3.3.2 Decoration to concrete soffit 63 m² £15 £945

Residential Units
3.3.3 Cornice generally; paint finish 2,523 m excluded

3.3.4 Suspended MF ceiling with plaster board; 

including decoration

1,695 m² £60 £101,700

Sub-total £102,645

Internal Finishes (Element Total) £512,580

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 13 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 245



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

4.0 Fittings, furnishings and equipment

Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Residential Units

4.1 FFE generally, including Kitchen fittings; wall 

and base units,  worktop, extract hood, and 

white goods

19 nr. £10,000 £190,000

4.2 Fitted wardrobes (aggregate allowance) 19 nr. To be confirmed

Residential Units (Intermediate)

4.3 Adaptations for  wheelchair users to 3 nr. flats 3 nr. £5,000 £15,000

4.4 FFE generally, including Kitchen fittings; wall 

and base units,  worktop, extract hood, and 

white goods

4 nr. £6,000 £24,000

Fitted wardrobes Item excluded

Sub-total £229,000

Fittings, Furnishings & Equipment (Element Total) £229,000

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 14 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 246



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

5.0 Services

5.1 Sanitary Installations
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Retail Unit (assumed)
5.1.1 Sanitary Appliances 1 item £750 £750

WC, WHB, Mirror, roll holder, cloth hook etc

Residential Units
5.1.2 Sanitary Appliances

Bath with bath panel; bath filler including wastes 19 nr £600 £11,400

WC and concealed cistern 22 nr £400 £8,800

Vanity unit, wash hand basin & taps 22 nr £500 £11,000

Mirror to WCs and / or bathrooms 22 nr £50 £1,100

Shower unit tray and screen 1 nr £1,500 £1,500

Heated towel rail 19 nr £350 £6,650

Sundries 19 nr £500 £9,500

Allow for tanking to wet rooms 22 nr £350 £7,700

Residential Units (Intermediate)
5.1.3 Sanitary Appliances

Bath with bath panel; bath filler including wastes 4 nr £300 £1,200

WC and concealed cistern 4 nr £200 £800

Wash hand basin & taps 4 nr £150 £600

Mirror to WCs and / or bathrooms 4 nr £50 £200

Heated towel rail 4 nr £350 £1,400

Sundries 4 nr £500 £2,000

Allow for tanking to wet rooms 4 nr £350 £1,400

Sub-total £66,000

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 15 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 247



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

5.0 Services (cont.)

5.2 Services equipment
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Utilities mains supplies (Provisional)

5.2.1 Allow roads traffic control or roads closure 1 item £5,000 £5,000

5.2.2 Water 1 Item £5,000 £5,000

5.2.3 Gas 1 Item £5,000 £5,000

5.2.4 Electric 1 Item £5,000 £5,000

5.2.5 Allow for new rising mains within building 23 nr £500 £11,500

5.2.6 Builder's work in connection 2% item £26,500 £530

Sub-total £32,030

5.3 Disposal Installations
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.3.1 Rainwater Disposal installations. 1,947 m² £13 £25,311

5.3.2 Soil, vent waste and overflow installations; to 

kitchen sinks, washing machines; basins; 

showers and WCs

50 nr £250 £12,500

Sewer connection :  
5.3.3 Allow a provisional sum for alterations and 

improvements to existing sewer connection or 

sewer connections

1 prov. sum £10,000 £10,000

5.3.4 Allow for all necessary traffic control including 

all attendances and permissions etc.

1 prov. sum £2,500 £2,500

5.3.5 Allow for all necessary road closures as 

necessary  including all attendances and 

permissions etc.

1 prov. sum £2,500 £2,500

Sub-total £52,811

5.4 Water Installations
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.4.1 Cold water installation and distribution 1,947 m² £22 £42,834

5.4.2 Hot water installation and distribution 1,947 m² £17 £33,099

5.4.3 Boosted cold water supplies; booster pumps, 

riser pipework, and such like

1 Item £10,000 £10,000

Sub-total £85,933

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 16 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 248



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

5.0 Services (cont.)

5.5 Heat Source
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.5.1 Gas installation; meter, gas distribution pipe 

through service riser; main boilers

1,947 m² £30 £58,410

Sub-total £58,410

5.6 Space Heating and air conditioning
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.6.1 Heating: Primary and secondary distribution 

from service riser, plenums and ductworks, 

grilles, instrumentation and controls, and 

insulation

1,947 m² £32 £62,304

5.6.2 Underfloor heating wet system to private areas 

served by individual boiler plant

1,947 m² £60 £116,820

5.6.3 Comfort cooling required for each apartment m² Excluded

Sub-total £179,124

5.7 Ventilation Systems
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.7.1 Local extract ventilation to bathrooms and WC 27 nr £200 £5,400

5.7.2 Local extract ventilation to kitchens 23 nr 250 £5,750

5.7.3 Option : full heat recovery system nr Excluded

5.7.4 Allowance for Ventilation to stairwell, services 

duct and lift well, including controls

1 item £5,000 £5,000

Sub-total £16,150

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 17 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 249



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

5.0 Services (cont.)

5.8 Electrical installations
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Retail Unit (assumed)

5.8.1 General power; including sockets; U-pvc 63 m² £30 £1,890

5.8.2 Power supply to mechanical services 63 m² £5 £315

5.8.3 Lighting and emergency lighting 63 m² £15 £945

5.8.4 Allowance for basic lights 63 m² £30 £1,890

5.8.5 Provision of meters and consumer units 1 nr £450 £450

Residential Units 
Small Power

5.8.6 General power; including sockets; U-pvc 1,747 m² £30 £52,410

5.8.7 Small power to communal areas 282 m² £15 £4,230

5.8.8 Power supply to mechanical services 1,747 m² £5 £8,735

5.8.9 Extra for enhanced finish to standard residential 

units

1,747 m² £10 £17,470

5.8.10 Waterproofed external power sockets (say) 10 nr £200 £2,000

Lighting

5.8.11 Lighting and emergency lighting to communal 

areas

282 m² £15 £4,230

5.8.12 Allowance for LED lighting to residential areas 1,747 m² £45 £78,615

5.8.13 Extra for enhanced finish to standard residential 

units

1,747 m² £15 £26,205

5.8.14 Brick light luminaires or similar to roof terraces 222 m² £20 £4,440

5.8.15 Waterproofed luminaire to private balconies 

(say)

189 m² £30 £5,670

5.8.16 Provision of meters and consumer units 19 nr £450 £8,550

Residential Units (Intermediate)

5.8.17 General power; including sockets; U-pvc 200 m² £30 £6,000

5.8.18 Power supply to mechanical services 200 m² £5 £1,000

5.8.19 Allowance for Basic lights 200 m² £30 £6,000

5.8.20 Provision of meters and consumer units 4 nr £450 £1,800

Sub-total £232,845

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 18 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 250



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

5.0 Services (cont.)

5.9 Fuel Installations / Systems
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Not used

Sub-total

5.10 Lift and Conveyor installation / systems
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.10.1 6-8 person hydraulic lift; 0.4m/s; serving eight 

floors

1 nr £95,000 £95,000

Sub-total £95,000

5.11 Fire and lightning protection
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.11.1 Allow provisional sum for creation of points and 

means of emergency egress, ladders, access 

hatches,  doors etc.

1 prov. sum £10,000 £10,000

5.11.2 Fire alarm / CO detection system 1,947 m² £6 £11,682

5.11.3 Lightning Protection, Earthling and bonding 1,947 m² £8 £15,576

5.11.4 Allowance for Sprinkler system and installation 

of dry riser inlets

1,947 m² £15 £29,205

Sub-total £66,463

5.12 Communications, security and control systems
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Residential units
5.12.1 Allowance for phone lines, broadband 

connections, aerial installation, cabling and 

containment (includes for Sky + system or 

equivalent)

1,413 m² £12 £16,956

5.12.2 Allowance for video door entry system to 

residential apartments; 1nr per unit and 1nr to 

each entrance

25 nr £600 £15,000

5.12.3 Allowance for CCTV to common areas; 

including recording equipment

1 Item £10,000 £10,000

5.12.4 CAT6 cabling; including outlets (Standard 

residential units only)

1,213 m² £30 £36,390

5.12.5 Connection to centralised satellite TV & data 

installation

23 nr £120 £2,760

5.12.6 Intruder Alarm system 1,413 m² £12 £16,956

Sub-total £98,062

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 19 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 251



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

5.0 Services (cont.)

5.13 Specialist Installations
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.13.1 Budgetary costings for Photo Voltaic panels for 

energy collection for the project. 

1 Item £30,000 £30,000

5.13.2 Allowance for other renewables Item Excluded

Sub-total £30,000

5.14 Builders' work in Connection
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

5.4.1 Allowance for BWIC (Provisional - 3% of 

services installation)

1 item £30,400 £30,400

Sub-total £30,400

Services (Element Total) £1,043,228

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 20 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 252



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

6.0 External works

6.1 Site preparation works
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

elsewhere

Sub-total

6.2 Roads, paths, pavings and surfacings
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

6.2.1 Tarmacadam paving to carpark area 208 m² £90 £18,720

6.2.2 External Pavings to Terraces 222 m² £60 £13,320

Sub-total £32,040

6.3 Soft landscaping, planting and irrigation systems
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

Excluded

Sub-total

6.4 Fencing, railings and walls
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

6.4.1 Metal balustrade to balconies, terraces, 

anodised steel handrails

22 nr. £500 £11,000

Sub-total £11,000

6.5 External fixtures
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

6.5.1 Balconies to upper floors comprising steel 

framing, insulation, screed, waterproofing, non-

slip tile finish; perimeter flashing and rainwater 

outlet

22 nr. £850 £18,700

6.5.2 Vertical timber cladding to  recessed balconies 22 nr. £750 £16,500

Cycle storage Spaces
6.5.3 Installation of bike racks 38 nr. £150 £5,700

Sub-total £40,900

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 21 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 253



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

6.0 External works (cont.)

6.6 External drainage
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

6.6.1 Foul water drainage 1 Item £19,500 £19,500

6.6.2 External surface water drainage 1 Item £19,500 £19,500

Sub-total £39,000

6.7 External services
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

6.7.1 Electric car charging points 2 nr £400 £800

Sub-total £800

6.8 Minor building works and ancillary buildings
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

6.8.1 Bin store construction, including lighting 15 m² £190 £2,850

6.8.2 Double door to bin store 1 nr £1,000 £1,000

6.8.3 Single door to bin store 1 nr £400 £400

Sub-total £4,250

External Works (Element Total) £127,990

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 22 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 254



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

7.0 Contractor's General Cost Items: preliminaries etc

7.1 Management, site offices & general cost items
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

7.1.1 STAFF AND SUPERVISION

Contract Manager - 2 days / wk. 60 week £660 £39,600

Site Manager 60 week £1,260 £75,600

Site Foreman 60 week £1,050 £63,000

Site Engineers - 1 day / wk. 60 week £210 £12,600

Quantity Surveyor - 2 day / wk. 60 week £560 £33,600

Project co-ordinator 60 week £1,300 £78,000

Site Labour / banksman 60 week £400 £24,000

Office cleaning 60 week £140 £8,400

Banksman 60 week £400 £24,000

7.1.2 SITE ACCOMMODATION

Multipurpose site accommodation (canteen, 

drying room & office) - time related

60 week £80 £4,800

Multipurpose site accommodation (canteen, 

drying room & office) - fixed cost 

1 item £500 £500

Canteen per unit - time related week £50 included above

Canteen per unit - fixed cost item £500 included above

Communications, faxes copiers computers 

etc 

60 week £30 £1,800

Consumables 60 week £60 £3,600

Drying room per unit - time related week £30 included above

Drying room per unit - fixed cost item £200 included above

First aid and safety per unit - time related week £20 included above

Meeting room per unit - time related week £40 assumed not required

Meeting room per unit - fixed cost item £300 assumed not required

Site Offices per unit - time related week £50 included above

Site Offices per unit - fixed cost item £800 included above

Storage per unit - time related 60 week £20 £1,200

Storage per unit - fixed cost 1 item £150 £150

Welfare facility - Time related cost 60 week £60 £3,600

Welfare facility - Fixed cost 1 item £600 £600

7.1.3 TEMPORARY WORKS

Site compound setup / protection; including 

reinstatement of surface (parking lot)

1 item £1,000 £1,000

Site security watch 60 week £450 Excluded

Rubbish per skip 60 skip £900 £54,000

Site lighting power and water 60 week £80 £4,800

Moving of materials forklift 60 week £100 £6,000

Road cleaning 60 week £100 £6,000

Sign boards etc 1 item £1,000 £1,000

Entrance gates 1 nr £1,200 £1,200

Hoardings 120 m £70 £8,400

7.1.4 PLANT

Small tools weekly 60 week £200 £12,000

Scaffolding including materials hoist 1,900 m² £70 £133,000

Scaffold safety, including netting, rails etc 1,900 m² £15 £28,500

Scaffold Health and safety inspection 50 week £300 £15,000

Sub-total £645,950

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 23 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 255



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

7.0 Contractor's General Cost Items: preliminaries etc (cont.)

7.2 Overheads & Profit
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

As main summary

OH&P uplift on base build costs (Items 0 - 6) £4,267,313 7% £298,712

Sub-total £298,712

7.3 Design fees
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

As main summary

Uplift on base build costs (Items 0 - 6) £4,267,313 4% £170,693

Sub-total £170,693

7.4 Other fees and costs
Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

7.4.1 Allowance for achieving Code Level 4; 

sustainable homes

item Excluded

Sub-total

Contractor's General Cost Items (Element Total) £1,115,355

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 24 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 256



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

8.00 Client's General cost items

Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

8.1 Consultants' fees - precontract services To be advised

8.2 Insurances / warranties & Statutory costs To be advised

Sub-total

Client's General Cost Items (Element Total)

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 25 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 257



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

9.00 Contingencies / Provisional Allowances

Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

9.1 Allowance for design development, etc.

Contingency on overall costs (Items 0 - 8) £5,382,668 5% £269,133

Sub-total £269,133

Contingencies / Provisional Allowances (Total) £269,133

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 26 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 258



COST ESTIMATE

IMA REAL ESTATE

86 - 92 BELL GREEN, LONDON          SE26 4PZ

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF 1NR. RETAIL UNIT AND 23NR. RESIDENTIAL UNITS

10.0 Inflation  

Item Description Qty Unit Rate Totals

10.1 Inflation (Based on BCIS All-in Tender Price Indices) excluded

"[programme  yet to be advised] "  

Sub-total

Inflation (Total)

OVERALL SUMMARY

Elements Amount

COLLECTION PAGE

0.0 Facilitating works  estimate £130,500

1.0 Substructure £268,360

2.0 Superstructure £1,955,655

3.0 Internal Finishes £512,580

4.0 Fittings, furnishings and equipment £229,000

5.0 Services £1,043,228

6.0 External works £127,990

7.0 Contractor's General Cost Items: preliminaries etc £1,115,355

8.0 Client's General cost items To be advised

9.0 Contingencies / Provisional Allowances £269,133

10.0 Inflation  Excluded

Estimated Construction Cost £5,651,801

SAY £5,650,000

Pellings LLP www.pellings.co.uk

24 Widmore Road Bromley Kent BR1 1RY t 020 8460 9114 e bromley@pellings.co.uk

Architecture & Planning n Interior Design n Building Surveying n Project Management n Cost Consultancy 

n Health & Safety

609-190 Bell Green Cost Estimate - issue 04 / Estimate 27 / 27 28/07/2017

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix C 
 
86-92 BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PZ 
Urban Delivery (on behalf of Lewisham Council) FVA Report 
 
November 2017 
 

Page 261



This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d e n t i a l  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

86-92 Be l l  Green ,  Sydenham,  SE26 4PZ 

Financial Viability Review Report 

London Borough of Lewisham 

 

 

November 2017 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 263



P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d e n t i a l  

 
  

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Content s  

1 Introduction 1 

2 Project Details 4 

3 Approach to Viability Appraisal 7 

4 Market Analysis 11 

5 Viability Assessment 23 

6 Viability Outputs 30 

7 Conclusion 33 

 Appendix 1 – Trident Cost Report  

 Appendix 2 – Indicative Pricing Schedule  

 Appendix 3 – Development Appraisal Summary  

Page 264



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
1 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

1  INTRODUCT ION  
 

Background  

1.1 Urban Delivery was instructed by the London Borough of Lewisham (the “Council”) 

to review a viability assessment provided by IMA Real Estate (the “Applicant”) in 

support of its planning application to develop the site at 86-92 Bell Green, 

Sydenham, SE26 4PZ (the “Property” or “Site”) to create 23 new dwellings and 63 sq 

m of commercial accommodation.  The purpose of this report is to provide 

guidance to the Council on the reasonableness of assumptions applied by the 

Applicant with regard to its financial viability assessment (FVA) for the proposed 

development scheme and to test whether if could be financially viable to provide 

affordable homes to improve compliance with local planning policy.    

 

1.2 The advice provided in this report does not represent a Valuation in accordance 

with the RICS Valuation Global Standards 2017 (The Red Book), published by the 

Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, and should not be regarded as such.  The 

advice provided herein must only be regarded as an indication of potential value, 

on the basis that all assumptions are satisfied.  

 

1.3 Following the outcome of the EU referendum in June 2016, despite the immediate 

market reaction being less adverse than some commentators were anticipating, 

negotiations on the terms of the UK’s exit and future trade agreement with the 

remaining Member States are on-going and we remain in a period of relative 

economic uncertainty.  The short to medium term impact on the housing market 

and the commercial property market remains volatile, with domestic and 

international investors and home buyers likely to be deterred by an adverse 

outcome to negotiations.  We would, therefore, recommend that particular 

attention is paid to the sensitivity analysis provided in section 6 of this report, 

considering both the impacts on future value growth as well as the potential for a 

downturn in property values over the duration of the proposed development.         

 

 

 

 

Page 265



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
2 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

 Conf l i c t  o f  In te res ts  

1.4 We confirm that in providing this advice to the Council there is no conflict of 

interest between Urban Delivery and the Applicant.  

 

In fo rmat ion  Prov ided  

1.5 In undertaking this review Urban Delivery has collected evidence from a number of 

third party sources. Urban Delivery cannot be held responsible for the accuracy of 

this data. 

 

1.6 This report contains confidential information provided by the Applicant and the 

report must not be used by any person other than for whom it has been 

commissioned, without Urban Delivery’s expressed permission. In any event, Urban 

Delivery accepts no liability for any costs, liabilities or losses as a result of the use 

of, or reliance upon, the contents of this report by any person other than the 

commissioner for planning purposes.   

 

1.7 In undertaking the review of the Applicant’s FVA, Urban Delivery has been provided 

with the following information: 

 

1. A copy of the Applicant’s Financial Viability Assessment prepared by Sheridan 

Development Management Limited (SDML), dated July 2017.  This report 

includes a further 5 appendices which comprise of: 

a. Appendix 1: Schedule of Accommodation 

b. Appendix 2: Existing Use Valuation (Prepared by GVA)  

c. Appendix 3: Residual Development Appraisal 

d. Appendix 4: Residential Values Comparable Evidence  

e. Appendix 5: Cost Plan (Prepared by Pellings) 

 

1.8 In addition to the above information that was supplied as part of the Applicant’s 

FVA, we have downloaded planning application documents from the Council’s 

website.  These include: 

 

1. Scheme drawings prepared by Chassay Studio 

Page 266



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
3 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

2. Design and Access Statement prepared by Chassay Studio, dated July 2017 

3.  Planning Statement prepared by WYG, dated July 2017. 

 

1.9 During the review process a range of clarifications were sought from the Applicant 

and response received from its own FVA consultant, Sheridan Development 

Management Limited, and cost consultant, Pellings.  We have given consideration 

to the information received from these enquiries in the advice contained in this 

viability review report. 

 

 

 

Page 267



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
4 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

2  PROJECT  DETA ILS  
  

Locat ion   

2.1 The Property is situated close to the corner of Bell Green (A212) and Sydenham 

Road approximately 0.6km northwest of Lower Sydenham Station, within the 

London Borough of Lewisham. Bell Green is a busy arterial road that runs north 

towards Catford.  Towards the eastern side of Bell Green is Bell Green Retail Park 

including a Sainsbury’s supermarket and range of retail warehouse outlets. The 

western side of Bell Green is characterised by low density residential uses plus a 

health centre directly behind the Property.    

 

The S i te  

2.2 The Site extends to 346 square metres and currently comprises four vacant ground 

floor retail units fronting onto Bell Green with four residential units above 

extending to 3 storeys. It is our understanding that the residential accommodation 

on the upper floors comprises four 2-bedroom flats which are accessed from 

Holmshaw Close.  To the rear of the building is a parking courtyard enclosed by a 

brick wall and also accessed from Holmshaw Close. A footpath extending access 

from Holmshaw Close with Bell Green runs along the north boundary.   

 

2.3 We have only inspected the subject site from the road and have not undertaken an 

internal inspection or carried out a measured survey.  We are therefore reliant on 

the accuracy of the information provided by the Applicant and its advisers.   

  

 Deve lopment Overv iew  

2.4 The Applicant seeks to redevelop the Site to provide a part 8-storey, part 6-storey 

building comprising 23 residential units and a ground floor commercial unit 

fronting onto Bell Green. The residential accommodation will total 1,411 sq m 

(15,188 sq ft) of Net Sales Area with a residential Gross Internal Area of 1,750 sq m 

(25,567 sq ft), inclusive of integral balconies. The ground floor commercial unit is 63 

sq m (678 sq ft).  The development also proposes five car parking spaces (of which 

three are for disabled parking), 38 secure cycle parking spaces and refuse storage.  

 

Page 268



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
5 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

2.5 The Applicant’s financial viability assessment indicates that all 23 apartments will be 

provided for private market sale on the basis that the development cannot support 

any on-site affordable housing on viability grounds.      

   

 P lann ing  

 

2.6 In July 2017, the Applicant submitted a planning application seeking planning 

permission for the following development:    

 

“Demolition of existing buildings and construction of a mixed use 

development comprising part 8-storey, part 6-storey building, 23 no. 

residential units, 63sqm (GIA) commercial floorspace (A1, A2 & B1), 5 car 

parking spaces; 38 cycle parking spaces; refuse storage; communal 

amenity area; and associated highway works.” 

   

2.7 Current LB Lewisham planning policy requires 50% of all proposed dwellings to be 

provided as affordable housing unless it can be demonstrated through viability that 

a lower provision is appropriate. In exceptional circumstances, it is possible for the 

applicant to offer a payment in lieu of on-site affordable homes.  In either 

circumstance an assessment must demonstrate that the maximum level of 

affordable housing has been secured or that an equivalent sum is paid to provide 

the equivalent number of affordable homes off-site. 

 

2.8 In August 2017, the Mayor of London issued Supplementary Planning Guidance on 

affordable housing and viability assessments, stating that where a minimum of 35% 

affordable housing is provided on-site and meets the specified tenure mix, without 

access to public subsidy, the need for an FVA can be omitted in an attempt to 

speed up the planning process.  With no affordable housing proposed, a detailed 

viability review remains a requirement in the determination of this planning 

application. 

 

Sect ion  106 and C IL  Proposa ls  

2.9 The Applicant has allowed for Borough CIL and Mayoral CIL costs at £70 and £35 

per sq m respectively. These rates have been applied to the proposed net increase 

Page 269



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
6 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

in accommodation relating to the new-build residential accommodation, allowing 

for affordable housing relief, where applicable. The Applicant has included a total 

CIL contribution of £158,830.   

 

2.10 It is our understanding however, that the current CIL liability would be greater than 

the allowance currently included in the Applicant’s FVA on the basis that the base 

charge rates have not been indexed as at the time the FVA was prepared.  In order 

to reflect a more accurate liability, Urban Delivery has applied the latest charge 

rates to the CIL calculations.  These are understood to be £77.29 per sq m for the 

Borough CIL and £44.69 per sq m for the Mayoral CIL.  

  

2.11 Based on a net increase in floor area for residential accommodation of 1,492 sqm 

and 63 sqm for the commercial accommodation, we have provisionally estimated 

the CIL liability to be:   

  LBL Borough CIL:  Residential: 1,492 sqm x £77.29 = £115,317  

  Mayoral CIL:   Residential: 1,492 sqm x £44.69 = £66,677 

     Commercial: 63 sqm x £44.69 = £2,815 

 

2.12 The CIL liability and contribution is therefore likely to be as follows:   

• Mayoral CIL:    £69,492 

• LB Lewisham CIL:   £115,317 

TOTAL LBL CIL & MCIL COST: £184,809 

 

2.13 In addition, an allowance has been made for S106 contributions totalling £50,000 

for off-site children’s play space. 

 

2.14 We would recommend that these S106 and CIL figures are confirmed by the 

Council, with particular attention given to required indexation of the CIL liability 

since charging schedules were adopted. Should additional CIL or S106 contributions 

be required this will impact on the viability of the development and could affect the 

Applicant’s ability to deliver the proposed scheme.   

  

 

 

Page 270



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
7 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

3  APPROACH TO V IAB I L ITY  APPRAISAL  
 

L imi ta t ion  o f  res idua l  deve lopment appra i sa l s   

3.1 We have prepared a series of development appraisals using the industry standard 

Argus Developer software to appraise the project viability. Please note the 

following;  

 

• Development appraisals are highly sensitive to their inputs (i.e. small 

changes in inputs can lead to a marked change in outputs).  

 

• Development appraisals are required to assess viability as at today’s date, 

which is reinforced in the RICS Financial Viability in Planning guidance note. 

They are permitted to factor in historic costs and also potential future 

market and cost inflation. However, this all needs to be considered as at 

today’s date.  

 

Approach  to Appra i sa l  

3.2 In undertaking a viability assessment for planning purposes Urban Delivery gives 

full consideration of the RICS Guidance Note 94/2012 (GN94) – Financial Viability in 

Planning. GN94 provides an objective methodology framework to support 

Affordable Housing viability assessment. The GN94 highlights that it is grounded in 

the statutory and regulatory planning regime that currently operates in England. It 

is consistent with the Localism Act 2011, the NPPF and Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as Amended). GN94 concludes that the fundamental 

issue in considering viability assessments in a town planning context is whether an 

otherwise viable development is made unviable by the extent of planning 

obligations or other requirements. 

 

3.3 GN94 defines financial viability for planning purposes as follows: 

 

“An objective financial viability test of the ability of a development project 

to meet its costs including the cost of planning obligations, while ensuring 

an appropriate Site Value for the landowner and a market risk adjusted 

return to the developer in delivering that project”. 

Page 271



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
8 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

3.4 GN94 proposes the use of a residual appraisal methodology for financial viability 

testing and that such a methodology is normally used, where either the level of 

return or site value can be an input and the consequential output (either a residual 

land value or return respectively) can be compared to a benchmark having regard 

to the market in order to assess the impact of planning obligations or policy 

implications on viability. GN94 defines site value as follows: 

 

“Site Value should equate to the market value subject to the following 

assumption: that the value has regard to development plan policies 

and all other material planning considerations and disregards that 

which is contrary to the development plan”. 

 

3.5 It is accepted however that any assessment of site value will have regard to 

potential planning obligations, and the purpose of the viability appraisal is to assess 

the extent of these obligations while also having regard to the prevailing property 

market. 

 

3.6 This principle is demonstrated by the diagram found in GN94 and replicated in 

fig.3.1 below. The costs and necessary returns of Development 1 are such that 

policy can be met in delivering all planning obligations while meeting a site value 

for the land, all other development costs and a market risk adjusted return. In 

contrast, Development 2 indicates that an increase in costs results in an inability of 

that development to absorb the original planning obligations and is therefore 

unviable. A financial viability assessment would be required to ascertain what could 

viably be delivered in the way of planning obligations while ensuring that the 

proposed development was viable and deliverable. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 272



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
9 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

   Fig.3.1: Demonstration of viability 

 
  Source: RICS Guidance Note 94/2012. 

 

3.7 While Urban Delivery accepts the RICS definition of Market Value as an appropriate 

basis to assess site value, we are aware of growing concern among Local Planning 

Authorities of the miss-use of this approach and a failure to account for 

appropriate planning obligations in the determination of development land values.   

 

3.8 The NPPF acknowledges that ‘willing sellers’ of land should receive ‘competitive 

returns’. Competitive returns can, in theory, only be achieved in a market context 

(i.e. Market Value). 

 

3.9 It is noted that as of August 2017, the Mayor of London has adopted its Affordable 

Housing and Viability SPG which sets out the preferred method of Benchmark Land 

Value assessment.  The Mayor considers that the EUV+ approach is usually the 

most appropriate approach for planning purposes.     

 

3.10 Where the existing site or property is undeveloped or in a condition unsuitable for 

use or occupation, an alternative approach could be to consider the Alternative Use 

Value (AUV).  This methodology seeks to identify an alternative use or development 

that could be permitted on the site, in line with planning policy.  The cost of 

constructing this hypothetical development must be considered and deducted from 

the potential development value in order to generate a Residual Land Value (RLV).  

This RLV can then be suggested as the Benchmark Land Value.     

Page 273



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
10 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

 

3.11 This viability assessment has been undertaken in accordance with the LB Lewisham’s 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on Planning Obligations, adopted on the 

25th February 2015.  This includes guidance on financial viability assessments 

(paragraphs 4.31 to 4.38). In respect of land value, the SPD notes that the analysis 

should be based on land values as set by the application of planning policy in 

determining the permissible scope of development rather than the price 

actually paid for the land.   

 

3.12 The site value adopted in this viability assessment is based on Existing Use Value+, 

in respect to its current state as a mixed-use retail and residential block.   

 

3.13 In determining the EUV+, Urban Delivery will have regard to transactional evidence 

for similar properties in the local vicinity, or further afield were appropriate and 

justified. 

 

 Res idua l  Deve lopment Appra i sa l  Assumpt ions   

3.14 Our residual development appraisal has been prepared using Argus Developer, a 

recognised industry standard package that models individual development schemes 

and development phases. The model is based on costs and values adopted by the 

appraiser and can then be applied to a bespoke timeframe with assumptions on 

cost breakdown throughout the life of the project.  This assumption on costs, 

revenues and the timing of such is then used to calculate finance costs.  

 

3.15 In our residual development appraisal we have adopted our own assumptions on 

the amount and timing of income and expenditure, explaining why these differ 

from the Applicant’s assumptions, if applicable. As part of our review we have 

examined all assumptions and formed our own independent view on whether these 

assumptions are applicable in the current market conditions.   

 

3.16 We have appraised the development scheme as a single phase.  We provide a copy 

of this appraisal in Appendix 3 and set out the revenue and cost assumptions 

adopted.  

 

Page 274



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
11 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

4  MARKET  ANALYS IS  
 

 Loca l  Property  Marke t  

4.1 We have undertaken a review of the local property market to identify a range of 

comparable evidence relating to sales, rental values and investment yields for retail 

properties as well as new build residential unit sales.   

 

Benchmark Land Value Review 

4.2 The existing use of the Property is a mixed-use block comprising four retail units on 

the ground floor with four 2 bedroom apartments on two upper floors. In order to 

review the existing use value for the Property we have investigated transactional 

evidence from around the local vicinity to ascertain reasonably achievable investment 

values for retail and residential units.   

 

4.3 The Applicant has valued the existing Property at £980,000.  To incentivise a 

landowner to release the site for development a premium of 20% has been applied 

which generates a Benchmark Land Value (BLV) of £1,176,000. 

 

 Retail Property Values 

4.4 During the course of our market review we have noted Land Registry records identify 

the Property was acquired by IMA Project Two Limited on the 10th June 2016, for a 

sum in the order of £1,125,000.  The acquiring party is assumed to be the Applicant.  

It is noted that this purchase price is £51,000 lower than the adopted BLV within the 

Applicant FVA.  It is not certain however whether the acquisition price is subject to 

any overage payments related to the successful grant of planning permission or any 

other trigger to generate additional value.  For the purpose of this FVA review, it is 

assumed this was an unconditional acquisition and this price reflects the total land 

cost.           

 

4.5 Despite having this information available, it should be noted that the BLV should be 

based on the Existing Use Value plus a premium, as at the date of the FVA.  For this 

reason, we have sought to establish the likely achievable rental value and investment 

Page 275



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
12 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

yield that the Property could expect to achieve.  To assist in forming this opinion we 

have made reference to the available comparable evidence.   

 

 167 Sydenham Road, SE26       

4.6 This retail unit is located approximately 0.7km to the west of the Property, and is 

more central to Sydenham and is considered to be a superior retail location.  The 

unit extends to 70 sqm (753 sq ft) and was leased to Beer Rebellion, a craft beer 

venue, in January 2017 for a rent of £26,000 pa. This reflects a rental rate of £371 per 

sq m (£34.50 per sq ft), overall.  As a leisure retail unit it would be expected this unit 

to achieve a premium rental level compared to A1 retail units.   

 

 170 Sydenham Road, SE26       

4.7 This retail unit is located approximately 0.7km to the west of the Property, and again, 

is more central to Sydenham.  The unit extends to 52 sqm (565 sq ft) and was leased 

in January 2015 for a term of nine years at a rent of £7,500 pa. This reflects a rental 

rate of £143 per sq m (£13.30 per sq ft), overall.   

 

341 Sydenham Road, SE26       

4.8 This retail unit is located approximately 0.1km to the west of the Property, close to 

the corner of Bell Green.  The unit extends to 33 sqm (350 sq ft) and was leased in 

December 2014 for a rent of £10,000 pa. This reflects a rental rate of £307 per sq m 

(£28.50 per sq ft), overall.   

 

287 Sydenham Road, SE26       

4.9 This retail unit is located approximately 0.3km to the west of the Property.  The unit 

extends to 129 sqm (1,390 sq ft) of which 59 sqm (640 sq ft) is used for retail sales 

area.  The unit was marketed in 2015 to either lease or for sale.  The asking rent was 

£12,000 pa, reflecting a rental rate of £93 per sq m (£8.60 per sq ft), overall.  

However, the unit was eventually acquired in December 2015 for a sum of £140,000 

reflecting a capital value of c.£1,085 per sqm (£101 per sq ft) and an investment yield 

of 8.35% net of purchaser’s costs.   

 

Page 276



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
13 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

99 Kirkdale, SE26       

4.10 This retail unit is located approximately 1.5km to the west of the Property, on the 

other side of Sydenham.  The unit extends to 41 sqm (437 sq ft).  The unit was 

leased in July 2017 for a term of 10 years at a rent of £11,000 pa, reflecting a rental 

rate of £271 per sq m (£25 per sq ft), overall.  However, the unit was subsequently 

sold as an investment in October 2017 at auction for the sum of £150,000 reflecting 

a capital value of c.£3,660 per sqm (£343 per sq ft) and an investment yield of 7.1% 

net of purchaser’s costs. 

 

278-280 Kirkdale, SE26       

4.11 This newly constructed retail unit is located approximately 1.2km to the west of the 

Property, close to Sydenham station.  The unit extends to 149 sqm (1,604 sq ft) 

across ground and basement levels.  The unit was leased in November 2016 for a 

term of 15 years to Acorn Estate Agents at a rent of £30,000 pa, reflecting a rental 

rate of £201 per sq m (£18.70 per sq ft), overall.  The unit was sold as an investment 

in December 2016 at auction for the sum of £425,000 reflecting a capital value of 

c.£2,850 per sqm (£265 per sq ft) and an investment yield of 6.75% net of 

purchaser’s costs. 

 

4.12 We have also had regard to evidence set out in the GVA valuation report included 

with the Applicant’s FVA.  This report acknowledges the limited comparable evidence 

and refers to the historic lettings at 86-92 Bell Green which were agreed in 2013 and 

2014 and typically secured rents at £7,500 pa, reflecting Zona A rental values of 

c.£231 to £242 per sqm (£21.50 to £22.50 per sq ft).   

 

4.13 We note that the transactional evidence available is not truly comparable in terms of 

location and quality, with the Property itself being located in a secondary or tertiary 

pitch and is in a poor state of decoration.  It will therefore be necessary to make a 

judgement on appropriate adjustments to the evidence stated above to form an 

opinion on achievable rental and capital values for the existing retail units.   

 

Page 277



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
14 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

4.14 The retail lettings evidence indicates an overall rental range of £93 to £371 per sqm 

(£8.60 to £34.50 per sq ft) which is considered to be quite broad. The middle of this 

range is calculated to be approximately £231 per sq m (£21.50 per sq ft).    

 

4.15 Having considered the retail letting evidence available, we are of the opinion that the 

existing four retail units could achieve a rent equivalent to £231 to £242 per sqm 

(£21.50 to £22.50 per sq ft) in the current market.  We would also expect investment 

yields to be in the region of 7% to 8%, assuming the premises were suitable for 

accommodation.   

   

 Residential Rental Property 

4.16 The existing Property includes four 2 bedroom flats.  The Applicant’s BLV calculation 

assumes these will be let on AST agreements at an average rent of £1,000 pcm, 

rather than sold as long leasehold interests.  We have given both options due 

consideration in the arrival at our opinion on an appropriate BLV.   

 

4.17 A review of the property websites Rightmove and Zoopla has identified a range of 

two bedroom flats available for rent in the vicinity of the Property, on Sydenham 

Road, Southend Lane and Worsely Bridge Road.  Asking rents start from £1,100 pcm 

and range up to £1,450 pcm.   

   

4.18 On the basis that the units within the Property are on a busy road and appear to be 

in a poor state of decoration we would anticipate rental values to be towards the 

lower end of this range.  A rent of £1,000 to £1,100 pcm could be achievable 

although allowance would need to be made for voids between lettings. 

   

Residential Sale Property 

4.19 With regard to sales evidence for long leasehold units, a review of the local property 

market identifies that two bedroom apartments within older blocks and in need of 

renovation are currently being priced at between £200,000 and £230,000.  Allowing 

for a 5% discount on asking prices this would reduce the range to c.£190,000 and 

£219,000.  Adopting the lower range would indicate a capital value of c.£760,000 for 

Page 278



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
15 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

the four units.  However, it is assumed that capital expenditure would be necessary 

to renovate the units and put them into a saleable condition.  

 

4.20 Assuming an allowance of £30,000 per apartment, the net price that could potentially 

be achieved for the four units, on the assumption they are sold with the benefit of a 

long leasehold, could be in the order of £600,000 to £650,000.     

  

 New Build Residential Sales Evidence 

4.21 For the purpose of considering the potential development value of the proposed 

scheme, we have undertaken a review of new build developments in the local area to 

identify a range of comparable sales evidence.  This information is set out below. 

 

Dylon Works, Station Approach, SE26 5HD 

4.22 Dylon Works is a large development currently under construction by Crest Nicholson 

and is located approximately 0.6 km southeast of the subject property on Worsley 

Bridge Road.  The development comprises of 223 one, two and three bedroom units  

 

4.23 The prices achieved so far at this development are higher than we would expect to 

be achieved at the proposed development due to its location, proximity to Lower 

Sydenham station, the scale of development creating a greater sense of place with 

landscaped gardens and set back from the main arterial highways. Additionally, the 

‘Help to Buy’ scheme is also supporting buyers with the availability of a 20% equity 

loan that has helped improve affordability over the initial five year period of 

ownership.  The developer is also understood to provide car parking included within 

the unit price and offers to pay the buyers stamp duty.  Discussion with the 

marketing agent has indicated that listed asking prices are achieved as agreed sale 

prices.  Therefore, the average sale value of £631 per sq ft, as evidenced in the table 

below, should be regarded as a gross sales value with a deduction for incentives 

reducing this figure slightly. 

 

 

Page 279



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
16 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

Unit Ref Beds
Floor 

Level
Description

Area 

(Sq m)

Area 

(Sq ft)
Prie £ sq ft

Sold 

Date

C070 2 G patio 75 804 £514,995 £641 N/A

C075 3 1 balcony 109 1175 £599,995 £511 N.A

C077 1 1 balcony 53 572 £394,995 £691 Nov-16

C082 3 2 balcony 109 1175 £599,995 £511 N/A

C083 1 2 balcony 53 572 £399,995 £699 Feb-17

C084 1 2 balcony 53 572 £399,995 £699 Feb-17

C085 1 2 balcony 53 572 £399,995 £699 Apr-17

C088 2 3 balcony 82 885 £534,995 £605 Jun-17

C094 2 3 balcony 93 1004 £549,995 £548 N/A

C095 1 4 balcony 52 560 £429,995 £768 Apr-17
C098 1 4 balcony 49 532 £394,995 £742 N/A

E118 1 1 balcony 52 557 £379,995 £682 N/A

E122 1 2 balcony 55 589 £402,500 £683 N/A

E124 2 2 balcony 63 679 £502,995 £741 N/A

E135 1 3 balcony 52 557 £389,995 £700 N/A

F148 1 G patio 51 546 £389,995 £714 N/A

F166 1 G patio 51 546 £395,000 £723 N/A

C071 3 G patio 109 1175 £599,995 £511 N/A

C072 1 G 52 557 £384,995 £691 Apr-17

C073 1 G patio 52 557 £379,995 £682 N/A

C074 2 1 balcony 82 885 £524,995 £593 Jun-17

C076 1 1 balcony 53 571 £394,995 £692 Feb-17

C078 1 1 balcony 53 572 £394,995 £691 Apr-17

C079 2 1 balcony 88 949 £529,995 £558 N/A

C081 2 2 balcony 82 885 £529,995 £599 Nov-16

C086 2 2 balcony 88 949 £529,995 £558 N/A

C087 2 2 balcony 93 1004 £534,995 £533 N/A

C093 2 2 balcony 88 949 £534,995 £564 N/A

C097 2 4 balcony 70 753 £534,995 £710 Apr-17

C099 2 4 balcony 70 755 £529,995 £702 N/A

D102 2 1 balcony 73 790 £519,995 £658 Feb-17

D103 3 1 balcony 107 1147 £599,995 £523 Jun-17

D104 3 2 balcony 107 1147 £599,995 £523 Apr-17

D108 2 3 balcony 73 790 £529,995 £671 Feb-17

D110 1 4 terrace 52 562 £419,995 £747 Apr-17

D113 1 4 terrace 52 562 £419,995 £747 Jun-17

E115 2 1 balcony 80 860 £524,995 £610 N/A

E119 1 1 balcony 52 557 £379,995 £682 N/A

E120 2 1 balcony 89 956 £524,995 £549 N/A

E125 2 2 balcony 69 743 £502,995 £677 N/A

E126 1 2 balcony 52 557 £384,995 £691 N/A

E127 1 2 balcony 52 557 £384,995 £691 Jun-17

E134 1 3 balcony 52 557 £389,995 £700 N/A

E138 2 4 balcony 70 754 £539,995 £716 N/A

E140 2 4 balcony 77 824 £534,995 £649 N/A

E141 1 4 balcony 51 549 £414,995 £756 N/A

E142 3 4 balcony 86 926 £599,995 £648 N/A

E143 1 4 balcony 50 533 £419,995 £788 N/A

F144 3 G patio 114 1231 £599,995 £487 N/A

F154 1 1 balcony 51 546 £392,500 £719 N/A

F160 1 2 balcony 51 546 £395,000 £723 N/A

Average £631

Dylon Works, Worsley Bridge road

 

 

 

 

 

Page 280



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
17 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

Zanara Court, Sydenham Road, SE26 

4.24 This scheme comprises a total of 18 apartments with a mix of one, two and three 

bedroom units, of which two are provided as intermediate rent affordable homes.  

The development is under construction and initial marketing of the first four units 

has only recently commenced with the main launce to be released in January 2018.  

So far only the one bedroom unit has been reserved and the remaining three units 

are available.  Details are included in the table below. 

 

 

 

4.25 This development is located on Sydenham Road, closer to Sydenham station, 

approximately 1.1km west along Sydenham Road from the subject Site.  While the 

units are of a similar size to the proposed scheme we attribute the higher value to 

its situation away from the busy junction on Bell Green, availability of a communal 

courtyard amenity space and its closer proximity to the railway station.  There is also 

no certainty yet that the higher priced two and three bedroom units will achieve the 

initial asking prices and these should be viewed with caution at the current time.       

 

Barclay Court, Venner Road, SE26 

4.26 Barclay Court was a development of four one and two bedroom contemporary 

apartments located approximately 1.3km to the west of the subject Property. The 

units are described as being completed to a luxury finish.  Since the release of these 

units in July 2016 a £75,000 reduction has been made on the available units. The 

unit sizes within this development are considerably smaller than within the proposed 

development therefore the £per sq ft will be higher at Barclay Court. Current prices 

are set out in the table below: 

 

Page 281



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
18 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

 

 

Chaffinch Court, Rowden Road, BR3 

4.27 Chaffinch Court is a development of six two bedroom contemporary apartments 

located approximately 0.3km from Clock House Station and 2km to the South of the 

Property. The development includes parking and is also offered on the Help to Buy 

scheme. We are advised that one unit in the current phase remains available and that 

the second phase is due to be released at the end of this year. Prices for the recently 

marketed units are set out in the table below: 

 

 

 

4.28 As can be identified from the table above, floor areas for the two bedroom units are 

similar in size to the units within the proposed development.  However, Rowden 

Road is a superior residential location with quieter suburban streets close to 

Beckenham.  As such, the units are likely to achieve a greater unit price than homes 

on the corner of Bell Green.     

 

Albemarle Place, BR3 

4.29 This new build scheme is a small development comprising nine two bedroom units, 

located 0.6km from Ravensbourne Station and 2.7km South east of the subject Site. 

The units are spacious and built to a high specification. It is understood from the 

sales agent that the development completed in December 2016 and all units are now 

sold. The table below includes sold prices, provided verbally by the agent. The two 

bedroom units in this development are considerably larger than in the proposed 

Page 282



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
19 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

development which is reflected in the higher capital values per unit.  Due to the size 

of these units, it is believed the average £/sq ft is lower than could be achieved 

within the subject development. 

 

 

  

Newbeck Court, BR3 1QJ 

4.30 Newbeck Court is a collection of one and two bedroom units marketed by JDM New 

Homes, set within a gated development, located close to New Beckenham Station 

and is approximately 1.4km south of the subject Site. The development was launched 

at the end of 2015 and all units are now sold.  

 

4.31 Upon enquiring about this development the marketing agent advised that in their 

opinion the property market had not moved significantly in terms of availability of 

similar developments and these prices should provide a good indication of 

achievable prices in the local area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 283



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
20 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

Resale Apartments 

4.32 Due to a limited selection of new-build apartments within the local vicinity to Bell 

Green, we have also given consideration to resale units within the immediate area.  

Resales of older homes in the Sydenham area have been included in the table below 

to provide an indication of likely achievable sale prices for the subject development.    

 

 

  

4.33 The re-sale evidence above indicates a range of sales values for one and two 

bedroom units in the vicinity of the subject Property.  The one bed units range from 

£280,000 to £320,000 while the two bedroom units range in value from £350,000 to 

£390,000.  The £/sq ft values range from £441 to £609 per sq ft, although this metric 

is dependent on unit size in relation to the sale price and unit type.     

 

Page 284



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
21 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

4.34 We would comment that due to the limited availability of comparable new-build 

units within the immediate locality, the resale evidence provides a good indication of 

the potential pricing for respective unit types.  However, we would expect new-build 

units to command a premium to existing housing stock, particularly where sale 

incentives are to be offered to purchasers as well as access to the Help to Buy 

scheme.          

  

Summary  

4.35 Urban Delivery has conducted market research by speaking to local estate agents in 

Sydenham and surrounding areas.  It is the consensus from speaking to these agents 

that the market has remained strong for one and two bedroom units.  While three 

bedroom units are less common, it is believed these will be popular with purchasers 

seeking larger properties to accommodate a family, particularly where private outside 

amenity space is available, although these will be price sensitive.    

 

4.36 Agents have indicated that over the past few years, sale prices within the larger 

developments have been supported by the government’s Help to Buy scheme and as 

such prices have been slightly inflated.  There is a risk that when this scheme expires 

sales rates could start to fall back slightly.   

 

4.37 We would suggest that although it is useful to be aware of larger developments 

such as Dylon Works, it is more helpful to reference similar scale developments on 

the market such as units at Zanara Court, Barclay Court and Chaffinch Court.  While 

these schemes are all situated in different locations with differing characteristics to 

the Property at Bell Green, they help to offer an indication of unit pricing.   

 

4.38 With regard to estimating the achievable average unit sales prices for the one 

bedroom units we suggest a range between £317,500 and £327,500. With regard to 

the two bedroom units we suggest a range of between £410,000 and £465,000. With 

regard to the three bedroom units, on the basis these appear to be small units, we 

suggest pricing between £495,000 to £535,000.  The application of this unit pricing 

range generates an average sales value of £6,555 per sq m (£609 per sq ft).  This is 

marginally greater than the residential sales values applied to the Applicant’s FVA of 

Page 285



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
22 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

£6,458 per sq m (£600 per sq ft).  A copy of the indicative pricing schedule is 

attached at Appendix 2.   

  

Res ident ia l  Renta l  Va lues  

4.39 To assess the potential value of any rented affordable homes, our assessment of the 

price a Registered Provider could pay to acquire any of these units is based on the 

Local Housing Allowance rates as at November 2017 for this location.  These are 

currently as stated below: 

• 1 bed @ £204.08 per week   

• 2 bed @ £265.29 per week   

• 3 bed @ £330.72 per week 

4.40 These figures have been adopted to test the value that could be attributed to on-

site affordable homes and therefore their impact on viability and the total number 

and mix of tenures that could be provided by the Applicant.   

 

4.41 In assessing the potential value attributable to any Affordable Rented units we have 

taken into account the government’s requirement for Registered Providers to reduce 

rents by 1% per annum up to 2020. We have concluded that a Registered Provider 

may typically adopt a blended rate for the one, two and three bedroom units of 

£2,650 per sq m (£246 per sq ft), reflecting a value of circa 40% of the estimated 

private sales value.  We note however that the Applicant has indicated a rate of 

£2,860 per sq m (£266 per sq ft) within its own FVA report.   

 

4.42 With regard to shared ownership units we have adopted market values and made an 

assumption on the initial sale of equity to the purchaser.  This is assumed to be 25%.  

The rental payments on the interest retained by a Registered Provider are then 

calculated based on a maximum of 2.75% of the outstanding value per annum.      

 

4.43 This approach indicates a blended value for the one, two and three bedroom units at 

£3,875 per sq m (£360 per sq ft), reflecting a value of circa 60% of the estimated 

private sales value.  We note however that the Applicant has indicated a rate of 

£3,820 per sq m (£355 per sq ft) within its own FVA report.    

  

Page 286



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
23 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

5  V IAB I L ITY  ASSESSMENT  
 

Benchmark Land Value  

5.1 The Applicant’s FVA allows for a Benchmark Land Value of £1,176,000. This is 

calculated based on an estimated EUV of £980,000 plus a 20% premium of 

£196,000.  To complete an objective viability assessment, Urban Delivery has sought 

to review the potential existing use value for the Property in its current use as four 

ground floor retail units and four 2 bedroom flats on the upper two storeys.     

 

Existing Use Value 

5.2 Based on the evidence we set out in the previous section of this report relating to 

retail property values, we are of the opinion that that achievable rent for the retail 

units would be in the order of £231 per sq m (£21.50 per sq ft).   

 

5.3 We are advised by the Applicant that the four retail units comprise the 

accommodation as set out in the table below, with which we have used to estimate 

the market rent. 

       

Retail Unit Area (Sqm) Area (Sq Ft) 

86 Bell Green 30.9 333 

88 Bell Green 32.3 348 

90 Bell Green 32.1 345 

92 Bell Green 25.5 275 

 

5.4 Applying the rental value stated to these floor areas would generate a rental 

revenue of just under £28,000 per annum.   

 

5.5 With regard to the residential units, we have based the likely achievable income on 

the evidence stated in section 4 of this report which supports the Applicant’s 

assumption of a monthly rent of circa £1,000 pcm for each of the units.  Assuming 

all four units could be re-let, this would generate an annual revenue of £48,000. 

 

Page 287



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
24 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

5.6 The combined rental income would generate a revenue of circa £76,000 per annum.  

To reflect the risk of this investment however, we would apply a yield of 7.5%, 

compared with the Equivalent yield of c.6.3% adopted by the Applicant’s valuer. 

This appraisal is summaries below, and generates a new current use value in the 

order of £960,000.    

    

 

 

5.7 This figure is £20,000 lower than the value assumed by the Applicant, and is 

therefore within an acceptable tolerance. We would agree that a premium of 20% is 

reasonable to incentivise the owner to release the asset for development, which 

applied to our own EUV calculation would indicate a BLV of £1,152,000.     

 

 

Page 288



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
25 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

  Appraisal Inputs 

 

Res ident ia l  Revenue  

5.8 Based on the limited evidence of new-build residential sales data in the local 

vicinity, we are of the opinion that for the purpose of this viability assessment it 

would not be appropriate to adopt a strict value per sq m (or sq ft) on this alone 

and have also had regard to some of the re-sales evidence reported locally.  In view 

of this mix of evidence we have given consideration to the potential unit pricing for 

the mix of one, two and three bedroom apartments in this proposed scheme, at the 

current time.      

  

5.9 In consideration of the sales evidence for both new-build and re-sale homes in the 

local vicinity, we have applied estimate sale prices for each unit as summarised in 

the table below: 

  

Apartment Type No. of Units Unit Price 

1 Bed Unit 10 £317,500 to £327,500 

2 Bed Unit 8 £410,000 to £465,000 

3 Bed Unit  5 £495,000 to £535,000 

Total 23 £9,242,500 

 

5.10 Our own assessment of the residential sales revenue is c.£117,000 greater than 

suggested in the Applicant’s viability report and reflects only a marginal increase.        

 

Ground Rent  Revenue  

5.11 The Applicant has applied an average ground rent of £275 per annum for all 

proposed dwellings.  This generates an annual ground rent income of £6,325.  We 

would comment that this level of ground rent is towards the lower end of the 

range for new developments in London and would expect ground rents to be in the 

order of £250 for one bed units, £300 for two bed units and £350 for the three bed 

units.  We have applied this range to our own FVA which generates an annual 

ground rent income of £6,650.      

 

Page 289



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
26 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

5.12 The Applicant has applied a yield of 5.5% to the ground rent investment.  We are 

of the opinion this is an acceptable investment return for the proposed ground rent 

investments and we have therefore applied a yield of 5.50% within our own 

appraisals.   

 

Commerc ia l  Revenue  

5.13 The proposed development includes a 63 sqm (678 sq ft) retail unit.  The Applicant 

has applied a rental value equivalent to £194 per sq m (£18 per sq ft) and a yield of 

7.75%.  Based on the evidence to support the BLV we believe this is lower than 

should be achieved and have applied a rental value equivalent to £231 per sqm 

(£21.50 per sq ft) and a yield of 7.5%.  This assumption generates a value 

approximately £35,000 greater than the Applicant had included within its own FVA.    

  

Cost  Adv ice  

5.14 In order to check the Applicant’s cost assumptions we have taken advice from 

Trident Building Consultancy. Trident has reviewed the Applicant’s cost summary 

and analysed the broad inputs that make up the total construction costs.  A copy of 

Trident’s report is attached at Appendix 1.        

 

5.15 In summary, Trident has found the cost assumptions adopted by the Applicant to 

be towards the higher end of the cost range it would expect for a development of 

this nature.  As such, Trident has suggested that the cost figure adopted within the 

Applicant’s FVA should be reduced from an inflation adjusted figure of £5,708,319 

to £5,408,319 which equates to around £2,662 per sq m (£247 per sq ft), inclusive 

of external works, abnormal costs and design contingencies.   

 

  S106 and  C IL  Cont r ibut ions  

5.16 We have applied the overall Borough CIL and Mayoral CIL contributions to our 

appraisal as set out in paragraph 2.12.  These total £184,809.  These calculations are 

understood to be based on the appropriate CIL contributions that would be due for 

the proposed development. We would recommend that the Council check these 

figures are accurate based on the agreed floor areas and any indexation to be 

applied to the agreed CIL charge rates.   

Page 290



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
27 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

5.17 The Applicant has allowed for S106 contributions of £50,000 for providing an off-

site children’s play area.  We have therefore applied this S106 cost to our own 

appraisals.     

 

Profess iona l  Fees   

5.18 The Applicant has adopted an average cost for professional fees reflecting 10% of 

construction costs. For a new scheme, depending on scale and complexity, we 

would ordinarily allow for fees in the order of 8% to 12% of build costs.  On the 

basis that this proposed development is relatively non-complex, we would accept 

the Applicant’s figure and have adopted a rate of 10% within our own appraisal.    

 

 Market ing Cos ts  

5.19 The Applicant has applied marketing and sales costs of 3.00% of the private 

residential sales values and 2.5% for the commercial and ground rent investment to 

cover agency fees in addition to advertising and production of marketing materials.  

This could also potentially include the preparation of a show flat.           

 

5.20 We are aware that different developers attribute different marketing rates and that 

such rates typically range from a relatively notional rate up to circa 3.5%.  These 

costs would usually be expected to cover the preparation of a show apartment, 

production of brochures and website, running the marketing suite and paying 

marketing staff salaries and/or commission to achieve sales.  We are of the opinion 

that the rate applied by the Applicant is acceptable and we have adopted the same 

rate within our own appraisal.  

 

 Lega l  Fees  

5.21 There is no specific reference within the Applicant’s FVA for Legal Fees.  However, it 

is usual for some allowance to be included to cover conveyancing matters.  Within 

our appraisal we have allowed for sales legal fees equivalent to 0.25% of the 

residential sales values and 0.5% of the capital value for the retail unit and ground 

rent investments.     

 

Page 291



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
28 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

  F inance Cos ts  

5.22 The Applicant has adopted a finance rate of 6.75% across the development. We 

note that there is no separate fee for arrangement costs or loan exit fees which 

typically range from 1% to 2% of the funds borrowed.     

 

5.23 It should also be borne in mind however that in practice, in order to limit loan to 

value ratios to no more than 70% to 80%, a proportion of the development funds 

will be drawn from internal reserves which can attract a higher ‘cost of money’ 

where opportunity costs require an internal rate of return in excess of finance rates 

offered by financial institutions.  As such, for the purpose of this viability 

assessment the Applicant’s adopted rate appears reasonable. 

  

Deve loper  Pro f i t  

5.24 Within the Applicant’s FVA the Applicant has targeted a profit rate is 17.5% profit 

on Gross Development Value.  Typically, developers will target a rate of return in 

excess of this figure for the purpose of viability assessments and a rate of 20% is 

often cited as a minimum level of return at the planning stages of a development.  

For the purpose of this FVA review we would accept the Applicant’s profit rate and 

have therefore based our target return on a profit of 17.5% on private sales and the 

commercial use.  Where applicable, we would adjust the profit rate to 6% where 

any on-site affordable homes are included.      

 

 5.25 With regard to a suitable development return for a standard development project, 

we consider the GLA Toolkit’s default allowance of 20% of Gross Development 

Value a reasonable benchmark. However, we are aware that other viability toolkits 

permit a range of profit levels to suit the phasing and perceived risk of the project.   

 

5.26 We would also have regard to past appeal cases where the Planning Inspectorate 

has passed judgement on the acceptability of certain profit levels within viability 

assessments. One particularly prominent case being The University of Reading Vs 

Wokingham BC in which the Inspector accepted a developer return of 20% profit 

on GDV.   

 

Page 292



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
29 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

5.27 We would also note that with continuing uncertainty on the impact of the UK’s 

departure from the EU and uncertainty continuing over the short to medium-term 

performance of the London housing market, there is greater risk perceived in the 

lending market which has seen development funding increase in cost over the past 

12 months.  As such, lenders are potentially likely to require developers to provide 

a greater ‘buffer’ to repay loans and this could reinforce the requirement for a 

slightly greater developer profit to be achieved.   

Page 293



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
30 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

 6  V IAB I L ITY  OUTPUTS  

 

Viab i l i ty  F ind ings  

6.1 We have undertaken our own appraisal and have arrived at the main outcomes 

described below. 

  

6.2 Based on our opinion of Gross Development Value for the proposed development, 

the development costs, an acceptable level of developer profit and a Benchmark 

Land Value of £1,152,000, we are of the opinion that the development is generating 

a viability gap of circa £157,000.  In view of this output, we are of the opinion that 

the proposed development is unable to support the inclusion of any on-site 

affordable housing, which would further impact negatively on the viability of the 

development scheme.     

 

Sensitivity Analysis 

6.3 In view of the current property market uncertainties resulting from the vote for 

Britain to exit the EU and broader economic performance in the London housing 

market, we have undertaken a series of sensitivity analyses to identify the potential 

upside and downside risk to the Applicant.   

 

6.4 The table below sets out the surplus or deficit that the scheme with 100% private 

sale units could generate where the sales values of the private units fall and rise by 

the stated level.  For the purpose of this sensitivity testing we have applied our 

own opinion on sales values.   

  

Private Sales Value Deficit / Surplus (Target RLV is £1,152,000) 

+5% £150,000 

+10% £456,000 

+15% £763,000 

-5% -£464,000 

-10% -£771,000 

-15% -£1,085,000 

Page 294



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
31 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

6.5 With the current proposal being assessed as financially non-viable, the sensitivity 

testing indicates that average sales values would need to increase by approximately 

2.50% to achieve a scheme that breaks-even.  As set out in the above table, any 

further reductions in sale value, caused by current market uncertainties, will 

significantly impact on the viability and potential delivery of the proposed 

development.   

 

 Policy Compliant Affordable Housing 

6.6 To provide a policy compliant mix of affordable homes we have undertaken further 

sensitivity testing to identify the required average private sales value to support the 

development.  The average base sales value is set at £6,555 per sq m (£609 per sq 

ft). This sensitivity testing assumes a mix of 70% affordable rented homes and 30% 

shared ownership homes.  The average blended rate adopted for the mix of rented 

and intermediate Affordable Housing is £3,150 per sq m (£293 per sq ft).    

 

% Affordable Homes Required Sales Value Alternative Surplus 

50% (11 units) £900 per sq ft £2,779,000 

35% (8 units) £783 per sq ft £1,601,000 

 

6.7 In order to achieve a 50% policy compliant mix of affordable homes the average 

private sales value would need to increase by approximately 47.85% to achieve an 

average of £9,687 per sq m (£900 per sq ft).  The column indicating the ‘Alternative 

surplus’ reflects the surplus the development project would achieve assuming the 

stated sales value was achieved, having allowed for the agreed Benchmark Land 

Value and the developers target profit equivalent to 17.5% profit on GDV.   

 

Rev iew Mechan i sm 

6.8 For larger schemes we would typically recommend a review mechanism within a 

S106 agreement to review viability of the scheme towards the end of the 

development programme.  This would be used to assess the average sales values 

that have been achieved and ascertain whether any ‘top-up’ payments should be 

made to the Council.  While review mechanisms have not typically been applied to 

Page 295



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
32 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

smaller or single phase schemes, this is something that is now being advocated by 

the Mayor of London in order to ensure a fair contribution is received from 

developers towards the provision of affordable housing across London.       

 

Page 296



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

 
33 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 

7  CONCLUS ION  
 

 

7.1 Having reviewed the Applicant’s proposal for the development of the subject 

Property we are of the opinion that the development is not financially viable and 

will generate a deficit of circa £157,000.   

 

7.2 As at the date of this report, this level of deficit indicates that the proposed 

development scheme will not be able to support the inclusion of any affordable 

homes.          

 

7.3 Additionally however, as indicated by the sensitivity analysis set out in section 6 of 

this report, consideration should also be given to current property market 

uncertainties caused partly by the referendum vote to exit the EU as well as a broad 

slowing or decline of house price growth in London and the risk implications this 

has for the Applicant in proceeding with this project.  Should house prices fall over 

the following 12 months and beyond, this will have significant implications on the 

financial viability of the project and the delivery of the proposed development 

scheme.    

 

 

Page 297



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

34 
86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Trident Cost Report 

 

Page 298



 

Financial Viability Report 

 

86 – 92 Bell Green 

Sydenham 

Lewisham 

London 

SE26 4PZ 

 
Report Dated 18 October 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 299



 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, 
London, Se26 4PZ 

 

Financial Viability Report 
 

 

 

 

Prepared for London Borough of Lewisham 

C/O Urban Delivery Limited 

17 Hanover Square 

London 

W1S 1BN 

 

   

   

Prepared by Trident Building Consultancy Limited 

8 Angel Court 

London 

EC2R 7HP 

 

T 020 7280 8194 

F 020 7280 8199 

 

Dave Saxby BSc (Hons) MRICS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Dave.saxby@trdientbc.com 

T 020 7280 8166 

 

   

  

 

 

 

Checked by Colin Dunne BSc (Hons) MRICS  

   

   

Reference CD/E2017-0928  

   

   

Date issued 18 October 2017 

 

 

 

Page 300



 

86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, 
London, Se26 4PZ 

Financial Viability Report 

Contents 
 

 

  Page No. 

   

1.0 Introduction  4 

   

2.0 Project Description and Information Received 5 

   

3.0 Review of Construction Cost 7 

   

4.0 Benchmarking 10 

   

5.0 Proposed Cost Adjustments 12 
   

6.0 Summary 15 
   

 

Page 301



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 4 

1.0  Introduction 

 

1.1 Trident Building Consultancy Limited were appointed by Urban Delivery Limited to 

review the construction cost estimate for the proposed residential development at 86-

92 Bell Green, Sydenham, Lewisham, London, SE26 4PZ. 

1.2 The construction cost review will form part of a Financial Viability Study undertaken 

by Urban Delivery Limited.  This report is for the purposes of Urban Delivery Limited 

only and has been prepared in accordance with our scope of services document 

included within our appointment document. 

  

  

  

Page 302



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 5 

2.0 Project Description and Information 

Received 

2.1 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

2.1.1 The development site is approximately 0.034 hectares in area and is rectangular in 

shape.  Access into site is via the busy Bell Green road to the front. 

2.1.2 The application site houses a detached terrace of 4 no. retail shops with 4 no, 2 

bedroom residential flats above built c.1960. 

2.1.3 The proposed development will comprise the demolition of existing building and 

construction of a mixed use development compromising part 8-storey, part 6-storey 

building, accommodating 23 no. residential units and 63sqm of commercial floor space. 

The scheme will deliver a mix of 1, 2 and 3 bedroom apartments.  The development will 

include a communal outdoor amenity space, cycle parking, refuse provisions and 

associated highway works. 

2.1.4 The proposed residential unit mix is as follows: 

Unit Type Nr. Of Units % 

1-bed, 2-person 10 43 

2-bed, 3-person 
8 35 

2-bed, 4-person 

3-bed, 4-person 5 22 

TOTAL 23 100 
 

  

  

Page 303



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 6 

2.2 INFORMATION RECEIVED 

2.2.1 We have received the following information in respect of the construction cost review: 

 • 86 – 92 Bell Green, Sydenham, Lewisham, London, SE26 4PZ Financial Viability 

Assessment (FVA) Report For IMA Real Estate July 2017;  

• Information in respect of Planning Application DC/17/102792 

http://planning.lewisham.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=_LEWIS_DCAPR

_90694  

 

2.3 DEVELOPMENT AREAS 

2.3.1 The Applicant’s Appraisal is based on a construction cost using a Gross Internal Floor 

area of 23,145ft² (2,151m
2
).  This area accords with the Pellings Cost Estimate Issue 

04 dated July 2017.  The breakdown provided to this area is as follows: 

 

   

Unit Type Nr.   
Area 

Total 
Area 

(m
2
) (m

2
) 

1-bed, 2-person 10 @ 50 500 

2-bed, 3-person 5 @ 62 310 

2-bed, 3-person wheelchair 
accessible 

3 @ 75 225 

3-bed, 4-person 4 @ 75 300 

3-bed, 4-person 1 @ 78 78 

Commercial unit 1 @ 63 63 

Covered car parking, bin and 
bike stores 

1 @ 204 204 

Sub-Total 1,680 

Circulation Areas       282 

Balconies    189 

TOTAL GROSS INTERNAL FLOOR AREA 2,151 

 
2.3.2 We have undertaken our own check measure and calculated the GIFA to be 21,862ft

2
 

(2031m
2
). This is close to the GIA included on the schedule of accommodation within 

the Financial Viability Assessment Report which totals 21,636ft
2
 (2010m

2
). It therefore 

seems the GIFA included within the Pellings cost estimate of 23,153ft
2 

(2151m
2
) has 

been miscalculated. We would also note within the Pellings GIFA they have allowed for 

balcony areas, which in line with measuring code of practice, should not be included 

within the GIFA total.  

  

Page 304



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 7 

3.0 Review of Construction Cost 

 

3.1 

 

SUMMARY OF CONSTRUCTION COST 

3.1.1 The Cost estimate prepared by Pellings has been provided in the total construction cost of 

£5,651,801; this is based on costs at 2
nd

 Quarter 2017 and includes a contingency of 

£269,133 (which equates to 5%) and excludes Inflation and VAT.  

An allowance of 4% has been included for main contractors design fees. 

3.1.2 The Pellings cost estimate breakdown is as follows: 

1 Facilitating works  
 

£130,500 £64.25 

1.1 Facilitating works 
 

£130,500 £64.25 
1 Substructure Sub-total  

 
£268,360 £132.13 

1.1 Substructure   £268,360 £132.13 
2 Superstructure Sub-total   £1,955,655 £962.90 

2.1 Frame  
 

£283,483 £139.58 

2.2 Upper floors  
 

£320,552 £157.83 

2.3 Roof  
 

£41,420 £20.39 

2.4 Stairs and ramps  
 

£63,000 £31.02 

2.5 External walls  
 

£442,000 £217.63 

2.6 Windows and external doors  
 

£393,500 £193.75 

2.7 Internal walls and partitions  
 

£279,700 £137.72 

2.8 Internal doors  
 

£132,000 £64.99 
3 Internal finishes Sub-total  

 
£512,580 £252.38 

3.1 Wall Finishes  
 

£213,740 £105.24 

3.2 Floor Finishes  
 

£196,195 £96.60 

3.3 Ceiling Finishes  
 

£102,645 £50.54 
4 Fittings, furnishings and equipment  

 
£229,000 £112.75 

4.1 Fittings, furnishings and equipment  
 

£229,000 £112.75 
5 Services Sub-total  

 
£1,043,228 £513.65 

5.1 Sanitary installations 
 

£66,000 £32.50 

5.2 Services equipment  £32,030 £15.77 

5.3 Disposal installations  
 

£52,811 £26.00 

5.4 Water installations  
 

£85,933 £42.31 

5.5 Heat source  
 

£58,410 £28.76 

5.6 Space heating and air conditioning  
 

£179,124 £88.19 

5.7 Ventilation systems  
 

£16,150 £7.95 

5.8 Electrical installations  
 

£232,845 £114.65 

5.10 Lift and conveyor installations  
 

£95,000 £46.77 

5.11 Fire and lightning protection  
 

£66,463 £32.72 

5.12 Communication, security and control systems  
 

£98,062 £48.28 

5.13 Specialist Installations  £30,000 £14.77 

5.14 Builder's work in connection with services  
 

£30,400 £14.97 
6 External works Sub-total  

 
£127,990 £63.02 

6.1 External Works  £127,990 £63.02 

 
Building works estimate  

 
£4,267,313 £2,101.09 

7.1 Main contractor's preliminaries  15% £645,950 £318.05 

7.2 Main contractor's overheads and profit  7% £298,712 £147.08 

7.3 Main contractors design fees 4% £170,693 £84.04 

Page 305



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 8 

 
Base cost estimate  

 
£5,382,668 £2,650.26 

 
Design development risk  5% £269,133 £132.51 

11 Risks Sub-total  
 

£269,133 £132.51 

 
Cost limit (excluding inflation)  

 
£5,651,801 £60.67 

 

 

3.2 

 

REVIEW OF CONSTRUCTION COST 

3.2.1 Once adjusted for the correct GIFA (2031m
2
), the Applicant’s Cost Plan equates to a 

construction cost of £2,782.77/m
2
 including abnormals, external works and contingency.  

The construction cost excluding abnormals, external works and contingency is 

£2,522.98/m
2
.  This cost is higher than we would normally expect. 

3.2.2 The Applicant’s Construction Cost can be summarised into elemental allowances as 

follows: 

ELEMENT 
COST 
£/m² 

TOTAL COST 
OF ELEMENT 

£ 

Facilitating works £64 £130,500 

Substructure £132 £268,360 

Superstructure £963 £1,955,655 

Internal Finishes £252 £512,580 

Fittings, Furnishings and Equipment £113 £229,000 

Services £514 £1,043,228 

External Works £63 £127,990 

SUB-TOTAL £2,101 £4,267,313 

Main Contractor's Preliminaries (15%) £318 £645,950 

Main Contractor's OH&P (7%) £147 £298,712 

Main Contractors Design Fees £84 £170,693 

Design & Construction Risk (5%) £132 £269,133 

TOTAL £2,783 £5,651,801 
 

  

3.2.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As the costs noted above are based at 2Q 2017 levels we would suggest that these be 

updated to current day levels at 4Q 2017. Based on the BCIS Tender Price Index the uplift 

is approximately 1%. (2Q 2017: 299, 4Q 2017: 302). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 306



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 9 

3.2.4 The updated costs to 4Q 2017 would be as follows. 

 

ELEMENT 
COST 
£/m² 

TOTAL COST 
OF ELEMENT 

£ 

Facilitating works 65 131,805 

Substructure 133 271,044 

Superstructure 972 1,975,212 

Internal Finishes 255 517,706 

Fittings, Furnishings and Equipment 114 231,290 

Services 519 1,053,660 

External Works 64 129,270 

SUB-TOTAL 2,122 4,309,986 

Main Contractor's Preliminaries (15%) 321 652,140 

Main Contractor's OH&P (7%) 148 301,699 

Main Contractors Design Fees 85 172,400 

Design & Construction Risk (5%) 134 271,824 

TOTAL   2,810  5,708,319 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 307



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 10 

4.0 Benchmarking  
 

4.1 This section compares the cost of the new build residential units against other sources 

of cost data. 

4.2 We have collated construction cost data from various sources for new residential units 

and this is summarised in the table below: 

Ref Source 
Sample 
Size Nr 

Residential Units 
 

Cost range £/m2 

Mean 
Average 

£/m2 

Median 
Average 

£/m2 

1 Trident Cost Data         

1.1 
 Total - Mixed Tenure Schemes 
less than 40 units 10 1,995 to 2,392 2,267 2,190 

            

2 BCIS         

2.1  Apartmens / Flats (Generally) 943 1,393 to 1,883 1,669 1,596 

   Apartments / Flats (3-5 Storey) 634 1,392 to 1,876 1,646 1,582 

 

Notes 

1) - The range of costs for Trident historic data is based upon the lower and upper 

quartiles 

2) - The range of costs for BCIS is based upon figures in the lower and upper quartiles 

3) - BCIS Costs include for buildings only and exclude external works 

 

4.3 

 

4.4 

 

4.5 

 

 

 

The reported construction cost of £5,708,319 equates to £2,810/m
2
. The lower quartile 

figure is £1,995/m2 and the upper quartile is £2,392/m2. The mean average cost is 

£2,267/m2 and the median cost is £2,190/m2. 

It can be seen that the Applicant’s construction cost is outside the benchmark cost 

range for both Trident projects and BCIS cost data. The cost is £543/m2 above the 

mean cost and £620/m2 above the median cost. 

To facilitate a like for like comparison with the BCIS Data, the sums included for 

facilitating works, external works and drainage should be omitted from the Applicants 

cost estimate. The items total £258,490. Once preliminaries (15%), Contractors OHP 

(7%), Design fees (4%) and Contingency allowance (5%) are added, the total cost of 

this element is £338,622 (£166.73/m2). Once this sum is deducted from the total cost of 

£2,810/m2, the cost for the building only is £2,643/m2. It can be seen that this sum is 

still significantly above both BCIS and Trident cost benchmarks. We are aware that the 

Page 308



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 11 

 

 

access into and within the site is fairly restricted which will have a slight impact on costs 

for this development. As well as this, there are also some fairly large external amenity 

spaces which are not included within the GIFA measures that again shall have an 

impact on costs. Although this is the case, we are not aware of any specific reasons or 

abnormal costs that would result in such a high cost as currently shown.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 309



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 12 

5.0 Proposed Cost Adjustments  
 

 
5.1 OBSERVATIONS UPON THE COST PLAN 

5.1.1 Within this section, we provide our commentary upon each elemental section within the 

Cost Plan. 

 Facilitating Works 

5.1.2 We have reviewed the Applicant’s Cost Plan and have no specific comments upon this 

section. 

 Substructure 

5.2.1 We have reviewed the Applicant’s Cost Plan and are of the view that the substructure 

costs are generally acceptable at £268,360 (£200/m2). We have not been provided with 

structural design information and from the details provided within the cost plan; it 

suggests that this element is still to be developed. We would comment that the 

allowances for the ground floor slab depth seem high. 

5.2.2 The piling cost is based upon an allowance of £310/m2 of the Ground Floor footprint. 

We consider that assuming the piles are not excessively large, or long, this allowance 

could be reduced when the scheme is competitively tendered. 

5.2.3 We would comment that the quantity of steel allowed within the substructures could 

most likely be reduced to a more reasonable allowance of 150kg/m3 once further 

designs are developed. 

 Superstructure 

5.3.1 The Frame and upper floor allowances are generally within typical cost parameters that 

we would expect, although the “Holorib” decking cost seems to be higher than what we 

would expect. We would also comment that the quantity of steel allowed within the 

concrete frame to ground floor could most likely be reduced to a more reasonable 

allowance of 150kg/m3 once further designs are developed.  

5.3.2 The allowances for stairs and roofs are considered reasonable. 

5.3.3 The external walls propose a brick clad building, with vertical bonded brickwork and 

perforated brickwork to ground floor level. The windows will be composite aluminium 

units. The cost plan allowances reflect the proposed choice of materials for facades.  

5.3.4 The allowances for composite windows and doors are high at £550/m2. We would 

expect these costs to be closer in the region of £400-£450/m2. 

The allowance for communal doors and external balconies are considered to be 

reasonable allowances for the proposed scope of works. 

Page 310



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 13 

5.3.5 In terms of the internal finishing’s, we comment as follows: 

• The floor finish allowances are considered reasonable on the assumption that it 

includes for a screed and a separate floor finish. 

• The ceiling finish at £60/m2 is higher than we would normally expect (typically closer 

to £50m2) as this would normally comprise a plasterboard suspended ceiling 

decorated with emulsion but we would not propose any adjustment for this item. 

• The allowances for internal doors are considered slightly high. There is potential for 

these to be reduced when the project is tendered. 

• The allowances for bathrooms, kitchens and carpentry and joinery are reasonable 

and would allow a very good quality finish. 

• The allowance for mechanical and electrical installations is on the upper side of 

what we would expect for this scheme at £840,798 (£414/m2). Typically these costs 

tend to fall within a range of £350/m2 to £425/m2. There may be further opportunity 

to reduce this once full M&E are developed. 

• The allowance for underfloor heating seems high at £60/m2, especially considering 

allowances have been made elsewhere for screed. We would suggest this is 

reduced to £45/m2. 

• The building has 1 nr passenger lift and typically we would anticipate a cost of 

£60,000 to £70,000 for this. We consider the allowance of £95,000 is too high and 

would represent a cost for a building with a greater number of storeys. We would 

therefore suggest a reduction in this cost of £30,000. 

 External Works 

5.4.1 We have reviewed the Applicant’s Cost Plan for external works items. Generally we 

consider the allowances to be reasonable. 

 Specialist Installations 

5.5.1 We have reviewed the Applicant’s Cost Plan for Specialist Installations items. The may 

be potential to reduce these costs considering the size of the roof area available. 

 Preliminaries 

5.6.1 The allowance of 15% for Main Contractor Preliminaries is at the upper end of the 

typical cost range of 11% to 17%. It is possible that if the project was tendered 

competitively, tenders could be procured at a level below the cost plan sum of 

£645,950. 

 Overheads and Profit 

5.7.1 The allowance for 7% Contractors OH&P is considered high for a project of this nature. 

It is possible that if the project was tendered competitively, this could be reduced to the 

Page 311



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 14 

region of 3-5%. 

 Design Development/Risk 

5.8.1 The Applicant has included a 5% Design Development/Risk allowance which is 

reasonable.  As noted above we do not propose to reduce this percentage allowance. 

5.9 Suggested Cost Reduction 

5.9.1 Having reviewed the cost estimate provided we would suggest a reduction in 

construction cost of £300,000.00. We would therefore suggest the construction cost for 

this project to be £5,408,319.00 as below. 

A) Original Cost Plan (adjusted for time)    £ 5,708,319.00 

B) Adjustment for changes to Cost Estimate  (300,000.00) 

C) Revised Current Day Construction Cost £ 5,408,319.00 

 Say £5.408 million 

 The main areas where we believe cost reductions can be achieved are as follows: 

- Thickness / quantities of ground floor slab 

- “Holorib” metal formwork decking to upper floors 

- Composite windows and doors rate 

- Ceiling finishes rate 

- Internal doors rate 

- Underfloor heating rate 

- Passenger lift cost 

- PV Panel Installation cost 

- Contractor OH&P percentage 

5.9.2 The revised cost equates to £2,662/m2 or £247/ft2 based upon the GIFA 

 
  

Page 312



 

86-92 Bell Green,  
Sydenham, SE26 4PZ 15 

6.0 Summary  

6.1 Following our review of the construction costs submitted by the Applicant we would 

summarise the key observations as follows: 

• The gross internal build cost noted within the Financial Viability Assessment dated 

July 2017 is incorrectly reported as £2,151/m2. This is believed to be a typing error 

as it matches the Pellings GIFA area. 

• The Applicant has provided a construction cost estimate in the sum of £5,651,801; 

this is based on costs at 2nd Quarter 2017. This excludes Inflation and VAT; 

• The GIFA area utilised within the Pellings cost estimate is believed to be incorrect. 

Our measure of the GIFA area is 2,031m2. This area has been utilised to calculate 

the costs per m2 within this viability report. 

 
5.2 For the purposes of a Financial Viability Report, as at 4

th
 Quarter 2017, we would 

recommend a total construction cost of £5,408,319 which equates to £2,662/m
2
 

including abnormals, external works and contingency.  The revised construction cost 

excluding abnormals, external works and contingency equates to £2,375/m
2
.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 313



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

35 
86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 

Indicative Pricing Schedule 

 
 

Page 314



86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham - Unit Schedule

Unit Floor Beds Sq m Sq ft Unit Price £/Sq m £/Sq ft
1 1 1 50 538 317,500£        £6,368 £590
2 1 1 50 538 317,500£        £6,368 £590
3 1 2 62 667 410,000£        £6,631 £614
4 1 2 (WC) 75 807 460,000£        £6,150 £570
5 2 1 50 538 320,000£        £6,418 £595
6 2 1 50 538 320,000£        £6,418 £595
7 2 2 62 667 412,500£        £6,672 £618
8 2 2 (WC) 75 807 462,500£        £6,184 £573
9 3 1 50 538 322,500£        £6,468 £599
10 3 1 50 538 322,500£        £6,468 £599
11 3 2 62 667 415,000£        £6,712 £622
12 3 2 (WC) 75 807 465,000£        £6,217 £576
13 4 1 50 538 325,000£        £6,518 £604
14 4 1 50 538 325,000£        £6,518 £604
15 4 2 61 657 417,500£        £6,863 £636
16 4 3 75 807 495,000£        £6,618 £613
17 5 1 50 538 327,500£        £6,568 £609
18 5 1 50 538 327,500£        £6,568 £609
19 5 2 61 657 420,000£        £6,904 £640
20 5 3 75 807 500,000£        £6,685 £619
21 6 3 74 797 500,000£        £6,776 £628
22 6 3 79 850 525,000£        £6,664 £617
23 7 3 75 807 535,000£        £7,153 £663

Total 1,411 15,188 9,242,500£     £6,561 £609

Unit Type No. of Units
Total Area

(Sq ft)
Ave Size

(Sq ft)
Ave Unit Price Ave £/Sq ft

1 Bed Units 10 5,382 538 £322,500 £599

2 Bed Units 5 3,315 663 £415,000 £626

2 Bed WC Unit 3 2,422 807 £462,500 £573

3 Bed Units 5 4,069 814 £511,000 £628

Total 23 15,188 £609

Page 315



 P r i v a t e  a nd  Con f i d en t i a l  

 

36 
86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham, SE26 | Viability Report, November 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 3 

 

Development Appraisal Summary 

 

Page 316



 86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham 
 Urban Delivery Assumptions 
 Nil Affordable Housing 

 Development Appraisal 
 Urban Delivery 

 20 November 2017 

Page 317



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  URBAN DELIVERY 
 86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham 
 Urban Delivery Assumptions 
 Nil Affordable Housing 

 Summary Appraisal for Phase 1 

 Currency in £ 

 REVENUE 
 Sales Valuation  Units  ft²  Rate ft²  Unit Price  Gross Sales 

 1 Bed Apartments  10  5,382  599.22  322,500  3,225,000 
 2 Bed Apartments  5  3,315  625.94  415,000  2,075,000 
 2 Bed (WC) Apartments  3  2,422  572.87  462,500  1,387,500 
 3 Bed Apartments  5  4,069  627.92  511,000  2,555,000 
 Totals  23  15,188  9,242,500 

 Rental Area Summary  Initial  Net Rent  Initial 
 Units  ft²  Rate ft²  MRV/Unit  at Sale  MRV 

 Retail Unit  1  678  21.50  14,577  14,577  14,577 
 1 Bed Ground Rent  10  250  2,500  2,500 
 2 Bed Ground Rent  8  300  2,400  2,400 
 3 Bed Ground Rent  5  350  1,750  1,750 
 Totals  24  678  21,227  21,227 

 Investment Valuation 
 Retail Unit 
 Current Rent  14,577  YP  @  7.5000%  13.3333  194,360 
 1 Bed Ground Rent 
 Current Rent  2,500  YP  @  5.5000%  18.1818  45,455 
 2 Bed Ground Rent 
 Current Rent  2,400  YP  @  5.5000%  18.1818  43,636 
 3 Bed Ground Rent 
 Current Rent  1,750  YP  @  5.5000%  18.1818  31,818 

 315,269 

 GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE  9,557,769 

 Purchaser's Costs  (7,882) 
 (7,882) 

 NET DEVELOPMENT VALUE  9,549,887 

 NET REALISATION  9,549,887 

 OUTLAY 

 ACQUISITION COSTS 
 Residualised Price  994,957 

 994,957 
 Stamp Duty  39,248 
 Agent Fee  1.00%  9,950 
 Legal Fee  0.50%  4,975 

 54,172 
 CONSTRUCTION COSTS 
 Construction  ft²  Rate ft²  Cost 

 Retail Unit  678 ft²  233.57 pf²  158,360 
 1 Bed Apartments  7,965 ft²  233.57 pf²  1,860,402 
 2 Bed Apartments  4,906 ft²  233.57 pf²  1,145,900 
 2 Bed (WC) Apartments  3,584 ft²  233.57 pf²  837,216 
 3 Bed Apartments  6,022 ft²  233.57 pf²  1,406,536 
 Totals  23,155 ft²  5,408,414  5,408,414 

 Other Construction 
 S106 Allowance  50,000 
 LBL CIL  115,317 

  Project: C:\Users\James\Desktop\Appraisals\86-92 Bell Green - UD Inputs.wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 7.60.000  Date: 20/11/2017  

Page 318



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  URBAN DELIVERY 
 86-92 Bell Green, Sydenham 
 Urban Delivery Assumptions 
 Nil Affordable Housing 

 Mayoral CIL  69,492 
 234,809 

 PROFESSIONAL FEES 
 Professional Fees  10.00%  545,841 

 545,841 
 DISPOSAL FEES 

 Marketing Costs - Residential  3.00%  277,039 
 Marketing Costs - Commercial  2.50%  5,798 
 Sales Legal Fee - Residential  0.25%  23,106 
 Sales Legal Fee - Retail  0.50%  1,537 

 307,480 
 FINANCE 

 Debit Rate 6.750%, Credit Rate 0.000% (Nominal) 
 Land  123,857 
 Construction  191,250 
 Other  16,497 
 Total Finance Cost  331,604 

 TOTAL COSTS  7,877,278 

 PROFIT 
 1,672,610 

 Performance Measures 
 Profit on Cost%  21.23% 
 Profit on GDV%  17.50% 
 Profit on NDV%  17.51% 
 Development Yield% (on Rent)  0.27% 
 Equivalent Yield% (Nominal)  6.73% 
 Equivalent Yield% (True)  7.03% 

 IRR  35.33% 

 Rent Cover  78 yrs 10 mths 
 Profit Erosion (finance rate 6.750%)  2 yrs 11 mths 

  Project: C:\Users\James\Desktop\Appraisals\86-92 Bell Green - UD Inputs.wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 7.60.000  Date: 20/11/2017  

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE C 

Report Title Pavement at the Intersection of Sydenham Road & Queensthorpe Road 
SE26 

Ward Sydenham 

Contributors Alfie Williams 

Class PART 1 11 September 2018 

 

Reg. Nos.  DC/18/105750 and DC/18/105751 
 
Application dated 2/2/2018 
 
Applicant Strawberry Energy London LTD 
 
Proposal Retrospective applications for planning permission and advertisement 

consent for a free-standing solar-powered Smart Bench with 
advertisement panels on the Pavement at Intersection of Sydenham 
Road & Queensthorpe Road SE26 
 

 
 
Background 
Papers 

(1) This is Background Papers List 
(2) Case File  DE/155/A/TP 
(3) Local Development Framework Documents 
(4) The London Plan 

 
Designation Area of Archaeological Priority 

PTAL 4 
Sydenham Thorpes Conservation Area 

  

1.0 Summary 
 

- This report sets out officer’s recommendation in regard to the above proposal.  
The report has been brought before members for a decision asPermission is 
recommended to be approved and there is and there are 3 or more valid 
planning objections including an objection from a recognised residents’ 
association or community/amenity group within the area . 

 
 
2.0 Site Description   

2.1 The application site is located on the northern side of Sydenham Road at the 
intersection with Queensthorpe Road. The application relates to a smart bench 
already installed on the pavement between 59 and 61 Sydenham Road.  

2.2 The surrounding area is a busy high street characterised by commercial units at 
ground floor level with residential on the floors above. The upper floors retain the 
original Victorian detailing with contemporary shopfronts at ground floor level. The 
intersection of Sydenham Road and Queensthorpe Road is an area of 
pedestrianised public space connecting the two roads.  

2.3 The site is located within the Sydenham Thorpes Conservation Area but is not 
within the vicinity of a listed building. 

Page 321

Agenda Item 4



 

 

3.0 Background 

3.1 This application forms part of a wider project involving the installation of ten smart 
benches at various sites in Lewisham as part of a partnership between Lewisham 
Council and Strawberry Energy. The smart benches are powered by a solar panel 
and are equipped with sensors providing environmental data. The benches also 
provide portable device charging facilities and free Wi-Fi connection for the public. 

3.2 Ten smart benches were installed in two phases in January and October 2017 
following consultation with several Council departments including Highways, Crime 
Reduction and Regeneration.  

3.3 Further consideration of the relevant legislation determined that the benches did 
not benefit from Permitted Development, as was initially concluded, and instead 
full planning permission and advertisement consent is required.  The installation of 
street furniture in such locations, if carried out by the Council, does not - in most 
instances - require planning permission. 

3.4 Following this advice, retrospective applications were submitted for planning 
permission and advertisement consent for all ten benches located in Lewisham. 
To date, seven of the ten smart benches have been granted both planning 
permission and advertisement consent under delegated authority. 

 

4.0 Current Planning Applications 

4.1 Retrospective application for planning permission for a freestanding smart bench 
with advertisement panels. The smart bench is powered by a solar panel located 
within a steel construction attached to the bench. The bench was installed in 
October 2017 and is located on the pavement at the intersection of Sydenham 
and Queensthorpe Road. The bench is located 4m from the road with a clearance 
of approximately 6.35m to the nearest building. 

4.2 The smart bench is 2.48m long with a width of 0.84m and has timber seating with 
steel handrails. The bench has a large steel construction that wraps around the 
end of the bench. The steel construction has a maximum height of 2.87m and 
provides two advertisement panels. 

4.3 An application for advertisement consent has also been submitted requesting 
permission for four advertisement panels located on the bench. Two triangular 
advertisement panels are located on the side and front measuring 2.37m and 
2.35m in height respectively. In addition, the smart bench provides two smaller 
advertisement spaces located on a panel on the rear of the bench. The 
advertisements measure 0.44m2 and 0.8m2. 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 This section outlines the consultation carried out by the applicant prior to 
submission and the Council following the submission of the application and 
summarises the responses received. The Council’s consultation exceeded the 
minimum statutory requirements and those required by the Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement.  

Page 322



 

 

5.2 Following the submission of the application, site notices were displayed and 
letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the 
relevant ward Councillors. The Sydenham Society were consulted in addition to 
the Council’s Highways Departments and TfL. A second period of consultation 
was undertaken, as some of the documents were not published on the website for 
public viewing. 

5.3 Officers note that an objection to the smart bench on Evelyn Street (reference 
DC/18/105698) from Deptford Folk stated that they oppose all of the 
retrospective applications for smart benches in Lewisham. The objection mainly 
details information specific to the site in Evelyn Street. However, reference is 
made to the Lewisham Streetscape Guidance (2011) document that states that 
street furniture must not be used for commercial advertising. Officers note that 
this is a highways document, not a ‘Planning’ development plan document, and it 
was published in 2011 and as such, pre-dates the current Local Plan. Officers, 
therefore afford the document very limited material weight in regard to this 
application. 

5.4       Five objections to this smart bench were received and are summarised below. 

5.5 The Chair of Lewisham Living Streets also objected to this application and all of 
the smart bench applications that have yet to be determined. The points made in 
the objection are summarised as follows: 

 Against existing LBL policy guidance with respect to advertising 

 Without proven benefit no data has been provided to show the efficacy of 
solar power collection that provides services to the public. 

 Lower value compared to ordinary benches since they give inadequate 
support a particular need for the many infirm 

 Exclusionary - since 'smart benches' suggest 'reservation' to some extent 
for the select use of communications users 

 Inherently reduces/obstructs footway space (to varying degrees) 

 Uncoordinated with other street furniture (against policy guidance) 

 Obtrusive and deleterious intrusion into the public realm in scale, overall 
appearance, dominating elevations and in particular crown levels of the 
units 

 Effective privatisation of the public realm, 

 Liable to cause a reduction in the TfL Healthy Streets score 

 Liable, once established to fall outside the remit of Planning forms the 'thin 
end of the wedge' as it opens the door to further additions 

 Intimated to deliver a meaningful charitable benefit 

5.6 The objection again refers to the Lewisham Streetscape Guidance (2011), which, 
as detailed above, carries very limited material weight in assessing the 

Page 323



 

 

application. The efficacy of the smart bench is documented in the information 
provided in support of the application, most extensively in the Project Overview 
(January 2018) document. It should be noted that the performance of the bench 
is not a material planning consideration and neither is any proclamation of a 
perceived charitable benefit, irrespective of whether the claim is true or not. The 
points relating to the appearance and scale of the smart bench and impact on the 
public realm are material considerations and are addressed with regard to the 
relevant policies in the Planning Considerations section of the report.  

5.7 The Sydenham Society objected to the smart bench on the grounds that the 
bench and advertising appear incongruous within Queensthorpe Square and 
requested that the previous bench be reinstalled given that it had a more 
attractive appearance. It was also stated that although the charging facilities are 
useful they would be better provided in an alternative location. 

5.8 Further objections were received from four local residents. The concerns 
highlighted include the design of the bench not being in keeping with the 
conservation area, the advertising is overly dominant and ugly and the bench is 
not comfortable due to the lack of armrests and back support.   It was also stated 
that the area should be used for markets and public gatherings rather than 
advertising     

5.9 The local Design Out Crime Officer was consulted for comment on the bench. 
The Design Out Crime Officer raised concerns regarding the vulnerability to theft 
of electronic devices. To reduce the risk of theft it was recommended that crime 
prevention advice be displayed on the bench either visually or aurally. It was also 
recommended that the smart bench be located further away from the road in 
order to reduce the risk from moped theft. 

6.0 Policy Context 

Introduction 

6.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) sets out 
that in considering and determining applications for planning permission the local 
planning authority must have regard to:-  

(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, 
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 
(c) any other material considerations. 

 
6.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) makes it clear 

that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise’. The development plan for Lewisham comprises the Core Strategy, the 
Development Management Local Plan, the Site Allocations Local Plan and the 
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, and the London Plan.  The NPPF does not 
change the legal status of the development plan. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 

6.3 The NPPF, originally published in 2012, was revised on 24th July 2018 and is a 
material consideration in the determination of planning and related applications.   

Page 324



 

 

6.4 It contains at paragraph 11, a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. 
Annex 1 of the NPPF provides guidance on its implementation.  In summary, this 
states in paragraph 213, that policies in the development plan should not be 
considered out of date just because they were adopted prior to the publication of 
the NPPF and in regard to existing local policies, that  ‘due weight should be given 
to them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer 
the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that 
may be given)’. 

6.5 Officers have reviewed the Core Strategy and Development Management Local 
Plan for consistency with the NPPF and consider there is no issue of significant 
conflict.  As such, full weight can be given to these policies in the decision making 
process in accordance with paragraphs 211, and 215 of the NPPF. 

 National Planning Practice Guidance ‘NPPG’ (2014 onwards) 

6.6 On 6th March 2014, DCLG launched the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG) resource. This replaced a number of planning practice guidance 
documents, and is subject to continuous periodical updates in difference subject 
areas 

London Plan (March 2016) 

6.7 The London Plan was updated on 14 March 2016 to incorporate the Housing 
Standards and Parking Standards Minor Alterations to the London Plan (2015).  
The new, draft London Plan was published by the Mayor of London for public 
consultation on 29 November 2017 (until 2 March 2018).  However, given the very 
early stage in this process, this document has very limited weight as a material 
consideration when determining planning applications, does not warrant a 
departure from the existing policies of the development plan in this instance and is 
therefore not referred to further in this report. The policies in the current adopted 
London Plan (2016) relevant to this application therefore are:  

Policy 7.4 Local character 
Policy 7.5 Public realm 
Policy 7.8 Heritage assets and archaeology 

Core Strategy 

6.8 The Core Strategy was adopted by the Council at its meeting on 29 June 2011. 
The Core Strategy, together with the Site Allocations, the Lewisham Town Centre 
Local Plan, the Development Management Local Plan and the London Plan is the 
borough's statutory development plan. The following lists the relevant strategic 
objectives, spatial policies and cross cutting policies from the Lewisham Core 
Strategy as they relate to this application: 

Spatial Policy 5 Areas of Stability and Managed Change 
Core Strategy Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport 
Core Strategy Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham 
Core Strategy Policy 16 Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic 

environment 
 
Development Management Local Plan 

Page 325



 

 

6.9 The Development Management Local Plan was adopted by the Council at its 
meeting on 26 November 2014. The Development Management Local Plan, 
together with the Site Allocations, the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, the Core 
Strategy and the London Plan is the borough's statutory development plan. The 
following lists the relevant strategic objectives, spatial policies and cross cutting 
policies from the Development Management Local Plan as they relate to this 
application: 

6.10 The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:  

DM Policy 1  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

DM Policy 19  Shopfronts, signs and hoardings 

DM Policy 30  Urban design and local character 

DM Policy 35  Public realm 

DM Policy 36  New development, changes of use and alterations affecting 
designated heritage assets and their setting: conservation 
areas, listed buildings, schedule of ancient monuments and 
registered parks and gardens 

 

 

7.0 Planning Considerations 

7.1 The main issues to be considered in respect of the applications are (including 
which considerations are relevant to which type of application):  

Relevant to Planning Application & Advertisement Consent 

a) Design/conservation 
b) Residential Amenity 
c) Highways and Transport Impacts 
 
Relevant to Planning Application only 
 
d) Crime/Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
Scope of considerations for Advertisement Consent 

7.2 The Council is required to exercise its powers under the Advertisement regulations 
“in the interests of amenity and public safety”.  Amenity in this context comprises 
“the general characteristics of the locality, including the presence of any feature of 
historic, architectural, cultural or similar interest”.  In regard to public safety, the 
considerations apply to “the safety of persons using any highway, railway, 
waterway, dock, harbour or aerodrome”, whether the display of the advertisement 
in question is “likely to obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic 
sign, railway signal or aid to navigation by water or air” and “hinder the operation 
of any device used for the purpose of security or surveillance or for measuring the 
speed of any vehicle”.  The consideration of amenity may also extend to the 
impact of signage upon residential amenity. 

Design/conservation 

Page 326



 

 

7.3 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
provides that (in summary) with respect to any buildings or other land in a 
conservation area, the Council is required to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
conservation area. 

7.4 DM Policy 35 states that the Council will require street furniture and signage to be 
well designed and generously sized using high quality materials, harmonise with 
the street scene, be sited to minimise visual clutter, provide legible signage and 
conserve and enhance any historic fabric, features and assets. 

7.5 The smart bench is constructed from high quality materials that are typical of street 
furniture of this nature. The scale and height of the smart bench is consistent with 
comparable street furniture such as phone boxes and bus stops. It is also noted 
that the height of 2.87m is necessary to provide the solar panel that powers the 
Wi-Fi and portable device charging facilities.  

7.6 The smart bench has a neutral colour scheme that is not considered detrimental to 
the streetscene. The two handrails provide assistance for pedestrians using the 
bench, including aiding use for people with disabilities and the elderly. The smart 
bench is located approximately 5m from the bus stop and is therefore not 
considered to materially contribute to visual clutter on the public realm. 

7.7 The advertisement panels are considered to be of an appropriate scale for the 
bench, not being overly dominant and are consistent with the size of 
advertisements on comparable street furniture. Furthermore the adverts are not 
projecting from the face of the bench or illuminated ensuring that they are not an 
obtrusive feature within the public realm 

7.8 The colour, size and materiality of the smart bench are considered sufficient to 
preserve the character of the Sydenham Thorpes Conservation Area given the 
siting in a busy commercial environment and separation from other comparable 
street furniture. The smart bench is therefore considered to be compliant with DM 
Polices 35 and 36. 

Residential Amenity 

7.9 Core Strategy Policy 15 states that development should be designed in a way that 
is sensitive to the local context.  It must therefore be demonstrated that proposals 
are neighbourly and that significant harm will not arise with respect to overbearing 
impact, loss of outlook, overshadowing, loss of light or general disturbance. 

7.10 No in principle objection is considered to be able to be raised to the formation of a 
small area of public seating in this location, given the function of the space and the 
presence fo existing public seating 

7.11 The proposed advertisement panels are not considered to have a significant 
impact on residential amenity given that they are non-illuminated and located an 
appropriate distance from nearby residential windows located at first and second 
floor levels. 

 Highways and Traffic Issues 

Page 327



 

 

7.12 DM Policy 35 states that the Council will require street furniture to allow level and 
safe passage for all including people with disabilities including the careful design 
of shared surfaces with cyclists 

7.13 Officers are satisfied that the advertisement panels on the bench would not cause 
a distraction to oncoming vehicles given that the panels are an appropriate size, 
are not illuminated and the bench is located 4m from the road. The smart bench 
allows distances of at least 6.35m either side, which is considered sufficient to 
prevent an obstruction to the footway. Officers also note that neither TFL nor the 
Council’s Highways Department formally objected to the bench.  

Crime/Anti-social behaviour 

7.14 Officers are aware of the concerns raised regarding the potential for the benches 
to increase vulnerable to street crime. In particular, the charging of expensive 
hand held electronic devices is contrary to Police advice regarding the use of such 
devices in public spaces given that it is necessary that devices are on public 
display, increasing vulnerability to theft.. 

7.15 The use of mobile and valuable electronic devices within public areas is clearly 
already at a very high level, which would not be materially increased through the 
use of the subject bench. 

7.16 It is noted that the applicant undertook pre-installation consultation with the 
Council’s Crime Reduction Team and were advised that the locations chosen for 
the smart bench in Lewisham would not present any additional concerns with 
crime beyond that experience in typical day-to-day situations. Further, the 
applicant has followed advice by Police following a similar project in the London 
Borough of Islington to locate the bench at least 1-2 metres from the carriageway 
to reduce the risk of moped crime. The smart bench also features a warning 
stating ‘Please do not leave your device unattended. You are using this bench on 
your sole responsibility’ which complies with the advice given by the Design Out 
Crime Officer following consultation on this application 

7.17 The smart bench is located on a well-lit busy high street with a high level of natural 
surveillance. Officers consider that the measures taken to help reduce users’ 
vulnerability to crime, both concerning the location chosen to site the bench and 
the warning printed on the bench, are sufficient to reduce theft risk. Officers also 
note that there have been no reported incidence of crime on the support telephone 
number printed on the bench, at this site or on any site in Lewisham. 

8.0 Local Finance Considerations  

8.1 Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a 
local finance consideration means: 

(a) a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, 
provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or 

(b) sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in 
payment of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

8.2 The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the 
decision maker.  No CIL is payable in regard to this application and therefore local 

Page 328



 

 

finance considerations are not considered to exert any significant influence on 
members consideration of the applications 

9.0 Equalities Considerations  

 
9.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 

equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

9.2 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to 
the need to: 

 (a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the Act; 

 (b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not; 

 (c) foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it. 

 

9.3 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it 
is a matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations. 

9.4 The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate 
specifically to any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it 
has been concluded that there is minimal impact on equality.  

10.0 Human Rights Implications 

10.1 In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the 
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 
1998 prohibits authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from 
acting in a way which is incompatible with the European Convention on Human 
Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here means the European Convention on Human Rights, 
certain parts of which were incorporated into English law under the Human 
Rights Act 1998. Various Convention rights are likely to be relevant including: 

• Right to a fair trial 
• Repect for your private and family life, home and correspondence 
• Freedom of expression 
• Freedom of thought, belief and religion 
• Freedom of expression 
• Freedom of assembly and association 

 

10.2 This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the 
planning application and the opportunities for people to make representations to 
the Council as Local Planning Authority.  

Page 329



 

 

10.3 Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts 
are acceptable and that any potential interference with Article 8 rights will be 
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into 
account in the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any 
interference with a Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. 
Members must therefore, carefully consider the balance to be struck between 
individual rights and the wider public interest. 

11.0 Conclusion 

11.1 This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the 
development plan and other material considerations. 

11.2 Officers consider that the smart bench has an acceptable impact on the public 
realm, residential amenity and the appearance of the Sydenham Thorpes 
Conservation Area. The proposed development is therefore considered 
acceptable. 

12.0 RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:- 

Conditions 

 
1.  The development shall be retained strictly in accordance with the application 

plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below: 

    01_Location Plan_1-1250; 02_Site plan_1-200; 03_Elevation Drawings; 

Reason:  To ensure that the development is retained in accordance with the 
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and 
is acceptable to the local planning authority 

 

GRANT ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT subject to the following conditions:- 

Conditions 

1.  (a) This consent is granted for a fixed period expiring 5 years from 
the date of consent. 

(b) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of 
the owner of the site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled 
to grant permission. 

(c) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to:- 

(i) Endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, 
harbour or aerodrome (civil or military). 

(ii) Obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, 
railway signal or aid to navigation by water or air. 

Page 330



 

 

(iii) Hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of 
security or surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle.  

(d) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display 
of advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair 
the visual amenity of the site.  

(e) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the 
purpose of displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that 
does not endanger the public.  

(f) Where an advertisement is required under these regulations to 
be removed, the site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the 
public or impair visual amenity. 

Reason:  In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisement) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
2.  The advertisements hereby granted consent shall not be displayed 

otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved plans, unless 
previously agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

01_Location Plan_1-1250; 02_Site plan_1-200; 03_Elevation Drawings; 

Reason:  To protect the visual amenities of the area and to comply with the 
terms of the application and DM Policy 19 Shopfronts signs and hoardings of 
the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 

Informatives 

A.  Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all 
applicants in a positive and proactive way through specific pre-application 
enquiries and the detailed advice available on the Council’s website.  On this 
particular application, positive and proactive discussions took place with the 
applicant prior to the application being submitted through a pre-application 
discussion.  As the proposal was in accordance with these discussions and 
was in accordance with the Development Plan, no contact was made with 
the applicant prior to determination. 

 

 

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE C 

Report Title Pavement in front of 317-319 Evelyn Street, SE8 5RA 

Ward Evelyn 

Contributors Alfie Williams 

Class PART 1 11 September 2018 

 

Reg. Nos.  DC/18/105689 and DC/18/105720 (planning permission & 
advertisement consent) 

 
Application dated 2/2/2018 
 
Applicant Strawberry Energy London LTD 
 
Proposal Retrospective applications for planning permission and 

advertisement consent for a free-standing solar-powered Smart 
Bench with advertisement panels on the pavement in front of 
317-319 Evelyn Street SE8. 
 

 
 
Background Papers (1) This is Background Papers List 

(2) Case File  DE/155/A/TP 
(3) Local Development Framework Documents 
(4) The London Plan 

 
Designation Area of Archaeological Priority 

PTAL 3 
Flood Risk Zone 2/3 
 

  

1.0 Summary 
 

This report sets out officer’s recommendation in regard to the above proposal.  
The report has been brought before members for a decision as: 

 
 • Permission is recommended to be approved and there is 1 or more objection 

from a recognised residents’ association or community/amenity group within 
their area. 

 
2.0 Site Description   

2.1 The application site is located on the north-eastern side of Evelyn Street. The 
application relates to a smart bench installed without planning permission on the 
pavement outside 317-319 Evelyn Street. The surrounding area is characterised 
by commercial units at ground floor level with residential on the floors above. 

2.2 The bench is located 5m from a bus stop within a large area of public space 
containing two mature trees. The trees have circular benches around their base 
providing public seating areas. The public space is set back from the road and is 
situated between a parade of shops and Evelyn Street. Evelyn Street (A200) 
forms part of the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN) and serves a 
number of bus routes.  

Page 335

Agenda Item 5



 

 

2.3 The site is not located within a conservation area and neither is it within the 
vicinity of a listed building. 

3.0 Background 

3.1 This application forms part of a wider project involving the installation of ten smart 
benches at various site in Lewisham as part of a partnership between Lewisham 
Council and Strawberry Energy. The smart benches are powered by a solar panel 
and are equipped with sensors providing environmental data. The benches also 
provide portable device charging facilities and free Wi-Fi connection for the public. 

3.2 Ten smart benches were installed in two phases in January and October 2017 
following consultation with several Council departments including Highways, Crime 
Reduction and Regeneration.  

3.3 Further consideration of the relevant legislation determined that the benches did 
not benefit from Permitted Development, as was initially concluded, and instead 
full planning permission and advertisement consent is required.  The installation of 
street furniture in such locations, if carried out by the Council, does not - in most 
instances - require planning permission. 

3.4 Following this advice, retrospective applications were submitted for planning 
permission and advertisement consent for all ten benches located in 
Lewisham. To date, seven of the ten smart benches have been granted both 
planning permission and advertisement consent under delegated authority. 

4.0 Current Applications 

4.1 Retrospective application for planning permission for a freestanding smart bench 
with advertisement panels. The smart bench is powered by a solar panel located 
within a steel construction attached to the bench. The bench was installed in 
October 2017 and is located on the pavement outside 317-319 Evelyn Street. The 
bench is located 5.5m from the road with a clearance of approximately 3.3m to the 
nearest building. 

4.2 The smart bench is 2.48m long with a width of 0.84m and has timber seating with 
steel handrails. The bench has a large steel construction that wraps around the 
end of the bench. The steel construction has a maximum height of 2.87m and 
provides two advertisement panels. 

4.3 An application for advertisement consent has also been submitted requesting 
permission for four advertisement panels located on the bench. Two triangular 
advertisement panels are located on the side and front measuring a maximum of 
2.37m and 2.35m in height respectively. In addition, the smart bench provides two 
smaller advertisement spaces located on a panel on the rear of the bench. The 
advertisements measure 0.44m2 and 0.8m2. 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 This section outlines the consultation carried out by the applicant prior to 
submission and the Council following the submission of the application and 
summarises the responses received. The Council’s consultation exceeded the 
minimum statutory requirements and those required by the Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement.  

Page 336



 

 

5.2 Following the submission of the applications, site notices were displayed and 
letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the 
relevant ward Councillors. Deptford Action were consulted in addition to the 
Council’s Highways Departments and TfL. A second period of consultation was 
undertaken, as some of the documents were not published on the website for 
public viewing. 

5.3 Three objections to the smart bench were received and are summarised below. 

5.4 Deptford Folk stated that they oppose all of the retrospective applications for 
smart benches in Lewisham. The objection raises concerns with the nature of the 
advertisements given that the benches have been used for a car manufacturer, 
which conflicts with a GLA/TfL initiative to improve cycling and walking in the 
area, an initiative that includes £2.9m of funding and London’s first Cycle 
Quietway. Deptford Folk also stated that advertisements for a car manufacturer 
are inappropriate within an area with poor air quality and raises concerns that the 
bench could be used for other inappropriate advertisement campaigns such as 
fast-food. Deptford Folk also state that that the bench adds to clutter within ‘the 
Evelyn Triangle’ and creates an obstruction. 

5.5 The objection makes several references to a document titled Lewisham 
Streetscape Guidance (2011) which states that street furniture must not be used 
for commercial advertising. Officers note that this is a highways document, not a 
‘Planning’ development plan document, and it was published in 2011 and as 
such in any case pre-dates the current Local Plan. Officers therefore afford the 
document very limited material weight in regard to this application. 

5.6 The Chair of Lewisham Living Streets also objected to this application and all of 
the smart bench applications that have yet to be determined. The points made in 
the objection are summarised as follows: 

 Against existing LBL policy guidance with respect to advertising 

 Without proven benefit, no data has been provided to show the efficacy of 
solar power collection that provides services to the public. 

 Lower value compared to ordinary benches since they give inadequate 
support a particular need for the many infirm 

 Exclusionary - since 'smart benches' suggest 'reservation' to some extent 
for the select use of communications users 

 Inherently reduces/obstructs footway space (to varying degrees) 

 Uncoordinated with other street furniture (against policy guidance) 

 Obtrusive and deleterious intrusion into the public realm in scale, overall 
appearance, dominating elevations and in particular crown levels of the 
units 

 Effective privatisation of the public realm, 

 Liable to cause a reduction in the TfL Healthy Streets score 

Page 337



 

 

 Liable, once established to fall outside the remit of Planning forms the 'thin 
end of the wedge' as it opens the door to further additions 

 Intimated to deliver a meaningful charitable benefit 

5.7 The objection again refers to the Lewisham Streetscape Guidance (2011), which, 
as detailed above, carries very limited material weight in assessing the 
application. The efficacy of the smart bench is documented in the information 
provided in support of the application, most extensively in the Project Overview 
(January 2018) document. It should be noted that the performance of the bench 
is not a material planning consideration and neither is any proclamation of a 
perceived charitable benefit, irrespective of whether the claim is true or not.  

5.8 The points relating to the appearance and scale of the smart bench and impact 
on the public realm are material considerations and are addressed with regard to 
the relevant policies in the Planning Considerations section of the report.  

5.9 One further objection was received from a local resident raising concerns with the 
type of advertising given the poor air quality in the area and the incongruous 
design and impact on the public realm. The objection also raised concerns 
regarding potential incidents of anti-social behaviour and crime arising at the 
bench. The resident also noted that the applicant had not consulted with local 
residents in contrast to a scheme initiated by Deptford Folk. 

5.10 The local Design Out Crime Officer was consulted for comment on the bench. 
The Design Out Crime Officer raised concerns regarding the vulnerability to theft 
of electronic devices. To reduce the risk of theft it was recommended that crime 
prevention advice be displayed on the bench either visually or aurally. It was also 
recommended that the smart bench be located further away from the road in 
order to reduce the risk from moped theft. 

6.0 Policy Context 

Introduction 

6.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) sets out 
that in considering and determining applications for planning permission the local 
planning authority must have regard to:-  

(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, 
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 
(c) any other material considerations. 

 
6.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) makes it clear 

that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise’. The development plan for Lewisham comprises the Core Strategy, the 
Development Management Local Plan, the Site Allocations Local Plan and the 
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, and the London Plan.  The NPPF does not 
change the legal status of the development plan. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 

Page 338



 

 

6.3 The revised NPPF, originally published in 2012, was published on 24th July 2018 
and is a material consideration in the determination of planning and related 
applications.   

6.4 It contains at paragraph 11, a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. 
Annex 1 of the NPPF provides guidance on its implementation.  In summary, this 
states in paragraph 213, that policies in the development plan should not be 
considered out of date just because they were adopted prior to the publication of 
the NPPF and in regard to existing local policies, that  ‘…due weight should be 
given to them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given)’. 

6.5 Officers have reviewed the Core Strategy and Development Management Local 
Plan for consistency with the NPPF and consider there is no issue of significant 
conflict.  As such, full weight can be given to these policies in the decision making 
process in accordance with paragraphs 211, and 215 of the NPPF. 

 National Planning Practice Guidance ‘NPPG’ (2014 onwards) 

6.6 On 6th March 2014, DCLG launched the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG) resource. This replaced a number of planning practice guidance 
documents, and is subject to continuous periodical updates in difference subject 
areas 

London Plan (March 2016) 

6.7 The London Plan was updated on 14 March 2016 to incorporate the Housing 
Standards and Parking Standards Minor Alterations to the London Plan (2015).  
The new, draft London Plan was published by the Mayor of London for public 
consultation on 29 November 2017 (until 2 March 2018).  However, given the very 
early stage in this process, this document has very limited weight as a material 
consideration when determining planning applications, does not warrant a 
departure from the existing policies of the development plan in this instance and is 
therefore not referred to further in this report. The policies in the current adopted 
London Plan (2016) relevant to this application therefore are:  

Policy 7.4 Local character 
Policy 7.5 Public realm 

Core Strategy 

6.8 The Core Strategy was adopted by the Council at its meeting on 29 June 2011. 
The Core Strategy, together with the Site Allocations, the Lewisham Town Centre 
Local Plan, the Development Management Local Plan and the London Plan is the 
borough's statutory development plan. The following lists the relevant strategic 
objectives, spatial policies and cross cutting policies from the Lewisham Core 
Strategy as they relate to this application: 

Spatial Policy 5 Areas of Stability and Managed Change 
Core Strategy Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport 
Core Strategy Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham 
 
Development Management Local Plan 

Page 339



 

 

6.9 The Development Management Local Plan was adopted by the Council at its 
meeting on 26 November 2014. The Development Management Local Plan, 
together with the Site Allocations, the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, the Core 
Strategy and the London Plan is the borough's statutory development plan. The 
following lists the relevant strategic objectives, spatial policies and cross cutting 
policies from the Development Management Local Plan as they relate to this 
application: 

6.10 The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:  

DM Policy 1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

DM Policy 19 Shopfronts, signs and hoardings 

DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character 

DM Policy 35 Public realm 

 

7.0 Planning Considerations 

7.1 The main issues to be considered in respect of the applications are (including 
which considerations are relevant to which type of application):  

Relevant to Planning Application & Advertisement Consent 

a) Design & Visual Amenity 
b) Residential Amenity 
c) Highways and Transport Impacts 
 
Relevant to Planning Application only 
 
d) Crime/Anti-Social Behaviour  
 

Scope of considerations for Advertisement Consent 

7.2 The Council is required to exercise its powers under the Advertisement regulations 
“in the interests of amenity and public safety”.  Amenity in this context comprises 
“the general characteristics of the locality, including the presence of any feature of 
historic, architectural, cultural or similar interest”.  In regard to public safety, the 
considerations apply to “the safety of persons using any highway, railway, 
waterway, dock, harbour or aerodrome”, whether the display of the advertisement 
in question is “likely to obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic 
sign, railway signal or aid to navigation by water or air” and “hinder the operation 
of any device used for the purpose of security or surveillance or for measuring the 
speed of any vehicle”.  The consideration of amenity may also extend to the 
impact of signage upon residential amenity. 
 
 
Design 

7.3 DM Policy 35 states that the Council will require street furniture and signage to be 
well designed and generously sized using high quality materials, harmonise with 
the street scene, be sited to minimise visual clutter, provide legible signage and 
conserve and enhance any historic fabric, features and assets. 

Page 340



 

 

7.4 The smart bench is constructed from high quality materials that are typical of street 
furniture of this nature. The scale and height of the smart bench is consistent with 
comparable street furniture such as phone boxes and bus stops. It is also noted 
that the height of 2.87m is necessary to provide the solar panel that powers the 
Wi-Fi and portable device charging facilities.  

7.5 The smart bench has a neutral colour scheme that is not considered detrimental to 
the streetscene. The two handrails provide assistance for pedestrians using the 
bench, including aiding use for people with disabilities and the elderly. The smart 
bench is located approximately 5m from the bus stop and is therefore not 
considered to materially contribute to visual clutter in the public realm. 

7.6 The advertisement panels are considered to be of an appropriate scale for the 
bench, not being overly dominant and are consistent with the size of 
advertisements on comparable street furniture. Furthermore the adverts are not 
projecting from the face of the bench or illuminated ensuring that they are not an 
obtrusive feature within the public realm 

7.7 Officers consider the bench to be an appropriately scaled, well designed addition 
to the public realm that does not add to the visual clutter on the street in 
accordance with DM Policies 30 and 35.   

Residential Amenity 

7.8 Core Strategy Policy 15 states that development should be designed in a way that 
is sensitive to the local context.  It must therefore be demonstrated that proposals 
are neighbourly and that significant harm will not arise with respect to overbearing 
impact, loss of outlook, overshadowing, loss of light or general disturbance. 

7.9 No in principle objection is considered to be able to be raised to the formation of a 
small area of public seating in this location, given the function of the space and the 
presence of existing public seating. 

7.10 The proposed advertisement panels are not considered to have a significant 
impact on residential amenity given that they are non-illuminated and located an 
appropriate distance from nearby residential windows located at first and second 
floor levels. 

 Highways and Traffic Issues 

7.11 DM Policy 35 states that the Council will require street furniture to allow level and 
safe passage for all including people with disabilities including the careful design 
of shared surfaces with cyclists 

7.12 Officers are satisfied that the advertisement panels on the bench would not cause 
a distraction to oncoming vehicles given that the panels are an appropriate size, 
are not illuminated and the bench is located 5.5m from the road. The smart bench 
allows distances of at least 3.3m either side, which is considered sufficient to 
prevent an obstruction to the footway. Officers also note that neither TFL nor the 
Council’s Highways Department formally objected to the bench.  

Crime/Anti-social behaviour 

Page 341



 

 

7.13 Officers are aware of the concerns raised regarding the potential for the benches 
to increase vulnerable to street crime. In particular, the charging of expensive 
hand held electronic devices is contrary to Police advice regarding the use of such 
devices in public spaces given that it is necessary that devices are on public 
display, increasing vulnerability to theft. 

7.14 The use of mobile and valuable electronic devices within public areas is clearly 
already at a very high level, which would not be materially increased through the 
use of the subject bench. 

7.15 It is noted that the applicant undertook pre-installation consultation with the 
Council’s Crime Reduction Team and were advised that the locations chosen for 
the smart bench in Lewisham would not present any additional concerns with 
crime beyond that experience in typical day-to-day situations. Further, the 
applicant has followed advice by Police following a similar project in the London 
Borough of Islington to locate the bench at least 1-2 metres from the carriageway 
to reduce the risk of moped crime. The smart bench also features a warning 
stating ‘Please do not leave your device unattended. You are using this bench on 
your sole responsibility’ which complies with the advice given by the Design Out 
Crime Officer following consultation on this application 

7.16 The smart bench is located on a well-lit busy street with a high level of natural 
surveillance. Officers consider that the measures taken to help reduce users’ 
vulnerability to crime, both concerning the location chosen to site the bench and 
the warning printed on the bench, are sufficient to reduce theft risk. Officers also 
note that there have been no reported incidence of crime on the support telephone 
number printed on the bench, at this site or on any site in Lewisham. 

8.0 Local Finance Considerations 

8.1 Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a 
local finance consideration means: 

(a) a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, 
provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or 

(b) sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in 
payment of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

8.2 The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for 
the decision maker.  No CIL is payable in regard to this application and therefore 
local finance considerations are not considered to exert any significant influence 
on members consideration of the applications. 

9.0 Equalities Considerations 

 
9.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 

equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

9.2 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to 
the need to: 

Page 342



 

 

 (a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the Act; 

 (b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not; 

 (c) foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it. 

 

9.3 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it 
is a matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations. 

9.4 The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate 
specifically to any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it 
has been concluded that there is minimal impact on equality.  

10.0 Human Rights Implications 

10.1 In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the 
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 
1998 prohibits authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from 
acting in a way which is incompatible with the European Convention on Human 
Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here means the European Convention on Human Rights, 
certain parts of which were incorporated into English law under the Human 
Rights Act 1998. Various Convention rights are likely to be relevant including: 

• Right to a fair trial 
• Repect for your private and family life, home and correspondence 
• Freedom of expression 
• Freedom of thought, belief and religion 
• Freedom of expression 
• Freedom of assembly and association 

 

10.2 This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the 
planning application and the opportunities for people to make representations to 
the Council as Local Planning Authority.  

10.3 Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts 
are acceptable and that any potential interference with Article 8 rights will be 
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into 
account in the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any 
interference with a Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. 
Members must therefore, carefully consider the balance to be struck between 
individual rights and the wider public interest. 

11.0 Conclusion 

11.1 This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the 
development plan and other material considerations. 

Page 343



 

 

11.2 Officers consider that the smart bench has an acceptable impact on the function 
of the public realm, upon residential amenity and the appearance of the 
streetscene. The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable. 

12.0 RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:- 

Conditions 

 
1.  The development shall be retained strictly in accordance with the application 

plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below: 

    01_Location Plan_1-1250; 02_Site plan_1-200; 03_Elevation Drawings; 

Reason:  To ensure that the development is retained in accordance with the 
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and 
is acceptable to the local planning authority 

 

GRANT ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT subject to the following conditions:- 

Conditions 

1.  (a) This consent is granted for a fixed period expiring 5 years from 
the date of consent. 

(b) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of 
the owner of the site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled 
to grant permission. 

(c) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to:- 

(i) Endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, 
harbour or aerodrome (civil or military). 

(ii) Obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, 
railway signal or aid to navigation by water or air. 

(iii) Hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of 
security or surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle.  

(d) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display 
of advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair 
the visual amenity of the site.  

(e) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the 
purpose of displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that 
does not endanger the public.  

(f) Where an advertisement is required under these regulations to 
be removed, the site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the 

Page 344



 

 

public or impair visual amenity. 

Reason:  In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisement) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
2.  The advertisements hereby granted consent shall not be displayed 

otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved plans, unless 
previously agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

01_Location Plan_1-1250; 02_Site plan_1-200; 03_Elevation Drawings; 

Reason:  To protect the visual amenities of the area and to comply with the 
terms of the application and DM Policy 19 Shopfronts signs and hoardings of 
the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 

Informatives 

A.  Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all 
applicants in a positive and proactive way through specific pre-application 
enquiries and the detailed advice available on the Council’s website.  On this 
particular application, positive and proactive discussions took place with the 
applicant prior to the application being submitted through a pre-application 
discussion.  As the proposal was in accordance with these discussions and 
was in accordance with the Development Plan, no contact was made with 
the applicant prior to determination. 

 

 

Page 345



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 347



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE (C)  

Report Title Sydenham Gas Holder Station, Bell Green, London SE26 4PX  

Ward Bell Green  

Contributors Geoff Whitington  

Class PART 1 11th September 2018  

  

Reg. Nos. DC/17/100680  

  

Application dated 08.03.2017  

  

Applicant Kier Property Development Ltd and Southern Gas Network  

  

Proposal The removal of existing gasholder's and associated equipment 
and redevelopment of land to the east of Perry Hill, SE6 to pro-
vide:- 

• 1,855 sq m  (A1 Use Class) Food Store and 100 car park-
ing spaces, and cycle stores; 

• 168 sq m (Use Class A1) Coffee Shop & 325 sq m (Use 
Class A3) Restaurant, fronting Alan Pegg Place, including out-
door seating and cycle stores; 

• 1,104 sq m (B8 Use Class with ancillary offices) Depot for 
Southern Gas Networks consisting of a two-storey building and 
service yard, together with associated car parking and cycle 
stores; 

• Boundary treatment, and hard/ soft landscaping works in-
cluding the provision of a new garden area. 

 

 

Background Pa-
pers 

(1) Case File  LE/214/A/TP 
(2) Local Development Framework Documents 
(3) The London Plan (2016) 

 

Page 349

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Designation PTAL 3 

Development Site 

Local Open Space Deficiency 

Area of Archaeological Priority 

Curtilage of Listed Building (partial) 

 
 

  

Page 350



 

 

1.Introduction 

1.1. This paper which is presented to Members and should be read in conjunction 
with the 23 November 2017 Committee Report and associated background 
papers (Committee report and minutes attached as Appendices A & B).  

2.Background 

2.1. The application for the redevelopment of the Gasholder site was submitted in 
March 2017. 

2.2. This application was presented to the Lewisham Strategic Planning Commitee 
on the 23rd November 2017 with a recommendation for approval.  

2.3. Following a deliberation by Members, the application was refused permission on 
four grounds set out below.  

1. The siting of the proposed development and associated car-parking would re-

sult in the unacceptable loss of existing ancillary green open space to the 

north of Livesey Hall, which would serve to have an adverse and unsympa-

thetic impact upon the historic character, prominence and setting of the Grade 

II Listed building, War Memorial and front boundary wall, contrary to Policy 7.8 

Heritage assets and archaeology of the London Plan (2016), Core Strategy 

Policy 15 ‘High quality design for Lewisham and Core Strategy Policy 16 

‘Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic environment of the Core 

Strategy (2011), and DM Policy 30 ‘Urban design and local character’ and DM 

Policy 36 'New development, changes of use and  alterations affecting desig-

nated heritage assets and their setting: conservation areas, listed buildings, 

schedule of ancient monuments and registered parks and gardens’ of the De-

velopment Management Local Plan (2014). 

 

2. The application, by reason of additional traffic and congestion generated by 

the retail units would impact detrimentally upon the surrounding gyratory and 

local residential streets, contrary to Policy 6.12 ‘Road network capacity’ of the 

London Plan (2016), Core Strategy Policy 14: ‘Sustainable movement and 

transport’ (2011) and DM Policy 29 ‘Car-parking’ of the Development Manage-

ment Local Plan (2014). 

 
3 . The provision of the proposed additional A1 floorspace within the wider Bell 

Green retail park would exceed the prescribed maximum retail limit of 

Page 351



 

 

16,110sq.m as set out in the Core Strategy (2011), thereby harming the retail 

character and viability of adjacent shopping centres, contrary to Policy 4.7 ‘Re-

tail and town centre development’ of the London Plan (2016), Spatial Policy 4 

‘Local Hubs’ and Core strategy Policy 6 ‘Retail hierarchy and location of retail 

development’ of the Core Strategy (2011), and DM 13 ‘Location of main town 

centre uses’ of the Development Management Local Plan (2014). 

 

4. The application fails to demonstrate sufficiently that traffic and vehicu-

lar movement associated with the proposed development would not increase 

levels of air pollution within the area and would therefore have an unaccepta-

ble impact upon amenity, contrary to Policy 7.14 ‘Improving air quality’ of the 

London Plan (2016), Core Strategy Policy 9 ‘Improving local air quality’ of the 

Core strategy (2011), and DM Policy 23 ‘Air quality’ of the Development Man-

agement Local Plan (2014). 

 

3.  Appeal Update  

3.1. The applicant has submitted an appeal against the refusal of planning permission 
to the Planning Inspectorate which the Council will need to defend.  

3.2. Officers have therefore instructed sought advice, including from Counsel, as to 
how the reasons for refusal best be defended at appeal and minimise any award 
of costs against the Council. 

3.3. In supporting the Council’s decision for this application, the external consultant 
appointed to defend the appeal confirmed that he is in agreement with the posi-
tion of officers, as supported by environmental health officers and external retail 
impact advisors, as set out in the original committee report. 

Retail Impact  

3.4. Paragraphs 6.53 to 6.71 of the Committee Report set out officer’s assessment 
of the retail impact.  A full assessment of impact was undertaken on the Council’s 
behalf by Lichfields. 

3.5. Following the lodging of the above appeal, given that permission had been re-
fused contrary to officers advice, in order to allow for an impartial review the 
matters raised, officers engaged an external consultant to handle the appeal. 

3.6. The consultant advised that he supported the conclusions of the original officers 
report, which reflected the conclusions of the work carried out by Lichfields. 

3.7. The 3rd reason for refusal bases the committee’s objection primarily upon the 
breaching of the guideline limit set out in the Core Strategy.  The breaching of 

Page 352



 

 

that limit in itself is cited to be the reason that the scheme would harm “the retail 
character and viability of adjacent shopping centres”.  The analysis undertaken 
in providing officers recommendations to committee took into account this figure, 
and all relevant subsequent tests and considerations, necessary to be applied 
for this scheme, and all the more relevant given that the figure from the Core 
Strategy is some 7 years old now, and to be regarded in the context of a different 
context in regard to population growth and general planning considerations. 

3.8. Aside from specific reference to this guideline limit, no further detailed counter 
evidence was provided, upon which to adequately support or inform this reason 
for refusal.  The submitted evidence set out the impact of the scheme upon ad-
jacent shopping centres, and did not conclude that impact to be materially harm-
ful.  The reason for refusal was reliant upon the act of breaching a guideline limit 
in principle constituting a harm.  It did not state that the harm was material, or 
whether the specific degree of impact in the supporting reports were themselves 
harmful.  Reasons for refusal constructed in this manner will always be liable to 
provide difficult to defend, or indeed identify the specific harm, in order to focus 
on a specific area of challenge in any subsequent appeal.  

3.9. In the absence of such specific identified valid deficiencies, or robust further ad-
vice, no meaningful defence of this reason for refusal could be provided by the 
Council. 

3.10. As such no evidence has been able to be put forward in order to support reason 
for refusal no.3.   

3.11. It must be noted that the Inspector is not prevented from reaching their own opin-
ion on the subject, and those having made representations on the planning ap-
plication, and those making representations on the appeal, can also have their 
opinions heard on the subject. 

Air Pollution 

3.12. The 4th reason for refusal states that the “application fails to demonstrate suffi-
ciently that traffic and vehicular movement associated with the proposed devel-
opment would not increase levels of air pollution within the area and would there-
fore have an unacceptable impact upon amenity”. 

3.13. The information and evidence provided in support of the application was carried 
out with due regard to the required standards set out in industry guidance and 
planning policy and guidance.  It was reviewed by officers with relevant expertise 
in that field by the Council.  Paragraphs 6.128 to 6.131 of the Committee Report 
summarise the conclusions of that exercise. 

3.14. Crucially, paragraph 6.130 includes the following statement “In regard to emis-
sions arising from traffic generated by the operation of the development, based 
upon data including trip lengths and emission factors, it would be air quality neu-
tral”  

3.15. The conclusions set out within the applicant Air Quality Assessment, which have 
been reviewed and accepted by the relevant officers, determine that a ‘negligible 

Page 353



 

 

impact’ would arise through the development.  For construction activities this can 
and would be mitigated by steps secured by condition, and in the operational 
phase, the application satisfies the relevant standarised assessment methodol-
ogies.   

3.16. Further, the application would generally exert a negligible impact based on the 
anticipated impacts of associated vehicular movements.  The very limited relative 
degree of impact is such that a very significant change in impact arising from 
significant revised traffic movements / congestion would have to be demon-
strated.  Even in that instance (that the impacts would not fall within the ‘negligi-
ble’ classification) this would not on the basis of planning policy and guidance, 
dictate that permission be refused. 

3.17. Therefore, again in the absence of very specific evidence upon which a very 
significant different traffic / congestion impact could be identified and very signif-
icantly increased air quality impacts might then arise, no meaningful defence of 
the reason for refusal has been able to be provided. 

3.18. As such no evidence has been able to be put forward in order to support reason 
for refusal no.4.   

3.19. Again, it must be noted that the Inspector is not prevented from reaching their 
own opinion on the subject, and those having made representations on the plan-
ning application, and those making representations on the appeal, can also have 
their opinions heard on the subject. 

Conclusion 

3.20. For the above reasons, only reasons for refusal 1 & 2 are being defended. 

3.21. The Council’s Statement of Case to this effect has been provided to the Planning 
Inspectorate and the appellant, and the Public Inquiry is currently due to occur in 
early 2019.   

4.  Recommendation 

4.1 That members of this Committee note this update. 

Page 354



SYDENHAM GAS HOLDER STATION, BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PX Site Map 
 

 

Page 355



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix A 
 
 
SYDENHAM GAS HOLDER STATION, 
BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PX 
 
Committee Report of 23rd November 2017 
 
 

Page 357



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE (C) 

Report Title Sydenham Gas Holder Station, Bell Green, London SE26 4PX 

Ward Bell Green 

Contributors Geoff Whitington 

Class PART 1 23 November 2017 

 

Reg. Nos. DC/17/100680  
 
Application dated 08.03.2017   
 
Applicant Kier Property Development Ltd and Southern Gas 

Network 
 
Proposal The removal of existing gasholder's and associated 

equipment and redevelopment of land to the east of 
Perry Hill, SE6 to provide:- 
 

 1,855 sq m  (A1 Use Class) Food Store and 
100 car parking spaces, and cycle stores; 

 

 168 sq m (Use Class A1) Coffee Shop & 325 
sq m (Use Class A3) Restaurant, fronting 
Alan Pegg Place, including outdoor seating 
and cycle stores; 

 

 1,104 sq m (B8 Use Class with ancillary 
offices) Depot for Southern Gas Networks 
consisting of a two-storey building and 
service yard, together with associated car 
parking and cycle stores; 

 

 Boundary treatment, and hard/ soft 
landscaping works including the provision of 
a new garden area. 

 
 

 
Applicant’s Plan Nos. 1923-P-21; 1923-P-22; 1923-P-23; 1923-P-24; 

1923-P-25; 1923-P-29; 1923-P-30; 1923-P-31; 
1923-P-32; 1923-P-33; 1923-P-35; 1923-P-36; 
1923-P-37; 1923-P-38; 1923-P-40; 1923-P-41; 
1923-P-42; 9107/100 Rev B; Tree Retention/ 
Removal & Protection Plan; Tree Constraints Plan; 
LS-01 Rev C; LS-02 Rev C; LS-03 Rev C; Planning 
Statement; Design & Access Statement; Heritage 
Statement; Retail Planning Statement; Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy; Sustainability 
Statement; Energy Statement; Transport 
Assessment; External Lighting; Generic Quantitative 
Risk Assessment Reports (K3 Livesey & K3 SGN); 
Aldi Stores Ltd: Travel Plan; Archaeological Desk 
Based Assessment; Noise Assessment Report; 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal; Bat Emergence & 
Activity Survey Report; BREEAM pre-assessment 
(SGN Unit); BREEAM pre-assessment (Unit A); 
BREEAM pre-assessment (Units B & C); Air Quality 

Page 359



 

 

Assessment; Statement of Community Involvement; 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Received 15 
March 2017 
 
1923-P-28 Rev A; Transport Highways Response 
received 4 September 2017 
 

 
Background Papers (1) Case File  LE/214/A/TP 

(2) Local Development Framework Documents 
(3) The London Plan (2016) 

 
Designation PTAL 3 

Development Site 
Local Open Space Deficiency 
Area of Archaelogical Priority 

  

1.0     Property/Site Description   

1.1 The application site is located on the east side of Perry Hill to the rear of the Grade II 
listed Livesey Hall, and is accessed from Alan Pegg Place. Part of the site is currently 
occupied by two redundant gasholders and associated infrastructure to the central and 
southern areas, whilst to the northern part is a scaffold yard and former bowling green. 
The Livesey Hall was constructed in 1911 after the two gasholders. 

1.2     The subject site is not located within a conservation area, nor is it subject to an Article 4 
Direction. The gasholders were formally designated as locally listed structures on 25 
October 2017 at Mayor and Cabinet.  

1.3     The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating of 2, whereby on a scale 
of 1-6, 1 means poor access to public transport. However, bus stops are located within 
close proximity on either side of Perry Hill, and Alan Pegg Place, and the immediate area 
is served by 5 bus routes. The nearest train station is Lower Sydenham accessed from 
Kangley Bridge Road to the south. 

1.4 The surrounding area provides a mix of residential and retail uses. A Sainsbury’s store 
and associated car-park lies to the south-east of the site. 

1.5 To the east is an existing retail park comprising six units and a drive-thru restaurant, with 
associated car-parking for 460 vehicles. Employment units and associated parking are 
located further to the east. 

1.6 To the south of the site is a mixed use residential and commercial development, ranging 
in height between two to four storeys. The residential element comprises 4 one bedroom 
flats and 16 two bedroom flats. Further to the south of this is a 3-8 storey residential 
building comprising 32 one bedroom flats and 104 two bedroom flats with parking for 61 
vehicles on the ground floor and residential amenity space provided on a first floor 
podium.   

1.7 To the north and west of the site are 2-storey dwelling-houses. Mixed residential and 
commercial buildings are located on the western side of Bell Green to the south of the 
application site. 

1.8 The Pool River is located 350 metres to the east of the site, and the Environment Agency 
flood map indicates the site falls within Flood Zone 1. 

1.9 To the west and south of the site are Bell Green and Southend Lane, leading to Stanton 
Way. These are busy routes linking Sydenham, Catford, Beckenham and Bromley. 

Page 360



 

 

1.10 Spatial Policy 4 of the Core Strategy identifies this area of Bell Green as being a 
designated out of centre retail park.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.0 Planning History 

2.1 There have been no planning applications for this site. 

2.2 There is extensive planning history relating to the comprehensive redevelopment of the 
adjacent sites. The following applications are relevant. 

DC/05/59375: The redevelopment of part of the Former Bell Green Gas Works Perry Hill 
SE6, comprising the construction of business/industrial warehouse units, 10,644 sq.m 
gross (Use Class B1/B2/B8), non-food retail units including a DIY store with associated 
garden centre 13,517sq.m gross (Use Class A1) drive-thru restaurant 316sq.m (Use 
Class A3), together with the use of the Livesey Memorial Hall as a social club (Use Class 
D2), associated landscaping, highway improvements, provisions of refuse storage area 40 
bicycle and 598 car parking spaces.  

 
DC/08/070558: The construction of five blocks ranging from 3 to 7 storeys, comprising 
178 residential units (including 65 affordable housing) and 1,247sq.m of commercial floor 
space (use classes A1/A2/A3/B1/D1) on Land at former Bell Green Gas Works, Bell 
Green SE26, together with associated landscaping, bin stores, 178 cycle parking spaces, 
79 car parking spaces, highway works, plant and servicing. 
 
DC/12/079820: Development of 11 double height (11.6m) warehouse units for business, 
general industrial, storage and distribution (including trade counters) and ancillary office 
accommodation with an overall gross internal floor area of 5,054 sqm in addition to 
associated access and 55 car parking spaces and soft landscaping at Phase II of the 
Former Bell Green Gas Works, SE26.  
 

Page 361



 

 

3.0 Current Planning Application 

The Proposals 

3.1 The application seeks consent for the demolition of the existing gasholders and 
associated equipment, and a comprehensive redevelopment that would include the 
construction of retail and commercial units, together with the construction of a 2-storey 
depot and compound area for Southern Gas Network (SGN).  

3.2 The largest unit (A) would be centrally located directly to the rear of Livesey Hall (a Grade 
II Listed Building.) The A1 retail unit is currently planned to be operated by Aldi, and would 
deliver up to 50 jobs. The building would measure an internal floor area of 1855sq.m, and 
a single-storey height of 5 metres rising to 8 metres. A loading bay area would be sited to 
the rear, with 100 car-parking spaces to the south.  

3.3 Two smaller single-storey (6.5m height) commercial units (B and C) would lie to the 
southern edge of the site fronting Alan Pegg Place, set within a hard and soft landscaped 
area that would provide outdoor seating for customers. Unit B would measure an internal 
area of 325sq.m, and Unit C 158sq.m. The two units would be capable of providing 
employment for 25-33 full and part-time jobs. At the time of writing this report, there were 
no proposed end users for either unit. 

3.4 To the north of the site would be the 2-storey SGN depot (1104sq.m), which would 
provide a predominant B8 storage use with ancillary offices for between 75-100 staff, with 
approximately 50 staff on site during the working day. 42no. car parking spaces would be 
allocated to staff to the front of the building, with a service yard located at the rear. The 
offices would operate during ‘normal’ working hours, however the storage element would 
be accessible 24hrs a day so tools and materials can be used in any emergency call outs. 
Generally, engineers would park their work vehicles at home over-night rather than on-
site. The existing SGN pumping station to the south-eastern corner of the site would be 
retained. 

3.5 Ten dedicated parking bays for Livesey Hall would be provided to the western side of the 
Aldi store. A new garden area would also be formed for Livesey Hall directly to the south 
of the Hall.  

3.6 Highways works beyond the site to be undertaken under a S278 agreement would include 
the formation of two crossings with dropped kerbs adjacent to the existing roundabout on 
Alan Pegg Place and Ron Stockbridge Close. In addition, the existing 2-lane approach 
toward the Perry Hill junction would be revised to 3 lanes without the need of widening the 
road.  

3.7 Landscaping measures to the south-west corner of the site is proposed, which would 
create a route through the site from Perry Hill/ Alan Pegg Place. Existing trees (which are 
not subject to a Tree Preservation Order or within a conservation area) would be largely 
replaced with new trees and planting.  

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 This section outlines the consultation carried out by the applicant prior to submission and 
by the Council following the submission of the application and summarises the responses 
received.  

 

Pre-application consultation by applicant 

Page 362



 

 

4.2 The applicant has submitted a Public Consultation Statement in support of the application, 
which refers to a public event held on 7 December and 10 December 2016 at Livesey 
Hall. Details of the scheme were displayed on panels, and attendees were able to discuss 
the plans with members of the project team. Over the course of the two days, 163 people 
attended, with the main areas of feedback responses being toward increased traffic; low 
need for a further foodstore; welcome regeneration and loss of the gasholders. 

4.3 The statement summarises the issues raised during the consultation process and how the 
applicant has sought to address these in the submitted application. 

Post-submission consultation by Council 

4.4 The Council’s consultation exceeded the minimum statutory requirements and those 
required by the Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement.  

4.5 Site notices were displayed and letters were sent to residents and businesses in the 
surrounding area and the ward Councillors.  

Written Responses received from Local Residents and Organisations 

4.6 In response to consultation, 66 letters and a petition signed by 640 objecting to the 
proposal, and 81 letters of support were received.  

4.7 The following planning concerns raised by objectors are summarised as follows:  

- There is no need for further retail use in the area; 

- Gasholders should be retained; 

- Highways and congestion concerns; 

- High level of existing traffic using the existing retail park; 

- Gasholders are a symbol of Sydenham and its historic past; 

- Air quality concerns; 

- Unsympathetic form of development; 

- Large shops should be located in high streets; 

- A residential scheme should be considered instead of retail; 

- The proposal lacks imagination and creativity; 

- Impact upon local high streets. 

4.8 The petition was submitted at the Council meeting on 17th July 2017 by Councillor Hall, 
entitled ‘Save the Bell Green Gas Holders’. 

4.9 The Sydenham Society object to the proposal due to the loss of the gasholders, and 
detail their historic context. They also consider the site inappropriate for further retail 
development; and raise air pollution concerns. 

4.10 The Victorian Society consider the proposed scheme to have no architectural merit or 
architectural quality, and strongly supports the retention of the gasholders. 

4.11 The Forest Hill Society object to the proposal on grounds including historic context; traffic 
management; and impact on local high streets.   

Page 363



 

 

4.12 The Greater London Industrial Archaeology Society objects, referring to the gasholders 
being ‘good examples of the early form of lattice guide frames’, and the very few 
examples remaining nationally of this earliest form of lattice frame.  

4.13 Standard letters were distributed to local residents by a neighbouring occupier, which 
were then individually signed and sent to the Council in support of the proposal, stating 
the following: 

- The site is currently not in use and attracts litter and fly-tipping. As the Country’s 
gasholders are no longer in use and are scheduled for demolition, I support action to 
bring the site into positive use so it does not further deteriorate. 

- The proposed introduction of around 160-200 jobs, which will benefit local people in 
years to come. 

- I welcome SGN’s plans for employment space, as this part of Lewisham needs to 
attract good quality industrial jobs; 

- The development will bring an estimated £2.7m a year into the economy; 

- Will be good to have a coffee shop and restaurant nearby for local residents. 

 

Local Drop-in Session 

4.14   The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) requires that a local meeting or 
drop-in session be offered to those who have made representations and the applicant at 
least two weeks prior to a decision being made on a planning application, in the following 
circumstances: 

 where one or more objection(s) have been received from a residents’ association, 
community/amenity group or ward Councillor; and/or 

 where a petition is received containing more than 25 signatures; and/or 

 where 10 or more individual written objections are received from different residents. 
 

4.15   Subsequently, a drop in session was held on 6th November 2017 at the Civic Suite in 
Catford. Planning and Highways officers were present, and 6 members of the 
development team. Plans and visuals of the proposals were displayed.  

4.16 In the event, 19 people attended the 2.5hr session, and the main areas of discussion 
centred around the heritage value and retention of the gasholders, and highways related 
matters, in particular congestion concerns associated with the proposed Aldi store.  

4.17 One written comment by an attendee considered there to be no need for further retail 
provision in Bell Green, and raised concern toward additional traffic.  

Written Responses received from Statutory Agencies 

Historic England 

4.18 Following an assessment, it was determined that the gasholders did not meet the criteria 
for national listing, however it would be appropriate for an historic building recording to be 
undertaken prior to development. 

Environment Agency 

4.19       No objections, subject to the inclusion of a site contamination condition. 

Thames Water 

Page 364



 

 

4.20 No objection with regard to water and sewerage infrastructure capacity. With regard to 
surface water drainage it is the responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for 
drainage to ground, water courses or a suitable sewer.  

TfL 

4.21 TfL raised initial objections to the provision of disabled parking bays, and the layout of   
cycle stores. The applicant has since addressed their concerns, and TfL have raised no 
further objections. 

5.0 Policy Context 

Introduction 

5.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) sets out that in 
considering and determining applications for planning permission the local planning 
authority must have regard to:-  

(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, 

(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 

(c) any other material considerations. 

A local finance consideration means: 

(a) a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to 
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown, or 

(b) sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

5.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) makes it clear that ‘if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise’. The development plan for 
Lewisham comprises the Core Strategy, the Development Management Local Plan, the 
Site Allocations Local Plan and the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, and the London 
Plan.  The NPPF does not change the legal status of the development plan. 

National Planning Policy Framework 

5.3 The NPPF was published on 27 March 2012 and is a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications.  It contains at paragraph 14, a ‘presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’. Annex 1 of the NPPF provides guidance on 
implementation of the NPPF.  In summary, this states in paragraph 211, that policies in 
the development plan should not be considered out of date just because they were 
adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF.  At paragraphs 214 and 215 guidance is 
given on the weight to be given to policies in the development plan.  As the NPPF is now 
more than 12 months old paragraph 215 comes into effect.  This states in part that ‘…due 
weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with this framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)’. 

5.4 Officers have reviewed the Core Strategy for consistency with the NPPF and consider 
there is no issue of significant conflict.  As such, full weight can be given to these policies 
in the decision making process in accordance with paragraphs 211, and 215 of the NPPF. 

Page 365



 

 

 Other National Guidance 

5.5 The other relevant national guidance is: 

Design  

Health and wellbeing  

Planning obligations  

Renewable and low carbon energy  

Travel plans, transport assessments and statements in decision-taking  

Use of Planning Conditions  

London Plan (2016) 

5.6 The London Plan policies relevant to this application are:  

Policy 3.16 Protection and enhancement of social infrastructure 
Policy 4.1 Developing London’s economy 
Policy 5.1 Climate change mitigation 
Policy 5.2 Minimising carbon dioxide emissions 
Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction 
Policy 5.11 Green roofs and development site environs 
Policy 5.13 Sustainable drainage 
Policy 5.18 Construction, excavation and demolition waste 
Policy 5.21 Contaminated land 
Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of development on transport capacity 
Policy 6.7 Better streets and surface transport 
Policy 6.9 Cycling 
Policy 6.10 Walking 
Policy 6.11 Smoothing traffic flow and tackling congestion 
Policy 6.12 Road network capacity 
Policy 6.13 Parking 
Policy 7.1 Building London’s neighbourhoods and communities 
Policy 7.2 An inclusive environment 
Policy 7.3 Designing out crime 
Policy 7.4 Local character 
Policy 7.6 Architecture 
Policy 7.8 Heritage and assets and archaeology 
Policy 7.14 Improving air quality 
Policy 7.15 Reducing noise and enhancing soundscapes 
Policy 7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature 
Policy 8.2 Planning obligations 
Policy 8.3 Community infrastructure levy 

 

London Plan Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

5.7 The London Plan SPG’s relevant to this application are:  

Social Infrastructure (2015) 
Character and Context (2014) 
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (2014) 
Sustainable Design and Construction (2014) 
Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (2007) 
Control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition (2014) 

Page 366

http://www.london.gov.uk/thelondonplan/guides/spg/spg_01.jsp
http://www.london.gov.uk/thelondonplan/guides/spg/spg_04.jsp
http://www.london.gov.uk/thelondonplan/guides/spg/spg_07.jsp
http://www.london.gov.uk/thelondonplan/guides/bpg/bpg_04.jsp


 

 

 Core Strategy (2011) 

5.8 The Core Strategy was adopted by the Council at its meeting on 29 June 2011. The Core 
Strategy, together with the Site Allocations, the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, the 
Development Management Local Plan and the London Plan is the borough's statutory 
development plan. The following lists the relevant strategic objectives, spatial policies and 
cross cutting policies from the Lewisham Core Strategy as they relate to this application:  

Spatial Policy 1 Lewisham Spatial Strategy 
Spatial Policy 4 Local Hubs 
Core Strategy Policy 6 Retail hierarchy and location of retail development 
Core Strategy Policy 7 Climate change and adapting to the effects 
Core Strategy Policy 8 Sustainable design and construction and energy efficiency 
Core Strategy Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets 
Core Strategy Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport 
Core Strategy Policy 16 Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic environment 
Core Strategy Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham 
Core Strategy Policy 21   Planning obligations 

 

Development Management Local Plan 

5.9 The Development Management Local Plan was adopted by the Council at its meeting on 
26 November 2014. The Development Management Local Plan, together with the Site 
Allocations, the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, the Core Strategy and the London 
Plan is the borough's statutory development plan. The following lists the relevant strategic 
objectives, spatial policies and cross cutting policies from the Development Management 
Local Plan as they relate to this application: 

5.10 The following policies are considered to be relevant to this application:  

DM Policy 1              Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

DM Policy 22  Sustainable design and construction 

DM Policy 23  Air quality 

DM Policy 25  Landscaping and trees 

DM Policy 26   Noise and vibration 

DM Policy 27  Lighting 

DM Policy 28   Contaminated land 

DM Policy 29  Car parking 

DM Policy 30  Urban design and local character 

DM Policy 36 New development, changes of use and alterations affecting 
designated heritage assets and their setting: conservation areas, 
listed buildings, schedule of ancient monuments and registered parks 
and gardens 

DM Policy 37 Non designated heritage assets including locally listed buildings, 
areas of special local character and areas of archaeological interest 

 

 

 

Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (February 2015) 

Page 367



 

 

5.11 This document sets out guidance and standards relating to the provision of affordable 
housing within the Borough and provides detailed guidance on the likely type and 
quantum of financial obligations necessary to mitigate the impacts of different types of 
development.   

6.0 Planning Considerations 

6.1 The main issues to be considered in respect of this application are: 

a) Principle of development; 

 Removal of gasholders, and design impact upon setting of the Livesey Hall 

 Retail and employment use 
b) Scale and siting of development, and operational impact upon neighbouring amenity 
c) Highways and traffic issues 
d) Impact on neighbouring occupiers 
e) Sustainability and energy 
f) Ecology and landscaping 
g)  Planning obligations  

 

Principle of Development 

Removal of Gasholders 

6.2 The NPPF (para.14) states that applications should be considered in the context of a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that development proposals which 
accord with the development plan should be approved without delay. The NPPF (para.17) 
promotes mixed use developments that encourage multiple benefits and encourages 
development on previously developed land.  

6.3 Section 12 of the NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the historic environment. The 
following paragraphs are relevant;  

NPPF 129: Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular 
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by 
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available 
evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this assessment into account 
when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise 
conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 

133: Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to 
achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following 
apply; 

- The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 

- No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 

- Conservation by grant funding or some form of charitable or public ownership is 
demonstrably not possible; and  

- The harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. 

 

 

Page 368



 

 

134: Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public  benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use. 

 

135: The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 
should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications 
that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced 
judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. 

 

136: Local planning authorities should not permit loss of the whole or part of a heritage 
asset without taking all reasonable steps to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the loss has occurred. 

6.4 The proposed redevelopment of the site would include the removal of the last 
remaining Victorian gasholders, these being Gasholder No. 7 (built 1882), and No.8 
(1890). Smaller gasholders to the east were demolished many years ago. The holders 
range in diameter between 49m to 54m and are between 27m and 38m in height. The 
gasworks ceased operating in the 1980s, and the cast iron structures were formally 
decommissioned in 2012 following changes in the way gas is stored. The gasholders 
are currently purged to air and capped off from the local distribution gas network.  

6.5 Currently the site retains its Hazardous Substances Consent and the Health and 
Safety Executive remains a statutory consultee for development within the 
consultation distance. The applicant has confirmed that if planning permission should 
be obtained, in order to be able to remove the holders from the site, they will work with 
the Council to relocate the Hazardous Substances Consent. It is anticipated that the 
dismantling works could be completed over a period of 12 months.  

6.6 Historic England were asked to statutorily list the gasholders in early 2017 but considered 
that given the large numbers of gasholders and the increasing standardisation in design, 
the threshold for special interest on a national level is necessarily high, with only 16 
designated examples in the country. It was considered that the Bell Green examples were 
not more exemplar than other listed examples of gas holders found in London and the rest 
of the country, and Historic England declined to statutorily list the two gasholders. 

6.7 The gasholders were however formally awarded locally listed status on 25 October 
2017 at Mayor and Cabinet following a nomination. The Council’s adopted criteria for 
local listing are as follows: 

 Historic Interest: buildings that are of special social, economic or cultural interest to 
Lewisham, and/or have proven affiliation with locally important people and events, or 
other community associations (particularly important local architects); 

 Architectural Interest:  buildings that are of special architectural interest to Lewisham 
for reasons of their vernacular, aesthetic, type (i.e. form and function), style, plan, 
technology, townscape, unity, or association with important local architects;    

 Age or Rarity: buildings that are:  
 
- Legibly pre-1700 in interest 
- Of appreciable interest from between 1700 to 1840  
- Of a high level of interest following 1840  
- Of an outstanding interest and less than 30 years old  

 

Page 369



 

 

6.8 Any one of the above criteria in isolation may be considered sufficient justification for local 
listing. In addition, heritage significance is assessed following national guidance as set out 
in the English Heritage publication ‘Conservation Principles’ (2008), which promotes a 
value-based approach for defining heritage significance. Heritage significance can derive 
from the aesthetic and design merits of a building, but equally can embrace more broader 
and less tangible values, such as evidential, historical or communal value: 

6.9 The Mayor and Cabinet report presented on 25th October 2017 is attached in 
Appendix A. In summary, it concluded that the proposed demolition of the gasholders is 
considered by officers to cause harm to the visual amenities of the area as it will result in 
the loss of a building of significant historic, townscape and architectural qualities. The 
building is a landmark and forms a significant part of the visual amenity of the area. The 
report also addresses the relationship between the gasholders and Livesey Hall, stating 
‘The structures are prominently positioned within the setting of three grade II listed 
buildings, Livesey Memorial Hall, the War Memorial and the wall surrounding the Hall. All 
of these structures together with the gasholders have intrinsic group value, and are an 
integral part of the history of Sydenham and are of special social, cultural and economic 
interest to the borough of Lewisham and this part of south London.’ 

 
6.10 The report also refers to a case to be made in principle for an Article 4 Direction taking 

away permitted development rights to demolish the gasholders, however it advised that 
‘as there is no budget provision for compensation on this site, and there are other locally 
listed buildings outside conservation areas whose redevelopment may give rise to similar 
claims, the saving of one unlisted building at such substantial cost is not considered to be 
justified, particularly in current financial circumstances. For these reasons the Article 4 
Direction is not recommended.’ 

 

6.11 Officers had acknowledged the concern previously expressed by consultees in 
relation to the loss of the gasholders prior to their potential local listing, in particular by 
virtue of their visual significance as landmarks within the public realm and symbolism 
of the industrial history of the wider site. The cultural importance of the industrial past 
was recognised, and the gasholders were therefore considered by officers as non-
designated heritage assets prior to their listing, being synominous with Bell Green 
generally, albeit lacking sufficient architectural merit and detailing as observed by 
Historic England.  

 
6.12 DM Policy 37 Non designated heritage assets including locally listed buildings, areas of 

special local character and areas of archaeological interest, advises ‘The Council will seek 
to retain and enhance locally listed buildings and structures and may use its powers to 
protect their character, significance and contribution made by their setting, where 
appropriate. The Council will resist the demolition of locally listed buildings and expect 
applicants to give due consideration to retaining and incorporating them in any new 
development.’ 

6.13 The Heritage Statement document prepared by Montagu Evans (Chartered Surveyors) 

and submitted as part of this application, includes a review of relevant national and local 

heritage planning policies. The statement references the gasholders as non-designated 
heritage assets, as does the submission generally, however it considers them to have 
limited value as late-Victorian gasholders, whilst ‘lacking any particular architectural 
quality, or claim to technical innovation.’ Paragraph 6.6 does however acknowledge the 
gasholders contribute to the setting and special interest of Livesey Hall, being the last 
remaining industrial structures relating to the former gas works, whilst being a dominant 
presence in the skyline. 

 
6.14 The statement establishes the significance of the designated heritage asset and assesses 

the impact of the demolition works upon it. The assessment viewed the proposed 

Page 370



 

 

demolition works from different locations, and had regard to the loss of the structures in 
the context of the existing physical fabric of the area.  

 
6.15 It concluded that the dismantling of the gasholders would lead to ‘some limited harm to the 

setting’ of Livesey Hall, however it argues that there was no planned or formal relationship 
between the gasholders and Livesey Hall, and is more an outcome of the phased 
redevelopment of the gasworks site. Thereafter, the statement concentrates upon the 
wider benefits of the proposal. 

  
6.16 The NPPF (para.126) advocates a positive strategy for conserving and enhancing the 

historic environment, taking account of (amongst other things) the desirability of new 
development to make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. 

 
6.17 The heritage value of the gasholders has been established with the recent local listing, 

and it is agreed that the removal of the structures would affect the setting of Livesey Hall, 
and would be a notable absence from the wider Bell Green area. This however must be 
weighed against other issues, including the feasibility of retaining the gasholders as part 
of a redevelopment of the site, the potential public benefits arising from the current 
scheme and the weight of the local listing outside of a conservation area.  

 

6.18 It is also important to consider paragraph 3.7 of the applicant’s Planning Statement, 
which states that ‘regardless of the final outcome of this application, the gasholders 
will need to come down….’.  

 
6.19 The applicant advises that SGN has 111 gas holders in the UK, and due to new 

technologies, they are no longer required to store gas and are being phased out of 
operation. ‘The cost of upkeep of these structures is becoming an increasing burden, 
there is a full programme to dismantle 55 of the gasholders by 2021, with the remaining 
56 to be removed soon after 2021.’ Maintenance works to the gasholders generally 
include shot blasting and repainting approximately every 7 years, which amounts to 
considerable cost. 

 
6.20 The applicants have advised the delivery of a scheme that seeks to retain the existing 

gasholders would be extremely difficult due to the existing constraints of the site, whilst a 
scheme that considers a refurbishment and retention of the gasholders would be unviable. 
It has therefore always been the intention of SGN to remove the gasholders on grounds of 
site constraints and cost implications. The position of SGN is clearly one of resistance to 
the retention of the gasholders, with no long term future for them irrespective of the 
outcome of the current application.  

6.21 In respect of the status of the recent local listing - whilst the designation formally 

acknowledges the historic value of the gasholders, it does not prevent their demolition as 
would a statutory listing, or siting within a conservation area. Demolition in certain 
circumstances is permitted development by reason of Part 31 of Schedule 2 of the 
General Permitted Development Order 1995. However, for development to be “permitted” 
under Part 31, an applicant must apply to the Local Planning Authority for a determination 
as to whether Prior Approval of the authority will be required to the method of demolition 
and any proposed restoration of the site. A Prior Approval relates only to the proposed  
demolition methods and re-instatement of the ground, not the principle of demolition which 
is permitted by the Order if the Council is satisfied to the method of demolition. 

6.22 A potential planning refusal in respect of this application on the grounds of the loss of 
the gasholders as non-designated heritage assets, and the subsequent impact it 
would have upon the setting of Livesey Hall, must therefore be considered in context 
with the weight of the local listing of structures that are not in a conservation area and 
the objectives of a potential Prior Approval, in addition to the intentions of SGN.  

Page 371



 

 

6.23 Para 134 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable 
use. Paragraph 135 states that a balanced judgement will be required having regard to 
the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of a non-designated heritage asset. 

 

6.24 On balance, officers consider that when material considerations such as potential 
regeneration benefits including significant employment benefits arising from a future 
redevelopment of the gasworks site are taken into account, they may be considered to 
outweigh any potential harm to heritage assets associated with the demolition of the two 
gasholders, in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 134 and 135 of the NPPF.  

 
6.25 The demolition of the gasholders that provide no operational functions would form the first 

stage of redeveloping the last remaining gasworks site in an integrated manner that fully 
complies with national and local planning policy. Other structures to be removed from the 
site associated with the gasworks use are considered to have no special architectural or 
historic interest and their loss would not cause harm to the character of the immediate 
area. 

 
6.26 The SGN objectives for the gasholders – consistent with their approach toward many 

of their gasholders – is a material consideration in determining this planning 
application. For this reason, the Local Planning Authority must consider the wider 
implications of potentially refusing planning permission on non-designated heritage 
grounds, in the knowledge that the local listing would not prevent their demolition, ie a 
potential future planning appeal and substantial associated costs (including possibly 
the costs of the applicant if their planning appeal was successful.)   

  
6.27 Officers have undertaken a full assessment of the demolition in accordance with DM 

Policy 37. It is acknowledged a new development that seeks to retain the gasholders 
would be significantly restricted by the difficulty of building within or around them, 
whilst the close proximity of Livesey Hall, the Bentonite Wall and the SGN pumping 
station (demonstrated in plan 1923-P-23), would reduce the useable space around the 
site, and subsequently, the scale of development. It is also appreciated that retaining 
the gasholders would require their dismantling to allow necessary groundworks and 
removal of the bells, before their rebuilding. The applicants have not confirmed the 
cost of undertaking these operations. 

 
6.28     The current condition of the application site is neither welcoming or conducive to the public 

use of the already developed areas of the gasworks site. The site is desolate, 
characterised by a scaffolding yard; a hardstand area for motorcycle training; an 
overgrown bowling green that has been unused for many years, unsightly galvanised steel 
fencing around the gasholders; and overgrown hardstand areas for which their only 
function is to provide access for SGN workers. It may therefore be argued that the site 
itself is detrimental to the eastern setting of Livesey Hall, and that the redevelopment as 
proposed would provide an opportunity to enhance the appearance of the site, and its 
relationship with Livesey Hall as a listed building. 

 
6.29 Considering the above factors on balance officers conclude the redevelopment of the site 

and the removal of the gasholders would be supportable, subject to an appropriately 
designed scheme that would not harm the setting of the adjacent Grade II Livesey Hall. 

 
 Design and Visual Impact upon Livesey Hall 
 
6.30 DM Policy 37 states the Council will seek to protect locally listed buildings where they 

contribute to their setting. 

Page 372



 

 

6.31 Urban design is a key consideration in the planning process. The NPPF (para. 56) makes 
it clear that national government places great importance on the design of the built 
environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from 
good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people. The 
NPPF (para. 57) states that it is important to plan positively for the achievement of high 
quality and inclusive design for all development, including individual buildings, public and 
private spaces and wider area development schemes. 

6.32 The NPPF (para. 58) requires Local Planning Authorities to undertake a design critique of 
planning proposals to ensure that developments would function well and add to the 
overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the 
development.  

6.33 London Plan and Core Strategy design policies further reinforce the principles of the 
NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality urban design. Core Strategy Policy 15 
states that the Council will apply national and regional policy and guidance to ensure the 
highest quality design and the protection or enhancement of the historic and natural 
environment, which is sustainable, accessible to all, optimises the potential of sites, is 
sensitive to the local context, and responds to local character.   

6.34 DM Policy 30 states that the Council will require all development proposals to attain a 
high standard of design. Therefore the Council sets a high standard of design within the 
Borough.  

6.35   In assessing the suitability of the proposed design response of the commercial and 
employment units, officers consider that the establishment of a positive relationship 
between the proposed development and a Grade II listed building, existing public realm, 
and neighbouring residential dwellings to be of high importance. In particular it is noted 
that DM Policy 30 expressly states that when considering the layout and access 
arrangements of development, ‘large areas of parking and servicing must be avoided’. 
Additionally officers are required to consider how a proposed scheme relates to the scale 
and alignment of the existing street including its building frontages. 

Unit A (Aldi) 

6.36   The application proposes the removal of the existing redundant gasholders, and the 
construction of three separate buildings. The Aldi retail store would be roughly located to 
the central area of the site, being rectangular shaped, with its car-park directly to the 
south. The single-storey building would incorporate a sloping roof that would rise to a 
height of 8 metres, whilst the footprint would measure 60 metres in length and 35 metres 
wide.  

6.37 External facing materials would include the use of extensive glazing to the eastern 
elevation, high level windows and cladding to the south (front facing) elevation, and 
predominant use of cladding to the northern and western elevations.  

6.38 The simple appearance of the building is typical of a retail park unit, and not dissimilar to 
the approach undertaken to the nearby Sainsbury’s. Its position within the site behind 
Livesey Hall would mean that its impact upon the public realm, ie Perry Hill, would be 
minimal, being visible mostly from within the retail park.    

6.39 Of the three buildings proposed, the retail store would lie the closest to the Grade II 
Livesey Hall. DM Policy 36 requires the submission of a statement for new development 
proposals affecting heritage assets that describes the significance of the asset and its 
setting, and an assessment of the impact on that significance. This is in line with 
paragraph 128 of the NPPF. 

Page 373



 

 

6.40 The applicant has submitted a Heritage Statement that assesses the history of Livesey 
Hall and its architectural significance. Its western elevation in particular draws attention 
due to its detailing, choice of materials, elaborate porch, terracotta tiles and panel over 
the front entrance bearing the name of the Hall.  

6.41 Paragraph 4.6 of the Heritage Statement observes Livesey Hall was intended to address 
Perry Hill, being the more public and visible side, rather than the gasworks to the east. 
This does appear to be a correct assessment as in comparison with the frontage, the rear 
elevation of Livesey Hall is less detailed, and has been subjected to various extensions of 
no creditable design value.  

6.42 It is therefore considered that the proposed building would have less than substantial  
harm upon the character or setting of the listed Livesey Hall, its war memorial or front 
boundary wall. The proposed retail store would be positioned approximately 25 metres 
from the rear elevation of the Hall, which is further away than the existing gasholders. 
Currently, Livesey Hall does not have a notable presence when viewed from within the 
retail park as it is largely screened by the gasholders and trees. Historic England have 
raised no objections toward the impact of the proposed retail store upon Livesey Hall.   

6.43 The smaller commercial units (B and C) would be accommodated within a single-storey 
building measuring 30 metres length and 19 metres wide, and a height of 6.5 metres. 
Officers consider the height and massing to be acceptable, and are satisfied that due to 
them being located approximately 40 metres to the south of Livesey Hall, they would not 
impact upon its character or setting.  

6.44 Cladding would be the dominant facing material of Units B and C, with glazing to three 
elevations. Plan 1923-P-42 indicates the south elevation fronting Alan Pegg Place would 
be almost entirely clad, with two solid fire exit doors. Considering this would be the 
‘public’ side of the building, it is appropriate that further consideration be afforded to the 
elevation treatment - this has been agreed with the applicant, and could be required by 
Condition.  

SGN Depot 

6.45 The proposed 2-storey building would be located 5 metres away from the northern 
boundary of the site, measuring a height of 9.6 metres, and a footprint of 25m x 25m. The 
building would be sited 40 metres from the Perry Hill frontage, approximately 13 metres 
set further back than the existing bowling green hut.  

6.46 Silver coloured cladding would be used to all elevations, with most fenestration to the 
front elevation, and minimal use to the sides and rear. 

6.47 The building is more functional than attractive, being conducive with office/ depot use. 
The proposed height would be less than the Livesey Hall – which lies 30 metres away -  
and comparable with neighbouring 2-storey plus roofspace dwellings. The distance away 
from the front boundary and partial screening from the existing listed wall would serve to 
reduce the visual impact upon the public realm. 

6.48 Officers are satisfied with the siting and appearance of the proposed SGN building, and 
that it would not be detrimental to the setting of Livesey Hall.  

6.49 In conclusion, having considered the scale and design of the proposed development, and 
the resulting visual impact upon the character and setting of Livesey Hall and the other 
listed elements, officers consider the design approach to be appropriate, comparable with 
the general height and appearance of the existing units within the adjacent retail park. A 
facing materials condition for all proposed buildings would require the submission of 
further details to ensure their suitability in terms of appearance and quality. 

Page 374



 

 

6.50 In regard to Livesey Hall, the development would be sited a sufficient distance back from 
the Perry Hill frontage, whilst the small commercial units and the SGN depot would lie 
more than 30 metres away. The Aldi store would lie directly to the rear of Livesey Hall, 
and would be sited further away from it than the existing gasholders. 

6.51 The proposed development would clearly have a different relationship to Livesey Hall 
than the existing gasholders, however officers are satisfied that it would be respectful of 
Livesey Hall, and would avoid any sense of overbearing harm or undermining of its 
presence within the streetscene and historic value. 

6.52 For the reasons therefore discussed, officers do not raise objections to the dismantling of 
the gasholders on the grounds that their removal is certain to be undertaken by SGN in 
any event due to financial and site constraints implications; their demolition would not be 
protected by the local listing; the design and scale of the development would not 
significantly harm the character or setting of Livesey Hall and the other listed features; 
and the positive impact of the proposal upon the local economy, in compliance with 
paras. 134 and 135 of the NPPF.    

Principle of Retail Use 

6.53 Paragraph 18 of the NPPF states that the Government is committed to securing economic 
growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, building on the country’s inherent strengths, 
and to meeting the twin challenges of global competition and of a low carbon future. 

6.54 Paragraph 19 of the NPPF sets out that the Government is committed to ensuring that the 
planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic growth. Planning 
should operate to encourage and not act as an impediment to sustainable growth. 
Therefore significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth 
through the planning system. 

6.55 Spatial Policy 4 of the Core Strategy refers to the out-of-centre Bell Green retail park, and 
states the Council will aim to limit the floorspace and range of goods sold to that 
contained in the granted planning permission to protect the viability of adjacent town 
centres 

6.56 Core Strategy Policy 6 states the Council will expect major retail development to be 
located within the major and district centres – such uses located outside these areas will 
be assessed against the Sequential Test. 

6.57 DM Policy 13 states that for major retail development over 1000sq.m, if suitable sites are 
not available in the major and district centres, then edge of centre sites should be 
considered, followed only then by out-of-centre sites in locations that are accessible by 
public transport, walking and cycling and are well connected to the town centre. 

6.58 The subject application has been accompanied by a Retail Statement, which details 
compliance with the NPPF and the local retail policy DM Policy 13 of the Development 
Management Local Plan. The applicant’s impact assessment has been independently 
reviewed by Lichfields (Planning and Development Consultants) on behalf of the Council.  

6.59 A sequential test assessment of the proposed scheme covers the main centres within 
their defined primary catchment area (Zone 7 of the 2009 Retail Capacity Study) which 
includes Catford, Sydenham and Forest Hill centres. Sites of a minimum 0.9ha have been 
considered, which is less than half the size of the application site.  

6.60 The accompanying sequential test takes into account the national planning practice 
guidance on the sequential approach by looking at suitability, viability and availability of 
locations for main town centre uses. It therefore satisfies the requirements NPPF 
paragraph 24 which sets out that local planning authorities should apply a sequential test 

Page 375



 

 

to planning applications for main town centre uses that are not in an existing centre and 
when considering edge of centre proposals, preference should be given to accessible 
sites that are well connected to the town centre. Lewisham's Development Plan 
allocations have been reviewed and a commercial land search has been carried out. It is 
noted that the assessment applies only to the Aldi store, and not the two smaller 
commercial units, which it is agreed would be ancillary and would predominantly serve 
the wider retail park, rather than places that people would necessarily travel to only. 

6.61 Subsequently, the test demonstrates that there are no appropriate sites available for the 
subject application. All of the sites identified in Sydenham and Forest Hill fall below the 
0.9ha threshold, and therefore would be unable to meet Aldl's store operational and 
market requirements.   

6.62 An assessment of Catford town centre was undertaken, despite an existing Aldi presence 
on Rushey Green. The applicants concluded that none of the potential sites were 
available or suitable for the proposed store. 

6.63 Lichfields, the Council’s retail impact assessment consultants, have concluded they agree 
with the approach and outcomes of the sequential test, and that the identified sites may 
be dismissed as possible sites to accommodate the proposal. 

6.64 For each centre, the assessment has identified how much convenience expenditure will 
be diverted away. In respect of Catford, the highest level of trade diversion would be from 
the existing Aldi, (which would remain if this application was granted) that could be up to 
16.5%, however despite this, its residual turnover would still trade at benchmark level. 
Overall, the impact upon Catford town centre would not be significant, with only a 
projected 2.7% diversion expected, assisted by the performance of Tescos.   

6.65 It is also considered that Sydenham and Forest Hill town centres would be ‘acceptable’, 
with diversion of 2.6% and 0.2% respectively. 

6.66 Lichfields have confirmed they are satisfied with the data assumptions and population 
estimates, and that the proposed Aldi store would not result in significant harm upon the 
retail performance or convenience of the neighbouring centres. This conclusion has also 
been agreed by Council Planning Policy officers.  

6.67 Officers had raised early concerns to Lichfields prior to their assessment regarding the 
potential impact of the Aldi unit upon the viability of nearby centres, and in particular 
conflict with the policies listed in this report that seeks to avoid out-of-town centres 
expanding to the detriment of the established retail hierarchy.  

6.68 Lichfields have undertaken work on behalf of the Council for other retail sites and 
development, and so are knowledgeable of policy approaches and retail performance 
within the Borough. Officers have reviewed and questioned the consultants’ responses, 
and are satisfied a thorough assessment of the applicant’s submission has been 
undertaken.   

6.69 Objections have been received expressing concern toward the need for further retail 
provision in Bell Green, considering the relatively recent addition of the adjacent retail 
park, and the long standing presence of the nearby Sainsbury’s. The Retail Statement 
demonstrates the quantities and qualitative need for the proposal by stating that it would 
improve the local convenience retail offer and improve local consumer choice. 
Importantly, the Aldi store would potentially provide full and part time employment for up 
to 50 staff, whilst serving to contribute to the local economy without resulting in significant 
harm to other centres.  

6.70 The application site is a brownfield site that has potential to be redeveloped, however the 
nature of development is limited due to constraints of the site. The applicants advised 

Page 376



 

 

during pre-application discussions that a residential scheme had been explored, however 
this would be unfeasible due to the location of the existing underground bentonite wall,  
which contains contaminated groundwater emanating from the former gasworks use. 
Consequently, no development can be built within a prescribed distance of the wall, 
thereby negating a viable residential scheme. For this reason, the provision of a retail 
store would deliver an alternative form of development that would respect the existing 
retail character of the wider former gasworks site, whilst providing an opportunity to 
galvanise this largely redundant location. Officers acknowledge the Lewisham Site 
Allocations advises ‘proposals for this out-of-centre site should be considered in the 
context of protecting existing town centres within the Borough's hierarchy and, allow for 
comprehensive redevelopment of the site.’ It is considered that a detailed assessment of 
the level of potential impact upon existing centres has been undertaken in this case, and 
for the reasons stated, retail use appears to be the most viable alternative to residential 
development.   

6.71 Accordingly, in light of the assessments, officers do not object to the principle of the 
redevelopment of the subject site to enable the provision for a retail store, in accordance 
with paragraphs 18 and 19 of the NPPF. Highways impacts of the proposal will be 
discussed later in this report. 

     Visual Impact Upon Neighbouring Amenity 

6.72 Core Strategy Policy 15 requires that any adverse impact on neighbouring amenity 
arising from development proposals will need to be addressed. 

6.73 Officers are satisfied the siting of the commercial units would result in no visual harm 
upon residential amenity. 

6.74 The SGN unit would lie within close proximity of dwelling-houses to the north fronting 
Perry Hill and within Silver Birch Close. The dwelling at 191 Perry Hill lies approximately 
25 metres to the north-west, whilst their rear garden measures less than 10 metres deep, 
therefore officers are satisfied that due to the distance away, the proposed building would 
not result in significant visual harm or unacceptable overlooking. 

6.75 The nearest dwelling lies 20 metres to the north-east at 18 Silver Birch, and their rear 
boundary is approx. 15 metres away. The new building is therefore unlikely to result in 
any significant visual harm. Directly to the north of the building are the rear gardens of 
Selworthy Road dwellings, which measure considerable depths of up to 50 metres. With 
existing trees lying close to the boundary, the building would not significantly harm the 
amenities of the neighbouring occupiers. 

6.76 In summary, officers are satisfied that the scale and proportions of the proposed scheme 
are appropriate to the context of the site and would not give rise to an overbearing impact 
upon neighbouring occupiers. Taking all of the above elements together, it is considered 
that the design constitutes a successful response to the local context and nature of 
proposed use, and would not be overly dominant or incongruous when viewed from the 
public realm.  

6.77 The scale of development would not give rise to any unacceptable impact on the amenity 
of neighbouring properties in terms of an overbearing relationship, loss of privacy, 
daylight or overshadowing.  

Operational Impact 

SGN 

6.78 The SGN depot would generally operate between the hours of 07:00am – 18:00pm, 
however there may be occasions where a gas emergency requires staff to enter the 

Page 377



 

 

premises late at night to collect tools and equipment. In regard to external lighting, 
paragraph 5.113 of the Planning Statement advises that whilst all lighting would be turned 
off at night, an employee having to access the service yard or building would have to turn 
the lights on for a short period. 

6.79 Environmental Health officers have reviewed the external lighting document, and have 
requested further details be formally submitted by condition. 

6.80 The car park to the front of the SGN depot would provide 42 spaces for office staff and 
visitors, whilst there would be vehicular activity within the rear compound from SGN 
vehicles and deliveries.  

6.81 In regard to noise impact, a 3 metre high acoustic timber fence would be erected along 
the northern and eastern boundaries of the compound, similar to the existing fencing to 
the rear of the adjacent Retail Park. Environmental Health have raised no objections to 
the provision of the enclosure.  

Aldi and Units B & C 

6.82 Hours of operation for the retail commercial units would be 07:00 – 23:00, 7 days a week, 
whilst the A3 restaurant use would require longer opening hours between 07:00 – 00:00 
(midnight) 7 days a week. Officers consider the hours of operation to be appropriate for 
this location, being similar to the neighbouring Sainsbury’s, and will ensure they are 
adhered to by planning condition. 

6.83 Aldi would require 3-4 deliveries to be undertaken each day between 06:00 – 23:00, 7 
days a week as a minimum requirement due to ‘the sale of fresh produce and the need to 
service food stores on a regular basis.’ It is anticipated the greater range of hours would 
avoid deliveries being made during peak hours. Highways have raised no objections, and 
the proposed hours, whilst longer than the adjacent retail site (08:00 – 18:00 Monday to 
Friday, 08:00 – 13:00 on Saturdays and no deliveries or servicing on Sundays and bank 
holidays) would be appropriate. Details regarding servicing and deliveries for the site will 
be subject to condition. 

Highways and Traffic Issues 

6.84 Core Strategy Policy 14 ‘Sustainable movement and transport’ supports government 
policy and guidance which promotes more sustainable transport choices through walking, 
cycling and public transport, adopting a restricted approach on parking to aid the 
promotion of sustainable transport and ensuring all new and existing development of a 
certain size have travel plans. 

6.85 The application proposes highways works to mitigate the impact of the proposal, including 
the realignment of Alan Pegg Place to provide 3 lanes - from the existing 2 lanes - in a 
westerly direction at the junction with Perry Hill, with the single easterly lane narrowed to 
accommodate the works. Separate vehicular routes would be formed to provide access 
into the retail and SGN sites from the existing service access road that currently serves 
the retail park.   

6.86 The proposed commercial car-park would provide 100 customer spaces, including 6 
disabled spaces and 9 for parents with children. (An additional 4 disabled bays may be 
provided if required.)  

6.87 TfL have stated they accept that the proposed level of car parking for the A1 uses are 
consistent with London Plan requirements, and would not exceed the maximum provision 
stated. No objections are therefore raised. 

Page 378



 

 

6.88 The front parking area to the SGN unit would provide 42 spaces for staff and visitors, 
including 2 disabled bays. Eight of the bays would provide electric vehicle charging 
points. The overall provision of 42 spaces would exceed the London Plan requirement 
due to the requirements of the operator. 

6.89 The applicant has advised the depot would operate predominately as a B8 warehouse 
with ancillary office space. ‘The depot would accommodate varying levels of demand for 
not only staff who operate from the depot on a daily basis but also engineers and other 
staff who predominantly operate off-site and use the depot intermittently. In addition, 
there are a number of vehicles, which will be required to be retained at the depot to 
respond to operational needs. As such, the proposed parking provision provides sufficient 
flexibility to accommodate periods when a large number of staff are located on site to 
ensure overspill parking does not occur.’ 

6.90 Highways officers are satisfied with the justification for the provision of the number of 
spaces, which may be conditioned to allow for further assessment should the premises 
be occupied by a different operator in the future. TfL accepts the rationale for exceeding 
car parking maximums based on operating requirements in this instance.  

             Highways Impacts 

6.91 In terms of the highways impact of the proposal, TfL and Highways raised concern that 
the proposed multi modal trip generation for the proposed foodstore was not 
representative of the expected trips generated in an inner London Borough. Table 4.3 in 
the Transport Assessment (TA) suggested that only 0.7% of the trips to the foodstore 
would be by bus, which is not consistent with the expected bus trips in an inner London 
borough. This was due to the TA using survey data from TRICS sites that are not 
comparable with the application site – therefore proposed multi modal trip generation data 
was considered acceptable. 

6.92 Highways officers advised the proposed trip generation should be reviewed against two 
similar consented developments in the Borough: - Lidl Store Extension, Bestwood Street 
(DC/15/092613); and Lee Green Regeneration, Leegate Shopping Centre 
(DC/14/090032). Subsequently, the trip generation for the application site would be more 
accurate in its approach. 

6.93 Subsequently, the revised modal split to the proposed development traffic generation 

indicates that there will be a total of 333 two-way trips generated by the proposed 
foodstore during the Saturday peak. Of these, 15.6% will be via bus, which equates to 52 
two-way trips. ‘Given the quantity and frequency of local bus services within an easily 
accessible distance of the site, it is considered the additional patronage could be 
accommodated within existing bus capacity.’ 

6.94 The original model results indicated the inclusion of development traffic would result in an 
increase in queues on the surrounding highways network (section 7.6 of the TA). 
The traffic impact assessment within the TA identifies that a number of the roads 
/junctions within the surrounding highway network currently operate close to or at 
capacity, and that queues occur on Southend Lane and Perry Hill during both the pm and 
Saturday peaks.  

6.95 Following the updated modelling, the transport assessment advises the Perry Rise/Perry 
Hill junction would experience a modest increase of 3.4% and 4.7% in development traffic 
during the PM and Saturday peaks respectively. Traffic modelling undertaken as part of 
the submitted Transport Assessment indicates that the ‘2016 Observed + Development’ 
Saturday peak hour shows an increase in queueing on Perry Hill of 53 vehicles compared 
with 28 in the ‘2016 Observed’ case, the increase in queueing is significantly lessened 
with the proposed mitigation in place. 

Page 379



 

 

6.96 Considering there would be congestion relating to the proposed retail use, officers have 
engaged with the applicant’s transport consultant during the course of the application, 
and it has been agreed that a financial contribution of £84K by the developer toward a 
‘SCOOT’ on the Bell Green gyratory would serve to mitigate the impact of the 
development. 

6.97 SCOOT (Split Cycle and Offset Optimisation Technique) has proved to be an effective 
and efficient tool for managing traffic on signalised road networks and is now used in over 
250 towns and cities in the UK. SCOOT uses data from vehicle detectors and optimises 
traffic signal settings to reduce vehicle delays and stops, providing a fast response to 
changes in traffic conditions in response to variations in traffic demand, and avoids large 
fluctuations in control behaviour as a result of temporary changes in traffic patterns.  

6.98 A SCOOT system would not eliminate congestion attributed to the proposed use, but it 
would serve to have benefits toward the busy junctions around the site, whilst reducing 
the prospect of ‘rat-runs’ to residential streets. The SCOOT system would be installed to 
link the signals on the Bell Green gyratory, and would optimise the traffic signals by 
constantly adjusting the signal timings to minimise the modelled queuing/ delays. 

6.99 The timescales of implementing SCOOT would be for TfL to determine, but it is likely that 
it would be in place prior to the operational commencement of the proposed uses. The 
junctions that would be affected, and the estimated costs, would be;  

 Stanton Way - £14,519.80 

 Bell Green - £13,312.44 

 Perry Rise - £10,238.82 

 Kangley Bridge Road - £ 27,527.87 

 Worsley Bridge Road - £ 18,527.30 

 

6.100 TfL have stated that based on the location of the site, it does not anticipate that the 
scheme would result in trips generated that would adversely impact on either the strategic 
highway or transport networks. 

6.101 Planning conditions will secure the following: 

 The submission of a Construction Logistics Plan to minimise the impacts during the 
construction phase of the development. 

  

 A Delivery & Servicing Plan for all of the proposed units, it should include details of 
times of deliveries and any delivery booking systems that will be used. 

 

 A site wide Travel Plan (should include workplace travel plans for all the proposed 
units). 

  

 A Parking Management Plan (for the parking areas associated with the proposed 
retail uses), to include details of enforcement measures to ensure parking is 
available for customers and a review system to ensure any increase in demand for 
disabled parking is accommodated. 

 

 Full details of dry and secure cycle parking facilities. 
 

6.102 A S278 Agreement will be required to secure the proposed highways works on Alan Pegg 
Place (including the provision of a pedestrian crossings, the creation of three traffic lanes 
on the approach to the Perry Hill / Alan Pegg Place junction, and the provision of tactile 
paving and dropped kerbs at the vehicle access to Sainsbury's).  

Page 380



 

 

6.103 The proposed pedestrian crossings would be welcomed, particularly across the highway 
between the Sainsbury’s car-park and the existing roundabout, which can be difficult for 
pedestrians to cross.  

6.104 The S278 Agreement should also include accessibility works to the highways in the 
vicinity site (as identified in the PERS Audit, route 3) to make the application site 
accessible to the mobility and visually impaired. The works will include the installation of 
dropped kerbs and tactile paving on the following junctions on Perry Rise - Priestfield 
Road, De Frene Road and Adamsrill Road. 

6.105  The applicant will also be required to undertake the works to achieve the visibility splays 
illustrated on drawing 110009/SK/01 (as per the Road Safety Audit of the proposed 
highways works on Alan Pegg Place). 

Cycle Parking  

6.106 Cycle parking should be provided in line with London Plan Policy 6.9 Cycling and Table 
6.3 Cycle Parking minimum standards.  

6.107 10 Sheffield Stands (20 cycle parking spaces) are proposed to be installed adjacent to the 
Aldi store entrance, whilst 12 secure cycle parking spaces would be provided for SGN 
staff. A further 15 stands would provide 30 spaces. Overall, 62 cycle spaces would be 
afforded for customers and staff, in accordance with the London Plan, and all would be 
covered.   

6.108 In regard to the SGN, 14 covered spaces would be provided to the front of the building, in 
accordance with London Plan requirements. 

6.109 Elevation details of the cycle stores would be required by condition, and all spaces must 
be provided prior to first commencement of the uses.  

    Refuse 

6.110 The Design and Access statement advises the SGN Depot will have waste containers 
within the fenced external storage compound.  

6.111 Unit A (Aldi) would have a dedicated bin store alongside the loading bay at the rear. A 
timber fenced and screened enclosure is to be provided for Units B & C to accommodate 
mobile refuse containers to suit the tenants’ specific requirements.  

6.112 Each tenant and end user would be responsible for the collection of their refuse using a 
recognised trade contractor. Elevation details of the refuse stores will be required by 
condition, as will a waste management plan.  

Summary 

6.113 The Council’s Highways team consider the proposal is acceptable in transport terms, 
subject to the mitigation specified in the form of a financial contribution towards SCOOT, 
and highways and pedestrian environment improvements, as well as the implementation 
of Travel Plans, provision of a construction logistics plan for approval, and provision of car 
parking and cycle parking prior to commencement. 

    Landscape and Boundary Treatment 

6.114 The south-west corner of the application site is prominently sited at the junction with Perry 
Hill and Alan Pegg Place, and has a dense tree coverage with hoarding and totem 
signage associated with the retail park. 

Page 381



 

 

6.115 The proposal would effectively open up the area between the existing Livesey boundary 
wall fronting Perry Hill and the SGN pumping station fronting Alan Pegg Place, providing a 
new pedestrian route from the junction into the application site and through to the Aldi 
unit.  

6.116 In principle this would be a welcome introduction to the streetscene, subject to the quality 
of proposed landscaping works. Plan LS-01 Rev C provides a detailed hard and soft 
landscape proposal that would see many of the undesignated trees removed and replaced 
with new trees and planting. 

6.117 This has been reviewed by the Council’s Tree officer, who is satisfied with the proposal, 
and would meet the requirements as stated in the applicant’s Ecology report.  

6.118 The two existing signs on the corner would remain, sited upon a grassed area. 

6.119 The application also proposes the provision of a new landscaped garden that would be 
afforded to users of Livesey Hall only. The area currently falls within the red line of the 
application site, and is a largely unused space.  

6.120 Details of boundary treatments including the acoustic timber fence and adjacent 1.8m high 
chain link fencing to the northern boundary will be requested by condition. In particular, 
details of the new 2.4m high mesh security fencing to the south of the SGN car-park 
would be required due to its close proximity to Livesey Hall, and confirmation whether it 
would be no higher than the existing front boundary wall. 

6.121 In regard to the bin store to front of Unit B, elevation details of the timber screen will be 
required considering its proximity to Alan Pegg Place, although it appears planting to that 
area would provide additional screening. 

Sustainability and Energy  

6.122 Policy 5.3 Sustainable Design and Construction of the London Plan states that the 
highest standards of sustainable design and construction should be achieved in London 
to improve the environmental performance of new developments and to adapt to the 
effects of climate change over their lifetime.  

6.123 Policy 5.2 Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions of the London Plan states that 
development should make the fullest contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions 
in accordance with the following energy hierarchy: 

1  Be Lean: use less energy; 

2   Be clean: supply energy efficiently; 

3  Be green: use renewable energy. 

6.124 Achieving more sustainable patterns of development and environmentally sustainable 
buildings is a key objective of national, regional and local planning policy. London Plan 
and Core Strategy Policies advocate the need for sustainable development. All new 
development should address climate change and reduce carbon emissions. Core 
Strategy Policy 8 requires all new non-residential development to achieve a BREEAM 
rating of ‘Excellent’.  

6.125 The applicant has submitted a BREEAM Pre-Assessment Report in support of the 
application, prepared by BRE accredited assessors. The report assesses the 
performance of the proposed scheme in respect of the 10 BREEAM accreditation areas: 
management, health & wellbeing, energy, transport, water, materials, waste, landuse and 
ecology, pollution and innovation and concludes that a BREEAM score of 74.5% in regard 

Page 382



 

 

to the SGN building, and 72% for the two commercial units is achievable, giving a 
BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’.  

6.126 On this basis, the scheme would meet the requirements of Core Strategy Policy 8, and 
can be secured by condition. 

6.127 The applicant has also submitted an Energy Assessment that demonstrates a 35% CO2 
emission reduction target beyond Part L 2013 of the Building Regulations can be 
achieved on the site, which would be in compliance with London Plan standards. 
Proposed measures would include the installation of Air Source Heat Pumps, solar 
panels and building fabric.  

Other considerations 

Air Quality 

6.128 The NPPF (para. 128) states that the planning system should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by preventing both new and existing development from 
contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability.  

6.129 DM Policy 23 states the Council will require all major developments that have the potential 
to impact on air quality will be required to submit an Air Quality Impact Assessment. The 
application site falls within a designated Air Quality Management Area, one of six in the 
Borough.  

6.130 In response, an assessment has been undertaken by Entran Limited (Environmental and 
Transportation Consultants) and formally submitted to the Council. It concludes that the 
implementation of appropriate measures and good practice during the construction phase 
would mitigate potential harm from dust. In regard to emissions arising from traffic 
generated by the operation of the development, based upon data including trip lengths 
and emission factors, it would be air quality neutral. 

6.131 The Council’s Environmental Health officers have reviewed the document, and have 
confirmed they are satisfied with the conclusions reached. 

Ecology 

6.132 The application site contains planting to the perimeter - existing trees are not subject to 
Tree Preservation Orders and the site is not located within a conservation area or an area 
of designated landscape or wildlife conservation value.  

6.133 The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (February 2017), 
which identified that the site shows moderate potential for nesting birds, low potential to 
support roosting bats, and low potential to provide habitat for foraging bats.  

6.134  As bats are a protected species, a further survey was undertaken by qualified surveyors, 
the results of which were presented in a separate report. The report identifies low levels 
of commuting activity, and therefore existing boundary vegetation should be retained, or 
suitably replaced.  

6.135 In regard to nesting birds, any clearance of dense vegetation or trees should be 
undertaken outside of the bird breeding season between March to September. 

6.136 Enhancements suggested by the surveyors include wildlife friendly landscaping such as 
native, biodiverse and species rich areas of wildflower meadow and fruit and berry 
producing trees and shrubs; and bird nest and bat boxes. 

Page 383



 

 

6.137 Both reports have been reviewed by the Council’s Ecological Regeneration Manager, 
who has advised that the methodology and results are accepted, and raises no 
objections, subject to the implementation of appropriate mitigation measures, including 
the provision of artificial roosting features, the retention of as much landscaping as 
possible and restricting site lighting to a minimum. A condition has been specified to 
require details of artificial bird and bat nests to be provided for approval. Although limited 
existing vegetation would be retained, the landscape proposals indicate native/semi-
native species and this can be controlled by condition. Similarly, details of lighting can be 
adequately controlled by condition.  

6.138 In summary, the site is not designated for its nature conservation value, and provided that 
the specified mitigation measures are put in place, the proposals would result in net gains 
for biodiversity. 

Construction 

6.139 Concern has been raised regarding disruption to local residents arising from construction 
works. A condition requiring a Construction Management Plan, plus the Council's normal 
Code of Construction Practice would enable the Council to limit working hours to 
reasonable times in order to address these concerns, although it is inevitable that some 
disruption would occur during the demolition and construction phases. 

Planning Obligations 

6.140 The National Planning Policy Framework (NFFP) (para. 203) states that in dealing with 
planning applications, local planning authorities  should consider whether otherwise 
unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or 
planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to 
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. It further states that where 
obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities should take account of 
changes in market conditions over time and, wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible 
to prevent planned development being stalled. The NPPF (para. 204) also sets out that 
planning obligations should only be secured when they meet the following three tests: 

(a) Necessary to make the development acceptable 

(b) Directly related to the development; and 

(c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

6.141 Paragraph 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (April 2010) puts the 
above three tests on a statutory basis, making it illegal to secure a planning obligation 
unless it meets the three tests. 

6.142 The obligations sought are as follows: 

- Financial contributions in respect of highways improvements:  

- SCOOT: £84,000 

- Undertaking of public realm landscaping works, and submission of a Landscape 
Maintenance Plan. 

- Developer to undertake initial fit-out of the commercial Units B & C prior to first 
occupation of Unit A to include: 

 

 service connections for gas, electricity, water and foul drainage; 

 provision for telecommunication services and broadband services; 

 wall and ceiling finishes; 

Page 384



 

 

 wheelchair accessible entrances; 

 screed floors; 

 glazing solution. 
 

- A 3 month rent free period granted to the commercial occupiers to allow the tenant to 
fit-out the unit and begin trading before any rental payments are due. 

 
- S278 highways works 

 
- To submit a Marketing Strategy for the commercial units to the Council within 6 months 

of Commencement of Development. 
 

- Monitoring, legal and professional costs 

As set out elsewhere in this report, the obligations outlined above are directly related to 
the development. They are considered to be fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development and to be necessary and appropriate in order to secure policy 
objectives, to mitigate the proposed development’s impact and make the development 
acceptable in planning terms. Officers are therefore satisfied the proposed obligations 
meet the three legal tests as set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010. 

Removal of certain permitted development rights 

Officers recommend that if this application is approved, conditions are imposed to remove 
certain permitted development rights in respect of the site. Paragraph 017 of that part of 
the Planning Practice Guidance that is concerned with the use of planning conditions 
states that “conditions restricting the future use of permitted development rights or 
changes of use will rarely pass the test of necessity and should only be used in 
exceptional circumstances”. Officers in this case consider that exceptional circumstances 
exist to justify the limited removal of certain permitted development rights as set out in 
draft conditions (34) and (35) for the reasons stated therein. 

Prevention of crime and disorder 

S.17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides that it shall be the duty of the Council 
to exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder 
etc in its area. Officers do not consider that this application raises any crime and disorder 
issues. 

Human Rights Act 

Officers consider that this application does not raise any Human Rights Act issues that 
need to be considered. 

7.0 Local Finance Considerations  

7.1 Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local 
finance consideration means: 

(a) a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to a 
relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or 

(b) sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

Page 385



 

 

7.2 The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the 
decision maker. 

7.3 The Mayor of London's CIL is therefore a material consideration.  CIL is payable on this 
application and the applicant has completed the relevant form. 

8.0 Community Infrastructure Levy  

8.1 The above development is CIL liable. 

9.0 Equalities Considerations  

9.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (“the Act”) imposes a duty that the Council must, in 
the exercise of its functions, have due regard to:- 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

9.2 The protected characteristics under the Act are:  age, disability, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

9.3 The duty is a “have regard duty” and the weight to attach to it is a matter for the decision 
maker bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. 

9.4 The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to any 
of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded that 
there is no impact on equality. 

10.0 Conclusion 

10.1 This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development 
plan and other material considerations. The dismantling of the two gasholders, which are 
formally recognised as non-designated heritage assets has raised objections for reasons 
including their presence and scale, the relationship with Livesey Hall, and the historic link 
with the former gasworks. However, this report has acknowledged that the operators 
propose to dismantle the holders regardless of the outcome of this application, and  
advised that the weight of the local listing would not prevent the dismantling of the 
gasholders as the application site does not fall within a conservation area.  

10.2 The proposal represents a redevelopment scheme that would make a significant 
contribution towards the improvement of this part of Bell Green, whilst providing an 
acceptable balance of employment generating use, and retail/ commercial interest. 

10.3 The principle of retail development on the site is acceptable in planning policy terms and it 
is considered that the applicants have satisfied the sequential test to site selection. As 
such, the proposal satisfies the tests set out in the NPPF and would not result in 
significant harm to neighbouring shopping centres in the Borough. 

10.4 The proposal would provide up to 183 new full and part time jobs, whilst there is also an 
opportunity for local labour and apprenticeships during the course of construction. 

Page 386



 

 

10.5 In regard to highways matters, the Council’s Highways officers raise no objection to the 
level of parking proposed. The projected traffic generation would be likely to result in 
highways congestion around the gyratory, however it is considered that the 
implementation of SCOOT and road realignment works would mitigate against significant 
impact on the performance of the local road network. The proposed accesses and internal 
routes provided are acceptable and would not cause harm to highway and pedestrian 
safety. 

10.6 The proposal is considered to be in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the London Plan (2016) and the Councils Local Development Framework. For 
the reasons outlined in the report, it is recommended that planning permission be granted, 
subject to appropriate conditions. 

11.0 RECOMMENDATION (A) 

To agree the proposals and authorise the Head of Law to complete a legal agreement 
under Section 106 of the 1990 Act (and other appropriate powers) to cover the following 
principal matters:-  

- Financial contributions in respect of highways improvements:  

- SCOOT: £84,000 

- Public realm landscaping works and Maintenance Plan 

- S278 highways works 

- Developer to undertake initial fit-out of the commercial Units B & C prior to first 
occupation of Unit A to include: 

 

 service connections for gas, electricity, water and foul drainage; 

 provision for telecommunication services and broadband services; 

 wall and ceiling finishes; 

 wheelchair accessible entrances; 

 screed floors; 

 glazing solution. 
 

- A 3 month rent free period granted to the commercial occupiers to allow the tenant to 
fit-out the unit and begin trading before any rental payments are due. 

 
- To submit a Marketing Strategy for the commercial units to the Council within 6 months 

of Commencement of Development. 
 

- Monitoring, legal and professional costs 

 

RECOMMENDATION (B) 

Upon the completion of a satisfactory Section 106, in relation to the matters set out 
above, authorise the Head of Planning to Grant Permission subject to the following 
conditions:- 

 
 
 
 

Page 387



 

 

Conditions 
 
1.  The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.  
 
Reason:  As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
 
2.  The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application plans, 

drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below: 
 
1923-P-21; 1923-P-22; 1923-P-23; 1923-P-24; 1923-P-25; 1923-P-29; 1923-P-30; 
1923-P-31; 1923-P-32; 1923-P-33; 1923-P-35; 1923-P-36; 1923-P-37; 1923-P-38; 
1923-P-40; 1923-P-41; 1923-P-42; 9107/100 Rev B; Tree Retention/ Removal & 
Protection Plan; Tree Constraints Plan; LS-01 Rev C; LS-02 Rev C; LS-03 Rev C; 
Planning Statement; Design & Access Statement; Heritage Statement; Retail 
Planning Statement; Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy; Sustainability 
Statement; Energy Statement; Transport Assessment; External Lighting; Generic 
Quantitative Risk Assessment Reports (K3 Livesey & K3 SGN); Aldi Stores Ltd: 
Travel Plan; Archaeological Desk Based Assessment; Noise Assessment Report; 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal; Bat Emergence & Activity Survey Report; BREEAM 
pre-assessment (SGN Unit); BREEAM pre-assessment (Unit A); BREEAM pre-
assessment (Units B & C); Air Quality Assessment; Statement of Community 
Involvement; Arboricultural Impact Assessment Received 15 March 2017 
 
1923-P-28A; Response to Highways Comments [August 2017] Received 4 
September 2017 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is 
acceptable to the local planning authority. 

 
 
3.  a)  No development shall be undertaken until the applicant (or their heirs and 

successors in title) has secured the implementation of a programme of structural 
assessment relating to the gasholders in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the 
local planning authority in writing and a report on that evaluation has been 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing.   

  
b)  Under Part A, the applicant (or their heirs and successors in title) shall implement 

a programme of structural assessment in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation.   

  
c)  No development shall take place until the applicant (or their heirs and successors 

in title) has secured the implementation of a programme of identified level of 
structural recording in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation which 
has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the local planning authority 
in writing and a report on that evaluation has been submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority in writing.   

  
d)   Under Part A, the applicant (or their heirs and successors in title) shall implement 

a programme of identified level of structural recording in accordance with a 
Written Scheme of Investigation.   

  
e)  The development shall not be occupied until the site recording and post site work 

assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the 

Page 388



 

 

Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Parts (A and C), and the 
provision for analysis, publication and dissemination of the results and archive 
deposition has been secured. 

 
Reason:  To ensure adequate access for archaeological investigations in compliance 
with Policies 15 High quality design for Lewisham and 16 Conservation areas, 
heritage assets and the historic environment of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and 
Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016). 
 

 
4.  (i) No development (except for the dismantling of the gasholders and associated 

construction works within the ground) shall commence on site until a local labour 
strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The strategy shall include (but is not limited to): 
 
(a) Proposals to achieve a target of fifty per cent (50%) local people and local 

businesses as employees contractors and sub-contractors during the 
construction of the Development. 

 
(b) A commitment to working with the local planning authority’s local labour and 

business coordinator. 
 
(c) Routes to employment, including direct access to employment opportunities at 

the development and addressing wider barriers to employment. 
 
(d) Early warnings within the local planning authority’s area of contracts to be let at 

the development. 
 
(e) The number and type of jobs to be created and the skill requirements in relation 

to those jobs. 
 
(f) Recommended training routes to secure jobs. 
 
(g) Proposals to encourage diversity in the workforce. 
 
(h) Measures to encourage local businesses to apply for work in relation to the 

development. 
 
(i) Training opportunities and employment advice or programmes and employment 

and training brokerage arrangements. 
 
(j) Provision of opportunities for modern apprenticeships including the number and 

type of apprenticeships available. 
 
(k) Provision of opportunities for school leavers, older people and those who have 

been out of work for a long period. 
 
(l) Provision of work experience for local people during the construction of the 

development including the number of weeks available and associated trades. 
 
(m) Provision of childcare and employee assistance to improve working 

environments. 
 
(n) Interview arrangements for jobs. 
 
(o) Arrangements for working with schools and colleges. 
 

Page 389



 

 

(p) Measures to encourage local people into end use jobs. 
 
(q) Targets for monitoring the effectiveness of the strategy including but not limited 

to the submission of monitoring information to the local planning authority on a 
monthly basis giving details of:- 

• The percentage of the on-site workforce which are drawn from 
persons whose normal residence is within the Lewisham borough. 

• Social and demographic information of all contractors, sub 
contractors, agents, and employers engaged to undertake the 
construction of the development. 

• Number of days of work experience provided. 
• Number of apprenticeships provided. 

 
(ii) The strategy approved by the local planning authority under part (i) shall be 
implemented in its entirety and distributed to all contractors, sub-contractors, agents 
and employers engaged in the construction of the development. 
 
(iii) Within three months of development commencing and quarterly thereafter until the 
development is complete, evidence shall be submitted to demonstrate compliance 
with the approved strategy and monitoring information submitted to the local planning 
authority in writing, giving the social and demographic information of all contractors, 
sub-contractors, agents and employers engaged to undertake the construction of the 
development. 
 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the 
development makes appropriate provision for local labour and delivers jobs to 
supports sustainable development in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012) and to comply with Core Strategy Policy 21 Planning Obligations in 
the Core Strategy (2011). 

 
 
5.  No development shall commence on site until a Construction Logistics Management 

Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The plan shall demonstrate the following:- 
 
(a) Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site. 
 
(b) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle trips to the 
site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of construction vehicle activity. 
 
(c) Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement. 
 
The measures specified in the approved details shall be implemented prior to 
commencement of development and shall be adhered to during the period of 
construction.  
 
Reason:  In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply with 
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and 
Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction, Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of 
development on transport capacity and Policy 7.14 Improving air quality of the London 
Plan (2015). 

 
 
6.  (a) No development  (including demolition of existing buildings and structures) shall 

commence until each of the following have been complied with:- 
(i) A desk top study and site assessment to survey and characterise the 

nature and extent of contamination and its effect (whether on or off-site) 

Page 390



 

 

and a conceptual site model have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. 

(ii) A site investigation report to characterise and risk assess the site which 
shall include the gas, hydrological and contamination status, specifying 
rationale; and recommendations for treatment for contamination. 
encountered (whether by remedial works or not) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council.  

(iii) The required remediation scheme implemented in full.  
 
(b) If during any works on the site, contamination is encountered which has not 

previously been identified (“the new contamination”) the Council shall be notified 
immediately and the terms of paragraph (a), shall apply to the new 
contamination. No further works shall take place on that part of the site or 
adjacent areas affected, until the requirements of paragraph (a) have been 
complied with in relation to the new contamination.  

 
(c) The development shall not be occupied until a closure report has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 
 
 This shall include verification of all measures, or treatments as required in 

(Section (a) i & ii) and relevant correspondence (including other regulating 
authorities and stakeholders involved with the remediation works) to verify 
compliance requirements, necessary for the remediation of the site have been 
implemented in full.  

 
 The closure report shall include verification details of both the remediation and 

post-remediation sampling/works, carried out (including waste materials 
removed from the site); and before placement of any soil/materials is 
undertaken on site, all imported or reused soil material must conform to current 
soil quality requirements as agreed by the authority. Inherent to the above, is 
the provision of any required documentation, certification and monitoring, to 
facilitate condition requirements. 

 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied that potential 
site contamination is identified and remedied in view of the historical use(s) of the site, 
which may have included industrial processes and to comply with DM Policy 28 
Contaminated Land of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 
7.  The rating level of the noise emitted from fixed plant on the site shall be 5dB below 

the existing background level at any time. The noise levels shall be determined at the 
façade of any noise sensitive property. The measurements and assessments shall be 
made according to BS4142:2014.  
 
Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area 
generally and to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration of the Development 
Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 
8.  (a) The buildings hereby approved shall achieve a minimum BREEAM Rating of 

‘Excellent’. 
 
(b) No above ground construction works (excluding the dismantling of the 

gasholders and associated construction works within the ground) shall 
commence above ground until a Design Stage Certificate for each building 
(prepared by a Building Research Establishment qualified Assessor) has been 

Page 391



 

 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority to 
demonstrate compliance with part (a). 

 
(c) Within 3 months of occupation of any of the buildings, evidence shall be 

submitted in the form of a Post Construction Certificate (prepared by a Building 
Research Establishment qualified Assessor) to demonstrate full compliance with 
part (a) for that specific building.  

 
Reason:  To comply with Policies 5.1 Climate change and mitigation, 5.2 Minimising 
carbon dioxide emissions, 5.3 Sustainable design and construction, 5.7 Renewable 
energy, 5.15 Water use and supplies in the London Plan (2016) and Core Strategy 
Policy 7 Climate change and adapting to the effects, Core Strategy Policy 8 
Sustainable design and construction and energy efficiency (2011). 

 
 
9.  (a) No construction works (except for the dismantling of the gasholders) shall 

commence on site until a scheme for surface water management, including 
specifications of the surface treatments and sustainable urban drainage 
solutions, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

 
(b) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme 

and thereafter the approved scheme is to be retained in accordance with the 
details approved therein. 

 
Reason:  To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to improve water quality in 
accordance with Policies 5.12 Flood risk management and 5.13 Sustainable drainage 
in the London Plan (July 2011) and  Objective 6: Flood risk reduction and water 
management and Core Strategy Policy 10:Managing and reducing the risk of flooding 
(2011). 

 
 
10.  No above ground construction works (which excludes the dismantling of the 

gasholders and associated construction works within the ground) shall commence on 
site until a detailed schedule and specification of all external materials and finishes/ 
windows and external doors/ roof coverings to be used on the buildings have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.   
 
Reason:  To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the 
external appearance of the buildings and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design 
for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local 
Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character. 
 

 
11.  (a) No above ground construction works (which excludes the dismantling of the 

gasholders and associated construction works within the ground) shall 
commence above ground on site until elevation plans and sectional details at a 
scale of 1:10 or 1:20 showing the proposed shop fronts and details of the south 
facing elevation of Unit B/ C, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. Such information should demonstrate the location of 
the fascia sign, any shutter/grill box, the window system, the stall riser (if 
included), canopies, awnings and the entrance. 

 
(b) The development shall be constructed in full accordance with the approved 

details.  
 

Page 392



 

 

Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the details of 
the proposal and to accord with  Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the 
Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan (November 
2014) DM Policy 19 Shop fronts, signs and hoardings. 

 
 
12.  (a) A minimum of 62 secure and dry cycle parking spaces for retail and commercial 

staff and customers shall be provided within the development as indicated on 
the plans hereby approved.  

 
(b) No above ground construction works (which excludes the dismantling of the 

gasholders and associated construction works within the ground) shall 
commence above ground until the full details of the cycle parking facilities have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
(c) All cycle parking spaces shall be provided and made available for use prior to 

occupation of the development and maintained thereafter. 
 
Reason:  In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply with 
Policy 14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011). 

 
 
13.  (a) A minimum of 14 secure and dry cycle parking spaces in connection with the 

SGN commercial staff and visitor spaces shall be provided within the 
development as indicated on the plans hereby approved. 

 
(b) No above ground construction works (which excludes the dismantling of the 

gasholders and associated construction works within the ground) shall 
commence above ground until the full details of the cycle parking facilities have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
(c) All cycle parking spaces shall be provided and made available for use prior to 

occupation of the development and maintained thereafter. 
 
 
Reason:  In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply with 
Policy 14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011). 

 
 
14.  (a) No above ground construction works (which excludes the dismantling of the 

gasholders and associated construction works within the ground) shall 
commence on site until drawings showing hard landscaping of any part of the 
site not occupied by buildings (including details of the permeability of hard 
surfaces) have been submitted and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  

 
(b) All hard landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme under part 

(a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the development. 
 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the details of 
the proposal and to comply with Policies 5.12 Flood risk management and 5.13 
Sustainable Drainage in the London Plan (2016), Policy 15 High quality design for 
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local 
Plan (November 2014) Policy 25 Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban 
design and local character. 

 
 

Page 393



 

 

15.  (a) Details of the proposed boundary treatments including any screening, gates, 
walls or fences shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority prior to construction of the above ground works (which 
excludes the dismantling of the gasholders and associated construction works 
within the ground).   

 
(b) The approved boundary treatments shall be implemented prior to occupation of 

the buildings and retained in perpetuity.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that the boundary treatment is of adequate design in the 
interests of visual and residential amenity and to comply with Policy 15 High quality 
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban 
design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November 
2014). 

 
 
16.  Details of the number and location of the bird/bat boxes to be provided as part of the 

development hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority prior to commencement of above ground works (which 
excludes the dismantling of the gasholders and associated construction works within 
the ground) and shall be installed before occupation of the building and maintained in 
perpetuity.  
 
Reason:  To comply with Policy 7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature conservation 
in the London Plan (2016), Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets of the 
Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24 Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial 
playing pitches and local character of the Development Management Local Plan 
(November 2014). 

 
 
17.  (a) Details of a programme for the installation of electric charging points as shown 

on Plan 1923-P-28 Rev A and their maintenance shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to construction of the 
above ground works (which excludes the dismantling of the gasholders and 
associated construction works within the ground). 

 
(b) The electric vehicle charging points as approved shall be installed prior to 

occupation of the Development and shall thereafter be retained and  maintained 
in accordance with the details approved under (a). 

 
Reason:  To reduce pollution emissions in an Area Quality Management Area in 
accordance with Policy 7.14 Improving air quality in the London Plan (2016), and DM 
Policy 29 Car parking of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 
18.  (a) Detailed plans and a specification of the appearance of and the equipment 

comprising a ventilation system which shall include measures to alleviate noise, 
vibration, fumes and odours (and incorporating active carbon filters, silencer(s) 
and anti-vibration mountings where necessary) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

  
(b) The ventilation system shall be installed in accordance with the approved plans 

and specification before use of the development hereby permitted first 
commences and shall thereafter be permanently maintained in accordance with 
the approved specification. 

 
Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area 

Page 394



 

 

generally and to comply with Policy 17 Restaurants and cafes (A3 uses) and Policy 26 
Noise and vibration of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 
19.  (a) Prior to occupation of the development a scheme for any external lighting that is 

to be installed at the site, including measures to prevent light spillage shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.   

 
(b) Any such external lighting as approved under part (a) shall be installed in 

accordance with the approved drawings and such directional hoods shall be 
retained permanently.   

 
(c) The applicant should demonstrate that the proposed lighting is the minimum 

needed for security and working purposes and that the proposals minimise 
pollution from glare and spillage. 

 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the lighting is 
installed and maintained in a manner which will minimise possible light pollution to the 
night sky and neighbouring properties and to comply with DM Policy 27 Lighting of the 
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).  
 

 
20.  (a) The development shall not be occupied until a Delivery and Servicing Plan has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
(b) The plan shall demonstrate the expected number and time of delivery and 

servicing trips to the site, with the aim of reducing the impact of servicing 
activity.   

 
(c) The approved Delivery and Servicing Plan shall be implemented in full 

accordance with the approved details from the first occupation of the 
development and shall be adhered to in perpetuity. 

 
Reason:  In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply with 
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011). 

 
 
21. (a) The commercial unit A hereby approved shall not be occupied until such time as a 

user’s Travel Plan, in accordance with Transport for London’s document ‘Travel 
Planning for New Development in London’ has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall operate in full 
accordance with all measures identified within the Travel Plan from first occupation.   

 
(b) The Travel Plan shall specify initiatives to be implemented by the development to 

encourage access to and from the site by a variety of non-car means, shall set targets 
and shall specify a monitoring and review mechanism to ensure compliance with the 
Travel Plan objectives.  

 
(c) Within the timeframe specified by (a) and (b), evidence shall be submitted to 

demonstrate compliance with the monitoring and review mechanisms agreed under 
parts (a) and (b). 

 
Reason:  In order that both the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the practicality, 
viability and sustainability of the Travel Plan for the site and to comply with Policy 14 
Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011). 

 
 

Page 395



 

 

22.  (a) The SGN depot hereby approved shall not be occupied until such time as a 
user’s Travel Plan, in accordance with Transport for London’s document ‘Travel 
Planning for New Development in London’ has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall operate in full 
accordance with all measures identified within the Travel Plan from first 
occupation.   
 
(b) The Travel Plan shall specify initiatives to be implemented by the 

development to encourage access to and from the site by a variety of non-
car means, shall set targets and shall specify a monitoring and review 
mechanism to ensure compliance with the Travel Plan objectives.  

 
(c) Within the timeframe specified by (a) and (b), evidence shall be submitted 

to demonstrate compliance with the monitoring and review mechanisms 
agreed under parts (a) and (b). 

 
Reason:  In order that both the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the 
practicality, viability and sustainability of the Travel Plan for the site and to comply 
with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011). 

  
  
23.  The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the new vehicular 

accesses as shown on plan 1923-P-28 Rev A has been constructed in full accordance 
with the said plan. 
 
Reason:  In order to ensure that satisfactory means of access is provided and to 
comply with the Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy 
(June 2011). 

 
 
24.  All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the landscaping scheme hereby approved 

shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation 
of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner.  Any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 
 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the details of 
the proposal and to comply with Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets, and 
Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM 
Policy 25 Landscaping and trees and DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character 
of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 
25.  Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 1995 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order), no plumbing 
or pipes, other than rainwater pipes, shall be fixed on the external faces of the 
buildings. 
 
Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the details of 
the proposal and to accord with  Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the 
Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character of the 
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 
 
26.  The whole of the retail/ commercial car parking accommodation shown on plan 1923-

Page 396



 

 

P-28 Rev A hereby approved shall be provided and retained permanently for 
customers and staff, and the premises shall not be occupied until such car parking 
accommodation has been provided. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the permanent retention of the spaces for parking purposes and 
to ensure that the use of the building does not increase on-street parking in the 
vicinity and to comply with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core 
Strategy (June 2011), DM Policy 29 Car parking of the Development Management 
Local Plan (November 2014), and Table 6.2 of the London Plan (2016). 

 
 
27.  No deliveries shall be taken at or despatched from Unit A (Aldi) other than between 

the hours of 6am and 11pm. 
 
Reason:  In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining residents and to comply 
with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and DM Policy 26 
Noise and Vibration, and DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and space standards 
of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 
28.  No deliveries shall be taken at or despatched from Units B and C as referred to on 

plan 1923-P-28 Rev A other than between the hours of 7am and 8pm on Mondays to 
Fridays, 8am and 1pm on Saturdays and Sundays, and not at all on Public Holidays. 
 
Reason:  In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining residents and to comply 
with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and DM Policy 26 
Noise and Vibration, and DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and space standards 
of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

 
 
29.  The Southern Gas Network premises shall only be operational between the hours of 

6.30am and 7pm on any day of the week. (Please note this does not restrict access to 
the depot for the collection of equipment outside the specified hours.) 
 
Reason:  In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupants at unsociable 
periods and to comply with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy Framework  
and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration of the Development Management Local Plan 
(November 2014). 
 
 

30.  The premises shown as Units A and C on plan 1923-P-28 Rev A shall only be open 
for customer business between the hours of 7am - 11pm on any day of the week, and 
Unit B between the hours of 7am and 12am on any day of the week. 
 
Reason:  In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupants at unsociable 
periods and to comply with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration, and DM Policy 17 Restaurants and cafes (A3 
uses) of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 
 

 
31.  No music, amplified sound system or other form of loud noise (such as singing or 

chanting) shall be used or generated which is audible outside the premises or within 
neighbouring buildings. 
 
Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area 
generally and to comply with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration of the Development Management 

Page 397



 

 

Local Plan (November 2014). 
 

 
32.  No repairs or mechanical operations shall take place outside of the SGN depot 

building shown on plan 1923-P-28 Rev A. 
 
Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area 
generally and to comply with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework  and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration and DM Policy 32 Housing design, 
layout and space standards of the Development Management Local Plan (November 
2014). 
 
 

33.  No process shall be carried on nor machinery installed which may result in 
unacceptable noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit. 
 
Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area 
generally and to comply with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration of the Development Management 
Local Plan (November 2014). 
 

 
34.  Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order), the SGN 
premises shall be used for B8 with ancillary offices and for no other purpose 
(including any other purpose in Class B of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any 
statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order). 
 
Reason:  In order to protect employment use and to protect neighbouring amenity 
and the character of the area, in compliance with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration of 
the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014). 
 
 

35.  Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order), and the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), the premises shown as Unit B on plan 
1923-P-28 Rev A shall not be used for any purpose other than the sale of food or 
drink for consumption on the premises and no take-away or home delivery service 
shall be provided.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that the use does not result in parking and congestion in 
surrounding streets, to safeguard the amenities of adjacent premises and to comply 
with DM Policy 18 Hot food take-away shops (A5 uses) of the Development 
Management Local Plan (November 2014). 

   
 
 
36.  The whole of the Southern Gas Network car parking accommodation shown on plan 

1923-P-28 Rev A hereby approved shall be provided and retained permanently for 
customers and staff, and the premises shall not be occupied until such car parking 
accommodation has been provided.  
  
Reason:  To ensure the permanent retention of the spaces for parking purposes and 
to ensure that the use of the building does not increase on-street parking in the 
vicinity and to comply with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core 

Page 398



 

 

Strategy (June 2011), DM Policy 29 Car parking of the Development Management 
Local Plan (November 2014), and Table 6.2 of the London Plan (2016). 

 
 
37.  Should Southern Gas Network vacate the depot premises, a future operator shall be 

required to submit a parking strategy to the Council to demonstrate the extent of car 
parking required as part of their operation. 
  
Reason:  To ensure the permanent retention of the spaces for parking purposes and 
to ensure that the use of the building does not increase on-street parking in the 
vicinity and to comply with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core 
Strategy (June 2011), DM Policy 29 Car parking of the Development Management 
Local Plan (November 2014), and Table 6.2 of the London Plan (2016). 

 
 
38. The proposed memorial garden to be provided for Livesey Memorial Hall shall be 

implemented in full prior to first occupation. 
 

Reason:  In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the details of the 
proposal and to comply with Core Strategy Policy 12 Open space and environmental assets 
and Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM 
Policy 30 Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan 
(November 2014). 

 
 
39. The whole of the car parking and servicing area shown on plan 1923-P-28 Rev A in 

connection with Livesey Memorial Hall shall be provided and retained permanently for users 
of Livesey Hall only, and the commercial and employment Units hereby granted shall not be 
occupied until such car parking accommodation has been provided. 

 
Reason:  To ensure the permanent retention of the spaces for parking purposes and to 
ensure that the use of the building does not increase on-street parking in the vicinity and to 
comply with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 
2011), DM Policy 29 Car parking of the Development Management Local Plan (November 
2014), and Table 6.2 of the London Plan (2016). 

 
 
40. a) Prior to occupation of the commercial units A, B and C, a parking management plan for 

the retail/ commercial car-park shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority, including measures to ensure parking is available for customers; a review 
system to ensure any increase in demand for disabled parking is accommodated; and 
measures to prevent vehicular access to the car-parking areas beyond operating hours.  

 
b) The measures specified in the approved details shall be maintained thereafter.  

 
Reason:  In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to prevent anti-social 
behaviour, in compliance with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core 
Strategy (June 2011). 

 
 
41. a) Details of the siting and appearance of the proposed solar panels shall be submitted to 

and agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  
 

b) The solar panels approved in (a) shall be installed in full prior to first occupation of the 
units hereby approved, and retained in perpetuity. 

 

Page 399



 

 

Reason: To comply with Policies 5.1 Climate change and mitigation, 5.2 Minimising carbon 
dioxide emissions, 5.3 Sustainable design and construction, 5.7 Renewable energy, 5.15 
Water use and supplies in the London Plan (2015) and Core Strategy Policy 7 Climate 
change and adapting to the effects and Core Strategy Policy 8 Sustainable design and 
construction and energy efficiency (2011). 

 
 
Informatives 
 
 A - Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a 

positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the detailed 
advice available on the Council’s website.  On this particular application, positive 
discussions took place which resulted in further information being submitted. 
 

 B - As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the 
development. An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before 
development commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form' to 
the council. You should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must be 
submitted and determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure to 
follow the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on CIL is 
available at: - http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/apply-for-
planning-permission/application-process/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-
Levy.aspx 

 
 C - You are advised that all construction work should be undertaken in accordance 

with the "London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for Control of Pollution and 
Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites" available on the Lewisham web page. 
 

 D - The land contamination condition requirements apply to both whole site and 
phased developments. Where development is phased, no unit within a phase shall be 
occupied until a), b) and c) of the condition have been satisfied for that phase. 
 
E - Applicants are advised to read ‘Contaminated Land Guide for Developers’ 
(London Borough’s Publication 2003), on the Lewisham web page, before complying 
with the above condition. All of the above must be conducted in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency's (EA) - Model Procedures for the Management 
of Land Contamination.  
 
F - Applicants should also be aware of their responsibilities under Part IIA of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 to ensure that human health, controlled waters 
and ecological systems are protected from significant harm arising from contaminated 
land. Guidance therefore relating to their activities on site, should be obtained 
primarily by reference to DEFRA and EA  publications. 

 
        G - You are advised to contact the Council's Drainage Design team on 020 8314 2036 

prior to the commencement of work. 
 

 H - Assessment of the sound insulation scheme should be carried out by a suitably 
qualified acoustic consultant. 

 
 I - You are advised that new advertisements relating to the proposed uses would 

require separate permission. 
 
J - The applicant is advised to submit a Part 31 Prior Approval application to the 
Council before the dismantling of the gasholders.  

  

Page 400



 

 

 K – The applicant is advised that night deliveries must adhere to measures outlined in TfL’s 
guidance on night-time deliveries: see link: http://content.tfl.gov.uk/code-of-practice-out-of-
hours-deliveries-.pdf  

 

 

Page 401

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__content.tfl.gov.uk_code-2Dof-2Dpractice-2Dout-2Dof-2Dhours-2Ddeliveries-2D.pdf&d=DwMGaQ&c=OMjwGp47Ad5otWI0__lpOg&r=_HdB2-Bml4TIaJTs4GI_1o0mUgIrAYPUwnk1kOSePvU&m=U6yS4eOj76jrRSTUf7kIk9eMTBUBqq6Sn4RdTUQxqQU&s=bDCsr53aDnwK1e6T9ypdZqo1gKCiMQ8aM_5fS3NYxNg&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__content.tfl.gov.uk_code-2Dof-2Dpractice-2Dout-2Dof-2Dhours-2Ddeliveries-2D.pdf&d=DwMGaQ&c=OMjwGp47Ad5otWI0__lpOg&r=_HdB2-Bml4TIaJTs4GI_1o0mUgIrAYPUwnk1kOSePvU&m=U6yS4eOj76jrRSTUf7kIk9eMTBUBqq6Sn4RdTUQxqQU&s=bDCsr53aDnwK1e6T9ypdZqo1gKCiMQ8aM_5fS3NYxNg&e=


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix B 
 
 
SYDENHAM GAS HOLDER STATION,  
BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PX 
 
Minutes from the committee held on the 23rd November 2017 
 

Page 403



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE (C) 

Report Title MINUTES 

Ward  

Contributors  

Class PART 1 Date: 22 FEBRUARY 2018    

 
MINUTES 
 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee (C) held on the 23RD 
November 2017. 

 
LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 

MINUTES of the meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE (C) held in Rooms 1 and 2, CIVIC SUITE, 
LEWISHAM TOWN HALL, CATFORD SE6 on THURSDAY 23rd November 2017 at 7.30pm. 

 

PRESENT: 
Suzannah Clarke (Chair), Simon Hooks (Vice-Chair),  Luke 
Sorba, Sue Hordijenko, Peter Bernards, John Paschoud, 
Brenda Dacres, Liam Curran 
 

OFFICERS: 
Michael Forrester- Planning Service,  Paul Clough - Legal 
Services, Joshua Ogunleye - Committee Coordinator, Geoff 
Whittington – Planning Service, Catherine Patterson - 
Highways Service,  
 

APOLOGIES:  
Helen Klier, Joyce Jacca, 

1. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were no declarations of interest. 

2. MINUTES 
 

The Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee (C) held on 12th October 2017 were discussed. 
Councillors raised the following amendments need to be made. 

 

It should be noted that in Item 5 Councillor Clarke questioned why the original roof design 
and height would not be retained to avoid disruption to the streetscene.  

 

It should be corrected, in Item 3 Councillor Hordijenko was recorded as seconding the motion 
but her vote was not recorded. 

 

It should be corrected in Item 5 it was recorded that Councillor Bell moved a motion this was 
not the case as Councillor Bell no longer sits on Planning Committee C. The minutes should 
be amended to reflect the correct mover. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2

Page 405



 

 

It was agreed that corrections should be made to accurately reflect the committee’s proceeding. 

 

3. SYDENHAM GAS HOLDER STATION, BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PX (Item 3 on 
the agenda) 

 
The presenting officer Michael Forrester outlined the details of the scheme.  
The application seeks consent for the demolition of the existing gasholders and associated 
equipment, and a comprehensive redevelopment that would include the construction of retail and 
commercial units, together with the construction of a 2-storey depot and compound area for Southern 
Gas Network (SGN).  
  
The largest unit (A) would be centrally located directly to the rear of Livesey Hall (a Grade II Listed 
Building.) The A1 retail unit is currently planned to be operated by Aldi, and would deliver up to 50 
jobs. A loading bay area would be sited to the rear, with 100 car-parking spaces to the south. 
Two smaller single-storey  commercial units (B and C) would lie to the southern edge of the site 
fronting Alan Pegg Place, set within a hard and soft landscaped area that would provide outdoor 
seating for customers. The two units would be capable of providing employment for 25-33 full and 
part-time jobs. At the time of writing this report, there were no proposed end users for either unit. 

 

The presenting officer answered questions from Councillors Paschoud, Dacres and Sorba, 
Curran, Clarke and Hooks in relation to the intended users of the retail nits, traffic movement, 
job creation and amount of retail space in relation to the limit set within the Core Strategy.  
 
The Council’s highways officer Catherine Patterson answered questions from Councillors 
Paschoud, Curran and Sorba in relation to traffic levels from 2001 and change to date and 
the impact on neighbouring streets. Following the Highway officer’s comment that there has 
been a decline in traffic levels Councillors asked for clarity on how the trend in this data 
presented itself. Councillors note proposed SGN site has more than 12 parking spaces and 
made enquiries as to why a B1 unit would exceed the maximum parking space of 12 outlined 
in the London Plan. 
 
The highways officer explained the road network in this area is not a TFL road as such does not take 
priority on the road network. 

The Committee received verbal representation from the applicant’s agent Alister Henderson and the 
transport consultant Chris Eliot. Mr Henderson gave details of the development the development and 
how the site would be managed in terms of traffic management and vehicle access. How the site is 
significantly constrained by an existing Benzene wall that cuts through the site and how the proposed 
Scoot traffic system would help manage traffic movement. Mr Henderson explained parking would be 
designed into the site and suggest the access road where cycle friendly and are close to local 
transport networks.  
 
The applicant’s teams received questions from Councillors Dacres, Paschoud, Clarke, Hooks, 
Curran, and Sorba with regard to the constraints that have dictated the site layout, factors in 
managing traffic movement and impact on neighbouring streets, how the SCOOT system works and 
job creation.  

The Committee received verbal representation from the objectors Alice Evans a Perry Vale residents 
and a member These Streets Belong To Us and Barry Milton of the Sydenham Society. Objectors 
raised concern to the loss of the gasholders that forms part of the street historical character. The 
proposed retail unit would be inappropriate for the site and would the proposed scale would breach 
the Core Strategy limits for retail floorspace. The proposed retail development would give rise to 
increased air pollution concerns arising from greater levels of vehicle movement and stopping within 

Page 6Page 406



 

the area. The proposed scheme has no architectural merit that is complementary to the character of 
the grade two listed building and should be refused.  
 
The objectors received question from Councillors Hooks, and Curran in reference to traffic and air 
pollution and whether they would support alternative forms of development.  

Barry Milton explained the objectors would like to see a positive development on the site and 
would welcome housing development that complement the existing gas stores.  
 
At 21:15 the chair advised members of the public in the audience that the Items 6 and 7 on 
the agenda would not be heard due to the meeting overrunning. 
 
Councillor Allan Hall addressed committee under standing orders and explained the proposed 
development should be refused for the following reasons. The development would be inappropriate 
for the context due to its close proximity to the existing grade two listed building.  The listed building 
has a high architectural merit and quality and the proposed development would compromise this. 
 

Following deliberation by Councillors, Councillor Paschoud moved a motion to reject the 
officer’s recommendation to grant planning permission, for the following reasons. 
 

1. The proposed development by reason of its mass, siting and design would result in a 
detrimental impact on the setting of the nearby Grade II listed Livesey Hall.  

 
2. The proposed development’s traffic output impact would result in a detrimental form of 

development that would result in harmful impact on highways 
 

3. The proposal would be considered as overdevelopment of the proposed site and 
would be contrary to the Core Strategy and would adversely impact the neighbouring 
town centre 

 
4. The increased vehicle movement would adversely harm air quality and compromise 

the air quality for nearby residents.  
 
 It was seconded by Councillor Dacres. 
 

FOR:  Councillors Clarke, Bernards, Curran, Paschoud, Dacres, Hordijenko, Hooks 
and Sorba 

Motion was passed unanimously.  

 

4. LAND ADJACENT TO 26 MARNOCK ROAD, LONDON, SE4 1EU (Item 4 on the 
agenda) 

 
The presenting officer Michael Forrester outlined details of the proposal as the demolition of 
the two existing garage blocks (for 11 vehicles) on land to the west of 26 Marnock Road to 
facilitate the construction of six, three storey, four-bedroomed terraced houses. 
 
The presenting officer answered questions from Councillors Paschoud, Hooks and Curran 
with regard to separation distances, overshadowing impacts, and access into the existing 
flats.   
 

Page 7Page 407



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interests
	2 Minutes
	3 86-92 BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PZ
	1.0 Background
	2.0 Planning Considerations
	3.0 Conclusion
	4.0 RECOMMENDATION
	86-92 Bell Green, SE26 Site Map
	Appendix A  - cover sheet
	Appendix A - 86-92 Bell Green, SE26 Committeee Report
	2.0    Property/Site Description
	3.0 Relevant Planning History
	4.0 Current Planning Application
	5.0 Consultation
	6.0 Policy Context
	6.0 Planning Considerations
	7.0 Local Finance Considerations
	9.0 Equalities Considerations
	7.0
	8.0
	9.0
	10.0 Conclusion
	11.0 RECOMMENDATION (A)

	Appendix B  - cover sheet
	Appendix B  - Financial Viability Assessment
	Appendix C  - cover sheet
	Appendix C - UrbanDelivery FVA Report

	4 PAVEMENT AT INTERSECTION OF SYDENHAM ROAD & QUEENSTHORPE ROAD, LONDON, SE26 4PJ
	2.0 Site Description
	3.0 Background
	4.0 Current Planning Applications
	5.0 Consultation
	6.0 Policy Context
	7.0 Planning Considerations
	8.0 Local Finance Considerations
	9.0 Equalities Considerations
	11.0 Conclusion
	12.0 RECOMMENDATION
	Sydenham Road and Queensthorpe Road, SE8 Site Map

	5 PAVEMENT IN FRONT OF 317-319 EVELYN STREET, LONDON, SE8 5RA
	2.0 Site Description
	3.0 Background
	4.0 Current Applications
	5.0 Consultation
	6.0 Policy Context
	7.0 Planning Considerations
	8.0 Local Finance Considerations
	9.0 Equalities Considerations
	11.0 Conclusion
	12.0 RECOMMENDATION
	Pavement infront of 317-319 Evelyn Street, SE8 Site Map

	6 SYDENHAM GAS HOLDER STATION, BELL GREEN, LONDON, SE26 4PX
	1. Introduction
	2. Background
	3.   Appeal Update
	4.   Recommendation
	Sydenham Gas Holder Station, SE26 Site Map
	Appendix A  - cover sheet
	Appendix A - Committee Report
	1.0     Property/Site Description
	2.0 Planning History
	3.0 Current Planning Application
	4.0 Consultation
	5.0 Policy Context
	6.0 Planning Considerations
	7.0 Local Finance Considerations
	8.0 Community Infrastructure Levy
	9.0 Equalities Considerations
	10.0 Conclusion
	11.0 RECOMMENDATION (A)
	RECOMMENDATION (B)

	Appendix B  - cover sheet
	Appendix B - Committee Minutes (Bell Green Gasholders)




